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OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR JOHN WARNER,
CHAIRMAN

Chairman WARNER. Good morning, everyone. The committee
meets this morning to receive testimony from the distinguished
Secretary of Defense, Donald Rumsfeld; General Peter Pace, Chair-
man of the Joint Chiefs of Staff; and General John Abizaid, Com-
mander of the United States Central Command (CENTCOM), on
progress in Iraq, Afghanistan, and the war on terrorism, and such
other aspects as relative to your area of operations. The committee
will also look in their insights on the ongoing crisis involving
Israel, Hezbollah, Lebanon, and to some extent, Palestine.

Secretary Rumsfeld, the committee appreciates the changes you
have made in your schedule that you have outlined to me very
carefully and we welcome you this morning.
Last week, in an historic visit the prime minister of Iraq met

with President Bush, addressed a joint session of Congress, and
spoke with military personnel at Fort Belvoir, Virginia. I was privi-

leged to be present at all of those events and I think it was an ex-

tremely important chapter in the ongoing developments in Iraq
that he took that time to come over here. He demonstrated the re-

solve of the Iraqi people to build a free and stable country.

During the meeting with military personnel and their families

—

and I witnessed this in a very passionate and sincere way, he con-

veyed to those military people present at Fort Belvoir and for

broadcast to military people all over the United States and the
world the gratefulness in the hearts of the Iraqi people for their

sacrifices of life and limb and that of their families in order to en-

able the people of Iraq to gain a measure of democracy, elect their

government, and share in the freedom that we all have in this

country.

In meetings with Prime Minister Maliki, President Bush re-

affirmed America's commitment to support Iraq's constitutional de-

mocracy and to help Prime Minister Maliki's government succeed.

On July 25, President Bush said: "The Iraqi people want to suc-

ceed. They want to end this violence." The President also said that

"America will not abandon the Iraqi people."

I am, however, gravely concerned by the recent spike in violence

and sectarian attacks, and the instability in Baghdad and recent

decisions to extend the deployment of 3,500 American troops in

Iraq and to relocate additional American forces to reinforce Bagh-
dad. Those were important decisions made by you, Mr. Secretary,

General Abizaid, and you. Chairman Pace. I hope that you will

share with us this morning the reasons for doing so. I do not ques-
tion the seriousness of this situation, the need to do it, but we
should have a very clear explanation, because we had, I regret to

say, expectations, largely generated by certain reports of General
Casey, about the hope to draw down our forces in the near future.

That is a question I hope that we address this morning, because
I do not like to see the hopes of the men and women of the Armed
Forces raised and then have to be changed and the impact on their

families and indeed the confusion that results here at home when
those decisions have to be made.



But we recognize the President has said, as the Secretary has

said, that ground conditions vary and they must be the deter-

mining factor.

Additionally, I have expressed concerns about the potential im-

pact of events in Lebanon and Israel and their cascading effect on

the wider Middle East region, and specifically on the United States

and coalition forces serving in Iraq and Afghanistan. My concern

is—and I have expressed this publicly—that Israel was wrongfully

attacked by Hezbollah. No one disputes that whatsoever. They
have an unequivocal right to defend themselves. No one disputes

that. But as our Nation engages in this situation, and historically

we have been an honest broker in that region, as our Nation en-

gages in that conflict to try and resolve it, we must do so in a way
to be mindful of the implications on our commitments in the Iraq

theater.

The messages we send by virtue of our support to try and bring

about a cessation of this conflict are transmitted throughout the

Muslim world straight up into Iraq. It is my fervent hope that our

men and women serving in uniform and others in Iraq will not be

put at greater personal risk as a consequence of the rhetoric that

flows, the decisions that are made, in trying to resolve that conflict.

I will have further to say about that in the question period.

In the nearly 5 years since U.S. forces initiated operations to lib-

erate Afghanistan from the brutal rule of the Taliban and to elimi-

nate al Qaeda training bases and sanctuaries, there has been re-

markable progress in Afghanistan on the political, economic, and
security fronts. The Afghan people have spoken in favor of freedom
and democracy and I am pleased that the North Atlantic Treaty
Organization (NATO) is taking an increasing and very important
role in Afghanistan, and you are to be commended, Mr. Secretary,

for initiating that move together with General Jones, who has been
a strong advocate of trying to achieve that goal.

However, recent reports from Afghanistan show that the violence

is on the rise. We will learn from you, I hope, your concern as to

that area of responsibility (AOR), General, and what the future

holds in the face of a resurgence of the Taliban forces.

While some in the West take freedom and liberty for granted,

Americans everywhere should remain so proud of the contributions

of our service men and women deployed in harm's way. They are

bringing the best hope for freedom and democracy to Iraq and Af-

ghanistan after decades of cruel oppression and their sacrifices

have enabled us here at home to fully enjoy the freedoms that we
have.
As the current conflict in Lebanon and Israel proceeds, there is

obvious concern that the crisis could spark a wider war. The fire-

brand Iraqi cleric Muqtada al-Sadr said, "We, the unified Iraqi peo-

ple, will stand with the Lebanese people to end the ominous trio

of the United States, Israel, and Britain, which is terrorizing Iraq,

Lebanon, Afghanistan, and other occupied nations." He also said

that he was ready to go to Lebanon to defend it.

Now, we all recognize that he is just a hothead and a firebrand,

but he is a troublemaker and I hope. General Abizaid, you can give

us some assessment of the courage and the will of the Iraqi people,

under the leadership of the prime minister, to begin a step that
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must be achieved, and that is the disbanding of these private miH-
tias, notably Sadr's.

Back to Osama bin Laden. His deputy issued a worldwide call for

Muslims to rise up against Israel and join the fighting in Lebanon
and Gaza, raising again the specter of an Islamic caliphate that I

clearly remember General Abizaid discussed in testimony before
the committee last year. We hope you will bring us up-to-date on
the Osama bin Laden situation and the ongoing activities of our
forces together with others trying to bring about this man being
brought to justice or otherwise taken care of.

In light of all these developments, the mission in Iraq and Af-

ghanistan is even more critical and your time with us today is crit-

ical.

General Pace and General Abizaid, I want to express our grati-

tude to both of you and the countless men and women that you rep-

resent, for your continued service and historic efforts of our Na-
tion's military to bring freedom and liberty to Iraq, Afghanistan,
and to preserve it here at home.

Secretary Rumsfeld, once again the committee welcomes you.
Now, just before the committee meeting started General Abizaid of-

fered to meet with Senator Levin and myself, for information of the
members of the committee, and he outlined the progress being
made with the various reports examining the activities of the chain
of command relative to certain incidents in Iraq. It is our under-
standing. General Abizaid, that those reports will soon be given to

you. There is a convergence of the criminal investigation together
with the chain of command investigation under General Chiarelli.

It is now in the overall commander of the Marine Forces, General
Zilmer, and then it comes to you, and it is your hope and expecta-
tion that, working with the Secretary, those reports can be made
available to this committee early on in September.
Senator Levin.

STATEMENT OF SENATOR CARL LEVIN

Senator Levin. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for calling this very
important hearing, and thank you to all of our witnesses for being
here this morning.
The American service men and women in Iraq, Afghanistan, and

other trouble spots around the world are performing their duties

magnificently. We salute them and their families. We thank them
for their unselfish service and devotion to our Nation.

Despite their heroic efforts, the security situation in Iraq con-

tinues to worsen. Sectarian violence is not only on the rise, it has
eclipsed the Sunni insurgency and the terrorism of al Qaeda in

Iraq in terms of the toll it has taken and the threats to Iraq's

chances of stability.

Our military leadership has identified Baghdad as the key, what
they call the center of gravity, to success or failure in Iraq. The
highly vaunted recent plan to stabilize Baghdad has not worked,
and we are going back to the drawing board and sending more U.S.

troops to the Iraqi capital. We are having difficulty finding suffi-

cient troops for that purpose. The fact that the Army's Stryker bri-

gade that is being sent to Baghdad is being extended past its 12-

month rotation date by another 3 to 4 months speaks volumes



about how our military is overextended and unable to find other

units ready for immediate reinforcement in Iraq.

While there appears to be an immediate necessity for additional

troops in Baghdad, more troops will not be the ultimate answer.
Our military leadership has repeatedly said there is no military so-

lution, that there must be a political solution in Iraq.

Iraqis reaching the political compromises now is more important
and more critical to defusing the violence and conflict in Iraq. That
is why we need to clearly tell the Iraqi political leaders that our
commitment to Iraq is not open-ended, that we will begin the

phased redeployment of our troops by the end of the year and that

they must make the political compromises necessary to avoid all-

out civil war and defeat the insurgency.
When General Casey was asked at a press conference recently

whether he still believed that there would be fairly substantial

troop reductions over the course of this year, he said, "I think so."

Marine Corps General Conway testified before us last week at his

confirmation hearing to be the next Commandant that, "I person-

ally believe that you will have Iraqis who have started to look at

us as occupiers and are resisting us in some instances, whereas
they would not resist an Iraqi force doing precisely the same
thing." He also testified that it is critical that the Iraqis under-
stand that our presence is not open-ended and unlimited.

The President has assured the Nation that as Iraqi forces stand
up we will stand down. General Dempsey, our senior general re-

sponsible for the training and equipping of Iraqi security forces,

has said publicly that, "The Iraqi army will be built by the end of

this calendar year" and that their army would be, "fully capable of

recruiting, vetting, inducting, training, forming into units, putting

them in barracks, and sending them out the gate to perform their

missions." Congress has been told that over 70 percent of Iraqi

combat battalions are capable of independent counterinsurgency
operations or capable of taking the lead in those operations. The
Iraqi security forces are standing up. We need to begin to stand
down with a phased redeployment starting by the end of this year.

It is time for the Iraqis to take greater responsibility for the se-

curity of their own country. It is time to do what the President re-

peatedly said he would do. Now that the Iraqis have done a signifi-

cant amount of standing up their troops, surely by the end of this

year we should begin to stand down some of our troops.

Now, not only do the operations in the CENTCOM region have
broad implications on the future of that region, they are also hav-
ing a serious impact on our own military. Our ground forces—the
Army and the Marine Corps—are under enormous strain due to

several years of large-scale deployments to Iraq and Afghanistan.
This is because a large amount of equipment has been left in Iraq
and because the remaining equipment has been subjected to large

amounts of wear and tear, there is a lack of readiness for Army
and Marine Corps units which have redeployed to their home
bases.

It is argued that our units are more capable now because of orga-

nizational changes and the infusion of technology and better equip-

ment. But that is only true if the units actually have the equip-

ment on hand, and only if what they have on hand is in a high



state of maintenance so that they can train for their potential con-
tingencies. Hypothetically, if 50 combat units could now do what
100 units could do in the past, that would be true only if those
units are ready to do so. Over two-thirds of the Army's combat bri-

gades are not in Iraq and Afghanistan, and the Army's own statis-

tics show that the vast majority of those are not in command, or
in command and control—in other words, by the Army's own meas-
urements are not ready to respond to those contingencies which
they must be prepared to do by Department of Defense (DOD) war
plans.

Mr. Chairman, again I thank you for calling this hearing and I

thank our witnesses, all of them, for making the arrangements
which they had to make in order to be with us this morning.
Chairman WARNER. Thank you. Senator Levin.
Secretary Rumsfeld.

STATEMENT OF HON. DONALD RUMSFELD, UNITED STATES
SECRETARY OF DEFENSE; ACCOMPANIED BY GEN. PETER
PACE, USMC, CHAIRMAN, JOINT CHIEFS OF STAFF; AND GEN
JOHN ABIZAID, USA, COMMANDER, U.S. CENTRAL COMMAND
Secretary RUMSFELD. Thank you. Thank you very much, Mr.

Chairman, members of the committee. Thank you for the invitation

to testify. Senator Clinton, thank you for seconding the motion. I

know we all agree that the American people deserve a healthy,
preferably constructive, exchange on matters that so directly affect

the lives, their lives, their families' lives, and their country's secu-
rity.

I am joined by General Peter Pace, the Chairman of the Joint
Chiefs of Staff; and General John Abizaid, the Combatant Com-
mander of the U.S. Central Command. We will be providing an up-
date on the global struggle against violent extremists and certainly

we will welcome questions.
In the past few weeks, in terrorist attacks in Afghanistan, in

Iraq, and now by Hezbollah, we have seen the face of the early part
of the 21st century. In this period of asymmetric warfare, irregular
warfare, one side puts their men and women at risk in uniform and
obeys the laws of war, while the other side uses them against us.

One side does all it can to avoid civilian casualties while the other
side uses civilians as shields and then skillfully orchestrates a pub-
lic outcry when the other side accidentally kills civilians in their

midst. One side is held to exacting standards of near-perfection; the
other side is held to no standards and no accountability at all.

This enemy has called Iraq the central front on the war on ter-

rorism, while some on our side seem to argue that the outcome in

Iraq is not part of that global war on terror. Sixteen years ago this

week, Saddam Hussein's forces invaded Kuwait, killing civilians,

unleashing environmental devastation, provoking a crisis that led

to Iraqi attacks on Israel and threats to Saudi Arabia and others
in the region. Last week, by contrast, as you mentioned, Mr. Chair-
man, the new Iraqi prime minister, who was elected by the Iraqi

people under a constitution the Iraqi people wrote and ratified,

came to the United States to thank the American people for their

assistance in building a new future for the people of Iraq. He had
spent 25 years in opposition to the Saddam Hussein regime, and



before a joint session of Congress he noted that if terror were per-

mitted to triumph in Iraq then the war on terror will never be won
elsewhere.
The enemy understands this as well. They are waging a psycho-

logical war of attrition, planning attacks to gain the maximum
media coverage and the maximum public outcry. They want us to

believe that perseverance by us is futile rather than necessary.

They want us to focus on our casualties and losses, not on the peo-

ple causing the casualties and losses. They want us to think about
what will happen if our forces stay in Iraq, as opposed to the con-

sequences if our forces were to leave prematurely.
They want us to be divided because they know that when we are

united they lose. They want us pointing fingers at each other rath-

er than pointing fingers at them.
I know there are calls in some quarters for withdrawal or arbi-

trary timelines for withdrawals. The enemies hear those words as

well. We need to be realistic about the consequences. If we left Iraq

prematurely, as the terrorists demand, the enemy would tell us to

leave Afghanistan and then withdraw from the Middle East, and
if we left the Middle East they would order us and all those who
do not share their militant ideology to leave what they call the oc-

cupied Muslim lands from Spain to the Philippines. Then we would
face not only the evil ideology of these violent extremists, but an
enemy that will have grown accustomed to succeeding in telling

free people everywhere what to do.

We can persevere in Iraq or we can withdraw prematurely until

they force us to make a stand nearer home. But make no mistake,
they are not going to give up whether we acquiesce in their imme-
diate demands or not.

Decisions about conditions for a drawdown of our forces in Iraq

are best based on the recommendations of the commanders in the

field and the recommendations of the gentlemen sitting beside me.
We should strive to think through how our words can be inter-

preted by our troops, by the people of Afghanistan and Iraq, by our
42 allies in our coalition in Afghanistan, and our 34 allies in our
coalition in Iraq. We should consider how our words can be used
by our deadly enemy.
The war on terror is going to be a long struggle. It is not some-

thing we asked for, but neither is it something we can avoid. But
I remain confident in our mission, in our commanders, in our
troops, and in our cause. I remain confident in the good common
sense of the American people. Americans did not cross oceans and
settle the wilderness and build history's greatest democracy only to

run away from a bunch of murderers and extremists who try to kill

everyone that they cannot convert and to tear down what they
could never build.

Over the past few years, I have had the honor of meeting count-
less young men and women in uniform, all volunteers, who have
answered our country's call. I remember a serviceman outside of

Afghanistan who looked me in the eye and said, "I cannot believe

that we are being allowed to do something so important."
Our troops represent the finest and the most professional troops

in history. I think of these remarkable people every day. I know
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that everything we do in the DOD and what you do on this com-
mittee affects them and their wonderfully supportive families.

Thank you.
Chairman Warner. Thank you, Mr. Secretary.
General Pace.
General Pace. Mr. Chairman, Senator Levin, members of the

committee: it truly is an honor to be before you today representing
the incredible young men and women in your Armed Forces. Since
September 11, 2001, over 1 million young men and women in uni-
form have served this country in the CENTCOM area of operations
and they have done so with incredible bravery and sacrifice and
performance that has made us all proud. Their families have
served this Nation as well as anyone who has worn the uniform,
especially those families today in the 172nd Stryker brigade whose
loved ones are not coming home when they thought they would be
coming home and who once again are sacrificing so that we might
provide the strength needed on the battlefield.

It is now almost 5 years since September 11, 2001, and the num-
ber of young men and women in our Armed Forces who have sac-

rificed their lives that we might live in freedom is approaching the
number of Americans who were murdered on September 11, 2001,
in New York, in Washington, DC, and in Pennsylvania.
We have come a long way in Afghanistan. We have come a long

way in Iraq and elsewhere in the war on terrorism. We have a long
way to go. We are a Nation at war. Fortunately, most of our fellow

citizens are not affected by this war every day. Some 2.4 million

Americans—^Active, National Guard, and Reserve—have the privi-

lege of defending over 300 million of our fellow citizens and count-
less millions in Iraq, Afghanistan, and elsewhere.
Our enemy knows they cannot defeat us in battle. They do be-

lieve, however, that they can wear down our will as a Nation. They
are wrong. How do I know they are wrong? First, this committee
and this Congress continue to provide the resources we need to de-

fend this Nation, and I thank you for that.

Second, our service men and women are proud of what they are
doing and they are reenlisting in record numbers to continue to

have the privilege to do what we do for this Nation.
Third, as the Secretary mentioned in his comments, the Amer-

ican people have in the past, are now, and will in the future re-

spond to attacks on our way of life. For 230 years we have met the
challenges. This will not be easy, this will not be quick, and this

will not be without sacrifice. But we will persist and we will pre-

vail.

I look forward to answering your questions today and working to-

gether with you in the future to defend this Nation. Thank you,

Mr. Chairman.
Chairman WARNER. Thank you, General.
General Abizaid.
General Abizaid. Thank you. Chairman Warner, Senator Levin,

members of the committee. Thanks for the opportunity to testify

today.

A couple of days ago I returned from the Middle East. I have
rarely seen it so unsettled or so volatile. There is an obvious strug-

gle in the region between moderates and extremists that touches



every aspect of life. Such extremism, whether state-sponsored by
Iran or ideologically motivated by al Qaeda and its associated

movements, remains a serious danger to global peace and stability.

My duties took me to Iraq, Afghanistan, Central Asia, and else-

where in the Arabian Gulf, where our troops continue to perform
with great professional calm and determination under dangerous
and difficult circumstances. Of course, over the past several weeks
the media has been filled with images of war in Lebanon, Israel,

and Palestine. Indeed, U.S. forces under CENTCOM helped evac-

uate nearly 15,000 Americans from Lebanon's war zone.

While the media's eye often directs public attention to Iraq and
Afghanistan, it is important to remember that U.S. and coalition

forces serve throughout Central Asia, the Middle East, and the

Horn of Africa, increasing regional states' capacity to battle extre-

mism and keeping open the vital air and sea links of the region.

In the broader struggle against extremism, we face complex and
potentially intersecting problems. Our strategic imperatives are

formidable. With the continuing help of our friends, we must focus

on three strategic objectives: We must synchronize the appropriate
diplomatic, economic, and military means to defeat al Qaeda and
its associated movements; we must deter Iranian designs for re-

gional hegemony, to include its sponsorship of terrorist organiza-

tions and its development of nuclear weapons; finally, we must find

a comprehensive solution to the corrosive Arab-Israeli conflict.

I fully recognize that each of these tasks is filled with danger
and enormous difficulties. I also realize that trying to solve any of

these problems will take a considerable amount of time and effort.

But failure to apply coordinated regional and international pres-

sure against these three problems will further encourage extre-

mism and could eventually lead to a broader, even more dangerous
conflict.

The arming of independent militias and the subsequent under-
mining of state institutions by these militias is the curse of the re-

gion. In many ways, interconnectedness brought on by 21st century
globalization has been turned to the advantage by non-state actors.

Globalization brings with it great benefits, but it also accelerates

the dissolution of sovereignty in weak or corroded states. If this

century is to be dominated by non-state actors with no responsi-

bility to the international community, we are in for even greater
dangers.

It should not be lost on us, for example, that Hezbollah fields

greater and longer-range weapons than most regional armed forces.

If left unchecked, it is possible to imagine chemical, biological, or

even nuclear weapons being transferred to militias or terrorist or-

ganizations by a state actor.

In the highly unsettled Middle East, the problem of extremist-
sponsored terror and intimidation is complicated. But we must be
willing to talk about al Qaeda's ideological designs and face the im-
plications of revolutionary Iran's ambitions, so often and so clearly

stated by its president.
There is no doubt that these are dangerous times for the world,

but there should also be no doubt that, with concerted inter-

national action and the application of our own substantial power,
these dangers can be overcome.
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Iraq sits at the center of the broader regional problem. Al Qaeda
and Shiite extremists form terrorist groups and death squads to

challenge the new government and undermine confidence in a bet-

ter future. Iran talks about stabilizing Iraq, but, just as in Leb-
anon, it arms, trains, and equips local extremist Shiite militias to

do Iran's bidding. As the primary security problem in Iraq has
shifted from a Sunni insurgency to sectarian violence, al Qaeda ter-

rorists, insurgents, and Shiite militants compete to plunge the
country into civil war.
Prime Minister Maliki and his new government know what must

be done and in 3 short months in office are responsibly tackling the

complex and difficult problems of security and governance. Iraqi se-

curity forces in conjunction with coalition forces must bring Bagh-
dad, the center of sectarian violence, under control. Illegal militias

must be disbanded. National reconciliation must proceed. Death
squad leaders must be brought to justice.

It is a decisive time in Baghdad and it requires decisive Iraqi ac-

tion with our clear support. Despite the many challenges, progress
does continue to be made in Iraq and I am confident that there are

still many more people in Iraq trying to hold that country together

than there are trying to tear it apart. Our ongoing support of their

efforts is essential for their success, especially as they assume more
and more responsibility for their own security.

I know the committee wants to focus these hearings on Iraq, but
I close with the reminder that Iraq is only one part of a broader
regional struggle underway, one which requires the wise applica-

tion of all our resources. Our own troops along with NATO Inter-

national Security Assistance Force (ISAF) continue to operate in

Afghanistan. Pakistani and Saudi forces are fighting extremists

daily. Insurgencies, secular violence, and terror sponsored by Sunni
and Shiite religious extremist groups are pervasive throughout the

region. Fortunately, as in our own society, the vast majority of the

people in the region do not want extremists to win. Our challenge

is to help these moderate forces help themselves in the struggle.

Afghanistan, Iraq, and the entire region remain dangerous and
often deadly. Our continued involvement in shaping regional secu-

rity forces and providing the framework for regional action against

extremist groups is essential for our own safety and prosperity at

home.
Finally, we must be ever mindful of the sacrifice of our young

men and women in uniform. Out of the over 1.5 million service per-

sonnel who have rotated through the CENTCOM region since Sep-

tember 11, 2001, over 3,000 have given their lives. We owe them
and their families an enormous debt of gratitude. Today nearly

200,000 of our troops serve in harm's way. These are incredibly

dedicated and resourceful professionals. Thank you for your contin-

ued support to these great Americans, who willingly fight for all of

us.

Thank you.
Chairman Warner. Thank you very much. General, for a very

incisive and important statement that you have just made.
We are going to depart from our normal rotation here. Senator

Levin and I both serve on the Senate Select Committee on Intel-

ligence. They are now having a meeting and the Senator from
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Michigan has to go to that meeting. Therefore I will offer you the
first opportunity to initiate questioning.

Senator Levin. Mr. Chairman, thank you for your invariable

courtesies.

General Abizaid, when General Casey was asked at a press con-

ference recently whether he still believed what he said last year,

when he predicted that there would be troop reductions over the

course of this year, he said that he still believes there will be such
reductions this year. Do you personally share that view?
General Abizaid. Senator, since the time that General Casey

made that statement it is clear that the operational and the tac-

tical situation in Baghdad is such that it requires additional secu-

rity forces, both U.S. and Iraqi. I think the most important thing
ahead of us throughout the remainder of this year is ensuring that

the Baghdad security situation be brought under control. It is pos-

sible to imagine some reductions in forces, but I think the most im-
portant thing to imagine is Baghdad coming under the control of

the Iraqi government.
Senator Levin. When you say it is possible to imagine some re-

duction in forces, you mean this year?
General Abizaid. It is possible, depending upon how things go in

Baghdad and how Prime Minister Maliki and his government grab
hold of the security situation.

Senator Levin. Is it important that the Iraqis understand that
our commitment is not open-ended?
General Abizaid. Sir, I think they fully understand it is not

open-ended.
Senator Levin. Some of their statements have not reflected that

full understanding. But in any event, would you agree that it is im-
portant that they do understand our commitment is not open-
ended?
General Abizaid. I believe they do understand it is not open-

ended. They know our commitment and they know the necessity for

over time to increase their capacity against the extremists.

Senator Levin. Thank you.
Mr. Secretary, the President has assured the Nation frequently

that as Iraqi security forces stand up we will stand down. They
have stood up. The majority of their combat battalions are capable
now of independent counterinsurgency or capable of taking the lead
in those operations. Should we not, at least by the end of this year,

begin to do what the President said we would do? Since the secu-

rity forces of Iraq have stood up in such significant measure,
should we not begin to stand down as the President said we would?

Secretary Rumsfeld. Senator, you are correct, the Iraqi security

forces are now up to something like 275,000. They are headed to-

wards 325,000 by the end of the year, unless the prime minister
makes an adjustment in those numbers, which as a new govern-
ment he has every right to do in a sovereign nation.

I guess the issue of drawdown depends on what you think your
base is. We were up at 160,000. Today—we have gotten as low as
I think 127,000. Today we are at 135,000 or 133,000, and certainly

everyone from the Iraqis, the troops, and the President would hope
that those troops could be drawn down as conditions permit. The
question, the only difference between the way you phrase it and



12

the President phrases it as he ends by pointing out that he intends
to succeed here and he beheves that the determinant should be the
conditions on the ground, as opposed to some timetable.

I do think the point you raise, the core of what you are asking,
is important. That is the tension that exists between having too
many troops and having it feed an insurgenc3^ I believe, as indi-

cated by General Conway, and having too few so that you do not
have a sufficient number to allow the security situation to permit
the political and the economic activities to go forward. That is a
fair tension that exists there, and it is an art, not a science. There
is no guidebook that says how to do that.

So clearly we would all hope that there could be drawdowns on
those forces as the conditions permit.

Senator Levin. Thank you.
The press reported that Iraqi President Talabani said yesterday

that the Iraqi government is confident that Iraqi troops will take
over security duties for the entire country by the end of this year.

Then he also reportedly said that the recent increase in violence by
insurgents is "the last arrows in their quivers."

Now, that phrase is reminiscent of Vice President Cheney's claim
a year ago that the insurgency was in its "last throes." General
Abizaid, does our intelligence on the insurgency provide any basis
for the assertion that the recent surge in violence represents the
last arrows in the insurgents' quivers?
General Abizaid. Senator Levin, I think it is clear that the insur-

gency has a lot of resiliency. It is probably going to last for some
time, even after U.S. forces depart and hand over security control

completely to the Iraqis. The question for President Talabani, as I

have discussed with him before, whether or not over time the
Iraqis can control it, and I believe they will be able to.

Senator Levin. You do not agree, then, that it is in its last throes
or that they are shooting the last arrows?
General Abizaid. I am making no comment about what he said

about last arrows or last throes.

Senator Levin. Why?
General ABIZAID. I do not see any reason to dispute what the

President says. I know that I think it is a long-term problem for

Iraq that they will be able to work through over time.
Senator Levin. According to USA Today, the British Ambassador

to Iraq, Mr. Patey, made the following assessment. Mr. Patey has
warned that Iraq is descending towards civil war, and he said it

is likely to split along ethnic lines. He is reported as predicting
that Iraq's security situation could remain volatile for the next 10
years.

Do you agree. General, with the Ambassador from Britain to Iraq
that Iraq is sliding toward civil war?
General Abizaid. I believe that the sectarian violence is probably

as bad as I have seen it, in Baghdad in particular, and that if not
stopped it is possible that Iraq could move towards civil war.
Senator Levin. Thank you.
Mr. Chairman, thank you. My time is up. Thank you again for

allowing me to go ahead here.

Chairman Warner. I want to go back to. Secretary Rumsfeld,
the observations I made in the opening statement. On July 17 at
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about 8 o'clock, I went to the floor of the Senate. The Senate was
about to consider a resolution, an important resolution reaffirming

our support for Israel. But I said the following. I said I was con-

cerned that we should take into account America's broader inter-

ests in the region as we approach this resolution.

I said specifically: "America's operations in Iraq and Afghanistan
have taken the lives of more than 2,500 American servicemen, over

20,000 still severely wounded, and over $436 billion of our tax-

payers' money over these 3 years." That is an enormous investment
of this country, and the credibility of our country in many respects

rests on the conclusion of that conflict in such a way that the Iraqi

government can exercise sovereignty and bring about a measure of

freedom and democracy. We are committed to that and I stand
strongly with our President to achieve that goal.

America's participation with other nations in achieving a diplo-

matic solution to the Iranian nuclear crisis, I can think of no prob-

lem of greater significance than our resolve to not let Iran possess

nuclear weapons.
The stability of the Lebanese government, that must survive,

that government, such that they can once again take an even
stronger grip on that nation and govern it.

There is a lot at stake with our relationships with other nations.

In a region in which our distinguished witness General Abizaid,

who spent much of your lifetime in that region, just said, rarely

have I seen it so volatile. It is subject to the corrosive relationships

coming out of the Arab-Israeli conflict.

My concern is that as we go into this situation, and we have an
obligation to try and work as an honest broker, I hope, in resolving

the conflict between Israel and Hezbollah, as we pursue that and
as our actions are interpreted by the Muslim world—and I read
some of the statements of the clerics recently, in the last few
days—I do not want to see our forces put at greater personal risk,

subject to greater intensity brought against them by the adver-

saries in Iraq.

So my question to you, Mr. Secretary, as we take up our role,

hopefully as an honest broker in this, are we mindful of the broad-

er picture and the enormity of our investment in Iraq as we try to

do what we can to bring about a cessation of the fighting in the

conflict between Israel and Hezbollah?
Secretary Rumsfeld. Mr. Chairman, in the meetings that I have

been in with the President and the Secretary of State and those
that are intimately involved in the situation in Lebanon and Israel

with respect to the Hezbollah, there is a sensitivity to the desire

to not have our country or our interests or our forces put at greater

risk as a result of what is taking place between Israel and
Hezbollah.

I think I would suggest that it be phrased slightly differently be-

cause there are risks, as you point out, but it is a matter of relative

risks. There are also risks, if one thinks about it, that Iran is the

principal sponsor of Hezbollah. Iran is seeking nuclear weapons, as

you posed. Iran is the supplier of weapons to Hezbollah. The rock-

ets that are heading into Israel by Hezbollah tend to be in a num-
ber of cases Iranian rockets. Clearly, to the extent that Iran were
to achieve weapons of mass destruction (WMD), and with a history
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of a willingness to work intimately with a terrorist organization
like Hezbollah, there is that risk as well.

So there are a variety of risks that we face in that region and
it is a difficult and delicate situation. As I indicated in my opening
remarks, I do believe what we are seeing is really the face of the
21st century. The wars we are engaged in and we see are not wars
between militaries only; they are wars, they are clashes between
systems, political, economic, and military. They are being fought
with asymmetric and irregular warfare, which is very much to the
advantage of the attackers.

Chairman Warner. Mr. Secretary, that situation in Iraq is frag-

ile. We need only look at the Baghdad situation. Baghdad could lit-

erally tilt this thing if we fail to bring about a measure of security

for those people, tilt it in a way that we could slide toward a civil

war that General Abizaid recalled.

General Pace, I go back to the resolution of October 16, 2002,
which I participated in, and my good friend to the left, in drawing
up that resolution for the Senate. It authorized the President of the
United States to use the Armed Forces of the United States to: one,

defend the national security of our country against the continuing
threat posed by Iraq; two, enforce all relevant United Nations
(U.N.) Security Council resolutions regarding Iraq.

Many of those missions set out and envisioned by Congress when
it gave this authority, namely the toppling of the Saddam Hussein
regime, have been achieved. But in the words of General Abizaid,

we are on the brink of a civil war. I do not have the exact words
before me, but I was struck by General Chiarelli's statement the
other day that in his 35 years of military training he had really

never spent a day preparing for what faces him as our commander
of forces in Iraq, sectarian violence, civil war.
What is the mission of the United States today under this resolu-

tion if that situation erupts into a civil war? What are the missions
of our forces?

General Pace. Sir, I believe that we do have the possibility of

that devolving to a civil war, but it does not have to be a fact. I

believe that U.S. Armed Forces today can continue to do what we
are doing, which is to help provide enough security inside of Iraq
for the Iraqi government to provide governance and economic op-

portunity for their citizens.

The weight of that opportunity rests with the Iraqi people. We
can provide support. We can help provide security. But they must
now decide about their sectarian violence. Shiite and Sunni are
going to have to love their children more than they hate each other.

If they do that and seize the opportunity that the international

community has provided to them, then this will be what we want
it to be, which is a success for ourselves and the Iraqi people. But
the weight of that shift must be on the Iraqi people and the Iraqi

government.
Chairman WARNER. I think we have to examine very carefully

what Congress authorized the President to do in the context of a

situation if we are faced with an all-out civil war, and whether we
have to come back to Congress to get further indication of support.

General Abizaid, I have had the privilege of knowing you for a

long time and I really think you speak with remarkable candor and
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draw on an extraordinary career of professionalism. You spent 1

year of your career in Lebanon. Lebanon is a part of your AOR as

CENTCOM. Do you agree with the premise that in this current

conflict between Israel and Hezbollah, recognizing that Hezbollah
attacked Israel, recognizing that Israel has a perfect right to de-

fend itself, but in so executing their military campaign it is essen-

tial in my judgment the Lebanese government not be toppled as a

consequence of the infrastructure that is being destroyed in the

course of this war, and can they achieve in this military operation

such degradation of Hezbollah, its command and control, its inven-

tory of weapons, as to result in a situation whereby a multinational

force can eventually come in, subject to some form of a ceasefire,

and begin to shore up, stabilize that government, and allow it to

take firm control over the entirety of all aspects of sovereignty of

the nation of Lebanon?
General Abizaid. Mr. Chairman, U.N. Resolution 1559 clearly

calls for the disarmament of Hezbollah and the extension of Leba-
nese sovereignty all the way from its northern border to its south-

ern border. Had that resolution been implemented or started to

move towards implementation, the current problem would be much
less severe than it has become.
The Iranians who have armed Hezbollah with cruise missiles,

antiship missiles, missiles that can reach as far as Haifa and be-

yond, have given Hezbollah a state-like existence and capacity that

is unlike any other militia anywhere in the region. It is absolutely

essential that the Lebanese government regain its sovereignty over

its own territory. It will in my opinion need an international force

to help it do that. There are ways that, in conjunction with the

international community, Hezbollah can be disarmed over time and
the Shiite people that participate in the political life of Hezbollah
can be readily accommodated within the Lebanese body politic.

The question as to whether or not the Israelis can degrade
Hezbollah over time, degradation can take place. I think it is also

very clear to say that over time the consensus of holding Lebanon
together under external pressure starts to break down. It is very
important that Lebanon stay together as a sovereign country. It is

key to stability in the Middle East and it is essential that that take
place, and the international community needs to move in that di-

rection.

Chairman Warner. Thank you very much, General.
Senator Kennedy.
Senator KENNEDY. Thank you very much.
General, just to first of all thank you, General Abizaid, General

Pace, thank you very much for your service. Welcome, Secretary
Rumsfeld. I think you can understand why it is so important for

your presence here, given these range of issues that are front and
center for the American people.

Let me ask you, General Abizaid, if we have difficulty with
130,000 troops in Iraq trying to disarm the insurgency, how in the
world do we think we are going to be able to get an international

force that is going to disarm Hezbollah?
General Abizaid. Senator, I think with the weight of the inter-

national community and the right rules of engagement and the
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right participation of the various parties concerned, that over time
Hezbollah can be disarmed.
Senator KENNEDY. Just to come back to a point that the chair-

man had mentioned about the costs in Iraq, the $400 billion total,

2,579 have been killed, 19,000 wounded, 54 casualties from my own
State of Massachusetts, 70 percent of these from improvised explo-

sive devices (lEDs). We have been in Iraq for 40 months and 13
days. The Korean War, 37 months. World War I, 19 months. The
Persian Gulf War, 3 months. World War II, 42 months—^VE Day,
42 months for VE Day, 45 months for VJ Day. The Civil War was
48 months.
We have been in there now for 40 months and 13 days, with the

finest military that has ever been developed, in basically rather a
third-rate military situation. How much more do we really expect
our military can do? How much more can we demand of them when
they are out there doing such a proud and noble job of serving our
country? How much more can we demand? Why not is this demand
for political accommodation, why is that not front and center, so

that we can start to bring our Americans home with honor?
General Abizaid. Senator, I think there is a demand for a com-

bination of military, political, and diplomatic activity that moves
towards a solution that brings Iraq toward stability. I think over
time it becomes less military and more diplomatic and more polit-

ical. I believe that this current government, that is a 4-year govern-
ment, has that opportunity.

Senator Kennedy. Mr. Secretary, just to continue, the exact
words that General Chiarelli said just last week, "Quite frankly, in

33 years in the United States Army I have never trained to stop

a sectarian fight. This is something new."
Now, we hear General Abizaid talk about the increase in sec-

tarian violence. How are our troops trained to deal with sec-

tarianism? We know that they were not trained as well as they
should have been when they first went into Iraq. They were not
trained at Abu Ghraib. How are they trained now with this new
sectarianism? How are they trained not to take sides?

Is this new addition of troops in Baghdad the beginning? Are we
going to have to have more troops to deal with this? What are our
troops told in Baghdad now to quell the violence in this sec-

tarianism? How are they going to not get drawn into one side or

the other with the escalation of the sectarian violence? What is in

their background, what is in their training, what has been in their

leadership, that would give them the ability to not be involved in

this, to quell the violence and to eventually help President Maliki
disarm and dismantle the militias?

Secretary Rumsfeld. Senator, I think your point is a valid one,

that ultimately the sectarian violence is going to be dealt with by
Iraqis and it is going to be dealt with by Iraqi security forces as

a part of the solution, but it is going to be dealt with through a
reconciliation process, a political process that Prime Minister
Maliki and others in the country are trying to design in a way that

it will pull together elements within the country and thereby re-

duce sectarian violence.

I would rather have either of the generals comment on the train-

ing, except to say that the situation in Iraq, with 18 provinces, is
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really quite different in different provinces. We have forces in most
provinces and the training is different for the different cir-

cumstances that they face.

One of the things that the DOD has done is have extensive les-

sons learned from what is taking place in Iraq and different parts

of the country brought back to the Joint Forces Command, the Na-
tional Training Center, and the troops are then being trained up
carefully to assure that they have the best kind of training they

can have for the circumstances that we believe at the time they are

going to find in the areas they are going to be assigned to.

Senator KENNEDY. My time is just about up. General Abizaid,

could you expand on this, are they getting in with the growth of

the sectarian violence? How do our troops get in there, not get em-
broiled in the sectarian violence, whether your estimate—is this

the beginning or is this the end of the increased numbers of troops

that we are going to need over there?

How is their background and training actually going to quell that

sectarian violence that you have identified as escalating at the

present time?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
General Abizaid. Senator Kennedy, the first line against sec-

tarian violence is the Iraqi armed forces. The Iraqi armed forces

know where the problem is coming from. They know how to deal

with the problem. They can recognize it easier than our troops can.

But I would also tell you that our forces do have the capability

to precisely target the secular death squad structure that is respon-

sible for this activity, and more and more over time we have be-

come proficient at being able to attack the secular structure of al

Qaeda and we intend to use that capability and intelligence activ-

ity that we have used before to target the militia death squads that

we are seeing operate now in Baghdad with a certain degree of

freedom.
Senator Kennedy. Thank you.
Chairman Warner. Thank you.
For the record, this is General Chiarelli's full statement. It is

July 27, 2006. He said, "For the military, the plan is unchartered
ground. Quite frankly, in 33 years in the United States Army I

never trained to stop a sectarian fight," he said. "This is something
new." That is the quote to which I referred to and Senator Kennedy
referred to.

Senator McCain.
Senator McCain. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
I thank the witnesses and I want to repeat at the outset my firm

belief that we can and must win in Iraq and that the consequences
of failure would be catastrophic.

General Pace, you said there is a possibility of the situation in

Iraq evolving into civil war, is that correct?

General Pace. I did say that, yes, sir.

Senator McCain. Did you anticipate this situation a year ago?
General Pace. No, sir.

Senator McCain. Did you, General Abizaid?
General Abizaid. I believe that a year ago it was clear to see that

sectarian tensions were increasing. That they would be this high,

no.
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Senator McCain. General Abizaid, we are moving 7,500 troops

into Baghdad, is that correct?

General Abizaid. The number is closer to 3,500.

Senator McCain. 3,500?
General Abizaid. Plus military police that were going there for

other duties, that are being used in the outer cordon areas, mili-

tary policemen in particular.

Senator McCain. Where are these troops coming from?
General Abizaid. The troops, the Stryker brigade is coming down

from Mosul.
Senator McCain. From Mosul. Is the situation under control in

Ramadi?
General Abizaid. The situation in Ramadi is better than it was

2 months ago.

Senator McCain. Is the situation under control in Ramadi?
General Abizaid. I think the situation in Ramadi is workable.
Senator McCain. The troops from Ramadi came from Fallujah,

is that not correct?

General Abizaid. I cannot say, Senator.

Senator McCain. That is my information. What I worry about is

we are playing a game of whack-a-mole here. We move troops. It

flares up, we move troops there. We all know that Fallujah was al-

lowed to become a base of operations and insurgency, so we had to

go into Fallujah and fight one of the great battles in Marine Corps-
Army history. Then when I was back there not too long ago, they
said, we have big problems in Ramadi. Everybody knows we have
big problems in Ramadi. I said: Where are you going to get the

troops? We are going to have to move them from Fallujah. Now we
are going to have to move troops into Baghdad from someplace
else.

It is very disturbing. If it is all up to the Iraqi military. General
Abizaid, then I wonder why we have to move troops into Baghdad
to intervene in what is clearly sectarian violence.

General Abizaid. Senator, Iraqi troops are also being moved into

Baghdad. The number of Iraqi troops in the Baghdad area are

greater than our troops. We are in support with them in the main
operational areas, and I believe that under the current cir-

cumstances that the Iraqi forces need to benefit from our command
and control capabilities and the systems of a unit such as the

Stryker brigade that has been moved to the south.

Senator McCain. I would anticipate putting American troops into

this very volatile situation means that American casualties will

probably go up.

General Abizaid. I think it is possible that in the period ahead
of us in Baghdad that we will take increased casualties, it is pos-

sible.

Senator McCain. The situation in southern Iraq. I was briefed by
British military and others that there is a grave concern about Ira-

nian penetration throughout southern Iraq. Is that a serious issue?

General Abizaid. The Iranian Revolutionary Guard Kudz force,

intelligence agencies, arm, train, and equip what I would call rogue
Shiite groups. Yes, it is a concern.

Senator McCain. Is Basra in control of the militias?
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General Abizaid. I think that the mihtias have greater influence

in Basra than they need to have, and that is why Prime Minister

Mahki has appointed a mihtary officer to go down there to get the

security situation back under control.

Senator McCain. Do you have confidence in the Iraqi Minister

of Interior?

General Abizaid. I do not know the Iraqi Minister of Interior the

way I know the Defense Minister. I have no reason not to have con-

fidence in him.
Senator McCain. All the reports we have is that day after day,

people are running around in police uniforms and army uniforms
and they are actually militias and they are killing people. Story
after story, they say when you see the people come in uniform it

is an emergency, that people are going to be killed.

Which brings us obviously to the state of the training, not of the

Iraqi military, but of Iraqi police and law enforcement. Can you
comment on that situation?

General Abizaid. During the period after the national election

when no governance formed, the interior ministry in particular did

not develop its forces in the way that we had anticipated that they
would or should. Military forces, on the other hand, continued to

develop well. They have continued to perform well. But there is no
doubt that police units, especially local police units, were infiltrated

in Basra in particular, but elsewhere as well, by local militias and
they put their allegiance to the militias ahead of their allegiance

to the state.

It is vital that we turn this around.
Senator McCain. The cleric al-Sadr continues to be a major ob-

stacle to progress in Iraq. I believe there is still an outstanding
warrant for his arrest. Are we going to address that issue?

General Abizaid. The issue will be addressed by the Iraqi gov-

ernment.
Senator McCain. Not by us?
General Abizaid. It will be addressed by the Iraqi government.
Senator McCain. All of my colleagues are here, so I want to not

take time. I just want to conclude. Secretary Rumsfeld, we passed
an amendment on the National Defense Authorization Act, which
I am confident will be accepted in conference, and that requires
that operations in Iraq and Afghanistan, funding for it be included
in the regular budgetary process.

We are hearing story after story about mismanagement of funds,
corruption, et cetera. We must have sufficient congressional over-

sight. I hope you are making plans to include the expenses involved
in operations in Iraq and Afghanistan in the normal budgetary
process and not as an "emergency supplemental." I think you
should be able at this time, after this many years involved in this

conflict, be able to predict what those costs might be.

I want to say again, we will have a showdown unless, both with-
in this body and with the executive branch, we start going through
the normal budgetary process to fund this conflict, which I think
all of us agree we will be involved in for a long period of time.

I thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman WARNER. I would like to have you respond, Mr. Sec-

retary.
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Secretary Rumsfeld. We are aware of the amendment and need-

less to say we will comply with the law. From our standpoint, we
can do it either way. It has been a matter that has been worked
out generally over the years between the White House, the Office

of Management and Budget (0MB), and the leadership in Con-
gress.

The reality is that what we would have to do, as you suggested,

would be to provide the best estimates that we can and projections

and then make adjustments for them as time actually passed, and
we would be happy to do that.

Senator McCain. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
General Pace. Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Warner. Yes, Chairman.
General Pace. Can I make one clarification, so that the parents

watching this do not believe that somehow their sons and daugh-
ters are not properly trained to handle the kind of violence that the

sectarian violence is creating? What General Chiarelli said is ex-

actly true, that we do not train to separate sectarian violence, and
that is very much a responsibility of the politicians and, as we have
talked about already, the Iraqi people need to do that.

With regard to Lieutenant Pace, who is on patrol in Baghdad
with his platoon, and the kind of violence that he is going to come
across, regardless of if it is Sunni, Shiite, or whoever, if it is an
armed group our soldiers and marines certainly are well-trained to

handle that. So there is a difference between the kind of violence

they have to handle and what would prevent that violence, and
preventing that violence is very much the role of the political lead-

ers in Iraq to solve, sir.

Chairman Warner. That is the purpose of this hearing, to allow

you and other witnesses to clarify these bullet statements that

come before us and the American public. Thank you, Chairman
Pace.

Senator Reed.
Senator Reed. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
General Abizaid, in your opinion is the Mahdi Army a terrorist

organization with implicit at least support from the Iranian govern-

ment?
General Abizaid. In my opinion there are groups within the

Mahdi Army that are under the pay of the Iranian government
that are terrorist organizations. I am not sure I can say that is nec-

essarily true about the entire organization.

Senator Reed. As Senator McCain pointed out, there is an out-

standing warrant for Muqtada al Sadr, who is the leader of the

Mahdi Army. But his followers are prominent members of the Iraqi

government; is that correct?

General Abizaid. That is correct.

Senator Reed. So when you say the Iraqi government will dis-

pose of Sadr and the Mahdi Army, he in fact is part of that govern-

ment.
General Abizaid. I believe that the prime minister and his gov-

ernment will take the steps necessary to get the sectarian violence

under control and do what has to be done against the death

squads.
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Senator Reed. Do you have any sort of sense of the timing of

this, particularly with respect to the Mahdi Army and to Sadr?
General Abizaid. Again, I would not characterize the target as

being either Sadr or the Mahdi Army. I would say there are ele-

ments within the Jesh-al-Mahdi that will be targeted because they

are participating in death squad activities.

Senator Reed. With the encouragement, the permission, the tol-

erance of Sadr?
General Abizaid. I could not say whether there is a permission

or tolerance or anything of Sadr. I can say that the prime minister

knows and has been very forceful about saying that militias must
be brought under control. He has a wide range of points that go

all the way from direct military confrontation to agreement with
various militias.

Senator Reed. But we will not be involved in that process? It will

be exclusively up to the prime minister and his security forces?

General Abizaid. I would not say it would be exclusively the

work of Iraqis. It is very clear that our forces in conjunction with
the Iraqis will help target known death squad organizations.

Senator Reed. Mr. Secretary, the Chief of Staff of the Army testi-

fied before the House Armed Services Committee on June 27 that

$4.9 billion in funding that the Army requested for reset, which is

the repair and replacement of equipment, was denied before the re-

quest was submitted to Congress. Did you deny this request or did

the 0MB deny the request?
Secretary RUMSFELD. Senator, the normal process is that the De-

partment is given a budget by the 0MB, and we take that budget
and work within the Department to try to fashion a budget that

is balanced and makes sense. Then in the event there is from time
to time a need to go back to the 0MB or the President and request
additional funds, we have done that.

I do not know precisely what $4.9 billion, I think you said.

Senator Reed. Mr. Secretary, did you go back to the President
and ask for more funds because of the critical needs of the Army
and the Marine Corps for reset?

Secretary RUMSFELD. We have certainly gone to the President

and the 0MB and explained the need for reset and negotiated it

extensively with the 0MB. Regrettably, there have been cuts made
by Congress every year in the defense budget. There have been not

only reductions in our budget, there have been things that have
been added in that we did not request that required us to take

money from other things. Third, there have been things required
of us that we were prevented from making savings.

The net effect of it, if you look just today in the authorization

and appropriation bills between the House and the Senate, it runs
somewhere between $10, $15, or $20 billion, depending on how you
calculate it.

Senator Reed. So the White House did turn down your request
for additional money for reset, yes or no?

Secretary Rumsfeld. That would not be correct.

Senator Reed. So you did not ask?
Secretary Rumsfeld. I cannot say that, because we went through

an extensive discussion and negotiation and we ended up with the

budget we ended up with, which was then reduced by Congress.
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Senator Reed. Last Tuesday evening the Senate passed an ap-
propriation for $13 billion of additional funding for reset. Is that
money appropriate or is it in some way a waste of resources?

Secretary Rumsfeld. It is clearly needed.
Senator Reed. Why did you not ask the White House before they

sent the request to Congress for that clearly needed money?
Secretary Rumsfeld. We did talk to the White House about it

and that is where the number came from, was from the DOD.
Senator Reed. Mr. Secretary, what you are saying, I think, is ei-

ther you asked for the money and they said no or you accepted a
limit despite the needs that you recognized for reset. It is one or

the other?
Secretary RUMSFELD. You have lost me. At first you were talking

about
Senator Reed. I think you have lost everyone with this dialogue.

Secretary RUMSFELD. First you were talking about $4.9 billion,

I thought. Now you are talking about the $13 billion, $13.1 billion

I think, and we have requested that of 0MB and they have re-

quested it of Congress and Congress has put it in the bill, as I un-
derstand it has.

Senator Reed. When did you request the $13 billion, Mr. Sec-

retary?
Secretary Rumsfeld. Within the last period of months, weeks.
Senator Reed. Weeks?
Secretary Rumsfeld. Yes, weeks.
Senator Reed. Days. Why did you not request the $13 billion

when the budget was being prepared to be sent to Congress?
Secretary Rumsfeld. Wlien the budget was being prepared to be

sent to Congress, it would have been January of last year for the

budget that still has not been passed by Congress this year. For
the supplemental it would have been late last year, not the begin-

ning of last year but late last year, when those budgets are pre-

pared.
We gain knowledge every month that goes by, and it is very clear

the Army has a reset problem. It is also clear that the $13 billion

is needed.
Senator Reed. Mr. Secretary, it is very clear that two-thirds of

the Army operating force, Active-Duty and Reserve, is now report-

ing as unready. There is not a single nondeployed Army brigade
combat team in the United States that is ready to deploy. The bot-

tom line is that we have no ready strategic Reserve, and this is a
stunning indictment of your leadership.

Secretary Rumsfeld. I think it is an inaccurate statement.
Senator Reed. How so? Have you seen the readiness reports, Mr.

Secretary?
Secretary RUMSFELD. I have.
Senator Reed. It is inaccurate to say that the readiness reports

of the Army do not indicate severe equipment shortages, leaving

many brigades of the United States as nondeployable?
Secretary Rumsfeld. If you will allow me a few minutes to re-

spond, it is complicated, but I would be happy to do so. I stand
with what I say. I think the characterization that you made is not

accurate. It is complicated. If one sees a chart that shows a deterio-

ration like this over a 5-, 6-, 7-, 10-year period, one has to assume
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that the readiness of the mihtary, in this case the Army, has dete-

riorated. Now, the fact of the matter is if you begin with a stand-

ard, a requirement, that is X and then you show the beginning of

the chart, and then at the end you have changed your requirement

because you have decided you need different things, you have
learned from the experiences of the last period of years and you
have increased your requirements to 5X, and then you compare
yourself against 5X, so if you have improved 300 percent—you were
at 100 percent to begin, at IX, and now you need 5X, you have de-

cided your requirement is different, and you have improved 300
percent to get there, you are still short of that requirement.

That is what shows the deterioration. The fact of the matter is

the equipment that the military has today is vastly better today

than it was 5 years ago. The readiness of our capabilities are—if

you measure them against full spectrum, you can say they are not

ready to do ever5d:hing that anyone conceivably might need to do.

On the other hand, if you ask the readiness of the forces with

respect to what they are being asked to do, ask General Abizaid,

are the forces over there capable of doing what they are doing,

equipped and trained to do what they are doing, he will tell you
yes. If you ask General Schoomaker, are the Armed Forces of the

United States considerably better today, more capable, better

equipped than they were 5 years ago, he will say yes.

If you ask General Pace the question, is the United States today

capable of doing, fulfilling the requirements that the country has

put on them, the answer is yes.

Senator Reed. Let me take that opportunity. General Pace, have
you seen the last readiness
Chairman WARNER. Senator, wait a minute.
Senator Reed. Excuse me.
Chairman WARNER. You are way over your time. Just a minute.

We need to allow the witness to fully respond to your question. I

think your question has been stated. We will have another round
and you can pursue this at that time. But I have to accommodate
other members. You are quite a bit over your time.

Has the witness had the opportunity to fully reply to the ques-

tion before him?
Secretary RUMSFELD. I have. I think it would be useful just for

the context if the Senator's last question could be responded to.

Senator Reed. Mr. Chairman, would you allow me to ask my
questions, rather than have the Secretary ask my questions for me?
Chairman WARNER. Well, now. Senator
Senator Reed. If I have given up my time, then my time is gone.

Chairman Warner. Just a minute. We allowed you to ask your
question very fully. It was stated. It is in the record, I think with
clarity, and the Secretary was responding. We will have a second

round, at which time you can further pursue this important sub-

ject. I recognize the importance of the subject.

Now, the Secretary has asked for General Pace to give his per-

spective in response to the Senator's question.

General Pace. Mr. Chairman, thank you.

Readiness is reflected in personnel, in training, and in equip-

ment. Any time a unit comes back from any deployment, when I

was battalion commander, the unit has people change out and
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therefore the personnel numbers go down. The training as a result

of the unit coming back starts out anew into the new cycle. Equip-
ment is taken from what has been used and put into depot mainte-
nance. That is in normal peacetime.

In wartime, we are using equipment at much greater rates. So
where you have a notional unit that has 100 trucks and they de-

ploy and they come back, and the trucks normally would be driven
1,000 miles in a year and they are driven 10,000 miles in combat,
you have a larger number of those vehicles that end up being put
into the depot maintenance, which for the unit that is home then
reduces their readiness based on availability of equipment.
The units that are forward have had not only the equipment that

they went over with, but have been augmented thanks to Congress
providing the funding. For example, our up-armored Humvees. The
requirement globally when we started in September 2001 was
about 2,000. That number now is up at 12,000. We have bought up
to 12,000 and we have used them in combat, and now a number
of those 12,000 are currently in depot maintenance waiting.

So we are way over the 2,000 we started with. But now, because
of maintenance, usage, and combat losses, we are below the 12,000
that folks are asking for today. So it is very difficult when you turn
the kaleidoscope to see all the pieces and it does not allow itself

to have a straight, easy answer.
Fundamentally, the United States Army is much more capable

today. Fundamentally, the Army that is fighting our war for us
today deployed is in tremendous shape, personnel, training, and
equipment-wise. But it is absolutely a fact that, for various budg-
etary reasons, some of which are a result of actions taken by Con-
gress, that we do not have enough funding currently to provide for

the repair of all of the equipment that currently sits at our depots
waiting to be repaired. I believe that is where the dialogue is about
how much money is needed. That $13.1 billion as I understand it,

if approved by Congress, will in fact allow the Marine Corps and
the Army to take the equipment that is currently stacked up at

their depots, hire the workforce, and begin the process.

But what has happened, when we have not had budgets and we
have had continuing resolutions, some of the workforce has had to

be let go. We cannot have the depots not know whether or not they
are going to be able to have the funding long-term to hire people.

We cannot go out and hire Mechanic Pace for 6 months and then
let him go and expect to hire him back again.

I would ask as we look at this, that we look at some kind of no-

year funding that is focused on the backlog of equipment repair,

that will allow the depots to consciously go out and hire people who
can stay in the workforce long enough to get this work done.

Thank you.
Chairman Warner. The Senator from Rhode Island raises a very

important question and we will further explore it in the course of

this hearing. Mr. Secretary, I am going to seek to get documenta-
tion that I looked at where you did engage with 0MB about the

need for these funds. So I think that documentation will be put in

this record.

I am advised by the cloakroom that we have two back-to-back

votes. It is my intention to go over quickly and vote in the first vote
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and, Senator McCain, I would ask that you chair because I am
going to be absent for that vote. We will keep the hearing going,

colleagues, as members come and go on these votes.

Senator Inhofe.

Senator iNHOFE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I do want to thank
you for giving General Pace the opportunity to respond to that

question. I think that was an excellent response.

Let me just make a couple of observations if I might. I find it

really interesting. I think most of the members of this committee
have been to Iraq varying numbers of times. There are some of

them who have not been at all. When you get the reaction, the re-

sponse and the opinions that are formulated by those who have not

been there, it is totally different than those who have really been
there and understand first-hand what is going on.

There is no better example of that than an article that was in

the paper in USA Today just this morning, that said that only

—

without quoting a source, at least I did not see a source—of the 18

provinces, only one was able to be secured just with the Iraqis. On
the other hand, Dr. Rubaire, who is a person I have known for

quite some time, at the National Security Agency (NSA), said that

right now 4 out of 18 are under the protection and security of Iraqi

security forces, and there are 9 more that will be in a very short

period of time, which is 13 out of 18.

When you hear people who have not been there and depend on
press reports, there is no way that they can get the resolve that

our troops have. There is no way—I will share with you, General
Pace, since this is up in the Marines' area, in Fallujah, an experi-

ence up there with this Dr. Madhi, that you have met many times

1 am sure. General Madhi was actually the brigade commander for

Saddam Hussein. He hated Americans until he started embedded
training with the marines, and he learned to love them so much
that he said that when they rotated them out that they cried. He
then renamed the Iraqi security forces at Fallujah the "Fallujah

Marines."
Things like that that are going on, you can only get by being

there and experiencing it. Now, I came back from my 11th trip to

the CENTCOM AOR and I timed that trip so that it was right after

Zarqawi saw his demise and after the new cabinet appointments
were put into place. You hear a lot about Maliki and so forth and
perhaps even Minister Jaseem, but when you sit down and spend
quality time with them you get a different impression than you do
by looking at the media here. Certainly Dr. Rubaie is the same
way.

Minister Jaseem at that time, General Pace, said, or maybe Gen-
eral Abizaid could respond to this, he said at that time that, of the

36 brigades, 17—we are talking about the Iraqi brigades now—17

were at level 2, or in other words were capable of autonomous oper-

ations, and of the 112 battalions 62 were at level 2. Now, this was
2 months ago.

Do you agree with his assessment at that time of those who are

trained and equipped, Iraqi security forces, and has that changed
in the last 2 months?
General Abizaid. Senator Inhofe, I think the best way to charac-

terize where the Iraqis are doing well has to do with their units
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that are in the lead, in the lead in the security structure in what-
ever area that has been assigned to them. In October 2004—of

2005, 1 division, 4 brigades, and 23 battalions of the Iraqi armed
forces were in the lead in their sectors. Today it is 4 divisions, 21
brigades, and 77 battalions.

That is a pretty impressive gain. I think it is really important
for people to understand that, while there are a lot of very impor-
tant warning signals that cannot be lost to us about where sec-

tarian violence is heading in Baghdad, the most important point
that we have to keep in mind is that the army is holding together
and that the government is committed to bringing the sectarian vi-

olence under control.

So the question is, am I optimistic whether or not Iraqi forces

with our support, with the backing of the Iraqi government, can
prevent the slide to civil war? My answer is yes, I am optimistic

that that slide can be prevented.
Senator Inhofe. That is consistent with what we get from the

other side. I like these hearings here where we get it from you, but
also to go over there and see what they have to say about it.

I have to say this, that I was incredibly impressed. We all are
familiar with Maliki, but Minister Jaseem and this Dr. Rubaie,
someone I had known some time before, they are very optimistic

about their level of professionalism. When you talk to the troops,

getting back up to Fallujah—I was up there during the elections,

knowing that they were actually risking their lives. They were just
rejoicing at that time. Asking them the question, do you see the
time in the future where you are going to be able to take over your
own security, they just very enthusiastically say it is.

General Abizaid. Senator Inhofe, if I may, I just want to say, the
Iraqi soldiers are fighting, they are taking casualties. They are
fighting for their nation. They are trying to get the sectarian vio-

lence and the insurgency under control. They deserve an enormous
amount of our respect and support.
So I think sometimes we seem to think that we are the only

forces there. We are not. There are 220,000 plus Iraqis that are out
there fighting and doing a pretty good job. Yes, there are some
problems within their organizations, but they are maturing and
they are doing better, and they will continue to do better.

Senator Inhofe. They are committed. I happened to be in

Saddam's home town when the training area was bombed by the
terrorists. About 40 of them, 41 I think it was, were either killed

or very seriously injured. Those families, those 40 families, resup-
plied a member of their family to replace the one that was killed.

This is the type of thing, the stories that you do not hear.

I know my time has expired, but for the record. Senator McCain,
I would like to ask them to give us some information. According to

Chiarelli and several others, including the Iraqis, probably one of

the most serious problems, even though it does not have a lot of

sex appeal to it, is the logistics, both civilian and military, and the

problem of the organizational structure to distribute simple equip-

ment and supplies is not there. I would like to get your opinions

as to what we are trying to do to correct the problem of logistical

problems.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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[The information referred to follows:]

Over the past year, Multi-National Security Transition Command-Iraq (MNSTC-
I), in conjunction with Iraqi counterparts, developed two detailed and concise action

plans to improve logistics and Iraqi self-sustainment. The first action plan for the

Ministry of Defense was finalized and approved 4 October 2006. The second action

for the Ministry of Interior was approved 6 November 2006. These plans outline

synchronized and deliberate processes for the generation of Iraqi logistics capabili-

ties and sequential procedures for transferring those capabilities to Iraqi oversight,

funding, management, and control.

MNSTC-I is approaching the development of Iraqi logistics sustainment along

three parallel avenues. First, MNSTC-I is assisting the Iraqi ministries in the de-

velopment of their own capabilities to sustain themselves and transferring to them
those responsibilities as we mentor them through difficulties. This course of action

is best exemplified by the Iraqi ministries' assumption of life support and feeding

responsibilities. Second, MNSTC-I is coaching the ministries through the more com-
plex tasks that they are capable of self-performing using Foreign Military Sales

(FMS) case funded contracts. These contracts allow the Iraqis to oversee, train, and
control commodity and functional areas while we provide a safety net of experi-

enced, established, and honest workforces to maintain sustainment while increasing

their capabilities. This course is best experienced by the Iraqi assumption of ammu-
nition and maintenance responsibilities. Third, MNSTC-I is teaching higher order

complex and skilled logistics functions such as forecasting, budgeting, and con-

tracting. This is best exemplified by our lead in the joint partnership of developing

the military depot and police maintenance capabilities for complex repair and the

Iraqi support command contracting and commodity management skills required to

sustain a national logistics system.
Recognizing the importance of logistics, the MNSTC-I commander has identified

2007 as the year of logistics and leaders. MNSTC-I is working diligently to train

logisticians for every level of the Iraqi Military and Civil Security Forces. The mili-

tary training mission is training individuals at every level of the logistics system

from the service company to the depot level. The Civil Security Forces are utilizing

the training opportunities offered by the police "re-bluing" initiative and local civil-

ian logistics capabilities to expand the effectiveness of their sustainment processes.

Both the military and police force training teams, located at every level of the

Iraqi chain of command from the ministry to the small unit level, have been focused

or assisting the Iraqis in self-sustainment and process improvement. The MNSTC-
I commander has tasked every leader in MNSTC-I to transition from leading logis-

tics from the front, to leading side-by-side with our Iraqi partners, and ultimately

to assisting from behind as the Iraqis assume greater responsibility in the planning,

execution, and improvement of their logistics system. Using self-performance, in-

creased Iraqi participation, and FMS reinforcement for complex task development,
MNSTC-I has an aggressive and achievable plan to transition logistics to Iraqi over-

sight and management by the end of 2007.

Senator McCain [presiding]. Senator Ben Nelson.
Senator BEN NELSON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Again, thank you, gentlemen, for being here. Today I think your

testimony in response to questions has been very helpful.

In connection with the number of Iraqi troops who are combat
capable, out of the 250,000-plus security forces that are there, is

there any estimate of the number who would be combat capable?
General Abizaid. Senator, for the record, the number of trained

Iraqi police, border security, and Iraqi military forces, the number
is closer to 275,000. The combat capability within the army, I think
again the best measure are those units that are in the lead, which
are 4 brigades—4 divisions, 21 brigades, and 77 battalions.

But there is a very detailed list of what unit is at what level,

that we can certainly provide to you.

Senator Ben Nelson. That would be very helpful.

[The information referred to follows:]

[Deleted.]



28

General Abizaid. They are much improved and they continue to

improve every month.
Senator Ben Nelson. Which is part of the emphasis on standing

their mihtary up so that we can stand ours down. The faster and
the more capable they are, hopefully then there should be some
sort of connection with the reduction of our Armed Forces as a re-

sult of that.

In terms of the police, let us say the municipal police, do we
know what percentage or what number of the total number you
would look at as being, not combat or capably trained, but honest
and as part of the overall government, as opposed to a militia?

General Abizaid. It is a difficult question to answer. There are
some places where the local police are exceptionally efficient and
very honest, very capable. There are other areas where we know
that they have been infiltrated by various militias, such as in

Basra, where the government and the British forces that are down
there are doing their best to stand down those units, retrain them,
and bring them on line in a credible and capable manner.
As far as the national police forces are concerned, in Baghdad it

is clear that there are a number of battalions—again, without my
notes in front of me I would take it for the record, but there are
battalions that need to be stood down and retrained, and Generals
Casey and Dempsey are working to do that now.

[The information referred to follows:!

[Deleted.]

Senator Ben Nelson. Do we know whether approximately 50
percent or 30 percent?
General Abizaid. I would say it is probably 30 percent.

Senator Ben Nelson. 30 percent.

General ABIZAID. That is national police, which is separate and
distinct from
Senator Ben Nelson. Municipal and-or the military.

I think the debate about whether we have a date for withdrawal
or there is an open-ended commitment—hopefully the debate will

continue. But I wonder about an approach that is different than
setting a date for withdrawal and to close any question about
whether it is an open-ended commitment, would be better ap-

proached on setting conditions for staying with the prime minister,

with the Iraqi government. In other words, there is a lot of slippage

on how we have standing up to stand down in terms of their mili-

tary versus our military because things change on the ground.
But do we have some idea of what our conditions for staying are?

Is there a tipping point in terms of their ability or inability to get

to a certain level so that they can deal with sectarian violence on
their own or the Sunni insurgency, to govern themselves, but also

to secure themselves?
I guess I would feel more comfortable if we could establish some

sort of metrics to know what it takes in terms of percentage, num-
bers, and what it will take in terms of time so that we can say that

they are capable of not only governing themselves with the elected

government, but also in terms of securing themselves so they can
govern themselves.
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I do not know who would like to take that question, but I throw
it out to all three of you.

General Abizaid. Senator, the government has been in existence

now for 3 months. They have a lot of work to do to cement their

capability to govern. It is a very difficult thing to bring in a new
government under these conditions of sectarian violence and insur-

gency. I think it is very important for people to understand, while

there may be a military metric to units in the Iraqi army that are

equipped and trained and them taking over certain battle space,

there is also a very important political aspect to this reduction of

sectarian violence, which is the various communities getting to-

gether and agreeing upon ways to reduce the sectarian violence

themselves.
It is important that there be a national reconciliation effort and

it is important that there be agreed-upon measures to move for-

ward with various militias that are operating outside of govern-

ment control. I think a combination of those things will lead to less

violence over time, establish the role of the national government in

Iraq, and allow us to bring our level of forces down as appropriate.

Secretary Rumsfeld. Senator Nelson, I would just add that the

U.S. Ambassador and General Casey have established a committee
or a commission with the new Iraqi government and the national

security officials in that government to address the very issues that

you are raising as to what are the things that need to be done, be-

cause, as General Abizaid correctly points out, they reach well be-

yond military capabilities.

Senator Ben Nelson. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for your answers.
Senator McCain. Senator Thune.
Senator Thune. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
General, General, Mr. Secretary, thank you for being here and

for your responses to the questions. I would like to ask General
Abizaid a question. I talked to a soldier last week who has had two
deployments to Iraq and raised the question about whether or not

the objectives and the goals that we have in Iraq are aligned with
the goals that the Iraqi people have, and that they are not. One
of the reasons—it seems to me at least if we are going to get con-

trol of the sectarian situation there the Iraqi people have to buy
into what is happening in Iraq.

His suggestion was that they have not. I know that when we
have traveled to Iraq—and I was there a couple of months back
with Senator McCain's delegation—we hear from, obviously, the
commanders and we talk with some of our troops. In most cases

we do not have a lot of interaction with the Iraqi people. But I am
just wondering if you could comment about the overall—the inter-

action that we have with the Iraqi people, our troops on the ground
over there, the temperature in terms of their willingness to be a
part of a national unity government, a democratic Iraq, and that

sort of thing, relative to what we are trying to accomplish there.

This was one soldier who says he visits with these folks all the

time and thinks that their interests and their objectives and goals

are not aligned with what ours are over there.

General Abizaid. There are certainly people in Iraq that do not
want Iraq to come together as an independent state. There are ter-
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rorist groups that have views that they want Iraq to descend into

a state of anarchy and chaos so they can estabhsh safe havens for

terrorism in the region.

But I think that as I go around and I talk to Iraqi mihtary offi-

cers, Iraqi government officials, and people throughout the coun-
try—and I think General Casey certainly would echo this—the ma-
jority of the people want Iraq to come together as a free and inde-

pendent nation that is capable of being a meaningful member of

the community of nations in that part of the world, that is not
dominated by either Iranians or dominated by Sunni extremist
groups. I believe that they know they have to fight in order to

achieve that.

Secretary Rumsfeld. I think it ought not to be surprising, Sen-
ator, that an American soldier would visit with Iraqis and see that
they do have a different perspective. They live in a different part
of the world, they have a different history, and it is fully under-
standable.
On the other hand, 12 million of them went out and voted, and

they went out and fashioned a constitution and then ratified it. It

is there for the world to see. They have been voting in increasing
numbers. So while you are right and General Abizaid is certainly

right that there are Baathists who want to take back the country,

there are Shiite who would like to dominate it to the detriment of

the Sunnis, the fact of the matter is that 12 million Iraqis went out

and voted for that constitution, and that is not nothing. It is some-
thing important.

Senator Thune. I appreciate General Abizaid's comment, which
I have heard you make previously as well, that the forces that

want to hold the country together and see it succeed outnumber
and are greater than those that want to see it fail. But I just want-
ed to get your assessment of the on-the-ground, average Iraqi on
the street type of view of what is happening there, because it

seems to me at least that that is a key component in starting to

turn over information on some of the bad guys who are committing
the violence there and really making this thing work.
One other question has to do again with the borders and how are

we doing with respect to Iran and Syria? Foreign arms serve as the

lifeblood of the insurgent groups. Does the Iraqi government see

that as a threat to their sovereignty and are they stepping up and
doing some of the work to protect the borders and make sure that

a lot of the arms that are coming in are cut off?

What is your assessment of that? I have asked a lot of questions

of your colleagues who have been in front of this committee about
lEDs, for example, and where are they getting the materials to

make these lEDs. It seems at least a lot of that is coming from
some of these other countries. I know it is impossible, with the

length of the borders and ever3rthing else, to completely shut it off,

but are there efforts being made to regulate and control the mate-
rials that are coming in that are being used to inflict casualties on
our troops?
General Abizaid. Yes, Senator, there is a lot of effort building a

border force. The border force is effective in some areas, less effec-

tive in others. The Iraqi armed forces also back up the border

forces. The Syrian border remains the primary conduit for foreign
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fighters. I think those numbers remain less than 100 or so that are

transitting back and forth.

The vast majority of the munitions that are used inside Iraq

come from inside Iraq. There are certainly smuggling routes that

Iranian Revolutionary Guard Kudz Force people are using to bring

in lEDs into the south and into some of the northern portions of

Iraq, that have been used, and it is clear that that has taken place.

Senator Thune. Were those weapons caches that were discovered

this last week, has it been determined whether those were leftovers

from the previous regime or are those that have come in, that have
flooded in from other countries?

General Abizaid. Sir, I would have to see the specific report.

There are weapons caches found every day.

Senator Thune. All right.

General PACE. Sir, to help with that number, we have had
420,000 tons of ammunition captured and destroyed in some over

14,000 locations in theater. So it is a huge cache location, and we
find them every day.

Senator Thune. Thank you. I thank you for your outstanding
service to our country.

Mr. Chairman, I yield back.

Senator McCain. Senator Clinton.

Senator Clinton. Thank you very much. Senator McCain.
Mr. Secretary, we are glad you are here. In your opening state-

ment you referenced the common sense of Americans. I think it is

fair to say that that collective common sense overwhelmingly does

not either understand or approve of the way you and the adminis-

tration are handling Iraq and Afghanistan.
Under your leadership there have been numerous errors in judg-

ment that have led us to where we are in Iraq and Afghanistan.
We have a full-fledged insurgency and full-blown sectarian conflict

in Iraq. Now, whether you label it a civil war or not, it certainly

has created a situation of extreme violence and the continuing loss

of life among our troops and of the Iraqis.

You did not go into Iraq with enough troops to establish law and
order. You disbanded the entire Iraqi army. Now we are trying to

recreate it. You did not do enough planning for what is called

phase 4 and rejected all the planning that had been done pre-

viously to maintain stability after the regime was overthrown. You
underestimated the nature and strength of the insurgency, the sec-

tarian violence, and the spread of Iranian influence.

Last year Congress passed the United States Policy in Iraq Act,

which I strongly supported. This law declares 2006 to be a year of

significant transition to full Iraqi sovereignty, with Iraqi security

forces taking the lead for the security of a free and sovereign Iraq,

thereby creating the conditions for the phased redeployment of U.S.
forces from Iraq.

However, we appear to be moving in the opposite direction, with
the number of U.S. troops in Iraq scheduled to increase, not de-

crease. That is the only way I think you can fairly consider the de-

cision with respect to 172nd Stryker brigade.
So, Mr. Chairman, as we return to our States for the August re-

cess, our constituents have a lot of questions and concerns about
the current state of affairs in both Iraq and Afghanistan. I do not
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need to remind any of us that we continue to lose our young men
and women, 120 from New York alone.

Besides the U.S. losses, violence does seem to be increasing.

From January to June of this year, there were 14,338 Iraqi civilian

casualties, at least as far as anyone can count. In May and June
alone, more than 5,000 deaths and 5,700 injuries. In a July 22 arti-

cle in The New York Times, General Abizaid was quoted as saying:
"2 months after the new Iraqi government took office, the security
gains that we had hoped for had not been achieved."

Then there was the big ballyhooed announcement of forward to-

gether and the commitment by the new Iraqi government to secure
Baghdad. Two months into that, it is clear it is not working and
we are now putting in more American troops and, following the
lead of Senator McCain's line of questioning, we are moving them
from other places that are hardly stable and secure.

In Afghanistan, your administration's credibility is also suspect.

In September 2002 you said the Taliban are gone. In September
2004, President Bush said the Taliban no longer is in existence.

However, this February Defense Intelligence Agency (DIA) Director
Lieutenant General Maples said that in 2005 attacks by the
Taliban and other anti-coalition forces were up 20 percent from
2004 levels and these insurgents were a greater threat to the Af-

ghan government's efforts to expand its authority than at any time
since 2001. Further, General Eikenberry made a comparable com-
ment with respect to the dangers that are now going on in Afghani-
stan and the failure to be able to secure it.

Obviously, I could go on and on. A recent book, aptly titled "Fi-

asco," describes in some detail the decisionmaking apparatus that

has led us to this situation.

So, Mr Secretary, when our constituents ask for evidence that

your policy in Iraq and Afghanistan will be successful, you do not

leave us with much to talk about. Yes, we hear a lot of happy talk

and rosy scenarios, but because of the administration's strategic

blunders and frankly, the record of incompetence in executing, you
are presiding over a failed policy.

Given your track record, Secretary Rumsfeld, why should we be-

lieve your assurances now?
Secretary RUMSFELD. My goodness. First, I tried to make notes

and to follow the prepared statement you have presented. First of

all, it is true there is sectarian conflict in Iraq and there is a loss

of life, and it is an unfortunate and tragic thing that is taking
place. It is true that there are people who are attempting to pre-

vent that government from being successful, and they are the peo-

ple who are blowing up buildings and killing innocent men, women,
and children, and taking off the heads of people on television, and
the idea of their prevailing is unacceptable.

Second, you said the number of troops were wrong. I guess his-

tory will make a judgment on that. The number of troops that went
in and the number of troops that were there every month since and
the number of troops that are there today reflected the best judg-

ment of the military commanders on the ground, their superiors.

General Pace, General Abizaid, the civilian leadership of the DOD,
and the President of the United States.
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I think it is not correct to assume that they were wrong num-
bers. I do not think the evidence suggests that, and it will be inter-

esting to see what history decides. The balance between having too

many and contributing to an insurgency by the feeding of occupa-

tion and the risk of having too few and having the security situa-

tion not be sufficient for the political progress to go forward is a

complicated set of decisions, and I do not know that there is any
guidebook that tells you how to do it. There is no rule book, there

is no history for this. The judgments that have been made have

been made by exceedingly well-trained people, the gentlemen sit-

ting next to me, the people on the ground in Iraq. They were stud-

ied and examined and analyzed by the civilian leadership and by
the President and they were confirmed.

So I think your assertion is at least debatable.

The idea that the army was disbanded I think is one that is kind

of flying around. My impression is that to a great extent that army
disbanded itself. Our forces came in so fast. It was made up of a

lot of Shiite conscripts who did not want to be in it and thousands,

or at least many hundreds of Sunni generals, who were not about

to hang around after Saddam Hussein and his sons and adminis-

tration were replaced. The work to build a new army has included

an awful lot of the people from the prior army and it has benefited

from that.

Third, the assertion that the government rejected all the plan-

ning that had been done before is just simply false. That is not the

case. The planning that had been done before was taken into ac-

count by the people who were executing the post-major combat op-

erations activities.

The comments about Baghdad I will possibly let General Abizaid

comment on. The goal is not to have U.S. forces do the heavy lifting

in Baghdad. There are many more Iraqi forces in Baghdad. The
role of the U.S. forces is to help them, to provide logistics, to assist

them as needed, and to create a presence that will allow the Iraqi

security forces to succeed, and then as our forces step back allow

the Iraqi security forces to be sufficient to maintain order in the

city.

I cannot predict if it will work this time. It may or it may not.

It happens to represent the best judgment of General Casey, Gen-
eral Chiarelli, and the military leadership, and General Abizaid
and General Pace and I have reviewed it and we think that it is

a sensible approach, as General Abizaid testified earlier.

As for Afghanistan, I do not know who said what about the

Taliban are gone, but in fact, the Taliban that were running Af-

ghanistan and ruling Afghanistan were replaced, and they were re-

placed by an election that took place in that country. In terms of

a government or a governing entity, they were gone and that is a
fact.

Are there still Taliban around? You bet. Are they occupying safe

havens in Afghanistan and other places—correction, in Pakistan
and other places? Certainly they are. Is the violence up? Yes. Does
the violence tend to be up during the summer and spring, summer
and fall months? Yes, it does, and it tends to decline during the
winter period.
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Does that represent failed policy? I do not know. I would say not.

I think you have an awful lot of very talented people engaged in

this and the decisions that are being made are being made with
great care, after a great deal of consideration. Are there setbacks?
Yes. Are there things that people cannot anticipate? Yes. Does the
enemy have a brain and continue to make adjustments on the
ground, requiring our forces to continue to make adjustments? You
bet. Is that going to continue to be the case? I think so.

Is this problem going to get solved in the near-term about this

long struggle against violent extremism? No, I do not believe it is.

I think it is going to take some time. I know the question was some
wars lasted 3 years, some wars lasted 4 years, some wars lasted

5 years. The Cold War lasted 40-plus years. This struggle against
violent extremists who are determined to prevent free people from
exercising their rights as free people is going to go on a long time
and it is going to be a tough one.

That does not mean that we have to spend the rest of our lives

as the United States Armed Forces in Iraq. The Iraqis are going
to have to take that over. We cannot want freedom more for the
Iraqi people than they want for themselves. Senator Thune men-
tioned earlier about that issue.

I would point out the number of tips that have been coming from
Iraqi people have been going up steadily. They are at a very high
level and it does suggest to me that the Iraqi people do want to

have a free country, as I mentioned because of their voting pat-

terns.

So I would disagree strongly with your statement.
Senator Clinton. Mr. Secretary, I know you would and I know

you feel strongly about it, but there is a track record here. This is

not 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005, when you appeared before this com-
mittee and made many comments and presented many assurances
that have, frankly, proven to be unfulfilled.

Secretary Rumsfeld. Senator, I do not think that is true. I have
never painted a rosy picture. I have been very measured in my
words, and you would have a dickens of a time trying to find in-

stances where I have been excessively optimistic. I understand this

is tough stuff.

Senator Clinton. Mr. Chairman, I would like unanimous con-

sent to submit for the record a number of the Secretary's former
comments. Also, may we keep the record open for additional ques-

tions?

[The information referred to follows:]
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A. Congressional Heiuings

I.July 9, 2003

Senate Armed Services Committee hearing

"The residents of Baghdad may not have power 24 hours a day, but they no longer wake

up each morning in fear wondering whether this will be the day that a death squad would

come to cut out their tongues, chop off their ears, or take their children away for

'questioning,' never to be seen again."

Source: http://www.defenselink.mil/speeches/2003/sp20030709-secdefD364.html

2. September 30, 2003

House Appropriations Committee hearing

"My impression is that the war was highly successfid."

Source: Transcript of Hearing of House Appropriations Committee, Subcommittee on

Defense on President's FY '04 Supplemental Request for Iraq and Afghanistan, available

online from FDCH Political Transcripts on Lexis-Nexis.
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3. February 4, 2004

Senate Armed Services Committee hearing

"The increased demand on the force we are experiencing today is likely a 'spike,' driven

by the deployment of nearly 1 1 5,000 troops in Iraq. We hope and anticipate that that

spike will be temporary. We do not expect to have 1 1 5,000 troops permanently deployed

in any one campaign."

Source: http://www.defenselink.mil/speeches/2004/sp20040204-secdero842.htmI

4. May 7, 2004

Senate Armed Services Committee hearing

"SENATOR BAYH: So my question, Mr. Secretary, my final question is just very

simply, do you believe we're on the right course presently, or is dramatic action necessary

to regain the momentum so that we can ultimately prevail in what is a very noble and

idealistic undertaking?

SEC. RUMSFELD: I do believe we're on the right track."

Source: http;//www.pentagon.mil/speeches/2004/sp20040507-secdero443.html

5. June 23, 2005

Senate Armed Services Committee hearing

"But terrorists no longer can take advantage of sanctuaries like Fallujah."

Source:

http://www.cq.com/display.do?dockey=/cqonline/prod/data/docs/html/transcripts/congres

sional/1 09/congressionaltranscripts 1 09-

00000 1742332.html@committees&metapub=CQ-

CONGTRANSCRIPTS&searchIndex= 1&seqNum=54

6. June 23, 2005

House Armed Services Committee hearing

"The level of support from the international commimity is growing."

Source:

http://www.cq.com/display.do?dockey=/cqonline/prod/data/docs/html/transcripts/congres

sional/ 1 09/congressionaltranscripts 1 09-
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00000 1 743474.html@committees«S:metapub=CQ-

CONGTRANSCRIPTS&searchIndex=0&seqNum=97

7. March 9, 2006

Senate Appropriations Committee hearing

"SEN. ROBERT BYRD: Mr. Secretary, how can Congress be assured that the funds in

this bill won't be used to put our troops right in the middle of a full-blown Iraqi civil war?

SEC. DONALD RUMSFELD: Senator, I can say that certainly it is not the intention of

the military commanders to allow that to happen. The -- and to repeat, the -- at least thus

far, the situation has been such that the Iraqi security forces could for the most part deal

with the problems that exist."

Source:

http://www.jcs.mil/chairman/speeches/060309CJCS_SecDefSecStateCENTCOMSenApp

roCom.html

B. Press Interviews and Other Fonuns

I.November 14, 2002

Infinity CBS Radio Connect, interview with Steve Kroft

"The Gulf War in the 1990s lasted five days on the ground. 1 can't tell you if the use of

force in Iraq today would last five days, or five weeks, or five months, but it certainly

isn't going to last any longer than that."

Source: http://www.defenselink.mil/transcripts/2002/tl 1 152002_tl 1 14rum.html

2. December 18,2002

CNN "Larry King Live"

"The Taliban are gone. The al Qaeda are gone."

Source: http://www.defenselink.mil/Transcripts/Transcript.aspx?TranscriptID=2940

3. February 7, 2003

Town hall meeting with U.S. troops in Aviano, Italy

"And it is not knowable if force will be used, but if it is to be used, it is not knowable

how long that conflict would last. It could last, you know, six days, six weeks. I doubt six

months."
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Source: http://www.defenselink.mil/transcripts/2003/t02072003 t0207sdtownhall.html

4. February 20, 2003

PBS "NewsHour"

"Lehrer: Do you expect the invasion, if it comes, to be welcomed by the majority of the

civilian population of Iraq?

Rumsfeld: There's obviously the Shia population in Iraq and the Kurdish population in

Iraq have been treated very badly by Saddam Hussein's regime, they represent a large

fraction of the total. There is no question but that they would be welcomed."

Source: http://wAvw.defenselink.mil/Transcripts/Transcript.aspx?TranscriptID=1938

5. March 30, 2003

ABC "This Week with George Stephanopoulos"

"We know where [the WMD] are. They're in the area around Tikrit and Baghdad and

east, west, south and north somewhat."

Source: http://www.defenselink.mil/transcripts/2003/t03302003_t0330sdabcsteph.html

6. February 1,2006

Department of Defense News Briefing

"Q: One clarification on 'the long war.' Is Iraq going to be a long war?

SEC. RUMSFELD: No, I don't believe it is."

Source: http://www.defenselink.mil/Transcripts/Transcript.aspx?TranscriptID=905

Chairman Warner [presiding]. The record will remain open until

the close of business today for all members to contribute additional

questions.
Senator Clinton. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
General Pace. Senator, may I go on the record, sir?

Chairman WARNER. Yes, of course.

General Pace. Thank you, sir. I think it is very important that

I as Chairman, having been Vice Chairman since October 1, 2001,

having been part of the dialogue, having worked closely with Gen-
eral Franks, General Casey, General Abizaid, all the Joint Chiefs:

The numbers of forces that have been requested up the chain of

command have been thoroughly discussed, the pros and cons or the

Ibalance, what was needed, how we might provide it, the equip-

ment, the tactics of the major operations, all of those things have
come up through the Joint Chiefs. We have given our best military

advice.

The collaborative nature between our leaders here in Washington
and those in the field is as thorough and complete as I can imag-
ine. I have personally been part of each of those decisions and I
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want to go on record as saying that I along with the Joint Chiefs

have been, continue to be, part of the decision process, and every-

thing to my knowledge that we have ever asked for with regards

to equipment or personnel has been provided to us.

Chairman Warner. Thank you very much. General.

Again, I have listened to this very important colloquy, but I do

believe, Mr. Secretary, having followed this, as is my responsibility,

these many years, I think both Secretary Rumsfeld, your prede-

cessor General Myers, and you. General Pace, have always made
statements which were in balance and definitely indicating the se-

riousness of the conflict and the fact that it is going to be a long

and a drawn-out one. Our record has many entries in it to the ef-

fect that the President and the Secretary of Defense have relied

upon the advice of the senior military commanders in structuring

those force levels.

We will be happy to include in the record some material of our

own on that point. I think, given the number of questions coming
about the record, we will hold the record open until close of busi-

ness on Friday.

Senator Dayton.
Senator DAYTON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I want to thank sincerely each of you for your service to our

country. I know that all of you live with enormous demands of your
positions and the conditions around the world. With respect, we
and more importantly the American people deserve to be told, I

think more candidly perhaps than we have so far, why the Iraqis

remain incapable of succeeding in Iraq and, since our success is

predicated on their success, what we and they are going to do

about it.

Secretary Rumsfeld, you said in your remarks that you remain
confident in the good common sense of the American people, and
I agree with you that confidence is well-placed. The American peo-

ple can tell the difference between succeeding and failing. They
perceive, I think correctly, that the Iraqis are failing in Iraq and
that our courageous troops continue to bear the brunt of the Iraqi

failures, and that the realities there overall are getting worse, not

better.

I believe that all of you are mistaken to cast the failures in Iraq

as a test of our citizens' will and resolve. I think it is unfair to the

American people to do so.

I respectfully disagree with your assertion. General Pace, that

most Ainericans are not affected by this war every day. Most of

them lived through September 11, 2001, as you did and we did.

They remain profoundly affected by it. They accepted the Presi-

dent's assertion that the United States invasion of Iraq was essen-

tial to protect our national security, that Saddam Hussein pos-

sessed WMD, as the President and the Vice President said, that

immediately and urgently threatened the United States.

The American people continued to support the war even after no
WMD were found, even when their sons and daughters and hus-

bands and wives, as you said, General, over a million of them, have
been sent halfway around the world, risking their lives, giving

their lives, to carry out the orders of their commander in chief.
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It is not their will, the will of the American people, that is being
tested. It is their tolerance for failure. Over 2,600 Minnesota Na-
tional Guard's men and women are now serving in Iraq. They are
away from their families for 18 months. Some of them will never
return alive. They come from 80 of Minnesota's 87 counties. They
are the best and the brightest in their communities. So it is not
just their families, but it is entire communities that are affected by
their absences.
So those families and their fellow citizens deserve to know when

the Iraqis are going to be able to take over responsibility civically,

militarily, and security so that they can come home when the vic-

tory that they achieved when they toppled the Saddam Hussein re-

gime is secured.
I have attended, as all of my colleagues have, I am sure, far too

many funerals and wakes in Minnesota, where hundreds and even
thousands of grateful and grieving citizens attend. Every one of

those funerals is a leading news story in all of the statewide media.
So the people of Minnesota and I believe this country are asking

us, both you and us, their leaders, to tell them what is really going
on there, not with political spins from either side of the aisle, but
the truth, the basic facts: What is the situation in Iraq? Why is it

seemingly getting worse, not better, as evidenced, as others have
said, by the need to bring more U.S. troops into the capital city of

Baghdad? What is our strategy? What is our strategy for reversing
that slide? What is the solution to getting the inability of the
Iraqis—I remember being with General Petraeus in Iraq in Decem-
ber 2004. He talked candidly there about how it was the most dif-

ficult situation he had ever faced in his career trying to train these
forces to stand up, not to the American Army, but to their fellow

citizens, to these insurgents, some terrorists, but we are told again
and again, at least in most of the briefings, 95-plus percent of the
violence is generated by indigenous Iraqis.

So their standing up—their inability to stand up to their fellow

citizens has caused, according to the reports that I have read, some
850,000 Iraqi citizens to flee the country because they cannot even
go to work every day, cannot go to school, without basic security.

Again, by the indicators that I can look at, they are mixed, but
predominantly this is a failed effort by the Iraqi people and it con-

tinues to be. When are we going to see some indications of their

ability to succeed, and if not what are we going to do about it? Mr.
Secretary, I will ask you and then others to respond.
General Abizaid. Senator Dayton, thank you. I disagree. I believe

the Iraqis are capable of succeeding. I believe they do want to suc-

ceed. I believe they are honorable people who want to live a better

life and have security for their children, just like we do.

These forces of extremism are strong. They are very ruthless.

They are well-connected, not only inside Iraq but globally, and they
present a formidable force that has to be dealt with.

We are not operating in the region in some sort of a battlefield

where the enemy does not exist. The enemy exists in Iraq. It exists

in Afghanistan, Pakistan, Saudi Arabia, Egypt, Jordan, and in Leb-
anon. You name the location in the region and they exist there.

People say the war started on September 11, 2001, but you can
make a case for the war having started in October 1983 when
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Hezbollah destroyed the Marine barracks and killed over 200

American marines that were stationed there. You could say the

war played itself out to a certain extent at a lower level in Somalia,

where we stayed there for a short period of time and then left. You
could say that throwing a few Tomahawk land attack missiles

(TLAMs) at this enemy created the circumstances by which we had
to end up facing this enemy with greater force and greater perse-

verance and greater patience and courage than we had been able

to muster before then.

This is a very serious problem that requires the application of

our national might and will along with that of the international

community to face down the extremist threat, whether it is spon-

sored by Iran or whether it comes from al Qaeda, or we will fight

one of the biggest wars we have ever fought.

WMD may not have been found in Iraq, but this enemy is trying

to develop WMD. We know that from just looking at any unclassi-

fied Web site you want to look at. They are working at it day after

day and they want to use it against us, and we can simply not

walk away from this enemy until the people in the region have the

capacity to deal with it themselves, and they want to do that.

We have to shape the environment that allows them to help

themselves. It is a slow process. When I think of how long it took

us to win the American Revolution and then to solidify our own
independence and freedom through the Constitution and eventually

through our own Civil War, this is not an easy task. This is a very

difficult task.

I think we should give the people in the region credit for wanting
to live a better life and achieve greater security and stability. We
have to help them if we are going to keep our own children safe

from the greater dangers that lurk out there.

Senator Dayton. General, I do not say this is about walking
away from the enemy. I think it is a very unfair characterization.

I can say I voted against the resolutions to set a timetable to begin

to drawdown troops. I have gotten a lot of heat back home. So be
it, because I agree the military command needs to decide what
force level is necessary to carry out the mission that they are as-

signed by their Commander in Chief, and I am not going to second-

guess that.

But I express the concern that the force level is going to remain
there indefinitely because of the incapacity of the Iraqi society. I

recognize that, after living 25 years under a severe dictatorship,

that it takes some time. But we heard testimony last week from
Iraqis that the health ministry is more corrupt than it was under
Saddam Hussein. The amount of electricity in Baghdad we are told

is 8 hours a day. I was there with the Chairman in July 2003. As
you well know, sir, being there, when you get 115 degree tempera-
tures and no air conditioning and no running water and no sanita-

tion and no refrigeration, you have a crisis on your hands. People,

as I said earlier, cannot go to work without fearing and they are

fleeing.

So again, you cannot paint it all one way or the other, but it

seems to me that the incompetence, the corruption, and the inca-

pacity of the Iraqi forces, despite our 3 years of the best training

forces we have capable—when you can train Americans in 8 weeks
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of basic training to go over and perform, to me it is inexplicable
that after 3 years they cannot take more responsibility than they
have so far.

Again, if you extrapolate from those 3 years so far to a decade,
the prediction that we would have to have a sizable force level

there for a decade is a moderate, even an optimistic prediction. I

mean, are we going to be there for a decade or 2 decades at this

kind of force level in order to hold that country together?
Secretary RUMSFELD. Certainly no one anticipates having forces

in Iraq at these levels in a decade, and the Iraqi security forces,

as I say, have gone from zero, they have been trained and equipped
up to 275,000. They are going to complete 325,000 by the end of

this year. I do not know what the new government will say is the
appropriate number. Maybe that number, maybe something more.
But then the support systems and the strengthening of the min-

istry will be required as that is occurring. I think that your charac-
terization is going to prove to not be correct.

Senator DAYTON. I am sorry; which characterization, sir?

Secretary Rumsfeld. That they could be there up to a decade.
Senator Dayton. I hope it is not. That is not my characteriza-

tion. It is that of others.

Chairman Warner. Thank you very much, Senator.
Senator DAYTON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Secretary RUMSFELD. Mr. Chairman, something came to my at-

tention that I would like to just comment on. We were discussing
the reset costs early on.

Chairman Warner. In the interim I have gotten some material
to put in the record that documents it. But I think it is impor-
tant

Secretary RUMSFELD. Good. I would just like to say-

Chairman Warner.—that we at this point continue our colloquy

on that, and that that part of your response be inserted in the

record.

Please.

Secretary RUMSFELD. Yes, Mr. Chairman. The reset costs have
historically been in supplementals, not in the original budgets. The
President's budget request for fiscal year 2007 contained $50 billion

request for a supplemental allowance or a bridge fund. This bridge
fund is intended to partly cover fiscal year 2007 reset costs. I say
partly because we fully expect to request additional supplemental
funds in the spring, as we have in prior periods.

Reset costs have always been funded in supplementals. The
$13.1 billion in the Stevens amendment as I understand it is an
advance payment on reset costs that would be covered in the spring
supplemental.
Chairman WARNER. Thank you. I have done this research and we

will put this in the record. I am going to address a document dated
August 2 from the Executive Office of the President, and it reads
as follows. It clearly in my judgment supports your statement that

you have been in constant consultation with the 0MB on this im-

portant issue. This document reads in part, and I will put the

whole document in the record: "The administration welcomes the

committee's strong support for our troops fighting in the war on
terror. The funds provided are critical to continuing operations in
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Iraq and Afghanistan while keeping our mihtary well-equipped and
ready to respond. The administration urges the Senate to fully sup-
port the procurement request to provide full funding for Afghan
and Iraqi forces to enable them to assume full responsibility for

their own security and fully fund our coalition support, to ensure
timely reimbursement of critical partners."

Now, this is right on point: "The administration supports the
Senate's acceleration of $13.1 billion into the bridge that would
have been requested next year in the spring supplemental, bring-

ing the total level of bridge funding in this bill to $63.1 billion. This
action will facilitate the needed resetting of the Armed Forces to

continue their important missions and provide needed certainty to

military planners. This additional funding is necessary to accel-

erate planned efforts to repair or replace war-damaged equip-
ment"—the point that you addressed, General Pace. "In particular,

these funds address Army and Marine Corps depot and unit main-
tenance requirements and procurement needs, including Abrams,
Bradley, Apache, and other helicopters, tactical vehicles, trailers,

generators, and bridge equipment."
This is a document that I will also insert, which states the 0MB

funding levels, and they were followed by the Appropriations Com-
mittee in that amendment. So that will be placed in the record as
I stated, and I thank the Secretary for bringing that to our further
attention and clarifying it.

[The information referred to follows:]
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EXECUTIVE OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT
OFFICE OF MANAGEMENT AND BUDGET

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20S03

August 2, 2006

(Senate)

Statement of Administration Policy
H.R. 5631 - Department of Defense Appropriations Bill. FY 20Q7

(Sponsors: Cochran (R), Mississippi; Byrd (D), West Virginia)

The Administration commends the Senate Committee for reporting this bill in a timely

manner and urges its swift enactment.

The President's FY 2007 Budget holds total discretionary spending to $872.8 billion and

reduces non-security discretionary spending below last year's level. The Budget funds priorities

and meets these limits by proposing to reform, reduce, or terminate 141 lower-priority programs.

The Administration urges Congress to fiind priority needs while holding spending to these

limits, and objects to the use of gimmicks to meet those limits. The Administration looks

forward to working with Congress to adopt the President's proposals to cut wasteful spending in

order to maintain fiscal discipline to protect the American taxpayer and sustain a strong

economy.

The Administration opposed the $4 billion reduction in ftjnds for the Department of

Defense (DOD) in the House bill and strongly opposes the $9 billion reduction included m this

bill. The impact of any additional reductions beyond the House level will result in the

degradation of the military's force readiness. The Administration strongly opposes the shifting

of base funding requirements to supplemental bills as a way to increase non-security related

discretionary funding. If the President is presented with a final DOD appropriations bill that cuts

in excess of $4 billion from the Department of Defense to shift fiinds to non-security spending,

his senior advisors would recommend that he veto that bill.

The Administration appreciates the Committee's support for the President's proposed 2.2

percent across-the-board pay raise with additional targeted increases for warrant officers and

enlisted troops. The Administration also appreciates the Committee's support for fully funding

Cooperative Threat Reduction, and for providing initial funding for wartime operations,

maintenance, and re-equipping needs. In addition, the Administration thanks the Committee for

providing general transfer authority of $4.5 billion to provide increased flexibility, but urges

support for the full $5 billion request.

The Administration would like to take this opportunity to share additional views

regarding the Committee's version of the bill.

Bridge Funding for the War on Terror

The Administration welcomes the Committee's strong support for our troops fighting the

War on Terror. The funds provided are critical to continuing operations in Iraq and Afghanistan
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while keeping our military well equipped and ready to respond when necessary. The

Administration urges the Senate to fully support the procurement request, provide full funding

for the Afghan and Iraqi Security Forces to enable them to assume full responsibility for their

own security and fully fund our Coalition Support request to ensure timely reimbursement of

critical coalition partners.

The Administration suppwrts the Senate's acceleration of $13.1 billion into the Bridge

that would have been requested next year in the spring supplemental, bringing the total level of

Bridge funding in this bill to $63.1 billion. This action will facilitate the needed resetting of the

armed forces to continue their important missions and provide needed certainty to military

planners. This additional fiinding is necessary to accelerate planned efforts to repair or replace

war-damaged equipment. In particular these additional funds address Army and Marine Corps

depot and unit maintenance requirements and procurement needs, including Abrams, Bradley,

Apache and other helicopters, tactical vehicles, trailers, generators and bridging equipment.

The Administration, however, opposes the inclusion of funding in the Bridge that does

not support direct Global War on Terror related requirements, and strongly opposes the inclusion

of base funding needs in the Bridge.

Reductions to Operation and Maintenance and Personnel Accounts

The Administration strongly opposes the Committee's reductions to Operation and

Maintenance (O&M) programs. Over half of the total reductions in the bill are to O&M
accounts, seriously compromising programs and likely accelerating the need for supplemental

funds in 2007. Unrequested reductions in this area would degrade readiness.

The Administration also urges the Senate to restore the $600 million reduction to the

President's personnel request to avoid shortfalls in pay accounts.

Defense Health

The Administration urges Congress to consider the President's proposals to encourage

the use of cost-effective medical care for military retirees under age 65 using TRICARE.
Support for these proposals would ensure that resources are focused on core missions and that

high-quality health care is sustainable in the future. Rejecting these changes will create a

shortfall of over $700 million in FY 2007 and $1 1.2 billion from FY 2007 to FY 201 1. The
failure to address rising health care costs today will threaten the Department's long-term ability

to transform and fund future military capabilities.

Reductions in Weapons Systems

The Administration objects to the Committee's reductions of $3.1 billion from the

Department's procurement programs and another $700 million from research and development
programs. The Administration strongly opposes: the $1.3 billion decrease in Joint Strike Fighter

production; reductions and reallocations to shipbuilding that reduce T-AKE and Littoral Combat
Ship procurements; a $243 million reduction to the Army's Future Combat System; elimination

of all funding ($127 million) requested for the Conventional Trident Modification; and
reductions to the VH-71 Presidential Helicopter program. The Administration also opposes the
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Committee's significant reductions to the Global Positioning System, Air Force replacement

tanker aircraft, the Navy's Unmanned Combat Air Vehicle, and numerous space programs

including two especially critical ones: Transformational Satellite and Space Based Radar.

Finally, while the Administration appreciates the Senate support for missile defense funding, the

Administration opposes Senate reallocations of funding from Command, Control, Battle

Management, and Communications, interceptors, system core functions, technology and space-

based sensors, which would significantly delay these efforts. These program changes and

reductions would divert funds from the Department's transformation efforts and prevent fielding

of critical new weapon systems in a timely manner.

Unrequested Additions

The Administration objects to numerous unrequested acquisition programs in the bill,

including the Joint Strike Fighter alternative engine and an oceanographic research vessel. The

Administration also opposes the shift in the mix of F/A- 18 and EF-18 production aircraft. These

unrequested and redirected funds would hamper the Department's long-term modernization

efforts.

Earmarks

The Administration objects to excessive unjustified earmarks in the bill that are funded

by making reductions in high priority spending such as Research, Development, Testing and

Evaluation programs. The Administration encourages the Senate to eliminate unjustified

earmarks for lower priority items and restore requested funding for priority programs and

projects.

Classified Programs

The Administration opposes the $38 million reduction to the Intelligence Community

Management Account, which will hinder the Director of National Intelligence's ability to

complete the stand-up of his office and implement the Intelligence Reform and Terrorism

Prevention Act of 2004. The Administration looks forward to reviewing the classified annex

and working with Congress to address any concerns on classified programs as the legislative

process moves forward.

Competitive Sourcing

The Administration would strongly object if an amendment were adopted that precludes

the Army from implementing a contract for base support services at Walter Reed Army Medical

Center. This contract, awarded after a public-private competition conducted in accordance with

0MB Circular A-76 and applicable law, represents the most efficient provision of these services

and will save taxpayers more than $30 million over 5 years.

The Administration also opposes requirements in section 8014(a)(3) that would

unnecessarily subject private sector bidders to intrusive data requirements concerning the

provision of health benefits to their employees. While well intentioned, this provision ultimately

undermines efficiencies in private health plans and provides another disincentive for the private

sector to participate in DOD's competitions. The Administration urges the Senate to amend the
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Army and Marine Corps Reset Needs

[$ in billions}
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Senator Graham. At noon, but I can defer.

Senator Chambliss. Well, go ahead. That is fine with me.
Chairman Warner. I thank you. Senator Chambliss.
Senator Graham.
Senator GRAHAM. It just speaks well of Georgia, that is all I can

say, just nice people in Georgia.

Senator Chambliss. This will cost him, Mr. Chairman.
Senator Graham. It will. I know I am going to pay a heavy price

for this.

Gentlemen, thank you for coming, and I think it is important to

be here and publicly talk about the war and what is going right

and what is going wrong. But let us do Insurgency 101. The polit-

ical situation in Iraq, Mr. Secretary, I think has dramatically im-
proved. We have a government constituted, made up of all three
groups. People voted in high numbers. That is something we should
be proud of.

I was with Senators Chambliss, Cantwell, and Biden on Decem-
ber 15, the national voting day. It was something to behold. So I

would like to put on the record that the Iraqi people are very
brave. They went to vote that day with people shooting at them,
and they voted in larger numbers than in our primary in South
Carolina. So the Iraqi people really have sacrificed a lot to get to

where they are at now and I would like to see them get this process
completed on their terms, not the terrorists' terms.
But when it comes to the Sunni insurgents, how many do we be-

lieve there are and who is their leader?

General Abizaid. I think the number of Sunni insurgents is con-

sistent with the intelligence estimates of at the bottom side around
10,000, up to around 20,000. There is no distinct group that is in

charge of it.

Senator GRAHAM. What is their goal?

General Abizaid. It all depends on which group it is from within
the Sunni insurgency. If it is the former Baathists, it is to come
back to power. If it is al Qaeda, it is to establish chaos so that they
can achieve a safe haven in the region. Then there are other var-

ious groups within the Sunni community, that keep violence on the

table because they feel that it is the only thing that they have to

negotiate with against the other communities' advantages that they
see that have grown at their own expense.
Senator Graham. On the Shiite side, what is the goal of the Shi-

ite insurgency and how many do we think they are?

General Abizaid. Senator, I think it is not quite what I would
call a Shiite insurgency.

Senator Graham. What would you describe it?

General Abizaid. I think there are Shiite extremist groups that

are trying to ensure that the Iraqi government as voted fails and
that they become ascendant, and you see this within parts of the
Jesh-al-Mahdi under Muqtada Sadr.

Senator Graham. How many people are in that camp?
General Abizaid. I think that those numbers are difficult to

quantify because there are parts that are in various militia groups
and there are other parts that are actively working against the

government. But I think the number is in the low thousands.
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Senator GRAHAM. Al Qaeda, after Zarqawi's death how would you

rate their capabihty and their makeup in terms of numbers?
General AfilZAlD. Al Qaeda is significantly depleted. I think their

numbers are less than 1,000. I think they are a tenacious and cel-

lular group that needs continued work, but we are making good

progress against them and we will continue to make good progress

against them.
Senator GRAHAM. The reason I bring this question up is when

you add up all the numbers we are talking maybe less than 30,000

people, 40,000 people. The question for our country and the world

at large is how can we let 40,000 people in a nation of—how many
million in Iraq?
General PACE. 25, 26 million.

Senator GRAHAM. 25 million. Why cannot 200,000 armed people

working together contain 30,000 or 40,000?
Secretary RUMSFELD. A couple of comments. One, it is a country

the size of California, I suppose, and it is a heck of a lot easier to

go around killing innocent men, women, and children and hiding

without uniforms and not in any organized military activity which
another military could go address

—

Senator GRAHAM. That goes to the point, it seems to me, that if

the 25 million were united against the 40,000 that they would not

put up with this. So it seems to me that the country is not united,

because if you had 25 million people minus 40,000 that were on one

side of the ledger versus the 40,000 this thing would come to an
end overnight.
There is something more going on in Iraq at a deeper level from

a common sense perspective for this violence to be sustained so

long and grow, not lessen. What do you think that something is?

General Pace. Sir, I think you are fundamentally correct that if

the Iraqi people as a whole decided today that, my words now, they

love their children more than they hate their neighbor, that this

could come to a quick conclusion. Many, about 4,500 to 5,000 per

month, are currently feeding tips to their government and to our

Armed Forces about potential aggressive movements.
We need the Iraqi people to seize this moment. We provided se-

curity for them. Their armed forces are providing security for them
and their armed forces are dying for them. They need to decide

that this is their moment.
Senator Graham. Well said. The question for the American peo-

ple I think as we go forward: Will they ever seize this moment any
time soon? I would like each of you to give me an evaluation as to

whether or not the 25 million less 40,000 will seize this moment
any time soon, and what is the general view of the average Iraqi

on the street about our military presence and the role that we are

playing in their future? Are they more supportive or less supportive

of us being there now than they were a year ago? I would stop

there.

General PACE. Sir, I think they will seize the moment. I do not

know how soon that will be. I think the Iraqi people need to get

to the point where the amount of pain they are inflicting on each
other goes beyond their ability to endure. I do not have, based on
my upbringing, an understanding of how much they can endure or

how their society accepts that kind of violence.
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But clearly there is a point in time where the amount of violence

that they are inflicting on each other is going to reach the point
where they are fed up with it and they stand up to be counted. I

cannot tell you when that moment is, but I do know that Prime
Minister Maliki and his team, his cabinet, those who have been
elected as part of their parliament, are the leaders of that nation
and are standing up to this challenge and are working with their

people to get to that day.

Senator Graham. Has the Iraqi public turned against us or are
they still with us?
General Pace. I think they would like us to leave, but not before

it is time. I think that they are still with us, but they would like,

as we would like, to have foreign troops off their soil.

Senator Graham. Mr. Secretary?
Secretary Rumsfeld. It is an interesting question. I think back

over the several years and the situation has evolved unquestion-
ably. The Kurds were and remain very supportive of our presence,
concerned that we would leave. The Shiite in many instances were
pleased with the opportunity to assert their majority over the coun-
try that was provided by our presence. The Sunni clearly were pow-
erfully against our presence.
More recently, the Sunnis see the role of the Shiite, they see in-

fluence of Iran, and they are less powerfully against our presence.

The Kurds remain where they are and the Shiite, if one talks to

the elected leader of the country, who represents the Shiite coali-

tion, it is very clear in his mind that it would be very harmful to

him and to his administration and to the country were we to leave

precipitously. So it is something that has evolved.

General Abizaid. Senator, I would certainly agree with the way
General Pace characterized it. We took a society like this and we
turned it like this [indicating], and now it is moving like this, and
there is a tremendous amount of friction associated with those
moves. It is a society that must either move towards equilibrium
or towards breakup.
Senator Graham. What do you think will happen?
General Abizaid. I think it will move towards equilibrium.

Senator GRAHAM. How long?
General Abizaid. I think it will move towards equilibrium in the

next 5 years. That does not mean that we need to keep our force

levels the way they are, but I am confident that the Iraqi security

forces, with good governance, coupled together, will bring the coun-

try towards equilibrium because the alternative is so stark. They
have had the experience of Lebanon. All you have to do is go ask
the Lebanese how long a civil war will last and you will know that

you must move towards equilibrium.

Senator Graham. Thank you all.

Chairman Warner. Thank you very much.
Senator Bill Nelson.
Senator Bill Nelson. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Gentlemen, thank you for being here. General Abizaid, the Spe-

cial Inspector General for Iraq Reconstruction (SIGIR) report last

month stated that corruption is costing $4 billion per year. The
U.S. Comptroller General, David Walker, testified that 10 percent
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of Iraq's refined fuels and 30 percent of its imported fuels were

being stolen.

Can you explain in your strategy how it is tailored to prevent the

corruption and theft of the investments and the Iraqis' own re-

sources as we get into the reconstruction?

General Abizaid. Senator, clearly corruption is endemic in this

part of the world. It was very heavily part of Saddam's society. It

continues to be part of the current Iraqi society, but I believe that

there are many forces within Iraq that recognize the problem, that

the good governance that will emerge from representative govern-

ment and accountability will over time move this in a positive di-

rection.

I think that corruption in this part of the world is one of the

great corrosive influences that causes extremism to flourish and in

order to be successful against the extremists governments must be

held more and more accountable, and I believe this Iraqi govern-

ment will be held accountable by their people over time.

Secretary RUMSFELD. I would add one other thing. Senator Nel-

son, if I might. One of the real problems in my view has been the

fact that historically the Iraqis have been paying a very small frac-

tion for their fuel of what the market price is. So as we all know,

it ought not to be a surprise, if you can buy it at that price you
can immediately take it across the border and sell it for a higher

price, and that has been a problem because the government has

been—is now in the process of raising the price towards the market
price, has not gotten there, but is in that direction.

But in the mean time, it is very damaging and it does lead to

corruption.

Senator Bill Nelson. The SIGIR's report stated the deterio-

rating security situation has had a particularly deleterious effect

on the establishment of our Provincial Reconstruction Teams
(PRTs), only five of which have begun operations in Iraq. They
went on to tell how the concept, the PRT concept, had worked well

in Afghanistan and it was thought to be a key component in the

Iraq reconstruction strategy.

So General Abizaid, in your discussions with the Iraqi govern-

ment and our State Department, what is your thinking in the

strategy to implement the PRT in every province to aid in the tran-

sition?

General Abizaid. The PRTs are the strategic responsibility of the

Ambassador and I think it is too soon to say that they have not

been successful. I was in Mosul the other day and I talked to the

PRT up there and it was clear to me that they were making good
progress, that they had good access to the Iraqi provincial leader-

ship. In other parts of the country, the vast majority of the country,

by the way, which is fairly secure and fairly stable, the PRTs will

over time gain more access and become more efficient.

Certainly in those areas around Baghdad where the sectarian vi-

olence is extreme it is difficult for the PRTs to do the work. But
I am confident that the strategy that the Ambassador has adopted
to move the PRTs forward will be successful, especially provided
that the other agencies of the U.S. Government, U.S. Agency for

International Development (USAID), State Department, et cetera,
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provide their manning in those teams and give them the strength
that they are capable of giving it.

Senator Bill Nelson. How committed do you think Mahki is to

disbanding the miHtias?
General Abizaid. Sir, I have talked to him personally about it.

General Casey talks to him almost every day about it. He has con-

veyed time and time again that he is committed to it. I believe that

to be the case.

Senator Bill Nelson. What are the prospects that people like

Sadr and Hakim and Hashemi will disband their militias?

General Abizaid. I think that the prospects of the militias over
time disbanding are good.
Senator Bill Nelson. What is that time frame?
General Abizaid. I am not sure I could say. I think the Prime

Minister is in the middle of working with his cabinet—he has only
been there for 3 months—to figure out how he is going to move to-

wards militia disbandment. In Afghanistan it has taken us a long

time to move in that direction. It is a long process, depending upon
how dangerous the militia is to the state. Those that are benign or

that are working in conjunction with the state to provide some ad-

ditional security do not need to be disbanded right away. Those
that are sponsoring death squads need to be dealt with imme-
diately.

Senator Bill Nelson. Is that the key, the disbanding of the mili-

tias, to the preventing of the sectarian violence that you testified

to from going into all-out civil war?
General Aeizaid. Senator Nelson, I said in my opening statement

that militias are the curse of the region and they are. Whenever
non-state actors have the attributes of the state, yet bear no re-

sponsibility for their actions, it brings the region into very unpre-
dictable directions, as you see Hezbollah moving with regard to in-

side of Lebanon. So it is very important that militias be controlled,

but it is not something that can be achieved easily overnight. But
it is something that has to be accomplished.

Senator Bill Nelson. Are they the biggest part of stirring up
the sectarian violence that you testified about?
General Abizaid. In my opinion, yes.

Chairman Warner. Thank you. Senator, very much.
Senator Bill Nelson. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Warner. Colleagues on my side. Senator Chambliss

had begun his questions when he had to be interrupted. I would
like now to recognize you for your full time.

Senator Chambliss.
Senator Chambliss. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Again to all three of you, thank you for your service and your

great leadership. General Abizaid, General Pace, when you see

your troops on the ground just let them know how much we appre-

ciate the great job they continue to do. I am always very humble
to be in their presence.

Let me give you my quick assessment. It is more complex than
the way I am going to lay it out there, but here is what I see hav-

ing happened in the 3-plus years that we have been involved in

this conflict. We started out with a basic ground war, which we
moved very quickly toward Baghdad. Then we began to face the
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nonconventional enemy out there and the lEDs and the vehicle-

borne improvised explosive devices (VBIEDs) became a major fac-

tor. They are still a major factor, but the fact is that we are not

seeing that type of conflict directed towards the American soldier

now as much as we had been in the past.

So it is pretty obvious we have done something right, both in the

original ground war as well as our defense against the enemy from
an lED standpoint. I do not think we talk about that enough, and
I want you to comment on that.

But now we are in kind of another phase, where the violence is

primarily being directed toward the Iraqi people, a lot of intimida-

tion, a lot of threats, and they are not just idle threats. They are

being carried out. We are seeing gangland-style executions. We are

seeing literally gangs of individuals numbering from 12 to 25 com-
ing in and, for example, going into the Olympic committee meeting
and taking hostages, an entirely different type of reaction.

When Senator Levin said that Mr. Talabani said that this is

their last quiver, I am not sure whether it is their last quiver or

not, but it is pretty obvious that we have done some things right

and we have forced them to change their tactics.

Now, obviously we cannot talk about, in an open hearing, what
we are doing relative to this new type of tactic. But can you com-
ment on that type of assessment and can you talk about some of

the things that we have done right relative to the lEDs, and what
are we doing relative to this new type of offensive that is coming
from the insurgents?
General Abizaid. Senator, I think it is very clear to us that, if

you look at the recent experience that the Israelis are having as

they operate in Lebanon and you look at how other armed forces,

say Pakistani armed forces, operate in their northern territories,

that asymmetric warfare is here and with us and it is the warfare
of the 21st century, where the enemy seeks to attack the weak-
nesses of their opponent and where they will attempt to win media
victories as opposed to military victories.

It should go without saying that in 5 years of war we have never
lost a major engagement to the enemy anywhere in the region. Yet
there is considerable loss of confidence because the enemy is so

agile and capable in purveying the notion that the situation is not
winnable.

Certainly the lED fight has been a difficult fight and it is a fight

that we see not only in Iraq, but we see it in Afghanistan, and in

Pakistan. We see it in southern Lebanon, you see it in other places

such as in Egypt, where they are using lEDs occasionally there as
well. Their tactics, techniques, and procedures are shared. We are
learning a lot about it. We have gotten pretty good about it and I

think in a closed session we could talk to you about some of the
great successes we have had.
With regard to other situations with tactics, techniques, and pro-

cedures that the enemy have applied across the battle space, I

think we will continue to adjust. Again, I am very confident that
our forces are not only capable but very effective against what the
enemy has put against us.

Senator Chambliss. Senator Graham was talking about the fact

that it is difficult for the American people to understand why
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40,000 military insurgents cannot be controlled by 127,000 or
whatever, Mr. Secretary, you said we had over there now, plus the
Iraqi army. I think the numbers in Lebanon of Hezbollah insur-
gents is probably very insignificant, particularly compared to the
force. As long as they are moving, hostile, and agile, as you refer

to them. General Abizaid, it is pretty obvious that does present sig-

nificant problems.
Lastly, let me just say that Senator Graham referred to our trip

over there in December. We met with eight members of the Iraqi

Election Commission, all of whom happened to be Sunnis, and
every one of them made the comment, unsolicited on our part,

about the presence of the American soldier. The comment was that,

do we want to see the American soldier leave, and if you ask the
Iraqi people that today they would say sure. But if you ask, do you
want the American soldier to leave today, the answer would be
overwhelmingly no.

I think that is borne out in a newspaper story today where there
are a number of quotes here in the Washington Times from Iraqi

citizens with regard to the troops. General Abizaid, that you put
into Baghdad to run the militia out of the various neighborhoods,
and the fact now that these Iraqi citizens are quoted as saying that
for the first time in months that they are able to come out of their

homes now, to reopen their shops, and for commerce to once again
be present within the city of Baghdad, speaks volumes about the
American soldier, and there are nothing but compliments about the
job that the American soldiers are doing.

It still goes back to the fact that they do want us to leave, but
they do not want us to leave until the job is done. So I hope that
the Iraqi leadership is right that by the end of the year that they
are able to take over control of the entire country, but in the mean
time it is pretty obvious that our troops are doing the right things
over there today under your leadership.

So with that, thank you. I appreciate it, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Warner. Thank you very much. Senator Chambliss.
Senator Bayh.
Senator Bayh. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Gentlemen, thank you for your presence here today. General

Abizaid, I would be interested in your opinion. Some observers
have commented that there remain unresolved political questions
for the Iraqis involving their constitution, division of oil revenues,
that sort of thing, and that this is in significant part fueling the

insurgencies and the continuing conflict. I would be interested in

your opinion about whether you think that is true and, if so, what
you think we can do to keep the pressure on the Iraqis to resolve

their remaining political disputes.

General Abizaid. Senator, as General Casey has said to me on
numerous occasions, this conflict has gone from essentially insur-

gency to a discussion within the internal Iraqi groupings about the
distribution of power, resources, and future control. You can ap-

proach it one of two ways. One way is by violence, the other way
is by compromise.

It is my opinion that the forces of compromise will eventually un-
derstand that violence gets them nothing and that the compromise
is absolutely essential, just like we had to determine that in our
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own constitutional mechanisms after our own independence. So do

I think that they can compromise? I think there will be a period

of violence. I think that people are looking at very severe violence

in Baghdad now that can be brought under control, and that the

constitutional discussion they know has to be one of compromise,
national reconciliation, and sharing of resources.

If you look at their neighborhood, I think they have all come to

the conclusion that an Iraq that is not united and independent will

be one that will be dominated by unfriendly neighbors in a way
that will be very bad for the Iraqi people, and I believe they are

determined to hold the country together, to stabilize the country,

to compromise their way through it. But I think it will be a violent

period and one that will ultimately lead to stability.

Senator Bayh. So your opinion is that these unresolved political

disputes are contributing in a material way to the ongoing
General Abizaid. Certainly they do contribute, but I believe that

this is part of the resolution process.

Senator Bayh. Perhaps I can ask both you and the Secretary, if

he thinks it is appropriate—maybe this is going on behind the

scenes, but what is keeping them from getting on with this busi-

ness of revisiting the constitutional disputes that basically were
put off until after the last election? That would be number one.

Number two, Mr. Secretary, perhaps this is appropriate for you:

Some other commentators have opined that perhaps something
similar to what happened in Da3rton to help resolve the Balkans
conflict would be appropriate to try and bring this to some political

closure so that we can deal with this and move on. What do you
think about that?

Secretary RUMSFELD. Senator, it is a fair question: What is keep-

ing them? They have gone from an election in January of last year
to the drafting of a constitution, to a referendum on the constitu-

tion in October of last year, to an election on December 15 of last

electing these people under the new constitution, to a relatively

long period of some months, longer than we have with an election

in early November and then finally getting our cabinet put in place

some time in February or March here.

They are doing it for the first time and it is a permanent govern-
ment, and the issues are tough. Some of them were reasonably in-

tractable. For example, we urged them to not put sectarian unskill-

ful ministers in the Ministry of Defense and Ministry of Interior,

and the Prime Minister-designate fought it and fought it and
fought it, received a lot of pressure from people to put political peo-

ple in there in a way that did not have the competence and did not
have—and might have been sectarian. He prevailed, he ended up
getting people that he accepted as being nonsectarian and com-
petent. Time will tell, but it showed a lot of courage, but it took
time.

The issued you raised about the constitution were set aside. They
kicked the can down the road just like we did. We still did not have
women voting, we still had slavery with our original Constitution.

So it is not as though those things come out perfectly formed in the
first 5 minutes. It takes some time, and they are going to have to

work on them.
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The Da3^on process idea, I do not know the answer. All I know
is that our Ambassador Zal Khalilzad, is in fact trying to serve,
along with the British officials, a facilitating role in encouraging
things to move faster, because time hurts. People are being killed

while that time is being taken and there is no question about that.

But my impression is that our Ambassador is doing a very skill-

ful job, with the assistance of coalition countries and General
Casey, trying to facilitate the different groups working out some
darn tough issues.

Senator Bayh. It is understandable why they would not get all

of these things resolved in the first effort and some were post-
poned. But if, as I think we all agree, this is fueling the insur-
gency, I guess what we are looking for, Mr. Secretary, would be a
greater sense of urgency and perhaps something of a higher profile

nature like a Dajrton-like process would assist the Ambassador
with his efforts to really focus the minds of the participants as well
as the world on, look, we need to get this done and the sooner the
better, because some of the trend lines here, frankly, are not posi-

tive.

Secretary RUMSFELD. Certainly the President and the Secretary
of State and the U.S. Ambassador and Chief of Mission, who worry
through those issues, are aware of that possibility and I am sure
they are considering it.

Senator Bayh. General, back to you for one moment. You men-
tioned that, and several others have mentioned, we can argue
about the semantics of what constitutes a civil war, but that it is

a real possibility if things do not go as we hope. If it does come to

that, which side are we on?
General Abizaid. I do not think it is a civil war because the insti-

tutions of the center are holding, and I believe that before we start

talking about what we are going to do if there is civil war that we
do everything in our power to prevent it from moving that way,
and I do not believe that Iraq will move towards civil war as long
as we apply the necessary military, diplomatic, and political actions

necessary to bring the Baghdad situation under control in the
short-term.
General Pace. Senator, if I may, both General Abizaid and I

have been asked if it was possible that this could lead to civil war,
and the answer is yes, it is possible. Speaking for myself, I do not
believe it is probable and I do not believe it is probable for the
exact same reasons that General Abizaid just stipulated, which is

that the government is holding, the army is holding sohd and is

loyal. When they had the Golden Mosque bombing, it was the

army, the Iraqi army, that went into the streets and helped keep
calm. So I do not expect this to devolve into civil war.
Senator Bayh. We all hope that is right, General. But if it takes

a course that is not as optimistic as we would all like to see here
and it does come to civil war—the reason for my question essen-

tially, if it does come to that, then what is our role in the country?
Many people would say we would not have a role. That is why I

asked you which side would we be on. We would be put in a very
difficult situation where we would not want to take sides, but the
Iraqis themselves would have chosen up sides and at that point the
mission would become much different.
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Mr. Secretary, my last question, back to you again on the Day-
ton.

Chairman WARNER. Just a minute. Senator. I think you have
posed a question in your preUminary comments. Is it, or do you
wish to go to your last question?

Senator Bayh. My last question, assuming we have—I have a

couple blue cards here.

Chairman Warner. I want to make sure the panel had adequate
opportunity to answer.
Senator Bayh. Let me pose it as a question, then. If it does come

to that, do we have a continuing mission in Iraq? If the Iraqis

themselves have not been able to hold the center and they have
chosen up sides along sectarian lines, at that point do we have a

continuing mission in Iraq or not?

Chairman WARNER. That will be your last question, but let us

give the panel—it is directed to whom? All three?

Secretary RUMSFELD. I am reluctant to speculate about that. It

could lead to a discussion that suggests that we presume that is

going to happen and both General Abizaid and General Pace have
offered their comments on that. Our role is to support the govern-

ment. The government is holding together. The armed forces are

holding together. We are functioning in a very close relationship

with that government in providing them assistance in achieving

their goals.

We have seen what happens when governments pull apart, mili-

taries pull apart. We saw it in Lebanon and it is not a pretty pic-

ture. Obviously, that would be a set of decisions that the President

and Congress and the country would address. But I think that be-

yond that it would be not my place to be discussing it.

Chairman WARNER. Thank you, Mr. Secretary. I think that dis-

poses of the question unless either of the other witnesses want to

add any views.

If not. Senator Sessions.

Senator Sessions. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
One discussion that we have had here and had some votes—

I

think the last vote we had was on the question of whether we
should set a firm date for pulling out regardless of the situation in

Iraq. It was voted down 83 to 16 or something to that effect.

Senator Warner made a reference, General Abizaid, to the fact

that the emotional reactions to the Lebanon situation could make
the situation more difficult perhaps for our soldiers in Iraq. I would
like to ask a little bit of a different question. It would be, what
kind of reaction, what kind of impact would there be with regard
to the Islamic extremists in the Middle East—and you are a stu-

dent of that region. You have spent time in that region as a young
person. You speak Arabic and you have been with us conducting
this Iraq war from the beginning. What kind of impact would re-

sult if we were to precipitously withdraw?
Would it mollify the extremists? Would it make them say, well,

the United States is a nicer place and we do not have to be so ag-

gressive now? Or would they likely be emboldened and empowered
and more aggressive?
General ABIZAID. Emboldened, empowered, and more aggressive.
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Senator SESSIONS. In your opinion, would a failure in Iraq em-
bolden and empower these radical extremists?
General Abizaid. Yes, it would.
Senator SESSIONS. In your opinion, would setting a fixed date re-

gardless of the situation in Iraq for a withdrawal embolden or em-
power the extremist forces?

General Abizaid. Embolden.
Senator SESSIONS. General Pace, this is a matter we have dis-

cussed. Fortunately it has had very little support in the Senate.
But there is a political election coming up and people float this idea
that we should just pull out. You have heard General Abizaid's

comments. He has been in the region for years and been leading
this effort. Would you agree with his comments?
General Pace. Sir, I agree with each of General Abizaid's re-

sponses to each of your questions.

Senator Sessions. As Senator Warner has said for some time, we
have asked much of our Nation. We have asked much of our sol-

diers. They have gone willingly. Almost without any single objec-

tion, they have gone and served in harm's way to carry out a policy

that this Senate and this Congress has voted for, the American
people ratified with the reelection of President Bush. It was an
issue in that election.

Do you not think we owe it to them to continue to work in every
way possible to make the sacrifice of those who have gone before

be successful, General Pace?
General Pace. Sir, I was in Afghanistan last Thursday and Fri-

day. Our troops there are so proud of what they are doing. We do
owe them and their families the continued support of this Nation
and especially those who have sacrificed their lives that we might
live free.

Senator SESSIONS. I just hope that we put an end in this political

season to any suggestion that we may just precipitously withdraw
without regard to the circumstances there.

General Abizaid. Senator Sessions, what I would like to say is

the troops that serve in the region are not afraid of what is hap-
pening there. They would be afraid of what would happen if we
just precipitously left there.

Senator SESSIONS. I heard that repeatedly. On the anniversary
of the Army, I was with the Army to celebrate that day recently

and this young guy told me: Senator, we want to be successful.

General Pace, you made reference to the reenlistment rate. I am
told that our reenlistment rates of National Guard units that de-

ploy to Afghanistan or Iraq and return exceed that of units who
have not gone. Do you think that bespeaks of the military's belief

that they are doing something that is worthwhile and meaningful?
General Pace. Sir, I think it does. I think that our troops know

what they are doing. They get it. They are proud of what they are

doing and, as General Abizaid said, the main question they ask is,

do the American people support what we are doing? When we point

to the numerous ways in which the American people support it, in-

cluding what this Congress does to provide resources, it reinforces

with them the goodness of what they have dedicated their lives to

do.
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Senator Sessions. We have people say, well, we are spending too

much on this war, and then they come forward and say, well, you
did not spend enough, you did not have enough equipment. Let us
talk about that a little bit. General Pace. I am familiar with just

one depot, Anniston Army Depot. I know that they are vigorously

and aggressively hiring new people to reset the equipment.
I was also aware that we did not have enough money apparently

in this budget to meet the high challenges that we were facing with
the reset. The DOD blessed the Army's concern in that. It was
made known to Congress. We just added another $13 billion and
another amendment by Senator Dodd that would allow another $6
billion, allow another $6 billion to meet that challenge.

First I will ask you, do you think we are going to, with those

funds, will be able to meet that reset problem?
General PACE. Sir, the money that was just—the $13.1 billion

will meet the current Marine Corps and Army backlogs at the de-

pots. It will allow for hiring of the additional shifts of skilled work-
ers to get the job done. That is why I mentioned before that as best

Congress can provide a no-year funding stream that the depots can
depend on, so they can go out and hire workers who know they will

have a job for the foreseeable future, we can start working off this

backlog, sir.

Senator SESSIONS. I think you are exactly right and I am glad

we have taken steps on that, and if we need to do more I believe

this Congress will meet your demands.
One more thing. With regard to readiness, I was in an Army Re-

serve unit and they rated us whether we were ready or not in the
1970s and 1980s. If you do not have all your vehicles, you are not
rated ready. When a unit comes off any major deployment, particu-

larly coming off a combat deployment, is it not inevitable, I think
you indicated, that you will not be rated ready?
One of the complicating factors for an effort like we are under-

going in Iraq, it seems to me, is units take their equipment with
them and it is cheaper and smarter to leave that equipment over
there for the next unit that replaces them. Therefore when they get
back they may not have the full complement of equipment they
need to be rated in your strict standards of readiness as ready.
General Pace. Sir, you are exactly right, and the reset money

has been in the supplementals. The money for the Reserve and Na-
tional Guard to build the 28 fully-manned, trained, and equipped
brigades that the Army has stipulated they need is in the baseline
budget to the tune of $21 billion over the next 5 years.

Senator SESSIONS. General Pace, you have been at this quite a
number of years. Would you say that we are moving to have the
best-equipped, most ready military the world has ever seen, at

least this Army in peacetime before this war started, and as we go
forward are we not better equipped and moving to a way to have
our Guard and Reserve have the kind of equipment they have
never had before?
General Pace. Sir, we are today the best-equipped, manned,

trained, battle-hardened that we have ever been. With your contin-

ued support in Congress, we will be able to maintain the equip-
ment and replace the combat equipment that has been lost. It

takes upwards of 36 months from the time you lose a helicopter in
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combat until the time the replacement helicopter comes on line.

That does not mean that people are not trying to do the right thing
or that the system is not working. It just takes that amount of time
for that kind of equipment to be identified as lost, put into the
budget process, funded, contracted, and built.

Senator SESSIONS. Thank you very much.
Secretary RUMSFELD. It argues. Senator Sessions, for the possi-

bility of Congress looking at the idea of a reset fund. That is to say,
if you want to shorten that period of time, the time it takes for the
analysis as to what has been lost or degraded, the time that Con-
gress takes to consider and weigh it, the time it takes to place the
orders and have the contract validated, and then the time it takes
to produce it, which is, as General Pace said, it can be up to 3
years, if you had a reset fund that Congress approved and it was
only for those purposes, the funds could then be drawn down in a
much shorter period of time. Depots could plan their hiring earlier

and you would have the ability to shorten that.

I guess I have not talked to the 0MB about this, but inside the
DOD we have been talking that there has to be a way to shorten
that time period, and one of the ways would be for Congress to act
more rapidly on budgets than happens each year. Another way
would be for Congress to approve a reset, and another way would
be for us in the DOD to find a way to try to cut in half the period
of time it takes to actually let a contract and go through that whole
procedure.

If the three of us did those things, it is conceivable we could ab-
breviate that period and solve some of the problem General Pace
is talking about.

Senator Sessions. General Pace, just briefly, the idea that was
stated earlier about a number of our brigades not being ready, in

your opinion does that misrepresent the status of our capability at

this time? Would it cause someone to have a higher degree of con-

cern than is warranted? I know we want to do better. We want
every unit to be ready. But is it not inevitable that as units transi-

tion off combat that there will be a period when they do not meet
your high standards of readiness?
General Pace. Sir, there will be a period like that. Our readiness

reporting system has been accurately reported to Congress as is re-

quired every quarter. We have been talking about the need to re-

pair equipment now for about the last year to 18 months. So it is

not wrong to say that we have equipment deficiencies and that we
need to spend the money to do that. That is an accurate use of the
data that is available.

But if you say to me would I rather have 100 percent of the 2,000
up-armored Humvees that I thought I needed in 2001 or 50 percent
of the 12,000 up-armored Humvees that I say I need today, and
which Army is better, I would tell you that, although my reporting
system would tell you I am now at 50 percent and therefore com-
mand, control, communications, and computers (C4), that the Army
I have built is three times better with regard to Humvees.
You can multiple that toward hundreds of thousands of end

items. That is why it is really a kaleidoscope, and to try to have
a discussion that just lays out exactly precisely what the readiness
ratings are lends itself to misinterpretation and misunderstanding.
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Senator SESSIONS. Well said.

Chairman Warner. Thank you very much, Senator.

Senator SESSIONS. Thank you.

Chairman Warner. Senator Collins.

Senator COLLINS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Secretary Rumsfeld. Could I say one other thing?

Chairman Warner. Oh, yes.

Secretary Rumsfeld. I am sorry. I apologize.

Chairman Warner. No, that is all right.

Secretary RUMSFELD. I think it is important that we be careful

how we describe the capabilities and the readiness of the U.S.

Armed Forces. We have multiple audiences and Iran listens and
North Korea listens and other countries listen, and it is important

to be precise, it is important to be accurate, and it is important to

not leave an impression that might entice someone into doing

something that would be a mistake on their part, because we have
enormously capable Armed Forces.

Chairman Warner. Mr. Secretary, I associate myself with your
remarks. You are absolutely right. Unfortunately, some of the re-

marks have come from your Department from very high-ranking of-

ficials in connection with this budget process. So we are trying to

do our very best with that.

Senator Collins.

Senator COLLINS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
General Abizaid, Senator Sessions has done an excellent job of

pointing out the pitfalls of an abrupt withdrawal on a set timeline

from Iraq. But I want to talk to you about my concerns about what
our exit strategy does seem to be. It is premised on the ability of

Iraqi troops to assume full responsibility for the security of their

country. Over and over again we have heard the phrase that as

Iraqi forces stand up, our troops will stand down. We have heard
that time and again.

Our troops are the best-equipped, the best-trained, the best-led

in the world, and I am enormously proud of them and I have the

utmost confidence in their ability to handle any mission. Yet sec-

tarian violence is worse than ever in Baghdad in particular, and I

wonder about the validity of a strategy that says that less capable

troops that are not as well-equipped, trained, and led as the best

troops in the world can handle the security of this country.

If the upswing in violence has occurred despite the presence of

the best troops in the world, it does not give me a lot of confidence

in our underlying strategy, and it suggests to me that what we
need is a political rather than a military solution.

General Abizaid. Thanks, Senator Collins. I believe you have to

have a combination of political action and military action that

moves towards a lessening of the sectarian tensions. But I would
try to make people that are listening to this understand that there

is no better troops to deal with the sectarian problem than well-

led Iraqi troops that are loyal to the government. They do not want
their nation to fall apart. They have a much better intrinsic view
of what is happening. They have instincts about what goes on with-

in their own culture that, as well-trained and as well-equipped as

we might be, we do not have.
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So I would never sell the Iraqi armed forces short on their ability

to make a difference. But the Iraqi armed forces must be well-led

by their military leaders. The military leaders must be well-con-

nected with the political leadership and they must share a common
vision of where Iraq is headed.

Again, I will emphasize that Prime Minister Maliki and his cur-

rent government is only 3 months old. I believe they very much
share a vision of a unified Iraq where the armed forces will impose
its will upon the people of Iraq and defeat the insurgency and the
groups that are sponsoring sectarian violence, especially the terror-

ists.

I think that what General Casey has embarked upon, which is

a very artful form of trjdng to gauge the capabilities of the Iraqi

armed forces and at the same time bring down our forces so that
the Iraqis will do more to defend their own turf, is one of the most
difficult strategies that any wartime commander has ever had to

execute. I think he is doing it enormously well, and there will come
times in the campaign, such as the current period, where the sec-

tarian violence is showing us a level of concern which means that
we have to take the time to apply the military pressure necessary,
and that Zal Khalilzad will help apply the political pressure nec-

essary, to get it back on the right path.

Again, I do not want to be mischaracterized by what I have said

here today. I am very confident that can be done.
Senator Collins. The prime minister, one of his very first initia-

tives was the new national security plan. I realize it has only been
3 months since he has been in office, but that plan does not seem
to have been effective in quelling the upsurge in sectarian violence.

Do you think that it is too soon to judge that plan or has it failed?

General Abizaid. Senator, it is a great question. I do not think
that the plan has failed. I think what you are seeing is an adjust-

ment to a plan that was not working with the speed that we had
hoped. So General Casey and his commanders are adjusting the
plan and they are doing it in conjunction with the Iraqi com-
manders.
Of course, the enemy is attempting to really make the sectarian

divide become the decisive point at a point in time where the Iraqi

government has not quite gotten itself together yet. I am very con-

fident that over time you will see that the Iraqi forces in conjunc-
tion with our forces, primarily with the Iraqis at the lead, will

bring the sectarian problems under control.

Senator, nothing in the Middle East moves in a straight line.

Things get worse, they get better. The question is whether or not
the trend line is a trend line that can lead to success, and my belief

is so far the answer is yes and it will continue that way.
Senator Collins. Thank you.

Chairman WARNER. You go ahead. Senator. Go ahead.
Senator COLLINS. Mr. Secretary, yesterday I chaired a hearing at

which the SIGIR testified. He described massive cost overruns,
schedule delays, half-completed projects for which the money had
run out. It was not a pretty picture. It seems that everything in

Iraq is costing more than was anticipated by a considerable amount
and, as many of us have discussed, earlier this week the Senate
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added $13.1 billion in emergency spending to replace the worn-out
equipment that we have discussed this morning.
The chairman mentioned that we have spent some $437 billion,

I believe, over the last 3 years. I think the current spending rate

is $2 billion a week. There has been an enormous cost to this war
and an enormous impact on the Federal budget.

Looking ahead to next year, what are your projections for the

spending on the war?
Secretary Rumsfeld. The Iraqi reconstruction is something that

the Department of State works on and requests funds for. You are

quite right, there have been a number of inspector general reports

about open investigations into fraud and corruption and the like.

There also are a number of projects that, because of security prob-

lems, have cost a great deal more than had been anticipated. As
we know, a number of them are instances where the insurgents

have actually gone in and blown up something that had been half-

way built, and we have seen that happen.
I do not have a number that I can give you. I know the 0MB

can.

Senator COLLINS. I am not talking about the reconstruction

projects, which I realize are under the State Department largely

and USAID. I am saying for the DOD, as you look ahead to the

next year. Many of us believe that the spending for the war needs
to be part of the regular budget and not just dealt with in emer-
gency supplementals. So I am asking you to look ahead because we
as a Congress need to budget more accurately for the cost of the

war and we can only do that based on your projections.

Secretary RUMSFELD. I understand. We do not know yet what we
will get for this year's budget and we do not know what the supple-

mental will be. We do know that we are in the process of preparing
the budget for next fiscal year, and that it will be presented by the

President in January. But I can try to get back to you for the

record to give you something that the Comptroller's office at the

Pentagon would take out as a discrete piece for the DOD's portion,

if that would be helpful.

Senator Collins. That would be. I am just trying to get a sense,

Mr. Chairman, of whether we can expect indefinitely approximately
$2 billion a week from our budget to be spent on this war.

[The information referred to follows:]

Given our current force levels and stability conditions in Iraq and Afghanistan,
about $2 billion a week is a good estimate of our immediate war-related spending,

but I certainly would not expect that funding level to continue "indefinitely" because
force levels and stability conditions certainly will change at some point.

Chairman Warner. Senator, that is a question that is constantly
in the minds of the American people and it is an important one.

As you well point out, the success of our ability to bring about a
democracy in this country requires a certain amount of infrastruc-

ture rebuilding, and that has to be done at a constant level and
make some progress.
But as the Secretary said, we take two steps forward and all of

a sudden we look around and have to take a step backward be-

cause of the internal disruption.

Senator COLLINS. Thank you.
Chairman Warner. Thank you. Senator.
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I would like to, before calling on Senator Talent, and then I want
to ensure that the Senator from Rhode Island has an opportunity
to speak, but our panel of witnesses must appear before the whole
Senate at 2 o'clock sharp and consequently within the period of

roughly 1 o'clock to 2 o'clock they have other obligations. So it is

my hope to conclude this session here in a matter of 10 minutes
or so.

Senator Talent, your time is now recognized.
Senator TALENT. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I want to thank all three of you for your service. I was going to

say
General Pace. He will be right back, sir.

Senator TALENT.—in absentia General Abizaid in particular for

being in that crucible for years.

Chairman Warner. He got a telephone call.

Senator TALENT. I understand entirely, Mr. Chairman. I will di-

rect my questions at the Secretary anyway.
Mr. Secretary, I agree with an awful lot of what you said in your

opening statement. I think it is important to remind people about
what this is about. I agree this is an existential struggle and that
is how they view it, a struggle for existence. I agree that there are
no conceivable accommodations with them that would cause them
to stop attacking us. Just we do not have the choice of them not
attacking us. They are going to attack us. We therefore have to

fight the war.
I also agree that the war in Iraq, the mission in Iraq, was a good

strategic option and maybe the only strategic option. I have always
said that mission was to remove Saddam, who was an organic
threat, and replace him with a multi-ethnic democracy that would
be an ally in the war on terror.

I also agree that we are making progress towards that end. If we
are talking about whether the circumstances are such that we can
withdraw, we are talking about whether the mission has been com-
pleted. I think we need to understand that. As long as the terror-

ists are prepared to concentrate to the extent they are in Iraq, we
cannot guarantee that it is going to be a pacified country. But we
are getting closer to the point where the Iraqi government can sus-

tain itself with less American help. So I do think there has been
progress and I am pleased about all that.

What I want to ask you about, Mr. Secretary, is this. Given that
we are involved in this war and in this existential struggle, how
can we be in a situation where we are allowing the budgets that

you think you need to be reduced by the 0MB year after year? I

refer to the budget reduction in the fall of 2004, $30 billion over
the Future Years Defense Program (FYDP), in the fall of 2005, $32
billion over the FYDP, April of this year indications there would be
another 2 percent cut.

I am concerned that we may see a cut in the fall of this year,

and these cuts are coming from the 0MB. Now, we are in an exis-

tential struggle. I just do not think—you referred appropriately, I

think, that we have to be concerned about the message we are
sending. I am concerned that these budget cuts coming from people
who are not warfighters are sending the message that we are
weakening, that we are not prepared to bear the cost of this.
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Before you answer, I will just make one other point with ref-

erence to something Senator Collins said. Yes, this is a difficult

struggle. We have spent over $400 billion in 3 years. Our gross do-

mestic product (GDP) in that period of time has been $36 trillion,

so we are spending about what, 1.2 percent of our GDP on this?

Given the importance of this struggle to the country, we are fight-

ing it, it seems to me, at a cost that this economy can afford. We
are so strong and I think sometimes that we forget that.

So if you would address that I would appreciate it. This is what
is frustrating me. We need to give you what you think you need,

not what the bean counters at 0MB think you need.

Secretary RUMSFELD. Senator, you are experienced. You know
how this town works. Let me say that I agree with you that the

United States of America spending 3.8 percent of the GDP on our
entire national security is a relatively small percentage of the GDP.
When I came to Washington in the Kennedy and Eisenhower era,

we were spending 10 percent of the GDP. Thirty years ago when
I was Secretary of Defense for President Ford, we were spending,

I think, 5 percent of the GDP. Today we are down to 3.8 percent

of the GDP.
That is, this country can afford to spend what is necessary. You

have mentioned the OMB. Let me talk about Congress for a

minute. This year, if you take the House and the Senate, the au-

thorization and the appropriation committees, and drop a plumb
line through all of it, we are looking at somewhere between $15 to

$20 billion that we will not have to spend on the things we need
to spend it on.

If you look at the time it takes to pass an authorization and to

pass an appropriation bill, the delays that are incurred and the gy-

rations that the Services have to go through to try to cash-drawer
what they are doing, take money from this and spend it on that,

the inefficiencies, the inability to plan ahead, the inability to get

the depots to hire the people they need in advance because we do
not have this depot—correction, the reset fund that I mentioned
might be a way to help solve this problem—it is a combination of

cuts. I guess the Senate Appropriations Committee wanted to cut

something like $9 billion this year.

Then it is the Member adds, all the things that have been added
on top that we—without money, simply things that we need to

spend on that we do not want. Then a series of things that we have
offered to not do—a second engine for the Joint Strike Fighter, a
12th carrier that we do not believe we need because it costs too

much to repair it—and we are being forced to do those things.

Then we came in and said, we can save money doing a series of

things with respect to health care and a variety of things, and we
were told, you may not do that. The combination of all of that is

big dollars and it hurts.

Senator Talent. Mr. Secretary, you are looking here at two com-
mittee members who offered and got passed an amendment raising

the top line for defense and that was reallocated away. So I could

not agree with you more about it. I just think all of us who under-
stand, who have sat on these committees or been in your chair or

the chair of the Generals there and know what we need, have to

find a way to insist on getting what we need.
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I would encourage you very strongly, because it is just—you men-
tioned Congress and I am not trying to—I am just saying it is

harder for those of us here who understand this to hold this if we
are getting cuts from the administration that the economic and the
budget people are recommending.

I do not think there is any way we can lose this war unless we
lose it. I think you are sajdng the same thing in general terms and
I agree with you completely. Let us just agree not to let this hap-
pen, and I certainly will do my part. The chairman certainly has
done his part and I know Senator Reed has as well.

So I wanted to make that point. Mr. Chairman, I see my time
is up too and I know we are under time constraints.

Chairman Warner. Thank you. Thank you, Senator Talent.

Thank you very much.
Senator Reed, I had indicated that you would have an oppor-

tunity for a follow-up question.

Senator Reed. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
General Pace, you are familiar with the current readiness report-

ing of the Army and the Marine Corps, but particularly the Army?
General Pace. Yes, sir, I am.
Senator Reed. Would you dispute the conclusion of former Sec-

retary of Defense Bill Perry that two-thirds of the Army's operating
force. Active and Reserve, is now reporting as unready, and the
conclusion of General Schoomaker in response to this question from
Mr. Skelton, "Are you comfortable with the readiness levels of non-
deployed units that are in the Continental United States?" General
Schoomaker's reply: "No," he is not comfortable?
General Pace. I think that the readiness reporting system as it

is constructed has been accurately described that the number of
brigades in the United States Army whose equipment requirements
have changed dramatically over the last 5 years are being accu-
rately described. I absolutely agree with General Schoomaker in

his comments about additional funding needed to buy back combat
losses, to buy back the reset.

All those things are absolutely accurate. Senator. All I want to

make sure we understand is that the system itself is reporting pure
math, but as one example again, the pure math is based on in 2001
needing 2,000 up-armored Humvees, in 2006 needing 12,000, and
therefore the capacity of the Army to wage war is significantly

greater than it was, even though the reporting system, properly
utilized, is highlighting places where we need to put more money.
Senator Reed. General, I can recall when General Abizaid and

I were lieutenants together in the 504th Parachute Infantry Regi-
ment. I will just speak for myself. We took this reporting system
very seriously because we understood, and I think you do, that sol-

diers and marines, as good as they are, need equipment to fight.

We presumed that the leadership, both uniformed and civilian, in

the DOD, took those reports seriously also and that they were not
requiring us to report on equipment which was really tangential to

the needs of the unit.

In fact, we all recall where individuals were relieved because
they could not maintain adequate levels of readiness under the cur-

rent reporting system at the battalion level. But it does not appear
that takes place at the national level, because you have a readiness
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crisis. We have tried to address it with $13 bilHon last Tuesday,
noting that this document was submitted Wednesday, a day late

and $13 billion short.

Chairman Warner. Let the record show that the document that

you are referring to is the one that I introduced, the 0MB docu-

ment.
Senator Reed. So I think the signal that you are sending to those

lieutenants, sergeants, and captains is that this reporting system
is either illogical and nonsensical or it is being disregarded at the

highest levels, because it was not the DOD that was asking for this

money to the President—forget 0MB; to the President. It turned
out that, I think, within the Army there was such concern about
their troops that they went around you all and approached Con-
gress. I think that is a sad commentary on the leadership of the

DOD.
This may not be a question but a comment, but I am particularly

incensed with some of the suggestions that this is all just kind of

some subjective evaluation we do, and the readiness reporting has
no real impact in the world, and also the suggestion that if we talk

about readiness, particularly when it is in a crisis like this, we are

somehow giving unfair advantage to our adversaries.

But I recall in 2000 when then-Governor Bush stood up and said

the President of the United States, if he called on his DOD, they
would have to report two divisions not ready for duty based upon
the reporting system. How many divisions will we have to report

that way to that question today based on the reporting system.
General Pace?
General Pace. First of all, sir, we are not doing divisions any

more. We are doing brigades, as you have already
Senator Reed. I know that.

General Pace. About two-thirds of the brigades, as you pointed
out, would report C3 or C4.

Senator Reed. Not ready for duty.

General Pace. I will stand by my comments. First and fore-

most
Senator Reed. Thank you. General.
General Pace. Sir, may I finish?

Senator Reed. Yes, sir.

General Pace. Thank you.
We do take with great integrity and responsibility the readiness

reporting system. That is exactly why for every quarter, as re-

quired, we report to Congress the exact accurate reporting for read-

iness. I am saying that we do need more money. I am not disputing

that at all, sir. We do need more money, for all the reasons I have
articulated.

All I was trying to point out. Senator, is that the way that the

system functions, the time it takes to build a new helicopter, for

example, the fact that in combat we are learning and as a result

of learning we have changed our requirements—we currently have
40,000 armored vehicles in Iraq that did not even exist 5 years ago.

Sir, all I am sa3ring is that we are providing for our soldiers and
marines on the ground the finest equipment ever fielded. We are

using it up at rates faster than we budgeted for and therefore to

use the readiness system to identify, as you have, the requirement
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for more funding is absolutely correct. I am just trying to make
sure that everybody listening to this conversation understands how
you can go from 2001 with 2,000 vehicles, 2006 with 12,000 vehi-

cles, and not have all 12,000 vehicles and still feel better about our
Army's capacity to get the job done.

Chairman Warner. Thank you very much. General.
Senator Reed. Thank you.

Chairman WARNER. May I say to my colleague from Rhode Is-

land, General Schoomaker is visiting with me on this issue this

afternoon at 4 p.m. I would be pleased to have you join us. I have
invited Senator Levin. He is likewise going to join us. It may well

be that he will wish to put his comments on the record of these
proceedings today in the section relating to your questions.

Senator Reed. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Warner. Thank you very much.
One last question and then we will conclude this, I think an ex-

cellent hearing. Last week President Bush and Prime Minister
Blair agreed to seek a U.N. resolution calling for the creation of a

multinational force to help the Lebanese government extend con-

trol in southern Lebanon. I strongly support those initiatives by
our President and, given that that country, Lebanon, is in your
area of operations, given your long experience, first I would like to

have your assessment of what is the capability of the Lebanese
army today and what training and equipment would they require

for the mission of their government to go out and begin to maintain
control, given the assumption that there will be a multinational

force eventually put together.

So if you could include your assessment of the size and the capa-
bility of such force that would be needed to fulfill the commitments
that President Bush and Prime Minister Blair made to our respec-

tive nations and the world.
General Abizaid. Senator, certainly I do not want to let any of

my comments get in the way of the diplomacy that is going on right

now. It is very important that the diplomats do their work.
The Lebanese armed forces is a professional armed force. It has

one of the most educated officer corps in the Middle East. It is a

small force for Middle Eastern standards of about 50,000 or so, and
it needs significant upgrade of equipment and training, capability

that I believe the western nations, in particular the United States,

can assist with.

We recently, before the current difficulty started, visited the Leb-
anese armed forces, did an assessment of where they happen to be
in readiness. We saw that they needed some significant spare
parts. I think we have made our desires known through the DOD
as to how we could help them immediately. I think there will be
need for other assistance to the Lebanese armed forces because it

will never work for Lebanon if over time Hezbollah has a greater

military capacity than the Lebanese armed forces. The Lebanese
armed forces must extend the sovereignty of the nation throughout
the country. I believe that they can do that in assistance with the

international community and with a robust peacekeeping force or

peace enforcement force, depending upon what the diplomats de-

cide is the right equation.
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I would say that I served with the U.N. Interim Force in Leb-

anon back in the mid-1980s and it was not capable of really enforc-

ing peace and security in the region. So whatever force goes in has

to have robust rules of engagement.
Chairman Warner. Robust rules?

General Abizaid. Robust rules of engagement, very clear and un-

ambiguous mandate, and clear cooperation from the Lebanese gov-

ernment and any other parties.

Chairman Warner. Could you further define your professional

definition of "robust rules of engagement"? That was the second

part of my question.

General Abizaid. Robust rules of engagement means that the

commander has the ability to effect the mandate that has been
given to him by the international community, to include the use of

all available means at his forces' disposal, and I think in the case

of southern Lebanon he will have to have capabilities that are just

not minor small arms, but would include all arms.
Chairman Warner. Thank you.

My distinguished colleague from Minnesota, I indicated the

hopes to have a second round. We have had some, but the interven-

tion of two votes precludes a further second round of questions by
members. But I invite you to provide for the record your question.

It will be open until tomorrow close of business.

I would like to say in conclusion, Secretary Rumsfeld, General
Pace, General Abizaid, that this has been a very thorough and con-

structive hearing and I thank each of you for your participation

and forthrightness in your responses.

The hearing is now adjourned.
[Questions for the record with answers supplied follow:]

Questions Submitted by Senator John McCain

troop levels in iraq

1. Senator McCain. Secretary Rumsfeld, General Pace, and General Abizaid, what
do you believe are the most likely ramifications of a withdrawal of American forces

from Iraq by a date certain? What effect might setting a timeline for withdrawal
have?

Secretary Rumsfeld. There are calls in some quarters for withdrawal or arbitrary

timelines for withdrawals. The enemies hear those words as well. We need to be

realistic about the consequences. If we left Iraq prematurely, as the terrorists de-

mand, the enemy would tell us to leave Afghanistan and then withdraw from the

Middle East, and if we left the Middle East they would order us and all those who
do not share their militant ideology to leave what they call the occupied Muslim
lands from Spain to the Philippines. Then we would face not only the evil ideology

of these violent extremists, but an enemy that will have grown accustomed to suc-

ceeding in telling free people everjrwhere what to do.

Setting an artificial deadline to withdraw would also send a message across the

world that America is a weak and unreliable ally. Setting an artificial deadline to

withdraw would send a signal to our enemies that if they wait long enough, America
will cut and run and abandon its friends.

General Pace. First, a set date for American withdrawal would provide something
the enemy could anticipate. It would give them light at the end of the tunnel, a date

for which to wait, prepare, and then claim victory. Second, it would set a limit for

American commitment to the Iraqi government. There should not be a time limit

for our support of a new democratic government in Iraq. Third, a set date for with-

drawal would not be based on the actual situation, which is fluid and uncertain.

Force reductions should be conditions-based so that we are adjusting troop levels

to the realities on the ground. Lastly, a set date may limit or inhibit international

donor commitment and investment.
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General Abizaid. Early withdrawal of American troops will endanger the stability

of Iraqi security force (ISF) institutions, the Iraqi political process, and establish-

ment of Iraqi civil institutions. Our objectives were developed to be conditions-based
within a timeframe reflected in the Joint Campaign Plan in agreement with our coa-

lition partners, and in line with our mandate from the United Nations. However,
a fixed timeline for leaving Iraq would lead terrorists to believe that they could win
by waiting for our departure. It would also signal a lack of coalition patience and
will, and would play directly into the intentions of terrorists and foreign fighters

who seek to destroy the ability of the Iraqi people to forge their own national iden-

tity. Our enemies know that they cannot defeat us militarily. To succeed, they will

focus on the battle of perceptions, which they plan to win by encouraging the coali-

tion's withdrawal before Iraq is ready to stand alone.

2. Senator McCain. Secretary Rumsfeld, General Pace, and General Abizaid,
could you describe the new strategy for Baghdad, one that reportedly involves the
deployment of several thousand additional troops to the city and the adoption of the
so-called "oil spot" strategy?

Secretary Rumsfeld. The Baghdad Security Plan, named Operation Together For-
ward, is not an "oil spot" strategy but is designed to improve the security situation

in Baghdad by increasing checkpoints, curfews, and enforced weapons bans in fo-

cused areas within the city. Security forces are also conducting targeted operations
against terrorist cells and death squads.

Security forces are moving from neighborhood to neighborhood identifying and
eliminating violent forces, securing weapons caches, and restoring basic civil serv-

ices. As the situation improves, security forces will transition to policing and emer-
gency response operations.

In addition to stepping up security operations, the Government of Iraq, with
Multi-National Force-Iraq (MNF-I) support, is working with the local District Advi-
sory Councils to employ local labor to rebuild neighborhood markets and restore es-

sential services. As of September 22, Iraqis have spent more than 11,000 man-days
cleaning up and restoring essential services. The Provincial Reconstruction Develop-
ment Committee approved 15 reconstruction projects totaling $9.2 million. Fourteen
projects are in the Doura District which, until recently, was one of the most violent

districts in Baghdad.
General Pace. The concept of the plan is to assert increased control over the pop-

ulace by conducting increased checkpoints, curfews, and enforced weapons bans in

focused areas within Baghdad. Security forces are also conducting targeted oper-

ations against terrorist cells and death squads. They are conducting systematic
neighborhood by neighborhood operations to identify and clean out violent forces,

identify and secure weapons caches, and identify and restore basic civil services. Ul-

timately, this operation will restore the confidence of the Iraqi people in the ISF,

which will also assist in lowering the levels of violence. As the situation improves,
security forces will transition to steady state policing and emergency response oper-

ations. The positive reaction to the "clean-up Baghdad streets" initiative, in which
Iraqi and coalition force troops were cleaning the streets together, is an excellent

example of the 'nonkinetic' effect aspect of the Baghdad Security Plan.

The Government of Iraq, with MNF-I in support, is working very closely with the
local District Advisory Councils in the areas of operations by employing local labor

from the community to clean and rebuild parts of the neighborhood markets and re-

pair and restore essential services. To date, more than 11,000 man-days of employ-
ment have been executed by Iraqis for projects directly related to cleaning up and
developing the areas where operations are focused. On 24 August, the Provincial Re-
construction Development Committee voted unanimously to support the Baghdad
Security Plan with Economic Security Funds; 15 reconstruction projects totaling

$9.2 million were approved. Fourteen projects are in the Doura District, until re-

cently one of the most violent districts in the city. One project is in the Ghazaliya,
Al Mansour District. Included are the following:

- Four road projects (to include an asphalt overlay of all residential city

roads);
- Two water projects;
- Four sewer projects (to include completion of a sewer network that will

connect approximately 2 million residents to the waste water treatment
plant);

- Four school projects (to include construction of one primary, one sec-

ondary, and one high school); and
- One project to supply essential service equipment.
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General Abizaid. The "oil spot" strategy is a counterinsurgency effort based on fix-

ing parts of the country across all lines of operation such as security, government,

and economic in order to return basic services such as sewage, water, electricity,

education, trash, medical, and transportation. As life returns to normalcy in these

"oil spots" the citizens dislocate themselves from the insurgency as they come to re-

alize that the insurgency is a destructive force while the host nation government
gains legitimacy. It is the legitimacy of the government which is the key in any suc-

cessful counterinsurgency. Other areas around this "oil spot" will then want to enjoy

those benefits and as the theory goes the "oil spot" begins to spread as oil does on

top of water.
The security of Baghdad is without a doubt very important to the successful out-

come of this campaign. In order to displace the local citizens from the insurgency

and in order to boost the legitimacy of the Government of Iraq we have started Op-
eration Together Forward. Operation Together Forward is designed to regain those

areas that were hardest hit by the insurgency. Those objective areas within Bagh-
dad are first cleared by coalition and ISF—house by house, building by building.

Next is a hold phase with ISF in the lead the citizens and the local government
begin to help not only clean up the objective but also to re-open businesses and com-
merce. The last phase is the build phase whereupon the local citizens will build

upon the successes in the security, economic, and government lines of operations.

We are still in the clear stage of this operation.

3. Senator McCain. Secretary Rumsfeld, General Pace, and General Abizaid,

where will these additional troops come from? If we are redeploying U.S. troops

from outside Baghdad, won't we need to replace those troops with additional forces?

Secretary RUMSFELD. It is important to remember that Iraqi troops are also being

moved into Baghdad. The number of Iraqi troops in the Baghdad area is greater

than our troops. We are supporting them in the main operational areas. They can
benefit from our command and control capabilities and the systems that a unit such

as the Stryker brigade brings to the fight.

Levels of violence and terrorist activities drive decisions to reallocate U.S. forces

inside Iraq. MNF-I commanders normally do not reallocate troops to areas experi-

encing moderate levels of enemy activity. Moreover, the capability of the local ISF
is a deciding factor as to whether to reallocate U.S. forces. Before any U.S. combat
unit is reallocated, U.S. commanders must be confident that the departed area will

not backslide into increased violence.

General Pace. After being relieved by the 3rd Stryker Brigade Combat Team
(SBCT), 2nd Infantry Division (2ID) in MND-N, the 172nd SECT was extended for

up to 120 days and repositioned to support the main security effort in Baghdad.
Since their replacement (3rd SBCT, 2ID) was part of a normal Operation Iraqi Free-

dom (OIF) force rotation, no additional forces were required to backfill. That said,

commanders in the field continue to evaluate conditions on the ground and make
recommendations and requests for force adjustments as conditions warrant.
General Abizaid. [Deleted.]

4. Senator McCain. Secretary Rumsfeld, General Pace, and General Abizaid,

President Talabani has stated that Iraqi forces will assume security duties for the

entire country by the end of this year. How does this square with the increased U.S.

troop presence in Baghdad and the continuing presence of coalition troops through-

out Iraq?
Secretary Rumsfeld. Coalition commanders expect ISF units will have the secu-

rity lead in all of Iraq by March or April 2007. The ministries and the joint head-
quarters, with coalition support, are expected to take the lead by the end of 2007.

However, we believe that our partnership with these institutions will be required

for some time into the future. However, our assessments are conditions-based; un-

foreseen improvements or setbacks could affect the ISF's scheduled assumption of

the security lead. The enemy will have an affect on the timeline.

General Pace. Given the current security situation on the ground, the level of

training and equipping of ISF, and the development of the leadership core of ISF,

we estimate that all Iraqi territory will be under ISF lead by the end of 2007. The
ministries and the joint headquarters are expected to be in the lead with coalition

support by the end of 2007. However, a partnership with these institutions will be
required through at least the first peaceful transfer of power in 2010. These assess-

ments are conditions-based, and unforeseen improvements or setbacks may affect

the ISF's scheduled assumption of the security lead. The enemy will always get a

vote.

General ABIZAID. Coalition force requirements are determined through a condi-

tions-based process, factoring in the presence and activities of the terrorists and in-



72

surgents in an area as well as the strength and capabilities of Iraqi army and police

forces in area. These factors ultimately determine the level of coalition force require-
ments in an area. Each area has its own unique circumstances. President Talibani
noted the significant capabilities of the ISF and the fact that Iraqi army and police
forces have assumed responsibility across Iraq, responsibilities that will increase
through the remainder or the year. In many areas, however, Iraqi forces will stiU
require coalition forces to help back them up. Additionally, until the Iraqi logistics

system is fully established, Iraqi forces will require coalition support to provide
some key resources until the Iraqi system is able to provide these requirements. Ad-
ditionally, there are some areas where the terrorist and insurgent presence requires
additional security force presence. Baghdad is currently one such area where addi-
tional coalition forces are required until additional ISF can be deployed.

5. Senator McCain. Secretary Rumsfeld, General Pace, and General Abizaid, it

seems clear that even today, more than 3 years after our invasion of Iraq, we do
not have sufficient troops to control the country or help the Iraqi government im-
pose its authority. We are talking about redeplojdng thousands of troops from
around Iraq to Baghdad. More troops will be deployed to Ramadi, possibly coming
from Falluja. Have we had since our invasion, and do we have today, sufficient force
levels in Iraq? If you believe we do, what do you believe will be the turning point
in this war, since additional troops seem to be unnecessary?

Secretary Rumsfeld. The number of troops that went in, and the number of
troops that were there every month since, and the number of troops that are there
today reflected the best judgment of the military commanders on the ground, their
superiors. General Pace, General Abizaid, the civilian leadership of the Department
of Defense (DOD) and the President of the United States.
The Iraqis will determine the "turning point" in the war when they view their se-

curity situation tenable, their political process as legitimate, and their economic fu-

ture as hopeful. For its part, the Government of Iraq needs to resolve the difficult

issues of national reconciliation, militias, oil revenue sharing, federalism, and de-
Baathification. They must address these issues in a way that does not exacerbate
sectarian tensions.

General Pace. It is impossible to provide a discreet "turning point" because the
turning point must happen in the minds of the Iraqis. Iraqis, including minorities,
must view the political process as legitimate and effective and Iraq's economic pros-
pects as sufficient and equitable for themselves, their families, and their tribe or
sect. Effective political and economic reform is central to a lasting reduction in vio-

lence, to a far greater extent than solely increasing U.S. troop numbers. The Gov-
ernment of Iraq must resolve the difficult issues of national reconciliation, including
de-Baathification reform, militias, oil revenue sharing, and the nature of Iraqi fed-

eralism. They must address these issues in a way that does not exacerbate sectarian
tensions. Additionally, the Government of Iraq must deliver basic goods and services
and a program to increase economic opportunities to provide a counter to crime and
militias.

The 172nd SBCT was temporarily extended. This unit is the coalition's most expe-
rienced unit, with the most mobile and agile systems, in support of the main secu-
rity effort in Baghdad at a decisive time. With the rest of the elements of the plan
to protect the population in Baghdad, this unit's deployment gives coalition forces

a potentially decisive capability to affect security in Baghdad in the near-term. Com-
manders in the field will continue to evaluate our force structure and recommend
changes as conditions warrant. We continually assess future force requirements
with the Iraqi government. Decisions about coalition troop levels are conditions
based and tailored to the overall situation in Iraq. We continue to transition and
transfer additional responsibilities to the ISF. The people of Iraq continue to meet
the political milestones they have established. As these and other conditions are met
we assess the capabilities here and make recommendations as to the levels of troops
needed in the coming months. We are committed to ensuring Iraq's security forces

are trained, equipped, and organized in a manner that will allow them to provide
security and stability on their own. They are making progress and our partnership
program should help develop their capabilities even more. Adjustments to the coali-

tion troop levels are conditions-based and not based on a timeline. Those conditions
include continued political development, ISF development, and the transition of se-

curity responsibilities from coalition forces to ISF. Coalition forces remain in a sup-
port role.

General Abizaid. I believe we have had and currently have sufficient troops in

Iraq. While the number of U.S. forces has varied from as many as 185,000 to as
few as 120,000 depending on rotation cycles, there are still 23,000 coalition troops
in Iraq, and most importantly we now have trained and equipped over 300,000 Iraqi
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soldiers and police, and an additional 100,000 forces in the ministries as well. The
increasing number of ISF is the most telling number as it is integral to the Grovem-
ment of Iraq bearing ultimate responsibility for Iraq's security.

As decisive as our joint military operations are, particularly our efforts to secure

Baghdad, the turning point in this war will be when the majority of Iraqis believe

in and support their elected government in the difficult tasks ahead. The year-old

Iraqi Constitution calls for approximately 55 enabling or implementing acts to make
it operative, including such significant and broad areas as judiciary development
and economic reform. Passing and enforcing this legislation will be a key indicator

of progress for the new Iraqi government and this campaign.

IRAQI MILITIAS

6. Senator McCain. Secretary Rumsfeld, General Pace, and General Abizaid, with
the death of Zarqawi and the capture of several of his lieutenants, how would you
assess the threat posed today by al Qaeda in Iraq?

Secretary Rumsfeld. Killing Zarqawi did not destroy al Qaeda in Iraq. Its capac-

ity, however, has been diminished. Although al Qaeda is a tenacious organization,

we are making progress against them and we will continue to make progress. Sec-

tarian violence was always Zarqawi's strategy. Violence creates fear and targets in-

nocent civilians in an attempt to derail democracy.
General Pace. [Deleted.]

General Abizaid. [Deleted.]

7. Senator McCain. Secretary Rumsfeld, General Pace, and General Abizaid, has
Moqtada al Sadr's militia become problem number one for the Iraqi government and
the coalition, and what are our current plans to deal with his and other independent
militias?

Secretary Rumsfeld. Article 9 of the Iraqi constitution prohibits the formation of

military militias outside the framework of the armed forces.

Nevertheless, the problem of illegal armed groups and militias requires both ki-

netic and political solutions. Coalition forces will assist the Iraqi government in ad-

dressing illegal armed groups by reintegrating individuals into the ISF, disarming
them, and demobilizing them. Indeed, the two primary objectives of the security op-

erations in Baghdad are rapidly reducing sectarian violence by de-legitimizing the

illegally armed groups and establishing the ISF as the dominant security presence.

Once Iraqi citizens have more confidence in their security forces, they will be less

likely to rely on militias. Improvements in the capabilities of the ISF are steady as

seen in Baghdad neighborhoods cleared as part of Operation Together Forward.
The Iraqi government is also encouraging the organization of popular committees.

The committees, like neighborhood watches, assist Iraqi police and Iraqi army by
providing information on threats in the neighborhood. The unarmed popular com-
mittees should provide information to be acted on by the security forces.

General Pace. The recent increase in sectarian violence is the number one prob-

lem for the Iraqi government and the coalition; that said, any group associated with
terror, murder, or extreme violence is equally detrimental to a free and democrat-
ically-elected Iraqi government. Those groups will be pursued and brought to justice

by Iraqi and coalition forces. In that Iraq is a sovereign nation, current plans to deal

with security in Iraq require close coordination with Iraqi government and associ-

ated ISF. All example of this is Operation Together Forward, in which coalition

forces are working closely with Iraqi counterparts to reduce murders, kidnappings,
assassinations, terrorism, and sectarian violence in Baghdad.
General Abizaid. Preventing sectarian violence from escalating into civil war is

the coalition's highest priority. Sadr's Jaysh-al-Mahdi militia is a contributor to sec-

tarian violence but only part of the overall problem. Sunni and Shiite extremists at

both ends of the spectrum are increasingly locked in retaliatory violence, contesting

control of ethnically mixed neighborhoods in order to expand their existing areas of

influence.

The challenge for the coalition is to support the government in breaking the cycle

of ethno-sectarian violence while allowing the Prime Minister to consolidate the Shi-

ite and Sunni constituency he needs in order to be able to exercise power. An effec-

tive disarmament, demobilization, and reintegration program for militias and illegal

armed groups is essential to meeting security requirements that will have long-term

implications for economic development and foreign investment. Integrated with the

effort to disarm the militias is the Prime Minister's "National Reconciliation and
Dialogue Project," which he presented to the Iraqi Council of Representatives in

June. This 24-point initiative was aimed at reconciling past inequities, rallying
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Iraqis around a principle of equality devoid of sectarian divisions, firmly estab-

lishing the basis of national unity via a democratic political process, and creating

conditions for Iraq to assume a leading role regionally and internationally. The Na-
tional Reconciliation Project is intended to open dialogue, reduce sectarian tensions

and violence in Iraq, and increase commitment to the democratic process and the
new National Unity Government.

8. Senator McCain. Secretary Rumsfeld, General Pace, and General Abizaid, the
police obviously pose a problem for stability and safety in Iraq. Are there plans to

eliminate infiltrators from the police ranks, and distance the police from militia con-

trol?

Secretary Rumsfeld. There are some places where the local police are exception-

ally efficient and very honest. There are other areas where we know that they have
been infiltrated by various militias, such as in Basra, where the government and
the British forces that are down there are doing their best to stand down those
units, retrain them, and bring them on line in a credible and capable manner.
As far as national police forces, there are battalions that need to be stood down

and retrained. We are in the process of doing that now.
The Iraqis are building Internal Affairs and Inspector General units in the police

ranks, a move that will ensure that police respond to the legitimate chain of com-
mand.
General Pace. The Ministry of Interior (MOD, in conjunction with coalition forces,

is conducting a unit-by-unit inspection of the Iraqi national police. While this in-

spection is focusing on equipment accountability and training level proficiency, it is

also providing a platform to conduct retraining of policemen on basic profes-

sionalism and anti-corruption methods. This inspection is also providing ministry
and coalition leadership the opportunity to rid the police of those members whose
militia affiliations take precedence over loyalties to the nation. While this inspection

has been ongoing for more than a month, the retraining and revetting of police will

continue for the foreseeable future.

General Abizaid. During his 31 July speech to Parliament, MOI Bolani acknowl-
edged there are disloyal and corrupt elements that had infiltrated the police and
government and in less than 3 months in office, has shown himself to be decisive

in removing infiltrators and criminals from police ranks. Within MOI, Internal Af-

fairs (lA) is leading the effort to eliminate militia and terrorist infiltrators through
the implementation of an aggressive MOI employee vetting process using the Auto-
mated Fingerprint Identification System (APIS) combined with criminal record
checks. The APIS is also being integrated into the police cadet screening process
which involves the collection of personal information and biometric data, to include
fingerprints. Over 7,000 "hits" have been referred to the lA Directorate based on
known criminal connections. In addition to the APIS screening process, the MOI
staff has taken the initiative to conduct an internal audit of all personnel to ensure
that every employee meets the initial entry criteria.

IRAN'S INFLUENCE IN IRAQ

9. Senator McCain. Secretary Rumsfeld, General Pace, and General Abizaid, what
role is Iran playing today in southern Iraq and more widely throughout the country?

Secretary Rumsfeld. The primary security problem in Iraq has shifted from a
Sunni insurgency to sectarian violence. Al Qaeda terrorists, insurgents, and armed
Shiite militants supported by Iran also compete to plunge the country into civil war.
The Iranian Revolutionary Guard Qods Force arms, trains, and equips rogue Shiite

groups. These Shiite militias do Iran's bidding and exert an improper and undue
influence from Basra to Baghdad. Prime Minister Maliki is concerned and has ap-

pointed a military officer to go to the south to get the security situation back under
control.

General Pace. [Deleted.)

General Abizaid. [Deleted.
I

10. Senator McCain. Secretary Rumsfeld, General Pace, and General Abizaid, if

Iran's influence were somehow eliminated, what concrete effect would that have on
violence in Iraq?

Secretary Rumsfeld. Iran talks about stabiHzing Iraq but in reality, it arms,
trains, and equips Iraqi extremist Shiite militias to do its bidding. Eliminating
Iran's influence would likely result in less Shiite extremism and sectarian violence.

Moreover, Sunni resistance probably would diminish along with their fear of a Shi-
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ite-dominated Iranian-sponsored government that discriminates against Sunnis.
Stability would increase.

General Pace. First, although it is difficult to predict with concrete certainty,

most likely there would be a reduction in fijnding, guidance, morale, and material
support to Iranian parties, resulting in a reduction of Shiite extremism and sec-

tarian violence. There would also very likely be a reduction in the sectarian moti-

vated violence and a reduction in the Sunni resistance that is based on fear of a
Shiite-dominated government that discriminates against Sunnis and is a proxy of

Iran. There would likely also be an increase in stability as these factors that drive

conflict are eliminated.
General Abizaid. [Deleted.]

VIOLENCE IN IRAQ

11. Senator McCain. Secretary Rumsfeld, General Pace, and General Abizaid,

what, if any, events do you think will bring down the level of violence in Iraq?

Secretary Rumsfeld. National reconciliation could reduce the factors leading to

violence by resolving those outstanding issues among Iraq's major factions. Disman-
tling militias and extragovernmental armed groups and reintegrating them into so-

ciety would permit the Iraqi government to control the sole use of force which
should also reduce violence. Finally, reforming the MOI and the Iraqi Police Service

will also increase stability in Iraq.

General Pace. First, national reconciliation promises to resolve the outstanding
issues between the major factions in Iraq. This should greatly reduce many of the
drivers of the violence. Second, the successful reduction of militias and extra-govern-

mental armed groups, which includes a fully implemented disarm, demobilize, and
reintegration program, should reduce violence and allow the Iraqi government to re-

tain the monopoly on the use of force. Third, MOI and Iraqi Police Service reform,
development, and supervision will also reduce violence in Iraq.

General Abizaid. While individual events can cause an escalation in the level of

violence, only a sustained campaign can reverse the trend. The campaign in Iraq
will bring down the level of violence by generating capable, non-sectarian security

forces with the capacity to counter internal threats and to deny the passage of for-

eign fighters and their support across Iraq's borders. An effective democratically

elected government of national unity will provide security and essential services, re-

moving the need to rely on local militias for protection and other support. Finally,

provincial elections and constitutional reform will reinforce equities between Iraqis

and their country's future prosperity.

IRAQI ARMY

12. Senator McCain. Secretary Rumsfeld, General Pace, and General Abizaid, to

build a truly national Iraqi army, it is necessary to build units of mixed ethnicities

and religions (Shiite, Sunni, Kurds)—not simply an army comprising homogenous
units. How far have we gone toward the goal of building mixed units so far, and
what steps are we taking to accelerate it?

Secretary Rumsfeld. We are committed to creating an Iraqi military that reflects

the ethnic and religious diversity of Iraq, with units loyal to the nation and not to

sectarian interests. Although competence and merit are the deciding factors when
selecting recruits, (particularly leaders), the ISF are developing so they generally
mirror the demographic makeup of Iraq. Sectarian lines remain drawn, however, in

those units recruited along geographic lines, with Sunni, Shiite, or Kurdish over-

representation within those units reflecting the areas where the units were formed.
The Minister of Defense, through an Officer Selection Committee, uses the normal

transitions to continue to diversify the senior leadership in the Iraqi army. This con-

tinuing process strives to ensure that the Iraqi army is led by competent leaders

who are representative of the nation.

General Pace. We do not track soldiers by ethnicity—they are all Iraqis. Histori-

cally, we have seen that the Iraqi army does a much better job in recruiting mul-
tiple ethnicities than the Iraqi police. The Government of Iraq is committed to en-

suring ISF represent the population, both ethnically and geographically, to enable
the Iraqi people to build and maintain confidence in their security forces. A rep-

resentation of the Iraqi populace would ideally consist of 60 percent Shiite, 20 per-

cent Sunni, and 20 percent Kurd force.

General Abizaid. The senior Iraqi military and political leadership share our
views on the requirement to build units of mixed ethnicity and religions. It is impor-
tant to note that the Iraqis are taking the lead to properly integrate their army and
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to ensure they do everything possible to make each division representative of the
population at large and not a collection of units that represent different ethnic, reli-

gious or geographical areas. Recruiting efforts are focused at providing an equal op-
portunity to everyone to join the military. In a recent visit to Iraqi army units,

Prime Minister Maliki stressed that when Iraqis join the military they must forget

about the town or province they came from and must forget about the circumstances
under which they joined and focus on representing Iraq as a whole. This has been
a recurring theme for the Iraqi army and it fits well into the Prime Minister's plan
for reconciliation. During recent missions, the Iraqis have sent Mobile Recruiting
Teams out into areas of the country where no teams were previously sent, in an
effort to extend opportunities for service to the nation. The Iraqis, with coalition

partners in support, have made a genuine effort to extend the opportunity for serv-

ice to all ethnic and religious groups in the country. They also monitor the distribu-

tion of soldiers who complete initial entry training to ensure ethnic diversity con-

tinues as the units build and sustain. The coalition understands the importance of

diversity and will continue to provide overwatch and advice to our Iraqi partners.

Currently, the Iraqi army units and their leaders are largely representative of the
population of Iraq.

13. Senator McCain. Secretary Rumsfeld, General Pace, and General Abizaid,
there have been reports that large numbers of Iraqi troops are deserting and that
there is corruption among the troops. In one report, only half of an entire unit was
actually present in an operation. In some places, Iraqi troops have gotten caught
with bombmaking materials or allowed insurgents to attack U.S. convoys by looking
the other way. These activities are fueling distrust for Iraqi soldiers. What is being
done to fix these problems and how do we ensure that it will not happen in the fu-

ture? How is this going to affect transfer of command to the Iraqis and how do we
guarantee that once the transfer occurs, they will be able to prevent corruption
themselves?

Secretary Rumsfeld. There have been several cases of unit-wide corruption and
malfeasance but we do not see a wide-spread problem. Coalition force partners and
ISF embedded transition teams conduct monthly assessments, to include unit lead-

ership and loyalty. ISF units cannot assume a security lead until they are assessed
as ready. Multi National Security Transition Corps-Iraq (MNSTC-I) along with the
Government of Iraq and the North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO) Training
Mission-Iraq, developed and fielded an Iraqi Army Training Command that resem-
bles the U.S. Army Training and Doctrine Command (TRADOC). TRADOC imple-
ments training at all levels within the Iraqi army. Part of TRADOC's curriculum
focuses on professionalism and loyalty, especially for the officers and noncommis-
sioned officers.

We do not believe that the few incidents of anti-coalition activity will affect the
transfer of command to the Iraqis. Regarding corruption, the Iraqi Public Integrity

Commission is conducting internal audits of senior government employees' incomes,
and will investigate any suspicious findings.

General Pace. While there have been a few cases of unit-wide corruption and mal-
feasance, we do not believe that it is a widespread problem. Units are assessed
monthly in several areas, and are not allowed to move forward to a security lead
posture until they are assessed as competent to do so. Coalition force partner units,

in conjunction with ISF embedded transition teams, routinely assess ISF unit lead-

ership and loyalty. Multi National Security Transition Corps-Iraq (MNSTC-I) has,
in cooperation with the Government of Iraq and the NATO Training Mission-Iraq,
developed and fielded an Iraqi army Training Command that resembles the U.S.
TRADOC. This command oversees and implements training at all levels within the
Iraqi army. Some of this training is centered on professionalism and loyalty, espe-
cially for the officers and noncommissioned officers.

We do not believe that these few cases of anti-coalition complicity will affect the
transfer of command to the Iraqis. In fact, we have already transferred control of

the Iraqi air force, navy, and Iraqi ground forces command (with one Iraqi army di-

vision), and will transfer another division later in September. The Iraqi Public In-

tegrity Commission is conducting internal audits of senior government employees'
incomes and will investigate any situation that exhibits suspicious activity. These
procedures represent another step in fighting corruption from two angles—adminis-
tratively and financially.

General Abizaid. The Iraqi army is a developing institution. From essentially

nothing in the summer of 2()03, the Iraqi army has grown rapidly to meet Iraq's

security requirements in the fight against the terrorists and insurgents. In many
areas of Iraq, they have assumed the security lead in this fight and performed admi-
rably—most notably in securing the voting process for the Constitutional Ref-
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erendum and National Elections in late 2005, to the fight against the terrorists and
insurgents across Iraq today. In a complex environment such as Iraq, the rapid
buildup of the ISF has been remarkable. Challenges are expected in these conditions

and the Iraqi government and military leaders are directly addressing these issues

with the support of coalition forces. Iraqi leaders are working hard to place the right

leaders in their units to provide dedicated, professional leadership. Our embedded
transition teams are also making a great contribution to this effort and demonstrate
on a daily basis how professional military leaders execute their missions. Desertions
and other actions are an issue in Iraq, but the facts are that the leadership—espe-

cially the Iraqi leadership—is directly dealing with these issues. Every day, the Iraq

army improves. The transition of operational responsibility to the Iraqi army is a
conditions-based process. We will take each step as conditions are right to transition

responsibility. Our training teams will remain with their Iraqi partnered units after

transition and will continue to provide that direct support. Additionally, the Iraqis

take great pride in this transition of responsibility and we look to the Iraqi govern-
ment and military leaders to continue to provide direct support to ensure issues of

performance and corruption are dealt with appropriately.

14. Senator McCain. Secretary Rumsfeld, General Pace, and General Abizaid, I

understand there are small soldier-teams supervising and training Iraqi forces.

What feedback do you have from them regarding the capabilities of Iraqi troops, and
how would you rate the success of these teams?

Secretary RUMSFELD. More than 1,200 U.S. soldiers and leaders are embedded
with Iraqi army and Iraqi police units. To the degree that one can generalize about
Iraqi troops, the embedded trainers describe them as brave and aggressive soldiers.

The trainers' monthly reports measure the staffing, command and control, training,

sustainment/logistics, equipping and leadership of their partnered Iraqi units. These
reports play a major role in determining when Iraqi provinces are ready to be re-

leased to Iraqi control. Iraqi units, specifically their leadership, benefit from the
presence of these teams. The transition teams are a great success story, and are key
in assisting Iraq to achieve security self-reliance.

General Pace. We currently have more than 1,200 soldiers and leaders embedded
with both Iraqi army and Iraqi police units throughout Iraq. We receive feedback
from these teams monthly, which encompasses a large part of the overall assess-

ment that determines when Iraqi provinces are released to Iraqi control. The feed-

back we receive from these teams is as dynamic as the environment in which they
exist. What we are seeing is that Iraqi units are benefiting from the presence of

these transition teams, specifically within the leadership of Iraqi units. These tran-

sition teams have been a great success story, and are key in Iraq achieving self-

security reliance.

General Abizaid. [Deleted.]

AFGHANISTAN

15. Senator McCain. Secretary Rumsfeld, General Pace, and General Abizaid,
what accounts for the recent upsurge in fighting in southern Afghanistan?

Secretary Rumsfeld. The insurgency views the ongoing transfer of authority in

Afghanistan as an opportunity to test NATO's will. The increased violence against
coalition, International Security Assistance Force (ISAF), and Afghan national secu-

rity forces is intended to intimidate our allies and cause them to question their com-
mitments in Afghanistan. As Operation Mountain Thrust demonstrates, however,
we are on the offensive and inflicting heavy casualties on the enemy.
General Pace. [Deleted.]

General Abizaid. [Deleted.]

16. Senator McCain. Secretary Rumsfeld, General Pace, and General Abizaid,

now that the NATO has taken over operations in southern Afghanistan, please de-

scribe how NATO operations will interact with Operation Enduring Freedom (OEF)
operations. Do the missions and the rules of engagement (ROE) for NATO and OEF
differ, as several NATO officials have suggested?

Secretary RUMSFELD. Both ISAF and OEF share the same vision and the same
endstate—a safe, free, and self-sufficient Afghanistan. Both share the same general
lines of approach: a reconstruction and stabilization effort with the military creating

a safe and secure environment for civilian relief agencies, international organiza-
tions and—most importantly—Afghan government agencies rebuilding the country.
There are differences in the missions traceable, to the different powers of NATO
versus autonomous nations in a coalition, and to different national capabilities and
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constraints. However, combat and stabilization operations in the field have shown
that both forces are compatible on the strategic, operational, and tactical levels.

This cooperation will only increase when the remaining OEF troops in the east

fall under ISAF command this fall. The U.S. Deputy Commander of ISAF for Secu-

rity will be charged with ensuring coordination.

General Pace. OEF and the ISAF do have different ROE, as would be expected
for any NATO operation involved in the same country as a coalition operation. How-
ever, this has precedent for success with many previous NATO operations, which
include Balkan operations in the 1990s and Operation Active Endeavor maritime
forces operating in proximity of other naval vessels. It is not an issue to have two
forces operating together with different ROE but it is critically important that those

forces have good procedures in place to provide deconfliction. NATO operations will

interact with OEF operations in much the same way as they have been doing for

the last couple of weeks in Operation Medusa. Operation Medusa concluded offen-

sive operations on 13 September 2006 and was accomplished by ISAFs operating in

southern region of Afghanistan with OEF forces integrated into the operations. In

this example, the OEF forces were SOF in their foreign internal defense role, but
it serves as a good example of how well these two operations can work together.

Thorough planning was conducted to ensure deconfliction procedures are integrated

into NATO procedures as they operate in the region south. The primary
deconfliction occurs through the Deputy Commander (DCOM), Security billet in the

headquarters of Commander, ISAF. DCOM Security will be a U.S. general officer

indefinitely and is currently being executed by Major General Freakley, who is also

Commander, JTF-76 as the 10th Mountain Division Commanding General. With his

"dual-hat" role as DCOM Security and CJTF-76, he has responsibility for

deconflicting ISAF operations with OEF operations. The DOD and NATO continue

to work on the effectiveness of this deconfliction to ensure it is set up for success

for the long-term.
General Abizaid. [Deleted.]

17. Senator McCain. Secretary Rumsfeld, General Pace, and General Abizaid,

could Pakistan be doing more to crack down on Taliban and al Qaeda operating

from Pakistani territory?

Secretary Rumsfeld. Pakistan is a key ally in the war on terror. We work closely

with Pakistan to improve its military capabilities, particularly in the critical Paki-

stan-Afghanistan border regions. There are approximately 80,000 Pakistani troops

currently assigned to this region. Furthermore, the Government of Pakistan recently

announced a new three-pronged strategy in the federally administered tribal areas,

which combines political, economic, and military initiatives. These initiatives are de-

signed to jdeld long-term results. We will continually assess their effectiveness. Si-

multaneously, we will continue to impress on Pakistan our desire to see results in

cracking down on al Qaeda and Taliban in the border region.

General Pace. Pakistan is a key ally in the war on terrorism and cooperates close-

ly with the U.S. military in the ongoing fight along the Afghan-Pakistan border. The
U.S. Government and DOD continue to look at ways to help improve Pakistani mili-

tary capabilities in order to enhance their effectiveness in war on terrorism efforts

in the border regions. President Musharraf recently unveiled a new strategy for ef-

forts in the federally administered tribal areas, which includes a comprehensive ap-

proach involving political, economic, and military initiatives. Since these initiatives

are just underway and many will be long-term efforts, it is too early to measure the

effectiveness of the new Pakistan strategy. Of course we would like to see better

results in cracking down on al Qaeda and Taliban in the border region. We continue
to work closely with the Pakistan government and military to improve the effective-

ness of the Pakistan effort.

General Abizaid. [Deleted.]

18. Senator McCain. Secretary Rumsfeld, General Pace, and General Abizaid, has
the United States and the international community provided enough attention and
resources to Afghanistan to ensure that it does not slide backward?

Secretary Rumsfeld. The situation on the ground in Afghanistan is dynamic and
requires both the United States and our international partners to continually review
our initial assumptions and refine our strategy. The DOD, along with the inter-

agency, is conducting a review of the situation in Afghanistan to ensure that the

necessary requirements are correctly identified and appropriately resourced. The
United States is fully committed to the security, stability, and reconstruction of Af-

ghanistan. We and the international community are helping Afghanistan to rebuild

and assisting the Afghans to establish a credible and self-sustaining government.
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General Pace. The United States is leading the international community in con-

ducting a comprehensive strategic review of all aspects of DOD efforts in Afghani-
stan to ensure that it does not slide backward. This comprehensive strategic review,

led by the NSC and in close coordination with the interagency, will reprioritize U.S.

and coalition efforts to achieve the permissive environment vital to achieving our
goals in Afghanistan. Although initial efforts were well thought out and appro-

priately resourced by the United States and international community, the reality on
the ground has changed in Afghanistan and we must adapt to this new reality. I

think we must keep in mind that not only are we fighting a counterinsurgency, but
we are also rebuilding a nation, one of the poorest on Earth. Of course the U.S. Gov-
ernment and the international community could always do more, but right now,
from a military viewpoint, I believe we are providing enough attention and re-

sources to prevent a backward slide.

General Abizaid. Resource levels in Afghanistan are based on the needs of the

ground commanders and their assessment of the threat. I continue to review and
adjust resources as necessary in order to achieve success.

The center of gravity in Afghanistan is decreasingly military and increasingly

within the domain of governance and economic development. Therefore, resource re-

quirements are shifting. The enemy is focused on winning the battle of perception,

so we must counter any perception that our commitment to Afghanistan is in any
way wavering. Continued development of the Government of Afghanistan and suc-

cess in stabilizing the country require uncompromising commitment and consistent

international cooperation. Afghanistan will continue to require both U.S. and inter-

national community resources to maintain development of the Afghan national secu-

rity forces, countemarcotics assistance, infrastructure, and border security. The
London Compact of 2006 provides the framework for the international community
to help the Afghans create a legitimate government. As NATO assumes control of

security and stability operations, I will maintain a close relationship so as to advise
and support with regard to NATO's requirements. The strength and capability of

the Afghan government is growing rapidly.

Coalition forces provide the shield behind which the accomplishments of the past
4V2 years can be made permanent.

Questions Submitted by Senator Susan Collins

national guard

19. Senator COLLINS. General Pace and General Abizaid, it has been widely re-

ported in the press and through senior National Guard officials' testimony before

Congress that the war in Iraq has badly depleted the National Guard's domestic
store of vehicles, weapons, and communications gear—leaving National Guard units

with one-third the equipment needed to meet homeland security and homeland de-

fense requirements.
The Chief of the National Guard Bureau, Lieutenant General Steven Blum, has

repeatedly stated that in September 2001, the National Guard had 75 percent of its

needed equipment "on hand." Today, that number is 34 percent.
Maine's National Guard certainly is not immune to this severe equipment short-

age. My State's Adjutant General has informed me that the Army National Guard
(ARNG) in Maine is currently experiencing a lack of vehicles—primarily Humvees
and crew-served weapons—and I am concerned with the amount of suitable equip-
ment available to deploy overseas, conduct training, or respond to a domestic emer-
gency.
What kind of risk is incurred by having so few resources stateside, and what type

of vulnerability does this expose for State National Guard troops in responding to

domestic crises?

General Pace. At this time last year, the ARNG was just completing its largest

deployment since World War IL Approximately 17 brigades or brigade equivalents
were deploying, deployed, or preparing to deploy. Equipment on hand, available to

the Governors to respond to natural disasters, in the 54 States and Territories was
at about 26 percent. Yet, the ARNG was able to deploy around 50,000 soldiers,

equipped to the Gulf Coast in support of fellow citizens during hurricane Katrina.
Since last year, equipment has been coming out of reset and returning to the States
and we are now at around 39 percent as a national average.
The Army in coordination with the ARNG has completed an analysis of equipment

required along the coast from Texas to Maine, and in the islands (Virgin Islands,

Puerto Rico, Hawaii, and Guam) to support possible hurricanes. The Adjutants Gen-
eral of these States/Territories provided their requirements through the National
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Guard Bureau to the Department of the Army. All components of the Army have
provided equipment or pledged unit capabilities to respond to these possible hurri-
canes. The States are confident that there is enough equipment on hand or through
the use of the additional capabilities and Emergency Management Assistance Com-
pacts to respond. Maine did not request any additional equipment for hurricane re-

sponse.
Maine has received 67 percent of their Table of Organization and Equipment re-

quirements. They do not have all of this equipment on hand. The whereabouts of
their equipment is as follows:

31 percent of their authorized equipment is nondeployed and currently
available (5 percent substitute items) national average is 39 percent.
31 percent of their authorized equipment is deployed or in reset (Maine

should get 5,141 pieces back from reset in fiscal year 2007).
5 percent of their authorized equipment has been left in theater (Depart-

ment of the Army and ARNG are working payback plans for equipment left

in theater).

Critical Dual Use Equipment: Maine is at 60 percent and national aver-
age is 53 percent.
Maine is scheduled to get 68 pieces of new equipment in fiscal years 2007

and 2008 (includes 20 medium trucks and 15 trailers for medium vehicles).

Of Army's total new procurement allocations over fiscal years 2007 and
2008, ARNG will receive 24 percent of night vision devices, 32 percent of
Single Channel Ground Airborne Radio System (SINCGARS) radios, and 71
percent of Medium Tactical Vehicles.

General Abizaid. As the combatant commander, the Service force providers con-
tinue to provide me with highly qualified troops and the equipment needed to meet
operational requirements in the Central Command AOR. As the proponent for man-
ning and equipping the National Guard to meet their full spectrum of missions, the
National Guard Bureau is best suited to respond to this query.

TROOP LEVELS IN IRAQ

20. Senator Collins. Secretary Rumsfeld, the DOD Office of Inspector General
(OIG) announced several months ago that it is conducting an audit to see if U.S.
troops deployed to Iraq have the equipment they need. The ongoing audit is sup-
posed to determine whether units were provided with required equipment before
they deployed, whether modifications made to equipment satisfy unit requirements,
and the impact decisions on equipment repair have when units are redeployed, ac-
cording to the IG's office.

What is the status of this audit and can you share any interim findings with the
committee at this time, particularly regarding the equipment available to units as
they prepare to deploy from the United States to Iraq?

Secretary RUMSFELD. The OIG has initiated two separate audits regarding the
equipment provided to troops deployed to Iraq. The first audit is nearing completion
and the second was just recently announced.
On November 17, 2005, the DOD OIG announced the Audit of Equipment Status

of Deployed Forces within U.S. Central Command. The objective of the audit is to
determine whether units deployed to Iraq have been equipped in accordance with
mission requirements. Specifically, the audit is evaluating whether units were pro-
vided the required items of equipment and whether the equipment modifications
satisfied mission requirements. The audit is still ongoing and final results are not
available. The OIG expects to issue a final report by the end of the year.
On August 30, 2006, the OIG announced the Audit of the Inspection Process of

the Army Reset Program for Ground Vehicles for Units Returning from OIF. The
objective of the audit is to evaluate the Army's reset program for ground vehicles
to determine the effectiveness of the technical inspection process for those units that
are completing their tours in support of OIF. The audit team plans to start the
project in September and travel to Iraq during the first quarter fiscal year 2007.

21. Senator Collins. General Abizaid, on November 19, 2005, a Marine convoy
in the Iraqi town of Haditha was hit by a roadside bomb. One marine and 24 Iraqi

civiHans, including women and children, were killed. Allegations surfaced in Feb-
ruary 2006 that the marines may have killed the Iraqi civilians in reprisal.

Two investigations were then opened to review this tragic incident. The Naval
Criminal Investigative Service is conducting one investigation, and Major General
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Eldon Bargewell, USA, recently completed a separate, independent report into

whether marines attempted to cover up the incident or if commanders were neg-
ligent in failing to initially investigate. While General Bargewell's report is not yet

public, he reportedly submitted his findings to General Chiarelli on June 16, 2006.
As a member of the Senate Armed Services Committee, I have asked Senator

Warner, the chairman of the committee, to hold a public hearing on the Haditha
incident at the earliest possible date. He has assured me that such a hearing will

be held in the coming weeks.
I believe congressional oversight is essential to ensure that our Armed Forces in-

vestigate accusations of this nature in an appropriate manner. These serious allega-

tions of misconduct are deeply troubling, although the vast majority of our troops
in Iraq continue to perform their duties with the utmost respect, restraint, and cour-

age.

What strikes me as curious is the lapse of time between the incident and subse-
quent investigations. Although marines initially reported that civilian casualties re-

sulted from an lED explosion, photographs taken by the exploitation team conflicted

with this report. The photographs clearly showed that the victims were killed as a
result of gunshot wounds.
According to a June 1 Washington Post article, the exploitation team's reporting

chain lay outside that of the other marines—who were members of the 3rd Battalion
of the 1st Marines—and went up through military intelligence channels directly to

the 1st Marine Division's intelligence director. Had the exploitation team reported
accurately what it witnessed, it would have presumably set off alarms and prodded
military commanders to immediately investigate.

I understand that you are currently reviewing General Bargewell's report on the
Haditha incident. Are you able to share what his investigation revealed about the
exploitation team actions or inactions? Are you aware of any exploitation team re-

porting policies changed as a result of this incident?
General Abizaid. The United States Central Command is unable to share any de-

tails of the Major General Bargewell AR 15-6 Investigation. That investigation was
previously forwarded to U.S. Marine Forces Central Command and this head-
quarters will transmit a copy of the investigation to the Secretary of Defense
through the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff. I recommend appropriate coordi-

nation with the Office of the Secretary of Defense and the Marines.

TROOP READINESS

22. Senator Collins. General Pace and General Abizaid, General Pace's answer
to Senator Reed talked about the components of readiness. Just this week, USA
Today reported that the Army has begun training the oldest recruits in its history
. . . "the result of a concerted effort to fill ranks depleted during the Iraq war."
Just 5 months after the enlistment age limit was raised from 35 to 40, the Army

raised it to just under 42. The Army has also lowered the minimum physical re-

quirements needed to pass basic training.

Another article earlier this year described one strategy being employed by General
Thomas Bostick, USA, Commander of all Army recruiting efforts. The article ref-

erenced many new and varied incentives being used to attract potential recruits in

what has been a tough environment during the last several years.
The ARNG, Reserve, and Active-Duty Forces all fell short of their fiscal year 2005

recruiting goals. While the Army has reached many of its recruiting targets this

year, some could argue that this occurred in part due to the fact that the goals were
lowered. The press report indicates that recruiters sent 2,697 fewer Active-Duty re-

cruits to basic training from October to December than they did during that period
in 2004.
More troublesome is the fact that General Bostick admitted that more than 10

percent of the recruits during these 3 months had scores on the aptitude test that
were "near the bottom of the scale—more than double the annual 4 percent limit

set by the DOD."
Does the recruiting shortfall, combined with lowered benchmarks, indicate trouble

for our force and ability to re-supply the ranks?
General Pace. At this time, we do not see any significant challenges with our abil-

ity to resupply the ranks with high quality men and women needed to support our
deployed forces.

Although challenges remain in this tough recruiting environment, our superb re-

cruiters in the field and the great support of Congress have made for recruitment
success during fiscal year 2006. The Active Army and the ARNG are postured for

mission success as we near the end of the fiscal year. Predictions for the Army Re-
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serve are somewhat less optimistic. However, with high missions the last 2 months
and continued strong resourcing and efforts, the fiscal year 2006 accession mission
is achievable. In fact, the Army Reserve has already recniited more soldiers this

year than they did in all of fiscal year 2005.
As of the end of July 2006, the Army has met its Active recruiting goals for 14

consecutive months and has recently announced that they will meet their annual
recruiting goal of 80,000. The Army Reserve and the National Guard are just behind
(99 percent) their mission goals through the month of July. Additionally, a major
contributing factor to the overall health of the force is that retention rates remain
high across all three Army components.
The Army accessed higher numbers of lower mental category soldiers early this

fiscal year. However, through the end of July they remain at 3.8 percent, under the
DOD goal of 4 percent for Test Category IV accessions (those scoring between the
10th and the 30th percentiles on the Armed Forces Qualification Test). They are
committed to achieving mission success while maintaining this DOD standard.
At this point, there is no indication that the increase in this area will have any

effect on overall unit readiness. In fact, attrition in the training base remains at

all-time lows; a remarkable feat in light of the increased rigor of basic training.

General Abizaid. As the combatant commander, the Service force providers con-

tinue to provide me with highly qualified troops to meet my operational manpower
requirements. As the title X proponents for recruiting and training requirements,
the Service Chiefs are best able to fully respond to this query.

Questions Submitted by Senator Carl Levin

counterdrug—u.s. military support

23. Senator Levin. General Abizaid, in January 2005 a group of 35 NGOs wrote
to Secretary Rice recommending that coalition forces:

(1) focus intelligence collection efforts on identifying major traffickers;

(2) cease all pajonents to traffickers; and
(3) assist in the destruction of laboratories and interdiction of imports of

precursor chemicals and exports of narcotics.

Are the forces under your command doing any of this?

General Abizaid. The United States Central Command has supported the lead na-

tion and lead U.S. Government agencies responsible for the countemarcotic mission
in Afghanistan with intelligence support and has provided assistance, within our ex-

isting means and authorities, to those lead agencies to identify and destroy labora-

tories, and interdict the movement of narcotics. Regarding the group's second rec-

ommendation, forces under my command are not authorized to make payments to

traffickers. Since countemarcotics is primarily a law enforcement mission, the
United States Central Command is actively supporting Department of State (DOS)
International Narcotics and Law (INL), Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA),
international, and Afghan efforts to build an Afghan capability to effectively address
the threat posed by the illicit narcotics trade. Since 2004, Congress has provided,

and the DOD has expended, approximately $470 million for countemarcotics pro-

grams in Afghanistan and the surrounding region. These programs are training Af-

ghan countemarcotics police forces, providing infrastructure and equipment for the
police and border security forces, purchasing equipment to improve command and
control, building an Afghan countemarcotics intelligence capability, assisting the
Government of Afghanistan in their public information campaign, and leveraging
interagency intelligence capabilities in the fight against drugs. We are also pro-

viding operational support as directed by the Secretary of Defense in support of the
U.S. Embassy Kabul Countemarcotics Action Plan.

24. Senator Levin. General Abizaid, do the United States and ISAF have a uni-

fied operational plan to deal with eliminating drug cultivation and trafficking—ac-

tivity which essentially funds the Taliban and al Qaeda? More specifically, are we
doing enough to interdict cross-border flows of narcotics?

General Abizaid. Reducing drug cultivation and trafficking in Afghanistan are
missions of U.S. Government and international aid and law enforcement agencies.

However, the ISAF does have sufficient ROE which allow these forces to assist with
the drug threat in Afghanistan. We are confident that ISAF will continue to provide

adequate support to these organizations in the poppy elimination and counter-
trafficking tasks. Regarding our efforts at stopping the cross-border movements of

narcotics, U.S. military forces are currently not actively engaged on the border to

interdict drugs. However, DOD is aggressively assisting the Government of Afghani-
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Stan, DOS, and the DEA to build an Afghan capacity to interdict narcotics and pre-

cursor chemicals. Additionally, while Afghanistan is the source of much of the

world's opium, we recognize that this opium must transit the region to reach its

worldwide market. As a result, we are also working with other regional partners

to improve their capacity to interdict narcotics as they move across national bound-

COUNTERDRUG—STRATEGY

25. Senator Levin. Secretary Rumsfeld, do you believe that we are doing enough
with our allies in the Middle East, including the Gulf States, to interdict drugs flow-

ing out of Afghanistan?
Secretary Rumsfeld. Aside from the many capacity-building programs DOD exe-

cutes within Afghanistan in support of DOS, INL, and DEA requests, DOD also exe-

cutes programs throughout the surrounding region in those countries that serve as

the main transit zones for Afghan narcotics. DOD has programs in support of the

governments of Pakistan, Kyrgyzstan, Kazakhstan, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan,
Oman, Djibouti, Ethiopia, and Kenya in an effort to better interdict drug flows from
Afghanistan.
DOD also participates in the Central and South Asian Countemarcotics and Secu-

rity Working Group. This group of representatives from Central and South Asian
countries meets regularly to examine strategies that promote regional stability and
enhance their capability to defeat narcotics trafficking in the region.

Despite relative improvements in their capabilities to date, Afghanistan will re-

quire continued long-term assistance from the United States and the entire inter-

national community to fully handle its own narcotics issues.

26. Senator Levin. Secretary Rumsfeld, do you see an opportunity for us to work
with the Gulf States, with Pakistan, and even—despite our tremendous differences

with the government—Iran, to stem the flow and thereby stem the drug proceeds
to Taliban and al Qaeda? If so, how would you ensure that this opportunity is

seized—that we develop a multinational, cross-border drug interdiction strategy?

Secretary Rumsfeld. As previously mentioned, our programs focus on those coun-
tries that serve as the main transit zones for Afghan narcotics. Pakistan is one of

these countries, and the amount we spend on support to countemarcotics efforts in

Pakistan is second only to what we provide in Afghanistan when compared to the

rest of the region.

The Afghan drug trade also has seriously affected Iran, and Iran has a strong in-

terest in combating the drug flows from Afghanistan through their country. There
is little opportunity at the present time for DOD to work directly with Iran on this

issue, but the United Kingdom and the Government of Afghanistan may be in a bet-

ter position to develop countemarcotics relationships with Iran.

COUNTERDRUG—PROVINCLAL RECONSTRUCTION TEAMS ROLE

27. Senator Levin. General Abizaid, do the Provincial Reconstruction Teams
(PRTs) have an explicit counterdrug mission?
General Abizaid. Although the PRTs do not have an explicit counterdrug mission,

the PRTs do coordinate with and support Afghan, U.S., and other international ef-

forts to provide alternatives to poppy cultivation. For instance, the PRTs support the
Afghan Poppy Elimination Program (PEP) teams in their efforts to provide edu-
cation, alternative crops, and jobs for Afghans involved in the cultivation of poppy.
Both DOS/International Narcotics and Law Enforcement (INL) and United States
Agency for International Development provide significant support to these PEP ef-

forts.

28. Senator Levin. General Abizaid, are the PRTs helping build infrastructure

and providing alternative livelihoods at a rate, and in a fashion, that leads you to

believe we may be able to achieve reduced levels of poppy cultivation in the future?

General Abizaid. The PRT program is a great success and is key to stabilizing

Afghanistan. There are 23 PRTs operating and they allow the Afghan government
to expand reconstruction and outreach efforts and security. PRTs are a catalyst and
their presence brings security to the area where it operates and serves to enable
reconstruction and development. I believe their support is absolutely critical to de-

velop the infrastructure and markets required to provide the Afghan farmer with
a licit means to make a living and to the establishment and sustainment of endur-
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ing alternative livelihood programs, which in time, will favorably impact poppy cul-

tivation.

AFGHANISTAN—NATO CAPACITY

29. Senator Levin. Secretary Rumsfeld and General Abizaid, I understand that
the current plan is to turn responsibility for Afghanistan over to NATO by the end
of the year. Are there conditions that will determine whether NATO takes control
of the east, where U.S. troops are concentrated now?

Secretary Rumsfeld. Stage IV transfer of authority for Regional Command East
is conditions-based. We are working with NATO, coalition members, and the Gov-
ernment of Afghanistan to ensure that the ISAF Commander has the forces and as-

sets available to succeed in his mission, and to ensure a seamless transition.

General Abizaid. We have already completed transition of three of the four re-

gional commands to NATO. Each transition decision was determined by established
criteria. The decision to execute transfer of authority (TOA) of Regional Command-
East (RC-E) to the NATO ISAF is based on a set of 12 major operational and tac-

tical criteria, as well as a strategic evaluation. These criteria have been agreed upon
by both the United States and NATO. They are not simply focused on RC-E, but
rather encompass an evaluation of ISAF operations throughout Afghanistan. The
decision involves estimations of the effectiveness of current and planned ISAF oper-
ations throughout the regions; the level of cooperation they have achieved with the
Government of Afghanistan; a determination on whether NATO has sufficient com-
bat enabling capabilities such as emergency medical evacuation support; coordina-
tion of detainee operations; agreement on execution of ROE; and NATO's ability to

operate and support the PCTs.
TOA execution will not take place until the United States, through the Secretary

of Defense, and NATO, through the NATO Advisory Council, agree that all of the
criteria have been satisfied, and the strategic conditions are determined appropriate.

30. Senator Levin. Secretary Rumsfeld and General Abizaid, what will be the on-

going U.S. role? Will the troop commitment remain at the same levels, and if not,

what matrices are you using to determine whether we need to increase, decrease,
or change the composition of the U.S. troop contribution?

Secretary Rumsfeld. With regards to Stage IV, the ongoing U.S. role in Afghani-
stan will be two-fold. First, as a member of NATO, the United States will be the
single largest contributor of forces and capabilities to ISAF. Second, we will retain
a strong national capability to support counterterrorism missions and to continue
our role in training and equipping Afghan National Security Forces (ANSF), a mis-
sion that is essential to our long-term strategy in Afghanistan. U.S. force numbers
will continue to be determined by conditions and requirements. As the ANSF de-

velop the capability to provide for Afghanistan's security, the requirement for U.S.,

NATO, and coalition troop contributions will decrease.
General Abizaid. The United States will continue its significant role in the secu-

rity and development of Afghanistan during and after the transfer of authority to

NATO. U.S. forces are deployed throughout Afghanistan, in support of OEF and
NATO ISAF. While the bulk of combat forces will be under ISAF, the support
enablers for those units will remain under national command. Additionally, we will

continue operation of nine PCTs under ISAF.
The Counterterrorism Task Force, as well as development of the ANSF, to include

the Afghan National Army and the Afghan National Police, will remain the respon-
sibility of the United States in partnership with the Government of Afghanistan.

U.S. force levels will be predicated on conditions on the ground as observed and
evaluated by U.S. Central Command, and with the concurrence of the Government
of Afghanistan. Our troop commitment is perceived by the Government of Afghani-
stan as a direct reflection of our confidence in President Karzai's administration and
our national commitment to the development of Afghanistan.

risk ASSESSMENT

31. Senator Levin. General Pace, in February of this year, you provided this com-
mittee with a classified assessment of the risk of executing our National Military
Strategy (NMS). The classified risk assessment you provided to this committee ear-

lier this year does not appear, in my judgment, to be consistent with the readiness
statistics the Army and the Marine Corps have provided to this committee in recent

months.
Do you stand by that risk assessment today?
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General Pace. Yes. I remain confident that the Armed Forces can accompUsh the
objectives of the NMS. The 2006 Biennial Review of the NMS provided an assess-
ment of the current security environment and the capacity of the Armed Forces to

accomplish the objectives of the NMS. This assessment is updated through a contin-

uous risk assessment process in which the Joint Chiefs of Staff and the combatant
commanders review the risks associated with accomplishing the objectives of the
NMS and recommend appropriate actions to address these risks. I will not hesitate

to notify the committee should my judgment change on the risk of executing our
NMS.

32. Senator Levin. General Pace, what level of risk exists today if our military
were called on to execute a mission, requiring a substantial number of ground
forces, somewhere in addition to the operations ongoing in Iraq and Afghanistan?
General Pace. While our Armed Forces are engaged in a variety of activities, in-

cluding significant operations in Iraq and Afghanistan, we fight as a joint team

—

ground, air, and naval forces working together. This joint approach provides the Na-
tion with an exceptionally flexible and capable military. Our joint team is fully capa-
ble of responding to changing circumstances and situations throughout the world
and prevailing against any threat—decisively.

Questions Submitted by Senator Daniel K. Akaka

corruption in iraq

33. Senator Akaka. Secretary Rumsfeld, the July 2006, Quarterly and Semi-An-
nual Report by the Special Inspector General for Iraq Reconstruction states that cor-

ruption has become wide-spread in Iraq, so much so that, according to the report,

it "threatens to undermine Iraq's democracy."
Prior to this report, to what extent were you aware of how rampant corruption

had become in Iraq? Also, what steps have you taken or do you plan to take to coun-
teract fraud and corruption?

Secretary Rumsfeld. Corruption was omnipresent in Saddam's society and it con-
tinues to be a part of the current Iraqi society. It is one of the causes that leads
to extremism. In order to be successful against extremists, governments must be
held accountable. Such accountability will emerge in Iraq with the good governance
created by representative government. For our part, we are helping the Iraqis de-
velop anti-corruption agencies such as the Board of Supreme Audit and the Commis-
sion on Public Integrity.

middle east CONFLICT

34. Senator Akaka. Secretary Rumsfeld, if the U.N. were able to successfully ne-
gotiate a permanent cease-fire between Israel and the Hezbollah forces in Lebanon,
a number of European countries, including France, Italy, and Poland, have indicated
a willingness to contribute forces in order to help maintain the peace. What role do
you imagine that U.S. forces would play in the deplo5Tnent of an international
peacekeeping force?

Secretary Rumsfeld. The United States is considering how it can best support an
international peacekeeping force in Lebanon. That support could take the form of
logistics, communications, and other assistance.

TROOP levels

35. Senator Akaka. Secretary Rumsfeld, the President has asserted the need for

more troops in Iraq in order to help stem the ongoing violence and insurgency. Just
last week, you approved a request to extend the deplojonent of the Army's 172nd
SBCT. Given that Lieutenant General Steven Blum, Chief of the National Guard
Bureau, has recently asserted that two-thirds of the Active Army's National Guard's
brigades are not ready for war, I am very concerned about our military's ability to

fulfill its worldwide mission. More specifically, to what extent has the large scale

deployment of troops to Iraq limited our ability to respond to a threat from North
Korea?

Secretary Rumsfeld. The DOD has refined its Force Planning Construct to focus
on three objective areas: homeland defense, war on terrorism and irregular warfare,
and conventional campaigns. We are continuously assessing the force sizing and ca-

pability mix required by the operational commitments associated with our world-
wide mission. Operations in Iraq and Afghanistan have stressed military personnel
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and equipment, particularly of the ground forces. We are seeking ways to reset the
force and are reassessing the overall size of our military forces.

The United States must maintain the ability to conduct and win conventional
campaigns, and we remain fully committed to fulfilling our historic responsibilities

of mutual defense on the Korean peninsula to deter and, if required, defend against
the threat from North Korea. The United States has encouraged all parties involved
to resume the Six-Party Talks that provide a multinational discourse on achieving
a peaceful resolution to the North Korean weapon issue. Moreover, U.S. Pacific

Command and U.S. Forces Korea have been working with the South Korean mili-

tary to increase capacity to deter aggression and further prospects for lasting peace.

The increased operational tempo and resulting readiness concerns have impacted
the risk associated with other commitments, and we are continuously analyzing risk

and prioritizing U.S. military activities. The Chairman is specifically charged with
formally assessing the National Military Risk and will provide that annual assess-

ment to Congress in 2007.

IRAQI SECURITY FORCES

36. Senator Akaka. General Pace and General Abizaid, the latest Executive Sum-
mary Report to Congress regarding the United States policy in Iraq asserts that
Iraq's Ministry and Defense and MOI forces "continue to increase in size and capa-
bility and are increasingly taking over lead combat responsibility from coalition

forces" yet rather than drawing down our troops we are increasing the numbers de-

ployed and extending the tours of the men and women already there.

To what extent did the report overestimate the progress of the ISF? Also, what
more needs to be done in order to make the transition to a more limited mission
and to prepare the ISF to be able to take over responsibility?

General Pace. Effective political and economic reform is central to a lasting re-

duction in violence, to a far greater extent than the number of Iraqi or coalition

troops. The Government of Iraq (GOD must resolve the difficult issues of national
reconciliation, including de-Baathification reform, militias, oil revenue sharing, and
the nature of Iraqi federalism. They must address these issues in a way that does
not exacerbate sectarian tensions. Additionally, the GOI must deliver basic goods
and services and a program to increase economic opportunities to provide a counter
to crime and militias.

Before the Samarra shrine bombing in February 2006, we anticipated that insur-

gent attacks would decline. The bombing ignited sectarian tensions that have neces-
sitated adjusting U.S. troops to assist the ISF in quelling the violence. Accomplish-
ment of 325,000 individually trained and equipped ISF is just a step in the process.

Our ability to reduce the number of coalition forces depends on the overall capa-
bility of ISF, capacity of the GOI and its institutions, and GOI ability to provide
essential services.

We are seeing progress as Iraqi units go from formation to being able to operate
side-by-side to being in the lead. We are just now beginning to see more ISF being
able to operate independently without coalition support. We anticipate we will begin
to reduce our footprint as ISF become more capable and enemy activity can be han-
dled solely by the ISF.

The MNF-I Commander is the best judge of when forces can be redeployed. He
has a process to make those decisions and we base our recommendations to the Sec-

retary of Defense based on his judgment. Finally, the enemy gets a vote on when
we withdraw forces.

General Abizaid. The August Report to Congress did not overestimate the
progress of the ISF. Rather, the report accurately stated the progress the coalition

is making in developing the ISF. By the end of 2006, the 325,000-person ISF will

be trained and equipped. In just under a year's time, the Iraqi army has grown from
23 battalions in the lead conducting security operations, to 88 battalions in the lead.

Iraqi units designated as "in the lead" are capable of planning and executing
counterinsurgency and security operations today. These units can and do conduct
independent operations, however most of these units still require support from the
coalition, particularly in the areas of logistics and sustainment. Where our initial

focus in developing the ISF was on creating, equipping, and training the units, our
focus is now shifting to developing the ISF's capacity to sustain itself One of our
key efforts is to assist the Government of Iraq in developing policy, planning, and
budgeting capabilities in the Ministries of Defense and Interior. These efforts will

allow the ISF to continue assuming more of the security responsibility for Iraq, thus
permitting coalition forces to transition to a supporting role.
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IRAQ RECONSTRUCTION

37. Senator Akaka. General Pace and General Abizaid, the DOD reported that it

is working closely with Iraq and international donors to maximize international re-

construction assistance. What impact do you believe that the recent violence be-

tween Iraq and Hezbollah forces in Lebanon will have on the ability of the Iraqi

government to gamer further international support?
General Pace. The International Compact with Iraq is a joint Iraqi/U.N. initiative

to gamer increased international support for Iraq. The Government of Iraq commits
to reforms, while donor nations pledge assistance to help Iraq meet its commit-
ments. As the co-lead U.S. Government agencies, the Departments of State and
Treasury are better positioned to comment on the impact on the Compact of the re-

cent fighting between Hezbollah and Israel.

General Abizaid. Recently, the struggle within Iraq has transitioned from violence
directed against coalition forces to violence between ethnic and sectarian groups,
mainly Sunni and Shiite, seeking to control Baghdad and the distribution of political

and economic power. Continued sectarian violence will ultimately serve as a deter-

rent to further international support. In order to set favorable conditions for gar-
nering international support. Prime Minister Maliki has initiated key programs to

resolve issues leading to sectarian violence. These key programs include the Na-
tional Reconciliation and Dialog Plan, the International Compact for Iraq, the Iraq
Constitutional Review Process, and the Baghdad Peace Initiative.

Questions Submitted by Senator Hillary Rodham Clinton

afghanistan

38. Senator Clinton. Secretary Rumsfeld, on July 21, Lt. Gen. David Richards,
the head of NATO's International Security Force in Afghanistan, the man now in

charge of coalition military operations in the south, described the situation in Af-
ghanistan as "close to anarchy," and said that we are "running out of time" if we
are going to meet the expectations of the Afghan people.
Reports indicate that Operation Mountain Thrust has been successful in killing

more than 600 suspected Taliban in the run-up to the recent handover of operations
in the south to NATO forces. Considering that we've had a significant troop pres-
ence in Afghanistan for over 4V2 years, it's disturbing that there has been a come-
back of the Taliban in the south. Were you wrong when you said "the Taliban are
gone"? What has gone wTong in Afghanistan?

Secretary Rumsfeld. Five years ago, Afghanistan was ruled by the Taliban and
provided a safe haven for the terrorists who planned September 11. Today, the
Taliban are no longer in power. The Afghans have a democratically elected Presi-
dent and National Assembly leading the international community's reconstruction
efforts. Meanwhile, ANSF are fighting insurgents alongside U.S., coalition, and
NATO ISAF forces. Challenges remain, including violence, narcotics, and the lack
of infrastructure, but it will take time and international participation to completely
address the damages caused by close to 30 years of war.

39. Senator Clinton. Secretary Rumsfeld, General Pace, and General Abizaid,
given that the lead coalition commander has described the situation as "close to an-
archy," how does the current plan to turn this around differ from the earlier game
plan? What are our "lessons learned"?

Secretary Rumsfeld. A cornerstone of our strategy in Afghanistan is the coordi-
nation of aggressive combat operations with reconstruction and development efforts.

We have found that in areas where this coordination is implemented effectively, the
perception of government control is bolstered and the local populace is disinclined
to lend its support to insurgent elements. Successfully pairing the removal of insur-
gents with reconstruction efforts will prove to the Afghans that it is the government,
not the insurgency, which wdll provide the security and economic stability that is

needed for Afghans to prosper.
General Pace. One of the larger lessons learned at this stage in our mission is

the strategic importance of redevelopment. Within the broad category of redevelop-
ment, three areas are most prominent and appear to be the most cost-effective. Our
strategic review strives to incorporate our lessons learned and place great emphasis
in these three areas: roads, power, and rural development.

In areas that the central Government of Afghanistan and the ANSF and alliance

can access via roads, the insurgency is far less likely to hold sway over the local

area. Simply put, where the roads end, the Taliban begins. Power increases in pri-

ority based on the broad-based expectation from the Afghans that they should have
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power. Power also gains them access to alliance information operation efforts via
radio and television. Rural development is the ability to stimulate economic activity

through efforts aimed at supporting farmers getting their produce to markets.
Taken in combination, we are striving to create an environment where Afghans
from outlying areas maintain a greater connection with the central government
through the ability to grow, transport, and market goods to areas beyond the imme-
diate village. With a greater belief in the ability of the central government to pro-

vide, we are hopeful that Afghans who earlier tolerated or even supported the insur-

gency see a greater benefit to themselves and their families to support the central
government. If so, they will no longer provide any support and may start to actively

oppose the presence and activities of insurgents.

The south of Afghanistan is the historical home of the Taliban and the area where
most of the violence is occurring. We have adapted our strategy there to more broad-
ly coordinate kinetic and nonkinetic activities. This summer we have conducted a
series of major operations in the south and achieved significant successes against
the Taliban. One of the most important components of our effort is that once the
kinetic activity is complete and we gain control of an area, we then begin intensive

nonkinetic civil-military operations to solidly control and maintain it.

General Abizaid. U.S. Central Command's strategic vision for Afghanistan has not
changed since the beginning of OEF. We remain committed to a fully self-reliant

Afghanistan with a representative government that is committed to national devel-

opment, respect for the rule of law, and that rejects international terrorism. It is

an Afghanistan that is capable of providing for its own security, controlling and gov-
erning its territory, implementing economic development policies, and eliminating
the production of illegal drugs.

We are conducting a variety of military and non-military operations to counter the
recent resurgence of Taliban rejectionist forces in Southern Afghanistan. Much of

this resistance is occurring as NATO and the Government of Afghanistan expand
control into those areas; areas where we have had a very small presence over the
past 4 years. As they expand, they will naturally encounter areas where the popu-
lace is unaccustomed to a national government and will provide some level of resist-

ance until the population accepts that the Government of Afghanistan is serving
their interests.

TROOP READINESS

40. Senator Clinton. Secretary Rumsfeld, General Pace, General Abizaid, at the
August 2, 2006, DOD press conference. Secretary Rumsfeld stated, "One of the prob-
lems we've seen is that in the readiness charts that are used, we see apples and
oranges; we see a standard on the left side for some years back, and then a standard
that's different on the right side." Secretary Rumsfeld went on to say, "... a third
aspect of that that General Pace and I have been probing is you can say, 'Ready
for what,' and if they're ready for the task they're doing, that's what you want. Or
you could put a standard that says, 'Are they ready for any conceivable task that
might be asked,' and if that's the standard, then you get a different set of numbers."

If you change the readiness standard, doesn't it make sense to measure against
the new standard?

Secretary Rumsfeld. Yes, we should measure our readiness against the new
standard, and are in the process of changing our readiness reporting system to do
exactly that. Our legacy reporting system, the Status of Resources and Training
System (SORTS), simply measures the amount of assets assigned to a unit. This
measure does not account for the mission the unit is tasked to perform, the capabili-

ties of its equipment, or the experience of the people. These legacy system measures
can be very misleading. A unit can be "unready" simply because it did not deploy
with all of its equipment, even if that equipment is not needed for the mission. Like-
wise, units undergoing transformation to a modular configuration can become "un-
ready" overnight because of newly authorized organizational structures and equip-
ment. Our new Defense Readiness Reporting System (DRRS) allows us to see true
mission requirements as well as unit assets on hand.
General Pace. Yes. To meet this new standard, the DOD is transitioning readi-

ness reporting to a capabilities-based readiness assessment focused on a unit's abil-

ity to perform specific mission essential tasks (MET) while integrating this addi-
tional information with our legacy resources-based readiness assessment of per-

sonnel, equipment, supply, training, and ordnance. The integration of MET data re-

quires establishing conditions and standards for the tasks and dissemination of the
new requirements procedures across the DOD.
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The DOD is in the process of developing new pohcy guidance to address the im-
proved standards. In addition, the new standard requires information technology
systems and training to accompany the process. The new DRRS is making signifi-

cant progress toward supporting the new readiness reporting model. We need appro-
priate testing and validation for the DRRS system prior to full implementation.
General Abizaid. The new DRRS is intended to identify and implement reporting

standards across the DOD. The DDRS Office is responsible for developing and estab-

lishing this system within the DOD. As the proponent responsible for this new read-
iness measurement system, the DRRS Implementation Office is best able to fully

respond to this query.

41. Senator Clinton. Secretary Rumsfeld, General Pace, and General Abizaid,
aside fi"om the fact that changing standards apparently is causing issues with the
readiness charts, how long is reasonable for units to not be ready as they reset?

Secretary Rumsfeld. As the Army resets, it is refurbishing some assets, modern-
izing others, and creating the new Brigade Combat Team structure. As one would
expect, these processes take some time to complete. Generally speaking, it takes
about 9 to 12 months to complete this process. We are very interested in making
sure this conversion happens expeditiously.

General Pace. The amount of time necessary for a unit to reset varies according
to individual Service reset procedures, the type of unit, length of deplo3Tnent, equip-
ment availability, and other issues. There is no single answer or template for all

units on how quickly they reset. Each Service maintains a structured process to pro-

vide combat ready forces. For example, the Army uses an Army Force Generation
model with force pools of 'Reset/Train,' 'Ready,' and 'Available' forces as a framework
for the structured progression of increased readiness. In this model. Army Active
component units require 9 to 12 months in the 'Reset/Train' Force Pool before the
unit can be certified to move into the 'Ready' Force Pool. An Army Reserve compo-
nent unit will typically spend 36 to 48 months in the 'Reset/Train' Force Pool before
it can be certified to move into the 'Ready' Force Pool. Currently, these time frames
are compressed due to high operational tempo of ongoing war on terrorism oper-
ations. The sustained strategic demand has placed tremendous strain on the Army's
people and equipment that have been employed in the harsh operating environ-
ments of Iraq and Afghanistan.

Case-by-case assessments are made by senior commanders within each Service,

and rolled up into top-level reporting forums. This process ensures that deploying
units are trained and equipped to support the full spectrum of operations outlined
in our NMS.

General Abizaid. As the combatant commander, the Service force providers con-
tinue to provide me with highly qualified troops to meet my operational manpower
requirements. As the title X proponents for establishing indi\adual Service reset re-

quirements, the Service Chiefs are best able to fully respond to this query.

42. Senator Clinton. Secretary Rumsfeld, General Pace, and General Abizaid,
how far in front of the next deployment is sufficient to ensure units have the equip-
ment and personnel they need to accomplish their assigned mission?

Secretary Rumsfeld. We try to maximize the time available to man, equip, and
train our units for the mission at hand. To date, we have been able to provide most
units with the appropriate personnel and equipment in time to conduct a Mission
Readiness Exercise prior to deployment. The "lead time" necessary for these actions
vary considerably depending on the mission and unit assigned.

General Pace. This answer varies by the type of unit, the deployed mission as-

signment, and the requirements associated with that assigned mission. We make
every effort to have the equipment and personnel necessary to train for assigned
missions in place before units commence their pre-deployment training cycles. Opti-
mally, these training cycles range from 120 days to 20 months prior to deployment.
Currently, these times are compressed due to high operational tempo and demand.
General Abizaid. As the combatant commander, the Service force providers con-

tinue to provide me with highly qualified troops to meet my operational manpower
requirements. As the title X proponents for establishing individual Service per-

sonnel and training requirements, the Service Chiefs are best able to fully respond
to this query.

43. Senator Clinton. Secretary Rumsfeld, General Pace, and General Abizaid,
how does that timeline mesh with the units' training timeline?

Secretary Rumsfeld. Training timelines are tailored to account for the lessons
learned from previous deployments, the experience of the unit and personnel in-
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volved, and current events in theater. In the preponderance of cases, there is time
available to allow units to become fully trained for their assigned missions.
General Pace. Training timelines are built into Service pre-deployment cycles and

vary by individual unit missions. The consistent policy across Services is that every
effort is made to ensure appropriate enablers are in place for units commencing
their pre-deployment training. In a traditional operational cycle, training com-
mences from 120 days to 20 months prior to deployment and would enable forces

to train to a full-spectrum capability. The current high operational tempo has re-

sulted in shortened training timelines and, in some cases, has required the focusing
of training enablers on deployed missions.
General Abizaid. As the combatant commander, the Service force providers con-

tinue to provide me with highly qualified troops to meet my operational manpower
requirements. As the title X proponents for establishing individual Service per-

sonnel and training requirements, the Service Chiefs are best able to fully respond
to this query.

44. Senator Clinton. Secretary Rumsfeld, General Pace, and General Abizaid,
what standard of personnel and equipment on hand is required for units to partici-

pate in the collective training prior to deplojrment?
Secretary Rumsfeld. The unit commander makes the decision on whether his

unit can perform collective training with the personnel and equipment on hand. Col-

lective training is a continuum, and starts with smaller units of organization and
builds to include multiple organizations and command staffs. Generally speaking,
the unit will have appropriate personnel and equipment in place to conduct the mis-
sion rehearsal exercise.

General Pace. The goal is to ensure there is an adequate amount and type of

equipment on hand to support the realistic training objectives required for deploy-
ment. Those specific numbers vary by the type of unit, assigned mission, equipment
on hand, training level of personnel, and other variables. Two specific examples fol-

low:

The Army mans units to 85 percent and equips them to a level determined by
a Force Feasibility Review as required to start collective training. The Army's goal

is to increase equipment and manning to 100 percent prior to the unit's deployment.
Certain Navy units, such as the Naval Mobile Construction Battalions, train with

stateside equipment and systems that are identical to those that are used when de-

ployed overseas. They remain fully capable to participate in collective training prior

to deplojrment.
The intent is to ensure units have enough personnel and equipment to fully par-

ticipate in pre-deployment training events as they ramp up to peak readiness for

deployments and wartime taskings.
General Abizaid. As the combatant commander, the Service force providers con-

tinue to provide me with highly qualified troops to meet my operational manpower
requirements. As the title X proponents for establishing individual Service train and
equip requirements, the Service Chiefs are best able to fully respond to this query.

45. Senator Clinton. Secretary Rumsfeld, General Pace, and General Abizaid, is

it possible to train to standard if you do not have comparable equipment on hand
to train with?

Secretary Rumsfeld. Yes, the majority of training can be accomplished with simi-

lar or substitute items. Ideally, units will have comparable equipment for the mis-
sion rehearsal exercise, but some of this equipment may only be available in theater
(e.g., up-armored High Mobility Multipurpose Wheeled Vehicles). Accordingly, train-

ing with these specific pieces of equipment will only take place upon deployment in

a non-combat, training environment in theater. The Udari range in Kuwait is used
specifically for this in-theater training.

General Pace. With approved equipment substitutes, our personnel train to

standards every day. Military processes exist that ensure equipment substitutes are
similar enough in form, substance, and function to be adequate for realistic and rea-

sonable training. In those cases in which units do not organically possess adequate
equipment, we ensure that equipment or a suitable substitute is provided to the
unit during its training for deployment.

Additionally, many of our military systems rely on simulators and embedded
training systems. Quite often, a large percentage of the initial training is actually

conducted on these simulators, so there is no loss of capability associated with the
usage of these systems.
We will continue to do our best to ensure the needs of the units getting ready

for their next rotation are met to ensure they are at the peak of readiness prior to

deploying.
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General Abizaid. As the combatant commander, the Service force providers con-
tinue to provide me with highly qualified troops to meet my operational manpower
requirements. As the title X proponents for establishing individual Service train and
equip requirements, the Service Chiefs are best able to fully respond to this query.

[Whereupon, at 1:06 p.m., the committee adjourned.]
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OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR JOHN WARNER,
CHAIRMAN

Chairman Warner. Good morning, everyone. The committee will

meet today to receive testimony on the current situation in Iraq as
well as Afghanistan and to discuss strategy options for the future.

The hearing will be conducted with two panels. It was a challenge
to arrange this hearing and our schedules, and I thank you. Sen-
ator Levin, for assisting me in making this come about.

I congratulate you on the recognition that your colleagues have
given you and that you will become chairman the first of the year.

Senator LEVIN. If I could intervene, Mr. Chairman, as always we
are going to need your help, support, and advice, because we have
been doing this together for many years.

Chairman Warner. Twenty-eight years the Senator and I have
been working together. We came together to the Senate.
As I look back on my own modest career and association with the

U.S. military, I value above all events in my life the association

over these many decades with the men and women of the Armed
Forces. General Abizaid, I say to you, as I have come to know you
very well over the past 3-plus years in meetings here, in Wash-
ington, and in this committee room, and both of us in fatigues in

far parts of the world where you have commanded our forces with
an extraordinary degree of professionalism. You have been at the
point of one of the most challenging chapters in the military his-

tory of this country.
Speaking for myself, and I do believe a number of my colleagues,

you have discharged that professionalism, not only to your own
credit, but to the credit of the men and women of the Armed Forces
in your command and all those who have served. We thank you,
sir.

The committee also welcomes Ambassador David Satterfield,

Special Advisor and Coordinator for Iraq, on his first appearance
before this committee. Ambassador Satterfield has a distinguished
background. He served as Deputy Chief of Mission at the embassy
in Baghdad from May 2005 until July 2006, where we saw him in

visits that Senator Levin and I made to the area. We thank you
for your work and service to country. I have had the opportunity,

as has Senator Levin, to visit with you on a number of occasions.

I think you are an extraordinary professional and you tell it like

it is, and we anticipate you will do the same this morning.
Last month when Senator Levin and I returned from Iraq, in

press conferences we both described the situation as we saw it. I
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used a phrase that was given to me by a Marine sergeant in the

darkness as we were departing the Al Anbar Province. I turned to

him and said: "How do you think things are going?" He said: "Sen-

ator, I simply say that Iraq is going sideways."

I saw personally the forward progress in many areas in Iraq, but

I also witnessed and learned of other areas sliding backwards. So

I think that sergeant's appraisal was pretty accurate. That was
about 4 weeks ago is my recollection.

My views and that of my colleague Senator Levin and other Sen-

ators expressed in that timeframe I think, and say with modesty,

resulted in a substantial increase in the introspective study within

all levels of the executive and legislative branches of our Govern-

ment. I draw your attention to press reports this morning where
the President has formally launched a sweeping internal review of

Iraq policy yesterday, pulling together studies underway by various

Government agencies, according to U.S. officials. I understand. Am-
bassador Satterfield, in your opening remarks you will address that

subject further.

It is interesting to note that World War II began on December
7, 1941. The European theater conflict concluded with the German
surrender in May 1945 and operations in the Pacific theater ended
in August 1945. I remember the period well. I was a young sailor

in the following year of that war. Accordingly, I note that on No-

vember 26, 2006, this year, but a few days away, our involvement

in Iraq will surpass the length of this historic World War II period.

In October 2002, Congress approved a joint resolution author-

izing the President to use the Armed Forces of the United States

to, "One, defend the national security of the United States against

the continuing threat posed by Iraq; and two, enforce all relevant

United Nations Security Council resolutions regarding Iraq."

With regard to this resolution, I make two observations. First, I

observe that the resolution at that time—and I had a hand in

drafting it—addressed the Iraq of Saddam Hussein, which is now
gone and no more a threat to us. Today our Nation, together with

our coalition partners, is engaged with a government of Iraq which
we helped create and was freely elected by the people of Iraq. We
are helping this Government to assume the full reins of sovereignty

and eventually become a member of the coalition of free nations

fighting international terrorism. That has been our goal, certainly

this Senator's goal, and hopefully will continue to be our goal. But
we need to revise our strategy to achieve that goal.

Second, I note that the current United States Security Council

Resolution on Iraq, No. 1637, will expire on December 31, 2006. We
anticipate the coalition of nations and the Government of Iraq will

work with the United Nations Security Council on a follow-on

version of this resolution. Having just spoken with Ambassador
Satterfield, I learned there have been developments overnight and
he will specifically refer to them in his opening statement.

Again, currently all levels of the executive branch, now confirmed

by the President, that have a responsibility for our Nation's secu-

rity are in the process of reexamining the strategy and means to

achieve a goal, to continue our support for the Government of Iraq.

In addition, in Congress as well as the executive branch we have
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the potential benefit of views coming from the private sector, par-

ticularly from the Baker-Hamilton Iraq Study Group.
With that said, we as Congress, and particularly the Senate

through our Committee on Armed Services, have to consider at

least five developments between today and late in December.
First, this very important hearing today. This is a most appro-

priate and timely way to perform the committee's first step in our
thorough review of this situation.

Second, our committee, as the White House forwards the nomina-
tion of Robert Gates to the Senate, will provide Dr. Gates with an
opportunity to share his views on the future strategies in Iraq.

Third, the Baker-Hamilton Iraq Study Group will submit their

report. IDepending on the timing of their report. Senator Levin and
I will renew our invitation to members of that group to come before

our committee and to give us a briefing.

Fourth, General Pace, the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff,

has undertaken an independent study among his own military ana-
lysts. Likewise, I have spoken to him desiring that he and such col-

leagues as he wishes come before the committee and provide us
with the advice that he will be giving to the President.

Finally, the committee will benefit from the overall dialogue be-

tween the Government of Iraq, our coalition partners, and other
nations as the Security Council resolution progresses, that is the
revised one.

We have been informed that the Government of Iraq is interested

in influencing how that follow-on resolution will be drawn up and,
Ambassador Satterfield, you showed me this morning copies of a
communication that related to those recommendations by the Gov-
ernment of Iraq to the Security Council, and you will cover that im-
portant subject.

As we go through this process as a committee, indeed as a Sen-
ate, we must be ever mindful of the daily loss of life, and life of

not only our brave forces, men and women, but of those of our coa-

lition partners and indeed the many, many innocent citizens of Iraq

who every day, every hour of every day, are losing their lives.

Fortunately, the American people know and deeply appreciate

that our Nation's men and women in uniform and their coalition

partners are performing courageously, selflessly, and with the high-

est degree of military professionalism. The American people honor
deeply, reverently the sacrifices of the families of our service-

members.
I am personally concerned about the challenges of two sovereign

nations, Iraq and the United States, exercising command and con-

trol, directly, as in the case of the United States from President
Bush down to the privates, and likewise Prime Minister Maliki
through his forces. This poses a very challenging situation and we
are endeavoring to bring about the increased security and stability

of Iraq for the people of Iraq through the coordination of those two
independent sovereign nations' forces.

For example, I found the events in late October in Sadr City es-

pecially complex. On October 25 Iraqi special forces and U.S. forces

launched a combined joint raid in Sadr City. That was a step, in

my judgment, in the right direction. We put tremendous emphasis.
General, on the importance of bringing about a degree of security
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in Baghdad and this was an integral part of that operation. How-
ever, on October 31, U.S. troops comphed with orders from U.S.

commanders, those commanders reacting to Prime Minister

MaHki's direction, to abandon certain checkpoints, particularly in

Sadr City.

I would like to know if that situation in any way increased the

danger to any of our Armed Forces in the performance of their mili-

tary mission and was that a reflection of what we expect to come,

or can we have a clear sense of confidence in the coordination be-

tween the two military forces in the days and months to come as

they continue to try and help the Iraqi people?

In closing, I urge my colleagues as we proceed through the steps

outlined above to carefully study all of the material that we de-

velop in this committee and elsewhere and then reach individual

and collective recommendations for the Senate and indeed for the

President on the future strategy in Iraq.

The committee welcomes our first panel and looks forward to

your very important testimony. Senator Levin.

STATEMENT OF SENATOR CARL LEVIN

Senator Levin. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for scheduling this

important hearing, which is just the most recent example of your
steady, thoughtful, and fair leadership of this committee. I join you
in welcoming our witnesses this morning.
Last week, the American people delivered a clear, indeed a dra-

matic, message to the administration, to Congress, and to the Iraqi

Government that "stay the course" is not a strategy for success in

Iraq. It was a message heard around the world. The American peo-

ple don't accept the President's recent assessment that, "absolutely

we're winning" in Iraq, nor should we.
The American people have said forcefully that they are impatient

with Iraqi leaders who will not make the political compromises re-

quired to blunt the sectarian violence and unite the Iraqi people.

They are impatient with Iraqi Government leaders who have not

disbanded the militias and death squads that are a plague on Iraqi

society. They have lost patience with the Iraqi leaders who will not

condemn Sunni-Shiite enmity, tribal rivalries, and ethnic hatred.

America has given the Iraqi people the opportunity to build a
new nation at the cost of nearly 3,000 American lives and over

20,000 wounded. But the American people do not want our valiant

troops to get caught in a crossfire between Iraqis, if Iraqis insist

on squandering that opportunity through civil war and sectarian

strife.

We were assured by the President over a year ago that, "As
Iraqis stand up, we will stand down." Even though the Pentagon
claims that almost 90 percent of the Iraqi security forces (ISFs) are

now trained and equipped, our troop level remains about the same.
We were momentarily hopeful when the Iraqi leaders signed a four-

point agreement on October 2 to end the sectarian violence. That
turned out to be another false hope.

Recently, Ambassador Khalilzad announced that Iraqi officials

had agreed to a timeline for reaching benchmarks to confront the

sectarian militias, to implement a reconciliation program, to share
oil revenues, and to recommend changes to the constitution. Prime
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Minister Maliki repudiated that timeline the next day, providing
additional evidence that the Iraqi political leaders do not under-
stand that there is a limit to the blood and treasure that Ameri-
cans are willing to spend, given the unwillingness of the Iraqis

themselves to put their political house in order.

Our uniformed military leaders have repeatedly told us that
there is no military solution to the violence in Iraq and that a polit-

ical agreement between the Iraqi sectarian factions themselves is

the only way to end the violence. Just last month at his October
25 press conference President Bush said that, "In the end the Iraqi

people and their Government will have to make the difficult deci-

sions necessary to solve these problems." In the end, we are 3V2
years into a conflict which has already lasted longer than the Ko-
rean conflict and almost as long as World War II.

We should put the responsibility for Iraq's future squarely where
it belongs, on the Iraqis. We cannot save the Iraqis from them-
selves. The only way for Iraqi leaders to squarely face that reality

is for President Bush to tell them that the United States will begin
a phased redeployment of our forces within 4 to 6 months. That is

not precipitous. It is a responsible way to change the dynamic in

Iraq, to stop the march down the path to full-blown civil war on
which the Iraqis are now embarked.

Yes, some U.S. troops would need to remain in Iraq for the lim-

ited missions of counterterrorism and training of ISFs and to pro-

vide logistical support and force protection. Yes, we should also

convene an international conference to support a political settle-

ment and to provide resources for Iraq's reconstruction.

We are grateful to our witnesses for their service to our Nation.
We are especially grateful and united in support of the brave
troops who are serving us in Iraq, Afghanistan, and elsewhere. We
look forward to our witnesses' best judgment on the issues and we
and other groups that have been outlined by our chairman will be
grappling with these issues in the weeks and the months to come.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Warner. Thank you very much. Senator Levin.

We will now proceed to hear directly from you, General Abizaid,
followed by Ambassador Satterfield.

STATEMENT OF GEN JOHN P. ABIZAID, USA, COMMANDER, U.S.

CENTRAL COMMAND
General Abizaid. Chairman Warner, Senator Levin, members of

the committee: Thank you for the opportunity to testify today. I

refer the committee to my August 3 opening statement, where I

outlined the broader strategic dangers to United States' interests

in the Middle East. Indeed, the dangers outlined in that state-

ment—al Qaeda's extreme ideology, hegemonistic revolutionary Ira-

nian ambitions, and the corrosive effect of continued Palestinian-

Israeli confrontation—represent major dangers to international

peace and security for decades to come.
American regional and international deployment and security

policies must be articulated and coordinated to confront these prob-

lems. Despite our current focus on the struggle underway to sta-

bilize Iraq, the interests of the international community still re-

quire the confrontation and defeat of al Qaeda's dark ideology, the
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containment of Iranian expansionism, and progress towards Arab-
Israeli peace. In the current atmosphere in the region, with the use
of powerful non-state militias, the development of weapons of mass
destruction, and the acceptance by some of terror as a legitimate

tool of normal discourse, American leadership in diplomatic, eco-

nomic, and security elements of power is essential to protect the

international order.

How we confront these problems and empower forces of modera-
tion in the region to resist them will define our future. Today over

200,000 men and women of the Armed Forces are deployed in the
Central Command (CENTCOM) area of operations (AORs). They
protect the flow of global commerce. They confront terrorists. They
work hard to stabilize young, unsteady yet elected governments in

Iraq and Afghanistan. They support stability by increasing regional

security capacities of our partners and our friends in the region.

Well over 1.5 million Ainericans have served in the region since

September 11, 2001. Many have given their lives and even more
have suffered life-changing injuries. Whatever course our Nation
chooses in the years ahead, we must be ever mindful of the sac-

rifice and courage of our troops and the debt we owe our veterans
and their families. We must also remember that hundreds of thou-
sands of coalition and partner forces fight directly or indirectly

with us in the broader region.

Today the committee will no doubt focus on the way ahead in

Iraq, and rightfully so. Yet we must be mindful of increasing
threats from Iran, as evidenced by its recent military exercise,

which was designed to intimidate the smaller nations of the region.

We must also be mindful of the real and pervasive global threat
presented by al Qaeda and its associated movements. Failure to

stabilize Iraq could increase Iranian aggressiveness and embolden
al Qaeda's ideology. It could also deepen broader Sunni-Shiite fis-

sures that are already apparent throughout the region.

The changing security challenges in Iraq require changes to our
own approach to achieve stability. Let me remind the committee,
however, that while new options are explored and debated, my tes-

timony should not be taken to imply approval of shifts in direction.

It is my desire today to provide an update on current security con-

ditions in Iraq and elsewhere and current thinking about the way
ahead on the security lines of operation. I remain optimistic that
we can stabilize Iraq.

I just departed Iraq, where I visited with General Casey and his

senior commanders. On the Iraqi side, I had meetings with the
prime minister, the defense minister, and the interior minister.

Over the past 4 weeks, levels of sectarian violence are down in

Baghdad from their Ramadan peak, but they remain dangerously
high. The Iraqi armed forces, while under sectarian pressure, con-

tinue to perform effectively across Iraq. Our focus against al Qaeda
in Iraq (AQI) continues to take a toll on Iraqi AQI members and
foreign fighters. Operations against selected targets on the Shiite

death squad side also have had good effect, and our understanding
of these complex organizations continues to improve.
Sunni insurgent attacks against ISFs and the Multi-National

Force remain at high levels and our forces continue to experience
attacks from armed Shiite groups, especially in the Baghdad re-
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gion. In the north, significant progress is being made in

transitioning security responsibiUties to capable Iraqi forces. Cur-
rently around 80 percent of the sectarian violence in Iraq happens
within a 35-mile radius of Baghdad. Nonetheless, security transi-

tions continue in most of the country.

Iraqis and Americans alike believe that Iraq can stabilize and
that the key to stabilization is effective, loyal, nonsectarian ISFs
coupled with an effective government of national unity.

In discussions with our commanders and Iraqi leaders, it is clear

that they believe Iraqi forces can take more control faster, provided
we invest more manpower and resources into the coalition military

transition teams, speed the delivery of logistics and mobility
enablers, and embrace an aggressive Iraqi-led effort to disarm ille-

gal militias. This is particularly important with regard to the Jaysh
al-Mahdi elements operating as armed death squads in Baghdad
and elsewhere.
As we increase our efforts to build Iraqi capacity, we envision co-

alition forces providing needed military support and combat power
to Iraqi units in the lead. Precisely how we do this continues to be
worked out with the Iraqis and with our own staffs, but we believe

that ultimately capable, independent Iraqi forces loyal to an equal-

ly capable independent Iraqi Government will set the conditions for

the withdrawal of our major combat forces.

Our commanders and diplomats believe it is possible to achieve
an end state in Iraq that finds Iraq at peace with its neighbors, an
ally in the war against extremists, respectful of the lives and rights

of its citizens, and with security forces sufficient to maintain order,

prevent terrorist safe havens, and defend the independence of Iraq.

At this stage in the campaign, we will need flexibility to manage
our force and to help manage the Iraqi force. Force caps and spe-

cific timetables limit that flexibility.

We must also remember that our enemies have a vote in this

fight. The enemy watches not only what we do on the ground, but
what we say and do here at home. Also, Prime Minister Maliki and
his team want to do more. We want them to do more. Increased
Iraqi military activity under greater Iraqi national control will only
work, however, if his government embraces meaningful national
reconciliation. His duly elected legitimate government deserves our
support and his Armed Forces, backed by ours, deserve his full

support.
While I know the committee has a wide range of interests, in-

cluding developments in Central Asia, Afghanistan, Pakistan, Leb-
anon, and the Horn of Africa, I will defer comment on those sub-

jects in order to take your questions.

In closing, thank you for your support of our great soldiers, sail-

ors, airmen, and marines in the field. Their still unfinished work
keeps us safe at home. Thank you.

[The prepared statement of General Abizaid follows :1

Prepared Statement by GEN John P. Abizaid, USA

Chairman Warner, Senator Levin, members of the committee: Thank you for the

opportunity to testify today. I refer the committee to my August 3 opening state-

ment where I outhned my broader strategic dangers to United States interests in

the Middle East.
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Indeed the dangers outlined in that statement; al Qaeda's extremist ideology,

hegemonistic revolutionary Iranian ambitions, and the corrosive effect of continued

Palestinian-Israeli confrontation represent major dangers to international peace and
security for several decades to come. American, regional, and international diplo-

matic and security policies must be articulated and coordinated to confront these

problems. Despite our current focus on the struggle underway to stabilize Iraq, the

interests of the international community still require the confrontation and defeat

of al Qaeda's dark ideology, the containment of Iranian expansionism, and progress

toward Arab-Israeli peace. In the current atmosphere in the region, with the use

of powerful non-state militias, the development of weapons of mass destruction, and
the acceptance by some of terror as a legitimate tool of normal discourse American
leadership in diplomatic, economic, and security elements of power is essential to

protect the international order. How we confront these problems and empower forces

of moderation in the region to resist them will define our future.

Today, over 200,000 men and women of the Armed Forces are deployed in the

Central Command area of operations. They protect the flow of global commerce;
they confront terrorists; they work hard to stabilize young, unsteady, yet elected

governments in Iraq and Afghanistan; and they indirectly support stability by in-

creasing regional security capacities of our partners and friends in the region. Well
over 1.5 million Americans have served in the region since September 11, 2001.

Many have given their lives, and even more have suffered life-changing injuries.

Whatever course our Nation chooses in the years ahead, we must be ever mindful
of the sacrifice and courage of our troops and the debt we owe our veterans and
their families. We must also remember that hundreds of thousands of coalition and
partner forces fight directly or indirectly with us in the broader region.

Today the committee will no doubt focus on the way ahead in Iraq and rightfully

so. Yet we must be mindful of increasing threats from Iran as evidenced by its re-

cent military exercise, which was designed to intimidate the smaller nations in the

region. We must also be mindful of the real and pervasive global threat presented

by al Qaeda and its associated movements. Failure to stabilize Iraq could increase

Iranian aggressiveness and embolden al Qaeda's ideology. It could also deepen
broader Sunni-Shiite fissures throughout the region. The changing security chal-

lenges in Iraq require changes to our own approach to achieve stability. Let me re-

mind the committee, however, that while new options are explored and debated, my
testimony should not be taken to imply approval of shifts in direction. It is my de-

sire today to provide an update on current security conditions in Iraq and elsewhere
and current thinking about the way ahead on the security lines of operation. I re-

main optimistic that we can stabilize Iraq.

I just departed Iraq, where I visited with General Casey and his senior com-
manders. On the Iraqi side I had meetings with the Prime Minister, the Defense
Minister, and the Interior Minister. Over the past 4 weeks, levels of sectarian vio-

lence are down in Baghdad from their Ramadan peak. The Iraqi armed forces, while
under sectarian pressure, continues to perform effectively across Iraq. Our focus

against al Qaeda in Iraq (AQI) continues to take a toll on Iraqi AQI members and
foreign fighters. Operations against selected targets on the Shiite death squad side

also have had good effect, and our understanding of these complex organizations
continues to improve. Sunni insurgent attacks against Iraqi security forces and Mul-
tinational Forces remain at high levels, and our forces continue to experience at-

tacks from armed Shiite groups, especially in the Baghdad region. In the north sig-

nificant progress is being made in transitioning security responsibilities to capable
Iraqi forces. Currently around 80 percent of the sectarian violence in Iraq happens
within a 35-mile radius of Baghdad. Nonetheless, security transitions continue in

most of the country.
Iraqis and Americans alike believe that Iraq can stabilize and that the key to sta-

bilization is effective, loyal, non-sectarian Iraqi security forces coupled with an effec-

tive government of national unity.

In discussions with our commanders and Iraqi leaders it is clear that they believe

Iraqi forces can lake more control faster, provided we invest more manpower and
resources into the coalition military transition teams, speed the delivery of logistics

and mobility enablers, and embrace an aggressive Iraqi-led effort to disarm illegal

militias. This is particularly important with regard to the Jaysh al Mahdi elements
operating as armed death squads in Baghdad and elsewhere. As we increase our ef-

forts to build Iraqi capacity, we envision coalition forces providing needed military

support and combat power to Iraqi units in the lead. Precisely how we do this con-

tinues to be worked out with the Iraqis as ultimately capable independent Iraqi

forces, loyal to an equally capable independent Iraqi Government, will set the condi-

tions for the withdrawal of our major combat forces.
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Our commanders and diplomats believe it is possible to achieve an end state in

Iraq that finds Iraq at peace with its neighbors, an ally in the war against extrem-
ists, respectful of the lives and rights of its citizens, and with security forces suffi-

cient to maintain order, prevent terrorist safe havens and defend the independence
of Iraq. At this stage in the campaign, we'll need flexibility to manage our force and
to help manage the Iraqi force. Force caps and specific timetables limit flexibility.

We must also remember that our enemies have a vote in this fight. The enemy
watches not only what we do on the ground but what we say and do here at home.
Also, Prime Minister Maliki and his team want to do more; we want them to do
more. Increased Iraqi military activity under greater Iraqi national control will only
work however if his government embraces meaningful national reconciliation. His
duly elected, legitimate government deserves our support and his armed forces,

backed by ours, deserve his full support.
While I know the committee has a wide range of interests, including developments

in Central Asia, Afghanistan-Pakistan, Lebanon, and the Horn of Africa, I will defer

comment on those subjects in order to take your questions. In closing, thank you
for your support of our great soldiers, sailors, airmen, and marines in the field.

Their still-unfinished work keeps us safe at home.

Chairman WARNER. Thank you, General.
Ambassador Satterfield.

STATEMENT OF HON. DAVID M. SATTERFIELD, SENIOR ADVI-
SOR TO THE SECRETARY OF STATE AND COORDINATOR FOR
IRAQ, DEPARTMENT OF STATE

Ambassador Satterfield. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Senator
Levin, members of the committee, for the opportunity to testify

today.

The situation in Iraq is very serious. The Iraqi people as well as
Iraqi and coalition forces have suffered through months of extreme
brutal bloodshed. The insurgency and al Qaeda terror are respon-
sible for the major U.S. casualties taken. They remain lethal chal-

lenges above all to the Iraqi citizens themselves.
It is increasingly clear that al Qaeda's strategy to undermine the

Iraqi Government by sowing sectarian conflict has created and
fuels today a dangerous, indeed a strategically threatening, cycle of

violence. Some Iraqis have turned to armed militias and other
extragovernmental groups to provide security, while others have
seized upon a security vacuum to pursue local political power,
criminal aims, or narrow sectarian interests. Sustained sectarian
violence, the associated rise in armed militias and other extra-

governmental groups are now the greatest threat to a stable, uni-

fied, and prosperous Iraq.

Sectarian differences in Iraq have long historic roots, but coexist-

ence has been the rule in Iraq until the past 10 months, when,
pushed too hard by al Qaeda's targeted attacks, sectarian violence

has now emerged and continues to be fomented by al Qaeda vio-

lence to create the violent conflagration we see today.

If the increasing presence and activity of armed militias with a
sectarian identification are not dealt with, then indeed Iraqi na-
tional identity will erode and hope for a united Iraq, a peaceful,

stable Iraq, will over time diminish. This outcome in Iraq is unac-
ceptable. It would undermine U.S. national interests in that coun-
try and in the broader region and it would lead to a humanitarian
disaster for the Iraqi people.

The goals of the United States in Iraq remain clear. We support
a democratic Iraq that can govern itself, sustain itself, defend
itself, and be an ally in the war against terror. While our goals do
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not change, we are constantly reviewing, adapting, and adjusting

our tactics to achieve them. The President has asked his national

security agencies to assess the situation in Iraq, to review options,

to recommend the best way forward. The Iraq Study Group to

which you referred, Mr. Chairman, will have its own recommenda-
tions. They will be duly considered. We look forward to their rec-

ommendations. As the President has said, our goal is success in

Iraq, and we look forward to pursuing, including with the bipar-

tisan leadership of Congress, the best means to accomplish that.

At the Department of State (DOS), we have adapted over the

past year by significantly increasing our staffing levels in Baghdad
and at our vital Provincial Reconstruction Teams (PRTs) located

throughout Iraq. Over twice the number of DOS employees and a
significant number of other civilian agency staff are now present in

these sites, some of which encounter daily incoming fire. This is a
hazardous undertaking, but it is a vital undertaking for the sake
of our interests in that country and for the sake of developing Iraqi

institutions, Iraqi democracy, and projecting our own ability to

shape events on the ground in a way that supports success.

We have also changed in the DOS our fundamental assignments
process. Filling positions quickly and with the most qualified offi-

cers at posts which are in critical threat, which are unaccompanied,
such as Iraq and Afghanistan, is now the DOS's number one pri-

ority. We are pleased to be able to inform the committee that the
rate of volunteerism by qualified officers for these positions has
steadily increased. We are very pleased at the support being ex-

pressed and we will continue to devote our own resources to ensur-

ing that we provide our best to these challenging posts.

Mr. Chairman, Iraq's future is dependent upon the performance
and the commitment of three pillars of actors: first and foremost,

the Iraqi Government and the Iraqi people; second, the United
States and our coalition allies; and third, the international commu-
nity, in particular Iraq's neighbors. All of these groups need to

work together to help make progress in Iraq possible.

Progress has to occur along three critical strategic tracks—polit-

ical, security, and economic—if a stable, united, peaceful Iraq is to

emerge. As the President, Ambassador Khalilzad, and General
Casey have all stated, it is essential that, we the United States,

work with the Government of Iraq to set out measurable, achiev-

able goals and objectives on each of these tracks. In short, the
Iraqis themselves need, with our help but with their lead, to articu-

late and then achieve clearly defined goals on a clearly defined
timeline.

On the security track, our focus is on transitioning more control

and responsibility to the Iraqis, as General Abizaid has stated.

Prime Minister Maliki wants this and so do we. While I will leave
further details to questions to General Abizaid, we are in the proc-

ess of transitioning more command and control to Iraqi com-
manders, to divisions, to battalions. We have already moved
Muthanna and Dhi Qar Provinces to provincial Iraqi control and
we expect to move the rest of Iraq's provinces to that status over
the months to come.
We are working very closely, Mr. Chairman, with Iraq's leaders

to produce a set of security goals and objectives that ensure the
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transition in that critical area is as smooth and seamless as pos-

sible. We are working with the Iraqi Government as well, and very
successfully, on renewal of the United Nations mandate for coali-

tion forces in Iraq. I am pleased to be able to tell the committee
that in a letter sent yesterday to the President of the Security
Council, the Iraqi Government explicitly reaffirmed both its desire

for such a renewal and underscored the transitional nature of that
extension. The Iraqis want more control. We want to give it to

them. We hope the United Nations will in the days ahead approve
that resolution.

On the political track, we are very pleased that the Iraqi presi-

dency council agreed in mid-October to a detailed set of political

goals and objectives. The Iraqi Government has already made some
progress on these goals. It has passed a regions formation law, an
investment law, and it has said just last week that it would intro-

duce legislation that would reinstate thousands of former Baath
Party members as part of a fundamental reform and revision of the
de-Baathification process. These are hopeful signs that Iraq's lead-

ers can find convergence, can find a middle ground on which to pro-

ceed.

But I want to underscore, much more work remains and the time
for that work is now. Prime Minister Maliki has appropriately fo-

cused his attention on pursuing national reconciliation. There are
numerous requirements for any national reconciliation process to

be successful, all of which must be pursued simultaneously and
rapidly. First, ISFs with coalition support must achieve security

conditions under which Iraqis can feel free to make the difficult

choices necessary to pursue a national compact, a political rec-

onciliation deal.

Second, the Iraqi Government must reach out and engage all

those willing to abandon violence and terror, including former
members of the Baath Party, while credibly threaten to combat
those insurgents and terrorists who remain wholly opposed to a
reconciled democratic Iraq.

Third, Iraqis must establish a robust process aimed at disarming,
demobilizing, and reintegrating (DDR) members of armed groups
into normal Iraqi society. For this to be successful, such a DDR
process has to require agreement on an amnesty plan that com-
prehensively gives militants incentives to return to civilian life.

Fourth, Iraqis must pursue, and they must complete, a new mod-
ern and comprehensive national hydrocarbon law, both to ensure
that the country remains united as well as to spur much-needed
international investment that can only come, will only come, when
Iraq's laws are fully established and clear to all.

On the international economic track, the Government of Iraq is

moving forward aggressively. Iraq and the United Nations an-
nounced on July 27 they would jointly lead efforts to launch a new
International Compact with Iraq. Such a compact will provide a
new framework for mutual commitments between Iraq and the
international community, particularly those in Iraq's neighborhood,
in bolstering Iraq's economic recovery.

The goal of the compact is simple. It is for Iraq's Government to

demonstrate to the international community, to the world, private

and public sectors, its commitment to implementing needed social,
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political, and economic reform. Iraq will commit to reforming its

main economic sectors—oil, electricity, agriculture—and to estab-

lishing the laws and building the institutions necessary to combat
corruption, assure good governance, and protect human rights, and
in return the international community will provide the assistance

necessary to support Iraq's needs over the next 5 years.

With the compact, Iraq is reaching out to the world. I am pleased

to report that the world is beginning to reach back, though more
commitment is certainly needed, particularly from Iraq's neighbors.

This compact is nearly complete. On October 31, Kuwait hosted
a preparatory group meeting where a final text was neared. The
compact we hope can be completed before the end of this year.

Iraqis will be asking their friends and neighbors to consider what
Iraq has pledged to do and what Iraq is doing and will ask them
to come forward with concrete pledges, and we will help.

In conclusion, Mr. Chairman, we will continue to support the
Government of Iraq as it moves forward on the tracks that I have
outlined. But I want to make one point very clear. Each of these
tracks—security, political, and economic—is inextricably insepa-

rably linked one to the other. While all must move forward to-

gether, a failure or significant setback in any one area will cer-

tainly affect progress in the others. Militias cannot be effectively

confronted and demobilized in the absence of a larger political rec-

onciliation agreement. Political reconciliation cannot survive if the
government cannot agree on the distribution of oil revenue, if it

cannot create jobs. Iraqis cannot modernize their economy or draw
foreign investment if there is violence in the streets.

We believe that a successful path forward can still be forged in

Iraq. As the transition continues to full Iraqi Government control,

we will stand firmly behind the Iraqi Government. They have much
work to do in the weeks and months ahead to resolve differences

and reach compromises on issues that will determine their coun-
try's future.

The fate, the interests of our two countries, and beyond our two
countries of the region and the world, are intertwined. Success is

critical. Failure is unacceptable.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I look forward to your questions.

[The prepared statement of Ambassador Satterfield follows:]

Prepared Statement by Ambassador David Satterfield

Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for the opportunity to testify before your committee
today.

The situation in Iraq is very serious. The Iraqi people, as well as Iraqi and coali-

tion forces, have suffered through several months of extreme, brutal bloodshed. The
insurgency and al Qaeda terror are responsible for the majority of U.S. military cas-

ualties and remain lethal challenges to Iraqis. It is increasingly clear that al

Qaeda's strategy to undermine the Iraqi Government by sowing sectarian conflict

has created a dangerous cycle of violence.

Some Iraqis have turned to armed militias and other extra-governmental groups
to provide security, while others have seized upon this security vacuum to pursue
local political power or narrow sectarian interests. Sustained sectarian violence and
the associated rise in armed militias and other extra-governmental groups are now
the greatest strategic threat to a stable, unified, and prosperous Iraq.

Sectarian differences in Iraq are like tectonic plates. Historically, they have been
stable. However, if pushed too hard they can lead to tremors and, ultimately, to a
devastating earthquake. While average Iraqis want nothing more than sanctuary
from violence and a normal life, if they believe that the only source of security is
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their local sectarian militia, sectarian plates will shift, Iraqi national identity will

erode, and hope for a united Iraq will crumble.
Such an outcome in Iraq is unacceptable. It would undermine U.S. national inter-

ests in Iraq and in the broader region. It would lead to a humanitarian disaster for

the Iraqi people.

The goals of the United States in Iraq remain clear. We support a democratic Iraq
that can govern itself, sustain itself, defend itself, and be an ally in the war against
extremists. While we have not changed our goals, we are constantly reviewing,
adapting and adjusting our tactics to achieve them.
At the Department of State, we have adapted over the last year by significantly

increasing staffing levels at our Provincial Reconstruction Team (PRT) sites located

throughout Iraq. Fifty-five State employees are currently on the ground working
from U.S.- and coalition-led PRTs (up from 21 State employees at PRT locations in

February 2006) providing support to local Iraqi officials and communities to improve
governance on the grassroots level. Many of our PRT staff are operating at great
physical risk, particularly at PRTs located in Anbar province and in Basrah. State
has also changed its Foreign Service assignments policy. Filling positions quickly
and with the most qualified officers in critical threat, unaccompanied posts, such as

Iraq and Afghanistan, is now the Department's number one human resources pri-

ority. Fill rates for U.S. Mission Iraq for Summer 2007 are farther along now—just

3 weeks into the assignments cycle—than they were in February for summer 2006.
As of last Friday, we had 101 out of 194 available positions mission-wide, com-
mitted—that is 52 percent.

THREE pillars/three TRACKS

Iraq's future is dependent upon the performance and commitment of three pillars

of actors: first and foremost is the Iraqi Government and people. Second, is the
United States and the coalition; and third, the international community, in par-

ticular, Iraq's neighbors. All these pillars need to act together to help make progress
in Iraq possible.

Progress must occur along three key tracks—political, security, and economic—for

a stable, united, peaceful Iraq to emerge. As the President, Amb. Khalilzad, and
General Casey have all stated, it is critical that we, the United States, work with
the Government of Iraq to set out measurable, achievable benchmarks on each of

these tracks. In short, the Iraqis need to set and then achieve clearly defined goals.

SECURITY

On the security track, our current focus is on transitioning more control and re-

sponsibility to the Iraqis. Prime Minister Maliki wants this, and so do we. While
I will leave the details to General Abizaid, we are in the process of transitioning
more command and control to Iraqi commanders, divisions, and battalions. We have
already moved Muthanna and Dhi Qar provinces to "Provincial Iraqi Control" and
expect to move the rest of Iraq's provinces to that status over the next 16-18
months.
We are working closely with Iraqi leaders to produce a set of security benchmarks

to ensure that the transition is as smooth and seamless as possible. We are also

working with the Iraqi Government on renewal of the United Nations (U.N.) man-
date for Coalition forces in Iraq for another year. In its letter sent yesterday to the
security council, the Iraqi Government explicitly reaffirmed both its desire for such
a renewal and the transitional nature of the extension. The Iraqis want more con-

trol and we want to give it to them. We hope the U.N. will approve the resolution.

POLITICAL

On the political track, we are pleased that the Iraqi Presidency Council agreed
in October to a set of political benchmarks. The Iraqi Government has already made
some progress. It passed a regions formation law, an investment law, and last week
said it would introduce legislation that would reinstate thousands of former Baath
officials as part of the de-Baathification process. These are hopeful signs that Iraq's

leaders can find middle ground.
However, much more work remains. Prime Minister Maliki has appropriately fo-

cused his attention on pursuing national reconciliation. There are several require-

ments for reconciliation to be possible and the Iraqi Government must pursue all

simultaneously.
First, the Iraqi security forces with coalition support must help achieve security

conditions under which Iraqis will be more comfortable making the difficult choices

needed to pursue political reconciliation.
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Second, the Iraqi Government must reach out and engage all those wilhng to

abandon violence and terror, including former members of the Baath Party, while

credibly threatening to combat those insurgents and terrorists who remain wholly

opposed to a democratic Iraq.

Third, they must establish a robust process aimed at disarming, demobilizing, and
reintegrating (DDR) members of armed groups into normal Iraqi society. To be suc-

cessful, the DDR process will require agreement on an amnesty plan that gives mili-

tants incentives to return to civilian life.

Fourth, the Iraqis must pursue and complete a national hydrocarbon law both to

ensure that the country remains united as well as to spur much-needed inter-

national investment that will come only when Iraq's laws are firmly established and
clear to all.

ECONOMIC—INTERNATIONAL COMPACT

In the economic track, the Government of Iraq is moving forward aggressively.

Iraq and the United Nations announced on July 27 that they would jointly lead ef-

forts to launch a new International Compact with Iraq. The Compact will provide

a new framework for mutual commitments between Iraq and the international com-
munity, particularly those in Iraq's neighborhood, in bolstering Iraq's economic re-

covery.

The goal of the Compact is for the Iraqi Government to demonstrate to the inter-

national community its commitment to implementing needed social, political, and
economic reforms. Iraq will commit to reforming its main economic sectors -oil, elec-

tricity and agriculture—and to establishing the laws and building the institutions

needed to combat corruption, assure good governance and protect human rights. In

return, the members of the international community will provide the assistance

needed to support Iraqi efforts to achieve economic and financial self-sufficiency over

the next 5 years.

In short, with the Compact, Iraq is reaching out to the international community
for help. I am pleased to report that the world is beginning to reach back, though
more commitment is needed, especially from Iraq's neighbors.

The Compact is nearly complete. On October 31, Kuwait hosted a preparatory
group meeting where members moved closer to a final Compact text. They intend

to complete the Compact before the end of the year. Between now and then, the

Iraqis will be asking their friends and neighbors to consider their goals and reforms,

and to come foi-ward with concrete pledges of assistance. We are urging Iraq's neigh-

bors, in particular, to step forward and support Iraq's future.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, Mr. Chairman, we will continue to support the Government of Iraq

as it moves forward on these three tracks. However, I want to make one point very
clear. Each of these tracks—security, political, and economic—is inextricably linked

to the other. While all must move forward together, a failure or setback in any one
area hinders progress in the others. Thus, militias cannot be effectively demobilized
in the absence of a larger political reconciliation agreement. Political reconciliation

cannot survive if the government cannot agree on the distribution of oil revenue and
create jobs. Iraqis cannot modernize their economy and draw foreign investment if

there is sectarian violence in the streets.

We believe that a successful path forward can still be forged in Iraq. As the tran-

sition continues to full Iraqi Government control, we must stand firmly behind the

Iraqis. They have a lot of work to do in the coming months to resolve their dif-

ferences and reach compromises on issues that will determine their country's future.

The fate and interests of our two countries are, for better or for worse, now inter-

twined.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman and members of the committee. I look forward to your

questions.

Chairman Warner. Thank you, Mr. Ambassador, for a very care-

fully and well-delivered statement, quite informative about the sit-

uation.

We will now proceed with a first round of questions, limiting to

6 minutes each for each Senator. I will open. General Abizaid, with
you.
On August 3 you appeared before the committee and you stated

as follows, "I believe the sectarian violence is probably as bad as
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I have seen it in Baghdad in particular, and if it is not stopped it

is possible that Iraq could move to a civil war." Using that as a
baseline, would you restate that, add to it, or amend it?

General Abizaid. Mr. Chairman, I am very encouraged by my
most recent trip in that, while sectarian violence remains high and
worrisome, it is certainly not as bad as the situation appeared back
in August. There is more confidence being shown in the Iraqi Gov-
ernment, more independent action on behalf of Iraqi units, and in

many of the neighborhoods where particularly U.S. forces are oper-

ating, a lot of the sectarian violence is down. It is still at unaccept-
ably high levels. I would not say that we have turned a corner in

this regard. But it is not nearly as bad as it was back in August,
and I am encouraged by that.

Chairman WARNER. I made reference to the World War II period
for the following reason. The United States mustered, trained, and
sent to the foreign battlefields from a force, a total force at home
and abroad, of 16 million soldiers, sailors, airmen, and marines.
That is extraordinary, stop to think about it. Two major battle-

fronts and eventually victory was obtained on both fronts.

We are now approaching the same timeline. We have trained
some 300,000 Iraqis. My understanding, there is a desire to raise

that number and train more. Yet we are still as you come before
us today, although you express greater optimism than August, con-

fronted with an extraordinary situation of civil disruption, the in-

ability of the government to fully exercise the range of sovereignty.

How do you explain that in simple terms to the American people?
General Abizaid. Mr. Chairman, as we moved into January of

this year it appeared to all of us that in light of elections there was
optimism for being able to move forward with a national unity gov-
ernment. The attack on the mosque in Samarra, the inability of a
government to form, the arguments of the various sects, and then
the increase in sectarian violence made it very clear that optimism
was not going to be seen in any terms of facts on the ground or

reduction of U.S. troops. As a matter of fact, when we look at the
troop size today, we have 15 brigades. At this point we had hoped
to be well below that, somewhere between 10 and 12.

I think it is very clear that had we let the sectarian violence con-
tinue without appljdng the necessary military action and political

action on the part of the Iraqi Government that things would have
moved in a very bad direction. Like in any campaign, there are ups
and downs. There are battles that go your way and battles that do
not go your way. The period from February to August was a dete-

rioration of the security situation brought about by severe sectarian
tensions.

I believe everybody that has looked at that within Iraq under-
stands how devastating it can be if allowed to continue. With the
new government showing more experience and more confidence,

and with Iraqi forces in particular tied to a government that shows
confidence in them, I believe that we can move forward, although
the work ahead will be tough.
Chairman Warner. Do you have rising confidence in the ability

of the Iraqi forces to continue to assume more and more responsi-
bility for the military operations?
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General Abizaid. I have confidence that the Iraqi army is up to

the job, providing the Iraqi Government shows the confidence in its

own army and gives support to its own army to take the lead the

way that they should. That has yet to be demonstrated, although
today, for example, with Iraqi Ministry of Interior (MOD and Min-
istry of Defense (MOD) forces moving in to the Sadr City area to

deal with the people that had perpetrated the kidnappings yester-

day, I thought that they showed initiative and decisiveness that

they will need to show in the days ahead. It was a good sign, but
there needs to be more of it.

Chairman WARNER. General, I mentioned in my opening state-

ment that I am concerned about the ability of two sovereign na-
tions exercising a chain of command from their respective leaders,

our President and the prime minister, down to the troops, that they
can effectively operate these joint operations. Sadr City seemed to

some of us to pose a greater challenge than we anticipated to that
problem.
Could you give us your own professional judgment on the current

ability to jointly operate so as not to put at risk either our forces,

U.S. and other coalition, or the Iraqi forces, and what do you look

to the future, particularly if this United Nations (U.N.) resolution

has modifications in it giving greater authority as I understand it.

Ambassador Satterfield, to the prime minister of Iraq?

Ambassador Satterfield. Mr. Chairman, if I could just comment
on the resolution. The resolution's text as proposed is very similar

in all key elements to the existing mandate for the Multi-National
Forces.

Chairman Warner. We saw earlier statements to the effect that
he wanted more authority.

Ambassador Satterfield. It is essentially the same authority. In
our own dealings with the prime minister and his military com-
manders, we are discussing the transition to greater Iraqi control.

But that is outside the context of the mandate.
Chairman WARNER. Thank you.

Will you provide for the committee today that communication
that you referred to?

Ambassador Satterfield. We will certainly provide the letter

from the prime minister to the Security Council.
[The information referred to follows:]
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In the Name of Allah the Most Merdfnl the Most Compassionate

November U, 2006

From the Prime Minister of the RepabHc of Iraq to the Chairman of die United

Nations Secnrity Council

Greetings,

Iraq has fulfilled in the specified time the steps required for the completion ofthe

political process, in particular the drafting ofthe permanent constitution and laying the

foundations for building its political and legal institutions. In the month ofMay ofthis

year, the constitutionally elected Council ofRepresentatives formed a govenunent of

national unity. The steps for building the democratic, federal and united Iraq were

consolidated by the commitment of the government to adopt the dialogue and national

reconciliation scheme, secure a broad political participation, monitor human rights,

establish the rule of law and economic development and provide services to the citizens.

Establishing security and securing the pemianent stability is amongst the highest

priorities of the Iraqi government's program so as to realize the desired peace and

prosperity for the Iraqi people. However, the terrorists and the forces hostile to

democracy continue to target innocent citizens and the various state institutions.

Security and stability in Iraq is the responsibility ofthe Iraqi government. The Security

Council affirmed in its resolution No. (1546) on June 8, 2004 ttiat the Iraqi Security

Forces will progressively play a greater role in enabling the Iraqi govenunent to assume

this responsibility, diminishing and ending by this the role ofthe Mtilti-National Forces at

the time in which the security responsibility ofthe Iraqi Security Forces increases and

expands. From the experience of the past two and a half years, it was established that the

Iraqi Security Forces \^Mch operated under the command ofthe Iraqi government has

acquired new experiences and responsibilities and has grown in size, experience and

capacity, demonstrating by this its increased abilities to assume the fiill responsibility in

the security and defense fields.

We have started to reap the fixdts of success ^^^n our forces assiraied the security

responsibility in the govemorates ofAl-Mudumna and Dhi Qar. In the month of

September 2006, the Ministry of Defense assumed the operational command and control

ofthe Ground, Naval and Air Forces Commands. It also assumed the operational

command and control over two military divisions indicating an increase in the ability of

the Iraqi Army to assume the leadership in providing security to the Iraqi people. The

Iraqi government is also relentlessly wortcing on building the necessary administrative

and logistics system so as to make our Iraqi forces self-sufRcient
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It is the intention ofthe Iraqi government to continue increasing the number of

govemorates that fall fully under the control ofthe Iraqi authorities during 2006 in order

to reach a point where all (18) govemorates are placed under the control ofthese

authorities. When the security responsibilities are transferred to the Iraqi authorities in a

certain govemorate, the Multi-National Forces will be present in their bases and can

provide suppcMt to the Iraqi Security Fcsces at the request ofthe Iraqi authorities based on
an agreement that organizes^ audiorities and rcsponsituiities bet\wen the two sides.

We have agreed to three common goals: first, Iraqi assumption ofrecruiting, training,

equif^ing, and aiming of the Iraqi Security Forces; second, Iraqi assumption of command
and control over Iraqi forces; and third, transferring responsibility for security to the

government of Iraq. We have formed a high levd working groi^ in order to provide

recommendations on how best to achieve these goals. It has also been agr^d to woric

towards the Iraqi authorities assxmiing the apprehension, detention, and imprisonment

tasks on the basis of an agreement to be reached between the government of Iraq and the

Multi-National Forces.

Hence, ttie Iraqi government requests the extension of the mandate of the Multi-National

Forces in accordance with UNSC Resolutions (1546) of2004 and (1637) of2005 and the

letters attached fliereto for another (12) months starting on 3 1 December 2006, provided

that this extension is subject to a commitment by the Seciirity Council to end diis

mandate at an eariier date in case the Iraqi government so requests and provided that the

mandate is subject to periodic review before June 15, 2007. The Iraqi government

requests the termination of the UNMOVIC mission due to the completion of its tasks.

The Iraqi govenimrat believes that the time has come to terminate the war compensations

that were imposed on Iraq.

The Iraqi government realizes that the provisions ofresolution (1 546) wWch relate to

depositing the revenues in die Development Fund for Iraq and &e role of the

International Advisory and Monitoring Board help to ensure the use ofthe natural

resources of Iraq for the benefit of the people ofkaq. We recognize that the fund plays an

important role in convincing the donors and creditors that Iraq is managing its resources

and debts in a responsible way in service of the Iraqi people. This role is vital especially

that Iraq is seeking to form a new partnership with the international community to build a

vital network for economic transformation and integration in the economies ofthe region

and the world through the International Compact with Iraq. We ask the Security Council

to extend the mandate of the Development Fimd for Iraq and tiie International Advisory

and Monitoring Board for another 12 months and to review this mandate based on the

request ofthe Iraqi government before June 15, 2007.

The people of Iraq are determined to establish a stable and peaceful democracy for

themselves and the |MX)per basis for buildi:^ a vital economy. This vision for the future

of Iraq can not become a reality except with the help of the International Community,



112

We realize that the Security Council intends to append this letter to the special resolution

concerning Iraq that is being ptepaxed. Mcanv^o, I ask that copies of tliis letter get

distributed to members of the Security Council and as.«a06 as possibI€7

Noori Kamil Al-Maliki

Prime Minister of the Republic of Iraq
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2006 ^^\C)ij^ II

SJaoftll f^ y^\ (>Vto^ O^J iP* JfJ*^i ^iJJf«9> ^IjJi O^J 6<*

jjtj*^ »^ vlll^la^ CljjU jij .^jliajH S^^jU ^jS^ LjjlutJ t l^VuH ejljjil (jal^b^

j^jjj ^iL^Vt >>j)tj (jj^Uai <LL> Ciixuj oUiVI JjSa. <jil^j ^jLuljll <iJ^I ;£jlAJI

jjil J_^*-ojll iA\^\ i^jSsJl »-«lJjJ <—''ijij' ^^ L>* ^^<^' jlj*^VI UsJ^^j (>*Vl (JjSaJ O)

cUljS -uLl^^ljil <pl*-JI ti^>j (JAH^jVI 0' "^l * t^^J^^ M»^ 2l,jLLJ1 ;j4lijJlj ^5Ul

»jl^^ jii j5 i>VI oAa-. O^^j .A^IjJl ^jiaJl Aj1j>l.^ jlj«il j^ Jjtu-Vlj O-*^' o\

v» J^' bjJ ^JW^ v-Ja- UijJl A^Vi ^ijill u^ 2004 uljj> 8 V* (1546) ^^l

iJiiLJl ^ija^i J>i i>j .-ijMjiJt (>VI CAJH 5j1*V* Ajlj>auJl Aji ^j2j Jbjj ,^jjl ilijll ^^
•-;•'<) kA\j^l\ '<*^aJ\ ijAi CiUfr (^1 M^jkU V'VI ililjil) (jb A>^ < ^^l*II <.^^^lj

e^tjl<tll l^ot^^ lAii^ ij^ioji ij:S2\j ftjjaJlj j>'%!b Cxu l^jj Lt& t-^f^ *^^jjh*^j <—>^J^

.
jli (^jj (^JliJI ^^li^iU^

^J^
A^Vt A^j^ijull USlji ilJjJ U^ic. ^UjH ftj^ >..•> I Ui^ Jj

Oljill ejUil ijjbiaJl S^^iaAuillj Sijlll ^j^u* ^liiJl ojljj lljjj t 2006 Jj\}l Jf^ (^J
Lu ( jj'jj^ '' Quiji («Jc' AjjbLutil Ajii^uallj ^.^Ijili Ciljj ciilJSj i Aj^aJtj 4jja^1j Aj^I

us .^^^^l SJfcJiU ^>Vl j^jJ ^^ '^^ ^Uj ^.iJlji-y j^ijfcll cAj?^' »J^ '-^kj u^' Jt^^

UjI^ JkaJ Ajjj^>>^I AjIui^jUIj Ajjbyi A^jkltii #,Uui 't'J^^ (J^J ^IjxSl A^jSaJt Jmj

•^ ijLj^ ciAj (18)J cjLkila^t ^^ ^j JA J>u«j]l J^l (> 2006 ^^ cD^ AJtj»ll

cJjil) ^IjiL. 'a^\jm1\ cALUI JI L. ^LMj^ ^^ <)l«V1 i:jUj>mII Jij ^j .^ijlLUt

l-jlia aj& ^IjJt ^^Vt CjljiU jUuyi ^jj jl 6^J \42ljSwbt ^ (Tijini^ll «^J«l«ll
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ji-Sj jj^j M#J^J ^^ USj^\ JUjSaJI <^j3 t Vjl :^>i- v_ihkl aOj <jie, Uiij] ^

^^jj^ J«Jl ^^ c3^^ ^^ .'^J J^^ cf^ uii^Vl A^ J^l M^ ll)^ dluAjj ^JJU

Ajiljail <^jSaJI j^ Ji*ly< <Jlij| ^^ «Uj JawJtj J^^^Vb j?^^ vlA,«^ 4jlj)tB CiUalil

(jal^^ i6j\jfi ».iiii-> iliUuilaJI 8\^«*< Ctl^l (ji^jia ^A^ i_ji]^ ^UjmII ^jSaJi ^li Ajlfr

j

^>» Ij^ 12 s^ W^ iiJ-ll tJiU-jllj 2005 H (1637) j 2004 ^^ (1546) O-Vl

bft ^\^y ;>Vl u»i*-« Cy* fijSiyW ^i^^sil li* ^jmj o\ ^^ 2006 JjV» u>ii 3 1 1> *i-ii^}

.t^A-.^-. jLuSy ^J^j***^' tU^ 0^1 M^' A-jlvU tjUajj .2007 u'jjj* 15 cJj* ^>i

jljjJl AfaSj jj-lL-a (^ CjI^IiJI ^IJjU i*-aUJl
( 1546) J>J' ^l^* u' J^J*^' <*jSsk ^fjjj

(Jsk.1 i>* ;5^J<^ '^j*^^) ij^ ^t.2aau] jU^a ^^ i^&lyij ^lijilj ajLUm^ <J^j^I ALjJIjjJj

;jb (j^)^tj (jjaJLoil plja| ^ tx^ ^JJ^ <.w1j (3j^'''"^^ uW i^J^ cH^J k/*^J"^' ' . ! niti S^jU

(«j4^ JJ^' ^-^ u}j .</^'J*^' i-uuill A.«J^ Aij3»*4 y^jla; ^Ji^J »>i^*>*»* »J^^ ^jiij (3^J*^I

^Lo^Vlj Jja>^ ^Jf^ ^^f^ »^^ ^J^' 'JuVI ^ »'^^ *S\jut (JjUul (jAAAJ (i^joil ylj Ujyul

fjf^ 12 V^j^b *J*
-*''' -*^^ '^j^' ^^b <i'j^' ^^ (ij-^^*^ u^j*^ ^i^ Cy^^ o"^

. 2007 j'ji> 15 Jj» <-jlaJl M^ tje. iLu <itj^l>»lj lJJ^»

&^LaAJ V( taSlj roi^ (jl (j^ V (jtj)^! JjilLum] ^J^' ^ O'j i/J:^ ^L^l frljul <>;•> i ^iti

iJk J* t^^t (jljiJlj (>aUJ1 jljtSU Ilal* ^ULuijlt 6^ JiSk i^ju J^Vt (jak^ (jl lilj^ Ujl

^jwtbj (>Vi (>^ »Ldd (^1 %]Laj]\ *^ (>• ta^ ^JAJ jl cjUbJ ( «^ OJ"^^ i^J .-^I'^VI

Chairman Warner. Thank you very much.
Ambassador Satterfield. Thank you.

General Abizaid. Mr. Chairman, in the past 6 weeks we have
had increasing success with joint Iraqi-U.S. forces moving into Sadr
City, precisely targeting death cells and death squad leadership

and taking them out. I believe that this will continue. It needs to

be worked in consultation with the Iraqi Government. But I am
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confident that the command and control arrangements are ade-
quate for the current period, but they must be codified as we move
ahead with Iraqi units taking more and more leadership in combat
operations.
Chairman Warner. By codified, what do you mean?
General Abizaid. I think we need to have some very clear under-

standing of who moves forward, with what type of units, who has
the lead, and as we anticipate moving into the next phase of the
campaign it becomes pretty clear to us that Iraqi forces will be in

the lead and that we will move forward to assist them when they
need our additional combat power.
There will also be American military transition teams embedded

with Iraqi units and it is our opinion that those military transition

teams need to be substantially increased and given the capacity to

operate more robustly with the Iraqis. Exactly what those arrange-
ments need to be needs to be a subject of discussions and agree-
ments between our staff and the senior Iraqi staffs.

Chairman Warner. Thank you.
Mr. Ambassador, you mentioned the three pillars that were es-

sential and you referred to the region and the responsibility within
the region to bring to bear with respect to forces, not military but
deployment and otherwise, of the surrounding nations. There are
individuals and groups considering that that would embrace some
contact with both the S3rrian Government and Iranian Government.
Can you advise the committee as to the current thinking on those
options as a part of a plan to bring in the greater community in

the region to hopefully bring about the stabilization of the strife in

Iraq?
Ambassador Satterfield. Mr. Chairman, there is a vital role, an

ongoing role, for the region to play in stabilizing Iraq. The Gulf
states, our critical Arab partners in Egypt, Jordan, and elsewhere,
have contacts with both the Iraqi Government and with elements
of the Sunni community that are very important. We have been
working closely with them to try to mobilize the greatest concerted
effort to press those sides which are engaged in violence to stop
and to provide support for the Iraqi Government. But more needs
to be done.

Political support for the new Iraq, for a democratic post-Saddam
Iraq, economic support, particularly in the form of Gulf state debt
forgiveness, need to move forward, and the time to move is now.
Our friends in the Gulf, in particular, speak and we listen to them
when they express concern over the extension of negative Iranian
influence in Iraq, the growth of al Qaeda and Islamic extremism
in Iraq. These are valid concerns. We share them. We need their
support in helping to confront these growing concerns, and the best
way to do that is through active engagement, not isolation, not
fence-sitting, on the part of these regimes.
Mr. Chairman, your question about engaging the negative actors

in the region—Syria and Iran—is a very significant one. With re-

spect to Syria, we do not believe that the issue involving Syria's
negative behaviors towards Iraq, Hezbollah, Lebanon, Iran, or Pal-
estinian radical groups is a question of lack of dialogue or lack of
engagement. We believe the Syrian Government is well aware of
our concerns and the steps required to address those concerns. But
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Syria has made a series of choices and the last choice, the most sig-

nificant and negative choice, was during the Lebanon war, when
Syria cast its lot, as it remains today, with Iran, with Hezbollah,
with forces of violence and extremism. When that changes, we will

of course respond. The problem is not one of dialogue or engage-
ment.
With respect to Iran, we are prepared in principle to discuss Ira-

nian activities in Iraq. The timing of such a direct dialogue is one
we still have under review.

Chairman Wakner. Thank you very much. So in summary, you
would say at the present time negotiations with those two coun-
tries are not on the table?

Ambassador Satterfield. We are prepared in principle for a di-

rect dialogue with Iran. The timing of that dialogue is one that we
are considering.

Chairman Warner. Thank you.
Senator Levin.
Senator Levin. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
General, you indicated in your statement that the changing secu-

rity challenges in Iraq require changes to our own approach to

achieve stability. What changes are you referring to?

General Abizaid. Primarily referring to the need to increase our
commitment to our military transition teams, to increase the num-
ber of people that are on each of these teams, to ensure that they
are as robust as they need to be to give the Iraqis the capability

to take the lead. I believe that that is essential for being able to

change from us being in the lead to Iraqis being in the lead.

Senator Levin. You also say that new options are being explored
and debated. Is one of the options that is being explored additional

U.S. forces going to Iraq?
General Abizaid. We have every option on the table and we will

present them to the chain of command.
Senator Levin. Including that?
General Abizaid. To include that.

Senator Levin. Including an announcement of a plan for possible

reduction of forces some time down the road? Is that also on the

way
General Abizaid. Yes, Senator, it goes all the way from increas-

ing our U.S. forces, our U.S. combat forces, all the way down to

withdrawing our U.S. combat forces.

Senator Levin. Are some of them down the road, in some
planned way?
General Abizaid. Right, and repositioning of forces in different

ways, et cetera.

Senator Levin. Thank you.
Ambassador, you testified that it is critical that we work with

the Government of Iraq to set out measurable, achievable bench-
marks on the three tracks that you mentioned—political, security,

and economic. Apparently there were some benchmarks and
timelines that were said by Ambassador Khalilzad to have been
agreed upon by the Iraqi leaders. He made that announcement,
then the next day Prime Minister Maliki rejected what apparently
the Ambassador thought had been accepted.
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Were we surprised Prime Minister Maliki rejected those time-
lines?

Ambassador Satterfield. Senator Levin, the Iraqi Government
has articulated a sense of goals and objectives on the political proc-
ess and they have been actively engaged in articulating with the
U.N. a very detailed set of goals and objectives on the economic
side. On security, the discussions between our two sides continue.
With respect to timelines, there is a timeline embedded in the po-
litical process outlined by the Iraqi Government, as well as on the
economic steps now in the process of finalization.

Similarly on security, we think it is valuable, very valuable, for

the Iraqis to articulate, certainly with our input, where they intend
to move, how they intend to move, and over what timeline on secu-
rity goals, as General Abizaid has outlined. But all of these proc-
esses are very much in train.

Senator Levin. Apparently there was a specific document which
Ambassador Khalilzad was referring to when he said that certain
timelines and benchmarks had been agreed upon. Is that true? Is

there a document?
Ambassador Satterfield. There is a document on political

benchmarks that is a document articulated and published by the
Iraqi Government in mid-October.
Senator LEVIN. Did we present a different timeline and set of

benchmarks to them from the one you just referred to?

Ambassador Satterfield. No, Senator. I think whatever confu-
sion may have been reflected in Prime Minister Maliki's remarks
has been resolved. I would not overplay the significance certainly
at this point of those comments. We are very closely working on
benchmarks and goals and objectives on the security process.
Senator Levin. So there was no document which we said that the

Iraqis had agreed to, which in fact Prime Minister Maliki said had
not been agreed to?

Ambassador Satterfield. No, Senator.
Senator Levin. There is no such document?
Ambassador Satterfield. I do not think that was the substance

of the prime minister's remarks.
Senator Levin. All right. But that is not my question. My ques-

tion is: was there a document?
Ambassador Satterfield. They have not repudiated any agreed

document, no, sir.

Senator Levin. Was there a document presented, which was not
accepted?
Ambassador Satterfield. No, sir. There are documents in dis-

cussion.

Senator Levin. Recent reports have been published about the
ISFs being infiltrated by Shiite militias implicated in sectarian
death squads, and there has been some evidence that has been true
now of the Iraqi army. General, a recent, very devastating report
in the New York Times last Sunday implicated the division com-
mander of the Fifth Iraqi Army Division in Diyala Province of a
campaign to drive the Sunnis out of that province. His actions re-

portedly led American officers to require that the general clear all

operations with them, even though on July 3 there had been a
transfer of lead authority to the Iraqis.
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Are you familiar with that specific report?
General Abizaid. I am familiar with the article that appeared in

the New York Times.
Senator Levin. Is that accurate?
General Abizaid. It is not completely accurate, no.

Senator Levin. Is it essentially accurate?
General Abizaid. There is certainly concern that in some units

there is infiltration by sectarian groups.
Senator Levin. Did the events that were described there occur?
General Abizaid. Did the events described in the article occur?
Senator LEVIN. Did the event that was described there in that ar-

ticle occur?
General Abizaid. I cannot really say that the article is exactly ac-

curate. I can say in that division there were sectarian problems
that were brought to the attention of our chain of command and
were brought to the attention of the Iraqi chain of command.
Senator Levin. Was there a list of people that the Iraqi general

wanted us to arrest and detain?
General Abizaid. Wanted us, Americans, to arrest and detain?
Senator Levin. Right.
General Abizaid. I do not know that that is true.

Senator Levin. Do you believe. General, that Prime Minister
Maliki will move against the Sadr militia?

General Abizaid. I think he must move against the Sadr militia

if Iraq is to become a free and sovereign and independent state.

Senator Levin. You believe he will?

General Abizaid. I believe he will and he will use the Iraqi army
to do so, and he will use political activity to ensure the disar-

mament of the Jaysh al-Mahdi. I believe he must do that; other-
wise the Jaysh al-Mahdi starts to become the curse of Hezbollah,
except on an Iraqi scale as opposed to a Lebanon scale.

Senator Levin. I can ask this of either of you—do we believe that
the grand ayatollah can influence Sadr's behavior?
Ambassador Satterfield. Senator, Ayatollah Sistani has signifi-

cant influence in Iraq, an influence that extends well beyond Najaf
and well beyond the Shiite community alone. He has been a sus-
tained and consistent voice for moderation, for calm, and against
sectarian violence. But he is challenged, as all moderates in Iraq
are challenged, by the militias, by their sectarian violence, by the
campaign of terror that foments and sustains that violence.

Certainly the Ayatollah has a vital role. It is a role we very much
hope he will continue to play.

Senator Levin. Could he just declare a truce to sectarian violence
or deliver a religious fatwa against that violence?
Ambassador Satterfield. Senator, I believe there will need to

be concerted action by the political leadership of Iraq and by ISFs
in order to bring about a meaningful drop and sustained end to sec-

tarian violence.

Senator Levin. My time is up. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Warner. Thank you. Senator Levin.
Senator Graham.
Senator Graham. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Do you agree or disagree with the following statement: that Iraq

is the central battlefront in the war on terror? General?
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General Abizaid. I agree with that.

Senator Graham. Ambassador?
Ambassador Satterfield. It is a central battlefront. It is not the

only battlefront.

Senator Graham. Who would be the biggest winners and losers

in a failed Iraqi state? General?
General AfilZAlD. Al Qaeda and Iran.

Senator Graham. Ambassador?
Ambassador SATTERFIELD. Absolutely.

Senator Graham. Was General Shinseki correct when you look
backward that we needed more troops to secure the country? Gen-
eral Abizaid?
General ABIZAID. General Shinseki was right that a greater

international force contribution, U.S. force contribution, and Iraqi

force contribution, should have been available immediately after

major combat operations.

Senator Graham. So both of you believe that more troops would
have been helpful, that we are in the central battle, one of the big-

gest battles in the war on terror; is that correct? Both of you be-

lieve that, that this is a central battle in the war on terror, Iraq?
General Abizaid. The central battle is happening in Iraq. That

is by the definition of our enemies, and the question is

Senator GRAHAM. Well, and you agree with their definition?

General Abizaid.—do we need more troops? My answer is yes, we
need more troops that are effective, that are Iraqi.

Senator GRAHAM. Do we need more American troops at the mo-
ment to quell the balance?
General Abizaid. No, I do not believe that more American troops

right now is the solution to the problem.
Senator Graham. Do we need less American troops?
General Abizaid. I believe that the troop levels need to stay

where they are. We need to put more American capacity into Iraqi

units to make them more capable in their ability to confront the
sectarian problem
Senator Graham. So it is your testimony that we do not need any

change in troop levels to get this right?

General Abizaid. It is possible that we might have to go up in

troop levels in order to increase the number of forces that go into

the ISFs, but I believe that is only temporary.
Senator Graham. If we withdrew troops to Okinawa, would that

be a good idea?
General Abizaid. No.
Senator Graham. If we withdrew troops to Kuwait, would that

be a good idea?

General Abizaid. Not at this stage in the campaign.
Senator Graham. People in South Carolina come up to me in in-

creasing numbers and suggest that no matter what we do in Iraq
the Iraqis are incapable of solving their own problems through the
political process and will resort to violence and we need to get the
hell out of there. What do you say?
General Abizaid. I say the Iraqis are capable of fighting for their

country, solving their political problems, and bringing their country
towards stability with our help and support.
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Senator Graham. Having said that, do you see it possible to get
political solutions to these difficult problems the Iraqis are facing
with the current level of violence?

Ambassador Satterfield. Senator, we see the need for action
both on the political front and on the security front. The current
levels of violence work against a political resolution and the failure

to move forward a political process, a reconciliation process, feed
and sustain those levels of violence.

Senator Graham. Would you agree with this statement, that if

the current level of violence is not contained or reduced dramati-
cally the chance of a political outcome being successful in Iraq is

almost zero?

Ambassador Satterfield. There is no question that if levels of

sectarian violence, if the growth of militias are not addressed and
brought down significantly, that the chances of a political resolu-

tion are significantly diminished.
Senator Graham. Having said that, our troop posture will basi-

cally stay the same?
General Abizaid. Senator, our troop posture needs to stay where

it is as we move to enhance the capabilities of the ISFs, and then
we need to assess whether or not we can bring major combat units
out of there due to the increased effectiveness of the ISFs. My be-
lief is that the Iraqi army, which has taken casualties at three
times the rate of our own troops, is willing to fight. They need to

be led properly by their own officers and they need to be supported
by their own government.
The government needs not to support the sectarian militias. They

need to disband the sectarian militias.

Senator Graham. Why is the government not supporting the
army—why are they supporting the militias over the army? That
would be my last question.
General Abizaid. I believe that the government understands that

they must support the army over the militias.

Senator GRAHAM. Why are they not doing it?

General Abizaid. I believe they are starting to do it.

Senator Graham. No further questions.
Chairman Warner. Thank you.
Senator Reed.
Senator Reed. Thank you very much.
General Abizaid, the Shiite control the Government of Iraq at the

moment and there seems to be, at least in my view, a conscious
process of ethnic cleansing going on. Would you ascribe to that
view?
General Abizaid. There are certainly areas in Baghdad where

Shiite death squads have moved in and tried to move Sunni fami-
lies out of there by threatening them, murdering them, or kidnap-
ping them.

Senator Reed. Do you see that as something more than just coin-

cidental, but organized and systematic?
General Abizaid. I think it is organized by some of the Shiite mi-

litia groups, yes, I do.

Senator Reed. It seems also to me that the Shiite Government
recently passed legislation creating a super-region which would en-

compass the Kurdish area in the north, making it autonomous. In



121

effect, what seems to be happening or could be happening is that
the Shiite plan, the government plan, is that they will end up with
an oil-rich region in the south, much as the Kurds have in the
north, that on the edges between Shiite and Sunni communities
there is some deliberate action of ethnic cleansing going on and
that that rationale might explain why there is not a lot of activity

directed at disbanding militias, cooperating with United States
forces, sharing intelligence, doing lots of things.

Ambassador Satterfield. Senator, in fact that has not hap-
pened. The manner in which the issue of moving forward on the
constitutional provisions for the formation of federal regions was
handled shows not a dominant Shiite unilateral agenda, but rather
cross-sectarian alliances, in which Shiite in the political process ex-

pressed very different views on what ought to be the course for-

ward, in which Sunnis participated very much in a decision, along
with Kurds, that put off for 18 months any step by provinces to

take advantage of the constitutional provisions to form a federal re-

gion.

We see this as a positive, not a negative outcome. Similarly, we
have seen significant progress made on a national hydrocarbon law,
which would provide for national distribution of revenues on a fair

and equitable basis, which would reflect both local and national
needs, and those are both encouraging signs.

Senator Reed. Is it encouraging that there are significant reve-
nues that they are not committing to reconstruction efforts? Tal
Afar is one example among many where they are not committing
their own resources to do what everyone argues has to be done.
Ambassador Satterfield. Senator, there are very significant

Iraqi resources which are available and which need to be moved
into Iraqi reconstruction, development, and growth. We are work-
ing with the Iraqis, as is the international community, on focusing
them on the need to move those resources through better budget
execution, through other means, to get them to the fight where
they are needed.

Senator Reed. General Abizaid, how much time do you think we
have to bring down the level of violence in Baghdad before we
reach some type of tipping point where it accelerates beyond the
control of even the Iraqi Government?
General Abizaid. I think it needs to be brought down within the

next several months.
Senator Reed. 90 days, 60 days?
General Abizaid. 4 to 6 months.
Senator Reed. 4 to 6 months.
You have said that your view is that the Iraqi Government and

Maliki are committed to do that. The $300 billion question is

when?
General Abizaid. I think he is ready to do it now.
Senator Reed. What is holding him up, is he ready to do it now?
General Abizaid. I believe he has moved in a direction with na-

tional police reform, which has been a major problem, with dis-

missing officers that are showing sectarian values as opposed to

national values, with committing the armed forces to independent
operations that are necessary to quell the sectarian violence, in a
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way that leads me to believe he is going to continue to be doing

more. I talked to him about it just 2 days ago.

Senator Reed. It was reputed, and I think in that conversation,

General, that you said he must disband the Shiite militias and give

the United States proof that they were disbanded. Is that accurate?

General Abizaid. I would not say that is exactly accurate. I said

he must disband the Shiite militias, absolutely.

Senator Reed. Did you give him a notional timeframe of months?
General Abizaid. I said very soon.

Senator Reed. Very soon.

Ambassador Satterfield, do you think it is in the interests of the

regional parties, including Iran and Syria, to have a destabilized

Iraq?
Ambassador SATTERFIELD. It is certainly not in the interest of

any state in the region committed to peace and stability to see a
destabilized, violent Iraq. Iran and Syria have both made their in-

tentions very clear. Their role has not been constructive and, while
their rhetoric supports stability in Iraq, their actions do not.

Senator Reed. So you feel that they have a deliberate national

policy of continuing to destabilize or attempt to help destabilize

Iraq?
Ambassador Satterfield. Their actions certainly reflect that.

Chairman WARNER. Thank you. Senator. We must move along.

Senator Sessions.

Senator SESSIONS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
One of the things I believe we should talk about to get a really

effective effort in Iraq is for all of us to understand who is respon-
sible for what. I know our military has been carrying a heavy,
heavy burden. They have suffered casualties and performed mag-
nificently in my view. But some people seem to think they should
be responsible for everything there.

Ambassador Satterfield, let me ask you, with regard to the man-
agement of the infrastructure, the electricity and water, the edu-
cational improvements, the relations with governments, the Gov-
ernment of Iraq, the reconciliation process, oil, law and order, is

that the DOS's responsibility?
Ambassador Satterfield. Senator, it is the Iraqis' responsibility

first and foremost, and we have to make that very clear. It is their
country. They are responsible for their own fate. The consequences
of their choices are very significant for us, extremely significant.
But they, at the end of the day, must be seized with responsibility
for all the sectors that you referred to.

Now, our mission in Iraq and our mission back here, the U.S.
Government's mission, are closely interrelated. I have never seen
an example of closer military-civilian cooperation, of a fully joint
undertaking, than our embassy in Baghdad and our PRTs. Indeed,
those PRTs are extensions of classic civil-military operations, with
investment from the civilian community to augment our military's
resources.
But at the end of the day, our efforts, whether in Baghdad or in

the field, are supportive of what must be an Iraqi lead.

Senator Sessions. You stated that well. It is up to the Iraqis.
But with regard to our effort to encourage them to achieve a com-
mon goal of a stable and peaceful and prosperous Iraq, these areas
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of responsibility are really the ambassador's, the DOS's, are they
not?
With the military as a supportive role, or are we confused about

who is responsible?
Ambassador Satterfield. We are not confused at all, Senator.

It is a joint mission. All of the key issues that you have raised, and
they are all critical, have elements which reflect both our military
input, and our civilian input, not just from DOS, but from other
Government agencies represented. But we act in tandem.
Our strategic plans are jointly developed. Our benchmarks and

timelines—and we do have them—are jointly arranged and re-

viewed and they are jointly executed.
Senator Sessions. It is good that you are working well together.

I hear that when I am in Iraq, both from the uniformed people and
the people. But are you confident that the DOS, the Justice Depart-
ment, the Commerce Department, the other IDepartments of this

Federal Government, are contributing to this effort as their capa-
bility exists sufficiently when compared to DOS and the military?
Ambassador SATTERFIELD. Senator, this is a very important issue

for the President and for Secretary Rice, and we are very pleased,
particularly over the last 6 months, at the outpouring from other
agencies apart from the DOS and the DOD to provide qualified ci-

vilians to the fight in Iraq, including in those very dangerous, very
exposed PRTs.
Senator Sessions. With regard to an issue that I spent most of

my professional career dealing with crime, both of you, I would like

your comments. I have heard from a parent who I have confidence
in that his son, a soldier there, that they are apprehending dan-
gerous people that are being released far, far too quickly. When we
were there on my last trip to Iraq, we met with military people.
They expressed great frustration that they are taking risks to ar-

rest people and they are being released promptly.
I believe it was Robert Kagan writing in Atlantic Monthly talked

about Mosul and he met with the mayors in that whole region, and
after the pleasantries ended the first thing they complained about
was too many of the people that had been arrested being released
from the prison. That was their number one complaint.

I will just tell you as someone who knows a little bit about the
crime thing, people have to have some stability. You noted it in
your comments, Mr. Ambassador. Some Iraqis have turned to

armed militias and other extragovernmental groups to provide se-

curity, while others have seized upon the security vacuum to pur-
sue local power.

I guess what I am saying to you is, are you confident that you
have enough prison spaces, that we are adequately adjudicating
those who are involved in these bad activities, and do you recognize
the importance of that to creating a stable Iraq?
Ambassador Satterfield. Senator, there are two issues here

that you allude to. The first is how we, the U.S. Government, the
U.S. military, handle our own detention process in terms of re-

leases, and we do have a high level of confidence in that process.
But there is another area in which we do not have a similar level

of confidence, and that is how Iraqis are proceeding to establish the
rule of law, a transparent and effective judicial process. I will take
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that to a very simple point. The Iraqi Government must estabUsh
consequences for bad actions, whether those actions are abuse of

human rights or financial corruption, both of which sap the fabric

of Iraqi society and the Iraqi state. Much more needs to be done.

Now, we are helping. We have an aggressive program to provide
physical capacity, physical infrastructure, prisons, corrections offi-

cers. But that capacity is only as good as the judicial process that
supports it on the Iraqi side. For a combination of reasons, includ-

ing intimidation and threats, there are significant challenges ahead
which we and the Iraqis need to continue to address.

But I would like to follow up on an earlier comment you made
and express particular appreciation to the Attorney General for the
support that the Department of Justice has offered us in Iraq and
in our PRTs. It is a very robust and an absolutely critical presence.

Thank you very much.
Senator SESSIONS. One of my assistant U.S. attorneys volun-

teered from the Department of Justice and is over there today. But
that is a critical element, is creating a system of law, and that in-

cludes, sir, guilty people not being released. That is really a serious

problem in this kind of culture.

Chairman Waener. Thank you. Senator.
Before proceeding to Senator Bill Nelson, I will ask the indul-

gence of the committee.
[Whereupon, at 12:42 p.m., the hearing was recessed and the

committee proceeded to other business, then reconvened at 12:45

p.m.]

Chairman Warner. Senator Bill Nelson.
Senator Bill Nelson. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
General Abizaid, I trust you. I must say that I come to this hear-

ing with a great deal of skepticism because prior to this hearing
there has been a great deal of obfuscation by the witnesses in front

of this committee as to what the truth is, and I trust you, and you
have been to me the most forthcoming witness as you have ap-
peared in front of this committee over the course of time.
Now, I want to pick up on what Senator Graham was asking you

about in the stability and the degree of the number of forces that
we need. I draw attention to an article yesterday in USA Today in

which, talking about Anbar Province, where we have had 40 Amer-
icans killed there in October. Marine General Zilmer says that he
has enough troops to train Iraqis, but he does not have enough to

defeat the insurgency. Then Marine General Neller says many po-

lice in Anbar Province have not been paid for 3 months.
Now, how do we reconcile that, if it is true, with your response

to Senator Graham?
General Abizaid. First of all. Senator, it is true. I was out talking

to General Zilmer and his commanders just 2 days ago, and there
is a problem in Al Anbar Province and there is a big problem with
pay getting to the police in Al Anbar Province, and it has to do
with on the one hand, the immaturity of the Iraqi Government, and
on the other hand, suspicions within the national police organiza-
tion that people in the Sunni areas are in particular not being paid
in order to advance a sectarian agenda.
We have discussed this with the Minister of the Interior. He un-

derstands what the problem is. They must be paid. But what those
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officers said is a problem is in fact a problem. On the other

hand
Senator Bill Nelson. The question is, our troop strength to get

the job done, since this is a critical area for terrorism in the world.

General Abizaid. A1 Anbar Province is critical, but more critical

than Al Anbar Province is Baghdad. Baghdad is the main military

effort. I told the marines when I was out there that the main effort

is clearly Baghdad. They understand that. That is where our mili-

tary resources will go. On the other hand, I would tell you that the

al Qaeda activity, which is highest in Al Anbar Province, is being
very robustly challenged by our Special Operations Forces and our
Marine Forces and we are having what I would call very good suc-

cess out there.

Senator Bill Nelson. Both are critical. But the question is, be-

cause I am asked this question all the time, do we need more
troops or should we withdraw? I say I want to leave it to the com-
manders, like General Abizaid. You have stated to Senator Graham
that you do not need a change in the troops right now. But the

commentary coming out of Anbar by General Zilmer and General
Neller would indicate otherwise.
General Abizaid. I understand that. I have talked it over with

those commanders out there. I think our main effort is where it

has been designated, which is in the Baghdad area. It is where it

needs to stay. I think that we have made progress in Baghdad. We
are going to continue to make progress in Baghdad, and that we
do need more troops and the more troops we need are Iraqis.

The Iraqis understand that. They have increased the size of their

armed forces. They have gone out to recruit more police. I believe

that the 300,000-plus armed Iraqis, in addition to our current force

strength, give us the opportunity to put the Iraqis in the lead, pro-

vided the Government of Iraq will get behind their armed forces.

I believe that is a good bet.

Senator Bill Nelson. Okay. Let me ask you on the opposite side

of the question, because I get this all the time: "We ought to with-

draw; we ought to have a phased withdrawal." Can you tell us in

your professional military opinion what does that involve? You
have to consider the tactical questions, you have to consider the

logistical considerations. Clearly you just cannot pick up and walk
out. You are talking about plans over some period of time under-
standing that any kind of phased withdrawal depends on political,

economic, and military conditions, what are the essential questions

that you as a commander would need to have answered in order

to set that timetable?
General Abizaid. Clearly, the number one question we need if

someone were to say withdraw is when. You have to understand
that moving 140,000 troops from combat positions out of the coun-

try and then dealing with their withdrawal and all of the logistics

apparatus that is entailed is a considerable endeavor.
We would have to know what the policy conditions and con-

straints are, what the rules of engagement would be during this pe-

riod. It is an extremely complex and difficult operation.

I would also tell you. Senator Nelson, just to make sure that we
are completely communicating here, I did release the Marine Expe-
ditionary Unit that is under my control to the marines in Al Anbar
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Province and it has already started its deployment up in the area

to help address some of General Zilmer's concerns, with General
Casey's concurrence of course.

Senator Bill Nelson. That is useful information.

Chairman Warner. Thank you very much, Senator.

Senator Bill Nelson. Thank you.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Warner. Senator McCain.
Senator McCain. General Abizaid, is Al Anbar Province under

control?

General Abizaid. Al Anbar Province is not under control, Sen-
ator.

Senator McCain. Yet we have enough troops to take care of the

problem, which you say Baghdad is the primary area. Would it not

make sense to say it might be well to get both Baghdad and Al
Anbar Province under control before we have another battle of

Fallujah and lose many more lives because the insurgents have
taken control of a good part of Al Anbar Province?
General Abizaid. Senator McCain, I believe that the marines

have done an excellent job in securing the key areas of Al Anbar
Province, Ramadi, and Fallujah. They are the three most decisive

areas. I believe that you cannot have a main effort everywhere and
that the preponderance of military activity needs to go into the
Baghdad area.

Senator McCain. I do not understand that tactic. General. You
just told Senator Graham that General Shinseki was right that we
did not have enough troops there after the initial military oper-

ation. Is that correct?

General Abizaid. I believe that more ISFs that were available

would have made a big difference. I believe more international

forces would have made a big difference.

Senator McCain. Would more American troops have made a dif-

ference?
General Abizaid. I think you can look back and say that more

American troops would have been advisable in the early stages of

May, June, and July.

Senator McCain. Did you note that General Zinni, who opposed
the invasion, now thinks that we should have more troops? Did you
notice that General Battiste, who was opposed to the conduct of

this conflict, says that we may need tens of thousands of additional
troops?

I do not understand. General, when you have a part of Iraq that
is not under our control as Al Anbar Province is, I do not know how
many American lives have been sacrificed in Al Anbar Province

—

but we still have enough and we will rely on the ability to train
the Iraqi military, when the Iraqi army has not sent the requested
number of battalions into Baghdad.
General Abizaid. Senator McCain, I met with every divisional

commander. General Casey, the corps commander, and General
Dempsey. We all talked together, and I said: "In your professional
opinion, if we were to bring in more American troops now, does it

add considerably to our ability to achieve success in Iraq?" They all

said "no."
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The reason is because we want the Iraqis to do more. It is easy
for the Iraqis to rely upon us to do this work. I beheve that more
American forces prevent the Iraqis from doing more, from taking
more responsibihty for their own future. They will win the insur-

gency, they will solve the sectarian violence problem, and they will

do it with our help. If more troops need to come in, they need to

come in to make the Iraqi army stronger. That is my professional
opinion.

Senator McCain. General Battiste also says that if there were
congressional proposals for troop withdrawals, he says, "terribly

naive." Do you agree with that comment?
General Abizaid. Under the current circumstances, I would not

recommend troop withdrawals.
Senator McCain. So we have sufficient number of forces to clear

insurgent sanctuaries, hold the territory with a combination of coa-

lition and Iraqi forces, provide sufficient security in Iraq, so that
economic reconstruction and political activity can take place, to ar-

rest the momentum of sectarian death squads, disarm militias, to

train the Iraqi army, and keep an American presence in Iraqi
units, and place U.S. personnel in Iraqi police units? We have suffi-

cient troops to carry out all those tasks?
General Abizaid. We have sufficient troop strength, Iraqi and

American, to make those tasks become effective.

Senator McCain. Was it encouraging when in broad daylight
that yesterday or the day before, that people dressed in police uni-
forms were able to come in and kidnap 150 people and leave with
them and go through checkpoints. General? It is not encouraging
to us. It is not encouraging to those of us who heard time after

time that things are "progressing well," that we are making
progress, et cetera, because we are hearing from many other
sources that that is not the case. I am, of course, disappointed that
basically you are advocating the status quo here today, which I

think the American people in the last election said that is not an
acceptable condition for the American people.

So I regret your position that, apparently against the rec-

ommendation of most military experts that we do not have suffi-

cient troops—Al Anbar Province is a classic example of that—that
you still are continuing to hold this position when numerically most
of the attacks, most of the kidnappings, most of the others, con-
tinue to be on a rise in Baghdad itself, where, as you say, the ma-
jority of our effort takes place.

I respect you enormously. I appreciate your service. I regret
deeply that you seem to think that the status quo and the rate of
progress we are making is acceptable. I think most Americans do
not.

General Abizaid. Senator, I agree with you. The status quo is not
acceptable and I do not believe what I am sajdng here today is the
status quo. I am saying we must significantly increase our ability

to help the Iraqi army by putting more American troops with Iraqi
units in military transition teams, to speed the amount of training
that is done, to speed the amount of heavy weapons that gets
there, and to speed the ability of Iraqi troops to deploy.

It is a very difficult thing to do. Senator, I believe in my heart
of hearts that the Iraqis must win this battle with our help. We
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can put in 20,000 more Americans tomorrow and achieve a tem-
porary effect, but when you look at the overall American force pool

that is available out there, the ability to sustain that commitment
is simply not something that we have right now with the size of

the Army and the Marine Corps.

We can win with the Iraqis if we put our effort into the Iraqis

as our first priority, and that is what I think we should do. I do
not think that is status quo. I think that is a major change.
Chairman WARNER. Thank you very much. General.
Senator McCain. Could I just say in response, Mr. Chairman.

You say we need to do all these things—train the Iraqis. I do not
know where those troops come from, number one; and many of us
believe that, this may not be a long-term commitment, but at least

a commitment to bring Baghdad under control, and that is not hap-
pening today, and that is in my view where you and I have signifi-

cant disagreement.
I thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman WARNER. Thank you.
Senator Da3don.
Senator Dayton. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
General Abizaid, when you were confirmed by this committee you

signed a questionnaire on June 14, 2003, that said yes to the ques-
tion "Do you agree when asked before any duly constituted com-
mittee of Congress to give your personal views, even if those views
differ from the administration in power?" I guess I would ask you
if think you have been true to that commitment?
General Abizaid. Yes, I do.

Senator Dayton. Since I have not been campaigning for reelec-

tion in the last month, I had a chance to visit Iraq and also to read
a couple of the books. State of Denial and Fiasco, about the past
circumstances there. In State of Denial, there is a reference to you
and Jay Garner where you turned, according to the book, to the
policies on de-Baathification and disbanding the army. "Garner told

Abizaid: 'John, I'm telling you, if you do this it is going to be ugly.

It will take 10 years to fix this country and for 3 years you will

be sending kids home in body bags.' Abizaid did not disagree. T
hear you,' he said. On the video screen, Abizaid argued that they
needed to bring back officers from Saddam's army."
That same contradiction is reflected in the other book as well,

where Garner says: "We planned to bring the army back. Having
an operating Iraqi army was a key element of the U.S. military
planning. Abizaid was all for it. Tommy Franks, McKearnan."

I cannot find anyvvhere where you told this committee, sir, that
you opposed the policy of either de-Baathification or the policy of
disbanding the Iraqi army. In fact, in March 2005 when Senator
Reed asked you specifically about de-Baathification, you did not in-

dicate your disagreement with that policy.

General Abizaid. De-Baathification issues are very, very serious
and the degree to which the depth of de-Baathification has gone af-

fects reconciliation of the Sunni community. I believe that if we go
too deep, and that we initially went too deep, that it made it hard-
er for reconciliation.

Senator Dayton. Is it accurate or inaccurate, these accounts that
say that you at the time of Mr. Bremer's order on de-Baathification
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disagreed strongly with that poHcy? Did you express that disagree-

ment before this committee or any other committee of Congress?
General Abizaid. I would have to go back and check my testi-

monies on what I said and what I did not say. But I do know that
I was never interviewed for the book. I do not know what other
people said and I have not read the book. So you will forgive me
for not commenting about it.

Senator Dayton. In State of Denial, you are quoted as saying to

Richard Armitage: "We've got a really bad situation over here," you
told him in frustration one day in the summer of 2004. "Can't win
it militarily."

Then in March 2005, before this committee you said that: "The
strength of the Iraqi insurgency is waning as a result of momen-
tum from elections," and you predicted that ISFs would be leading
the fight against insurgents in most of Iraq by the end of 2005.
Then in one very widely reported comment in March 2006, ac-

cording again to State of Denial, you were in Washington to testify

before this committee. You painted a careful but upbeat picture of
the situation in Iraq. Afterward—this is reading from the ac-

count—"He went over to see Congressman Murtha, the 73-year-old
former marine who had introduced a resolution the previous No-
vember calling for the redeployment of troops from Iraq as soon as
practicable, in the Rayburn House Office Building."
"According to Murtha,"—you—"Abizaid raised his hand for em-

phasis and held his thumb and forefinger a quarter of an inch
apart from one another and said: 'We're that far apart.'"

Is that. Representative Murtha's account of that meeting, an ac-

curate representation?
General Abizaid. Senator Dayton, if you would look at my testi-

monies before this committee, I have never once said we should
withdraw from Iraq precipitously, and I believe that is completely
different from what Congressman Murtha believes. So as far as
being on the record for what I said versus what people said I said,

I would say my record is pretty clear.

Senator Dayton. So you disagree with Representative Murtha's
account of that meeting?
General Abizaid. I agree that I have been doing this for a long

time and I agree that the situation in Iraq has changed. I was very
comfortable up until about February of this year that we were mov-
ing in a direction that was exactly as I said, where the Iraqis
would move to the front, defeat the insurgency, and achieve sta-

bility. The sectarian violence that took place has been, quite frank-
ly, a clear indication of how difficult this project is and how stead-
fast we need to be in order to make it work.
Senator Dayton. I do not question for a minute the sincerity of

your and our shared desire to win this conflict. I guess the accounts
in these books—when I was traveling over and meeting with some
2,600 Minnesota National Guard men and women who are putting
their lives on the line every day, as you meet with those individ-
uals too, I do not recall in this committee you or any other leading
general or military commander saying anything that substantially
differed with the official administration policy as articulated by the
President, the Vice President, and the Secretary of Defense.
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I, frankly, while finding that I could not entirely believe their

comments, always believed here in this committee that I could be-

lieve and trust what you were saying and what other leading gen-

erals were telling us. I find here—and again, I do not know whose
accounts to believe, but I find here consistent contradictions of

those upbeat statements and statements of agreement with in par-

ticular the Secretary of Defense about these major decisions.

It is being pursued here again today, the question of troop

strength. Again and again, these books attest that you, sir, and the
other military commanders, at least some of the others, believed

that we needed more troops. I do not know what to believe, sir,

when I hear these contradictions.

General Abizaid. What you can believe is that when we evaluate
what needs to be done on the battlefield, we make our rec-

ommendations, we have our debate, we make our decisions, and
then we move on.

Senator Dayton. But this commitment you made at the time of

your confirmation says that you will express your personal views
to this committee even if they disagree with the administration. I

do not, in my view, believe, sir, that you or others have done that
if these accounts are accurate.

General Abizaid. I have given you my best judgment. I stand by
the record. I think the record is pretty clear. If you want to infer

that the Woodward book is correct, feel free to do so. But I cannot
say that it is.

Chairman WARNER. Thank you very much. General.
Senator Dayton. Thank you very much. General.
Chairman Warner. I wish to be recorded on the record that I

have been at every one of these hearings and have had the privi-

lege to chair them. I think you have been very forthcoming, and I

opened this hearing with a very pragmatic statement you made on
August 3, which was heard not only throughout this country but
around the world.
Thank you very much.
Senator Collins.

Senator Collins. Thank you.
Ambassador, in your testimony you noted that we need to move

forward on three tracks—security, policy, and economics. The solu-

tion in Iraq depends not just on a military approach, but on an eco-

nomic and political success as well. In that regard, the lack of ade-
quate Sunni participation in the political process and in the gov-
erning bodies presents a major challenge to the long-term stability

of Iraq.

The power imbalance is particularly acute in Baghdad, where the
mayor's office, the governor's office, and the provincial council are
all entirely in Shiite hands. Now, one way to remedy that imbal-
ance is through additional elections. Yet I am told that provincial
elections, which might help to remedy that power imbalance, have
once again been delayed. I believe they were supposed to have oc-

curred in September of this year. They were then postponed to

March of next year, and now I am told that they are being post-
poned again until the fall of 2007.
That delay effectively perpetuates the lack of power for the Sunni

population. What are we doing to try to remedy the imbalance po-
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litically, because we are never going to have a stable and peaceful
democratic Iraq if the Sunnis feel that they are excluded.
Ambassador Satterfield. Senator, Iraq has had two extraor-

dinary elections, the constitutional drafting process and the ref-

erendum for the constitution, in which the overwhelming majority
of Iraqis participated, including Sunnis. That was a major step for-

ward. The council of representatives reflects, we think, in a fair

and accurate fashion the balance of demographics within Iraq, and
the reality is that in Iraq, as in many other states, demographics
do shape the way voting patterns trend.

But that does not diminish from the fact that at a provincial

level, at a local level, including in Baghdad, there do need to be
new free elections held with full Sunni participation. The Sunnis
largely boycotted those initial elections. They have come in at the
national level. They now need to come in at the provincial level.

We want to see local elections take place as soon as possible and
there has been no decision to postpone elections. There are several
legislative steps and there are some organizational measures in

which international organizations are involved and Iraqi non-
governmental organizations are involved that need to be put in

place. But we believe the government is committed to moving for-

ward with provincial elections as rapidly as possible. Frankly, I

would hope that could still take place early in the new year.

Senator Collins. I certainly hope so. I think it is absolutely es-

sential.

General, are any of the Iraqi army battalions operating inde-

pendently, without U.S. support, at this point?
General Abizaid. There are a large number of Iraqi battalions,

91 to be, in fact that are in the lead. But they have embedded U.S.
training teams. Again, this is one of the key and important changes
that we are recommending, that we make those teams more robust.

Senator COLLINS. I know we are making progress and that obvi-

ously has been the cornerstone of our strategy in Iraq, is to trans-
fer security. I realize that there are additional army battalions
every day that are taking the lead in operations, but are there any
that are able to operate without support from the U.S., without em-
bedded advisers, at this point?

General Abizaid. That would operate completely independently?
Senator Collins. Right.
General Abizaid. No, we are not doing that at this time.
Senator Collins. Do we have a timetable or a goal for having

a significant number of Iraqi battalions operating without U.S. sup-
port? The reason I am pressing you on this is obviously our ability

to start withdrawing our troops in large numbers depends on the
ability of Iraqi army troops to operate without significant support.
General Abizaid. We want to speed the transition. The transition

ultimately is Iraqi units independently operating in the field under
Iraqi command. But it requires more heavy weapons, more
deployable types of equipment such as trucks, the ability to move
around the battlefield, and more logistics. We need to speed this

process.

When we can arrive at the point where Iraqi forces under Iraqi

command can operate without U.S. military transition teams, it is

hard to really say where that will be, but it is some months away.
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I think you will start to see some divisions very capable of inde-

pendent operations, especially down in the south and up in the

north, very soon.

Chairman Warner. Thank you very much, Senator.

Senator COLLINS. Thank you, and thank you for your service.

Chairman Warner. For the information of colleagues, Senator
Levin and I have conferred. The witness team before us has to ap-

pear before the House, but we will hopefully have sufficient time
for each member present now to ask their questions within a 5-

minute timeframe. I thank the indulgence of the committee.
Senator Lieberman.
Senator LlEBERMAN. Thanks, Mr. Chairman.
General and Ambassador, thanks for your service to our country.

General, you said earlier that the status quo in Iraq is not accept-

able. I think everyone agrees with that, and my hope is that we
have a window of opportunity and really responsibility now, after

the election to find a bipartisan consensus for being supportive of

the efforts of our troops and our diplomats there to achieve success,

because it is critical to our security to achieve success there, I be-

lieve.

You know that there has been a range of suggestions, from a con-

gressionally-mandated forced withdrawal by a deadline, to what is

now being described as phased redeployment, which I take it to be
a general withdrawal but not a date yet by which it will happen,
to the increasing of our troops there. I want to ask you a few ques-

tions about some of those alternatives.

If Congress ordered the beginning of a phased redeployment of

American forces out of Iraq to occur within the next 4 to 6 months,
what do you believe. General, would be the effect on the sectarian

violence in Iraq?
General Abizaid. I believe it would increase.

Senator LlEBERMAN. Why do you believe it would increase?
General Abizaid. Because we are at this point right now where

building capacity and confidence in the ISFs, along with building
confidence in the Iraqi Government, needs to come together in

order for them to be able to start taking the lead. It is very impor-
tant that we keep our troop levels at the right level.

Senator LlEBERMAN. Right.
General Abizaid. Despite discussions between Senator McCain

and I, it is not that we are absolutely not considering force in-

creases. We will, but it seems to me that the prudent course ahead
is keep the troop levels about where they are, increase the number
of forces that are with ISFs to make them better, more confident,
and in conjunction with our colleagues on the diplomatic side move
towards governance policies that will seek reconciliation.

Senator LlEBERMAN. Understood. So most importantly, you have
told me that if we began, if Congress ordered a phased redeploy-
ment out of our troops in the next 4 to 6 months, sectarian violence
would increase. If Congress ordered a phased redeployment of

American troops out of Iraq in the next 4 months, what effect do
you think that would have on the Maliki Government? Ambas-
sador?
Ambassador Satterfield. Senator, it would be interpreted as a

withdrawal of U.S. support. It would encourage even greater hedg-
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ing behaviors by all actors in Iraq as they begin to negotiate for

position, and that would be in an unhelpful, not helpful, direction

after the fact.

Senator Lieberman. I appreciate the answer.
Some of those who are recommending a phased redeployment

begin in the next 6 months I think have essentially given up on
our effort in Iraq. But I think others quite sincerely believe that

it may be the only way we can convince the Maliki Government
and the ISFs that they have to take over. I take it by your answer
that you profoundly disagree with that conclusion?

Ambassador Satterfield. Senator, the U.S. presence in Iraq,

our activities there, whether civilian or military, are gauged
against specific missions. Those missions reflect our best assess-

ment of dynamics in Iraq and outside Iraq. Adjustments in either

of our presences in Iraq of any kind up or down, or changing in

missions, that is part of a concerted strategy that thinks through
the knock-on consequences of what we do, is one thing and that is

something we are committed to examining and reexamining.
But a declaration that affects presence without linkage in a stra-

tegic sense to consequences and other issues we believe would be
harmful.

Senator LlEBERMAN. I agree with both of you that a congres-

sional mandate to begin a withdrawal from Iraq in a time certain

would be a disaster for the Iraqis and more directly for the United
States.

Let me ask you the other part of the question, picking up on
what Senator McCain and Senator Graham asked you. General, I

want to ask you: You have said that the military transition teams,
the Americans embedded with the ISFs, are probably having a very
significant positive effect on those forces and that our forces em-
bedded with the Iraqis should be, I believe you said in your initial

testimony, significantly increased. How can we do that without in-

creasing the overall number of American troops in Iraq? In other
words, I fear that the only other way to do it is to pull our troops
out of other danger areas, like Anbar Province, and then they will

fall into more chaos.

General Abizaid. I cannot say for sure that we can do it without
having to increase our overall troop levels. But I believe that there
is a way to make the transition teams more robust from within the
existing force structure inside Iraq.

Senator LlEBERMAN. I hope that you will take a look and not
hesitate to most directly ask the Commander in Chief to give you
authority to send more troops in if you really feel that the embed-
ding—and I do strongly feel—that the embedding is working best
to enable the ISFs to take over. It may be that a short-term in-

crease in our forces there embedded with them will be the best way
for us to more quickly get to a point where we can actually draw
down our forces.

A final quick question
Chairman Warner. Thank you. Senator. We are quite a bit over,

and I appreciate that.

Senator LlEBERMAN. I will save it.

Chairman WARNER. Senator Thune.
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Senator Thune. General, thank you for your service. Mr. Ambas-
sador, thank you for being here today.

With regard to the previously asked question by the Senator
from Connecticut, they talk about 4 to 6 months. General Casey is

now estimating it is 12 to 18 months before ISFs are ready to take
control of the country, and I guess I would ask you. General, what
your confidence level is in that latest assessment?

General Abizaid. General Casey and I just had the discussion

the other night about increasing the pace of transition to bring that
12- to 18-month period forward. I cannot exactly say how many
months we could bring it forward. We are doing the staff work
right now to make sure we understand how to do it. But it is im-
portant for the committee to understand and the people that are
watching this to understand that we have not ruled anything out,

that all the options are on the table.

But I think it is very clear that we have to do more to speed the
transition, to get the Iraqis in the front, because the Iraqis being
in the front is the key to victory.

Senator Thune. A lot of the discussion today has focused on
troop levels and I guess my follow-up question to that would be,

you talk about speeding that up. If getting additional U.S. troops
there, if the purpose is to get the ISFs trained and we can accom-
plish that more effectively and more quickly by embedding addi-

tional U.S. troops for that purpose, does that help you speed it up,

that 12- to 18-month timeframe?
General Abizaid. Additional U.S. troops, sir, in that period?

Right now we have three more brigades than we had planned to

have in Iraq and I think, as does General Casey, that the force

structure is adequate to move Iraqi transition forward at greater
speed. But look, again I cannot tell you for sure that there will not
be some increase required, as I answered to Senator Lieberman's
question.

Senator Thune. I guess I was following up on that question as
well, because that question has been asked a lot today about troop
strength, whether or not the current levels are sufficient. But if the
objective can be more effectively accomplished by getting more U.S.
troops embedded with the ISFs in the short-term, if that enables
us to eventually get our troops home in a shorter timeframe, that
would seem to make some sense. I guess that is what I was getting
at.

You recently met with, and there are some documented state-

ments in the press recently by. Prime Minister Maliki wanting the
United States to speed transfer of security operations to the Iraqi
army and to relegate U.S. forces to bases. The defense minister has
rejected that idea, saying his forces are not ready. Can you give us
some insight into what the conflict is between the two leading offi-

cials there in Iraq?
General ABIZAID. I think there is some concern on the part of the

defense minister that they are not ready to move as fast as the
prime minister would like them to move. But I talked to both the
defense minister and the prime minister and they both want to

speed the pace of transition, and the question is what is the best
way to do that? Again, I think making our transition teams more
robust is the right way to do that.
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Now, the other thing I would hke to say, you have to understand
that as we move towards more and more sovereignty in Iraq that
the Iraqis have a view about more U.S. troops coming on their ter-

ritory as well. I have asked them several times about how they
would view a major increase in American troops in order to help
with the security situation for a short period of time, and they are
not very much in favor of that. They believe it undermines their
gaining greater and greater authority and responsibility.

Senator Thune. Is it possible that in your efforts to establish the
stability and to get rid of or stem the rising sectarian violence, that
while this permanent professional and trained police force is being
developed, have you explored the possibility of bringing in some
trained police units that might be contributed on a temporary basis
from other Arab Muslim countries in the region, like Jordan,
Egypt, Saudi Arabia, or some of the Gulf countries where you
would be having primarily Shiite-manned units donate?
General Abizaid. Senator, I would defer that to Ambassador

Satterfield, but I would tell you. Senator, that there have not been
any real contributions in that regard from the neighboring states
that have been forthcoming.
Ambassador Satterfield. Senator, Jordan hosts a training facil-

ity which has proved vital to the efforts to build Iraqi forces. But
in terms of direct contributions of Arab security forces, whether po-
lice or other, I do not think that is a likely prospect, and it is not
for any failure on our part to solicit. I do not think the willingness
exists.

Senator Thune. So that has been asked. It seems like some of
those countries, particularly neighboring countries, have a real
stake in making sure that this transition occurs.
Ambassador Satterfield. That stake is unmistakable. They do

and it is a very significant one. But as General Abizaid said, we
have seen little if any willingness to provide the kind of direct sup-
port. Senator, that you have referred to.

Senator Thune. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. My time has expired.
Chairman Warner. Thank you very much.
Senator Ben Nelson.
Senator Ben Nelson. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
General Abizaid, let me add my appreciation for your service.

You are certainly in a period of time and an era that will be re-

corded, so I appreciate what you are attempting to do. Mr. Ambas-
sador, thank you.

I have said for a long time that—and I think I am hearing this
today—when people are asked are we winning the war, that the
answer is: We cannot win the war. The Iraqis have to win their
own war. I have been asked, can we help quell the sectarian vio-
lence? The answer is: Perhaps provide support in that effort, but
we do not even understand the 1,000 years-plus differences be-
tween these two groups.
So I agree with the embedding of military personnel, ours, in

their military personnel. I agree, and I have heard it so many
times that we are going to stand up their troops to stand down our
troops. I understand the symmetry that goes with that and I think
that is what you are saying. General Abizaid, perhaps better than
I have.
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But the continuing question will always be, how quickly are we
moving, what is the progress, and what remains to be done. That
is why I have been for 2 years asking if we can have conditions for

staying, in other words measurable goals and outcomes that you
can identify in advance and then measure success toward that.

Is that similar to what we are hearing in terms of benchmarks?
Because I wrote a letter last September to Secretary Rumsfeld to

follow up on that hearing that we had at that time, to follow up
on the joint U.S.-Iraqi committee being established to address
issues that I and the other members have raised regarding ISFs
reaching levels that allow them to address sectarian violence and
the insurgency. I asked as well whether there are any metrics or

measurements that might exist to demonstrate the number of per-

sonnel and time required for Iraqis to secure and govern them-
selves.

I guess my question first is, what are our measurable goals? Is

it standing up their troops? Is it weeding out the militias that are
in the police force, forces around the country? Does that include
also weeding out the militias and the sectarian differences in the
military? If that is the case, then standing up and standing down
is one phase of it, but the other phase is how soon can we weed
out these elements that are obstructionist to the goals that we
have?
Ambassador Satterfield. Senator, the critical elements of any

set of goals and objectives and any timeline in Iraq today are on
security, confronting sectarian violence, starting in Baghdad, con-

fronting the growth of militias, starting in Baghdad, moving for-

ward a political process that focuses on reconciliation and on con-

sequences for gross abuses of human rights and financial crimes,
growing Iraqi capacities on budgeting so they can use their re-

sources to sustain themselves, and attracting foreign investment.
Senator Ben Nelson. That is on the economic side
Ambassador Satterfield. Those are the key goals. No, those are

on political and security as well. Senator. As General Abizaid and
I have both said, the timeline is a diminishing one. What is critical

here is whether there is a national agenda or a sectarian agenda
being pursued on sectarian, on governance, on economics, whether
the government can move in enough time to preserve and exploit
the convergence that we believe still exists between Sunnis and
Shiite before that convergence diminishes to the point it cannot
be
Senator Ben Nelson. The coexistence, the policy of coexistence.
Ambassador Satterfield. Absolutely, Senator.
Senator Ben Nelson. On a scale of 1 to 10, how certain are you

that we are going to be able to help them do that or are they going
to be able to do that on their own?
Ambassador SATTERFIELD. I am very certain we can help them

do that.

Senator Ben Nelson. Ten, nine?
Ambassador SATTERFIELD. Very certain we can help, but the

question is will they take the difficult decisions. We support Prime
Minister Maliki. The President has made that very clear. We be-
lieve he is a national leader, but leaders have to do more than sim-
ply say the right things. They need to do the right things.
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Senator Ben Nelson. We are trying to move away from a cycle

of dependence and that is why I understand what is being said.

Ambassador Satterfield. Absolutely.
Senator Ben Nelson. I agree with that. But also, I am concerned

about what is required for independence in terms of standing up
troops and getting the prime minister in a position where he can
lead. On a scale of 1 to 10, what do you think the chances are that
he is going to be able to lead?
Ambassador Satterfield. Senator, significantly more progress

on each of the areas I described needs to be made by the Iraqis.

Senator Ben Nelson. Thank you.
Chairman Warner. Thank you very much. Senator.
Senator Ben Nelson. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Warner. Thank you.
Senator Chambliss.
Senator Chambliss. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
General Abizaid, no officer in the United States Army has faced

a greater challenge than what you have before you today and what
you have had for the last several months. You have not only done
it professionally, in a professional way, you have done it in a very
admirable way. We continue to be very impressed with the men
and women who serve with you and serve under you.

Let me see if I have this straight in my mind, though, General,
when we talk about additional troops. I hear you saying that we
do need additional troops if we are going to be able to control the
sectarian violence, but that the number of troops that we need to

add to the current level of force structure that we have there
should come from the Iraqis rather than coming from the United
States, and I can appreciate that.

But if that is correct, if I am hearing you right, we have been
at this for 4 years now and we were training raw recruits and we
were training men and I assume some women in the Iraqi army
who had no military experience. I have been there several different
times and have seen those troops being trained and I have heard
General Petraeus and General Dempsey talk about the fact that
these people had never held a gun, they did not know how to shoot
a gun. So certainly there has to be a timeframe which they have
to go through to where they reach the ability to be able to fight and
defend their country.
But we have been at it 4 years now. We take kids straight out

of high school, we train them for 6 months, a year, I am not sure
what the time period is now, and we send them to Iraq and ask
them to fight. So what have we got to do to get the Iraqi army over
that hump. General, to get them to the point to where they can
take control? Because obviously it has taken us a lot longer than
what we thought. What do we have to do to get them over that
military hump for them to start being able to defend themselves
without us?

General Abizaid. First of all. Senator, I think that sometimes
here in the United States we tend to believe that every Iraqi unit
is not doing their duty. That is not true. Most Iraqi units are doing
their duty. Most Iraqi units are going into the field and fighting for

their country. No doubt that there are difficulties in some Iraqi
units and in the national police there are more difficulties.
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But what really needs to be done at this stage in the campaign
is bring confidence to the army and the police that they can count

on their government to back them up. You ask what the difference

is between the United States soldier and the Iraqi soldier. The
United States soldier swears an oath to support and defend the

Constitution of the United States against all enemies foreign and
domestic, and when he or she goes into combat they know that

they have your support, the support of the American people, the

support of the President of the United States, and that there is not

some sectarian militia somewhere that will challenge their actions.

Iraqi soldiers have looked to the sectarian militias, especially the

Jaysh al-Mahdi, and asked themselves, will they be backed up in

the event of a showdown and do they have the capacity to deal

with them with regard to force size, force capability, and combat
actions? We need to make sure that the Iraqi army is the para-
mount force in the country to defend the country, so that people

will not turn towards the militia for their support.

But it is a difficult thing to do because, especially on the Shiite

side, they have long looked to their militias to give them protection.

We have to change a way of thinking and it takes time. It is long,

it is hard, it is difficult. But I believe that we can do it and we can
do it by increasing our capacities to make their forces more robust
and more capable.

Senator Chambliss. Your point is well made, that they have to

have the support of the government. So, Mr. Satterfield, that leads
me to my basically same question to you. We have been at this for

over 4 years now. This government has been in place, the current
government has been in place, almost 12 months now. What do we
as the United States Government have to do to get the Maliki Gov-
ernment over the hump to where those soldiers do have the con-

fidence that they are going to have the force of that government
stand behind them the same way that our troops have?
Ambassador Satterfield. Senator, this government has been in

position just about 6 months exactly. But that is enough time for

the government to take the lead, and that is what they need to do.

Our policies need to be focused, as they are now, on putting them
into the lead, on making clear to them that without their decisions,

difficult as they are—we fully understand the pressures that are
brought to bear on this government from within and from outside

—

that without their decisions on critical areas to back their forces in

a national nonsectarian sense, to confront militias in a comprehen-
sive manner, Sunni and Shiite, all Shiite militias, and to move for-

ward on governance, on reconciliation, without those decisions this

government cannot succeed, our help cannot be enough to make it

succeed. The international and regional community's assistance,
were it to come, would not be enough. The government must lead.

That is our message.
Chairman Warner. Thank you very much, Senator.
Senator CHAMBLISS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Warner. Senator Clinton.
Senator Clinton. Thank you very much.
I have to say to both of you that I respect the difficult task you

have coming before this committee and attempting to explain the
situation in Iraq, which by any metric that I am aware of is not
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improving. In fact, the testimony to follow you, which will be in the
next panel, particularly by Lieutenant General Maples from the
Defense Intelligence Agency (DIA), very clearly sets out that the
DIA assesses the conditions for further deterioration and in fact

lists how the overall attacks have gone up. They are up in October,
up on our soldiers, up on the ISFs, up on civilians. That the kind
of benchmarks which Senator Nelson and Senator Chambliss and
others of us have reported in the past just seem to recede further
and further on the horizon.

Hope is not a strategy. Hortatory talk about what the Iraqi Gov-
ernment must do is getting old. I have heard over and over again,
the government must do this, the Iraqi army must do that. Nobody
disagrees with that. The brutal fact is it is not happening.
With respect to the kind of insurgency that we clearly are con-

fronting, which in many ways is perhaps the most complicated that
I am certainly aware of as you go back and look at other counter-
insurgencies, we do not have a military force that is creating a se-

cure environment and we do not have a government that is putting
forth political programs and reforms that engender confidence in

the population to support the government rather than seeking se-

curity behind militias and other nongovernmental forces.

So from the perspective of those of us sitting on the other side
of the table and on both sides of the aisle, what I have heard today
is that from General Abizaid that all options are on the table, but
the Maliki Government does not want more troops. What I have
also heard is that withdrawal by our troops would create even more
disruption and sectarian violence, but that a phased redeployment
putting conditions that can be enforced by actions taken by the
American Government, which apparently are the only actions we
have any control over, would not be a good idea.

So we are really left with very few strategic options than the con-
tinuation of hope on behalf of the Maliki Government to take con-
trol of a situation that is deteriorating.

General Abizaid, one of the ideas that has been proposed by a
number of different sources is some kind of partition. Now, I under-
stand the complexity of that, the difficulty of that. But is there any
strategic argument to be made in favor of a partition that would
at least give us territory that along with the Kurds, for example,
could be controlled? That is the first question.
Ambassador Satterfield, the political decisions that have to be

made keep getting kicked down the road by the Maliki Govern-
ment. We have had testimony now for 4 years about what must be
done and it does not get done. I see very little indication that there
has been a resolution within the Iraqi Government that they want
the sectarian violence to cease because people are still jockeying for

positions.

In such a conflict it is unlikely to get to any political resolution
until one or all sides decide that the killing should stop, that they
are not going to get a greater advantage from pursuing violence
than by pursuing political progress.
So with respect to partition, with respect to the political bench-

marks, can you offer us more than the hope that the Iraqi Govern-
ment and the Iraqi army will step up to the task that confronts
them, and give us perhaps more strategic benchmarks or conditions
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that we can look to and set forth those conditions so that we can
judge whether there is progress being made going forward?
Ambassador Satterfield. Senator, with respect to partition, I

would like to be very clear on this. Partition in Iraq could only be
achieved at an expense of human suffering and bloodshed and force

dislocation that would be both profound and wholly unacceptable,

I believe, to the American people. It is wholly unacceptable to this

administration. The mixed communities of Iraq are found through-
out the country. There is no easy map that can be drawn, no easy
political decision that can be taken, that would not involve death
and suffering to achieve partition.

But more important than my views is that very few in Iraq wish
to see partition as an outcome. Even the Kurdish leadership, who
enjoy a federal status within Iraq, do not want to see partition.

They view that as a threat to their interests because of the insta-

bility that it would produce on their borders. This is simply not an
option. It is not a practical option, it is not a moral option.

With respect to your comments, which I respect, on the need for

some greater degree of certainty, not hope—and I agree with you,

hope is not a strategy—on moving the political process forward, we
still believe Prime Minister Maliki is capable of effectively being a
national leader. We still believe there is a sufficient degree of mini-
mal convergence on the critical issues of ending sectarian fighting,

confronting militias, dealing with al Qaeda, to make our continued
best assistance, best help, warranted.

If that changes, then of course our basic assessment changes
with it. But it continues to be our fundamental assumption.
Senator Clinton. General?
General Abizaid. Senator Clinton, I believe that partition is not

viable for Iraq. I cannot imagine in particular how a Sunni state

could survive. I believe it would devolve into an area where al

Qaeda would have a safe haven, where they would export their ter-

ror to the surrounding countries. I believe that the Shiite state
would be decidedly subject to the domination of Iran, and that that
would not be good for the region. It would start to move the region
into Sunni-Shiite tensions that the region has not seen for a long
time.

With regard to hope not being a method. Senator, I agree with
you, and I would also say that despair is not a method. When I

come to Washington I feel despair. When I am in Iraq with my
commanders, when I talk to our soldiers, when I talk to the Iraqi
leadership, they are not despairing. They believe that they can
move the country towards stability with our help, and I believe
that.

This has been a very hard and difficult process and over the
length of time we have learned some hard lessons. We have not
misled people. We have learned some hard lessons. I believe that
we can take the Iraqi armed forces, increase our level of commit-
ment to them, continue to deliver the type of security force that our
current troop levels give us, and in the period of the next 6 months
clearly have a better understanding about the possibilities for suc-
cess.

But all of us that are involved in this thing believe we can be
successful. It is not a matter of professional pride. It is a matter
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of seeing that the enemy cannot win. There will be some hard
things on the horizon. They will have to do something in Al Anbar
Province. We will have to commit forces to deal with the Jaysh al-

Mahdi. Each of those things will be battles in and of themselves
that we can win if we set the right political and military conditions,

and I sincerely believe we can do that.

Senator Clinton. Thank you.

Chairman Wakner. Thank you very much, Senator.
Senator Kennedy.
Senator KENNEDY. Thank you.

Thank you very much, Ambassador, General Abizaid. Again,
thank you for your service. As our chairman has pointed out,

American troops have been battling there longer than they battled
in World War II. They have shown extraordinary courage. They
have done everything they have been asked to do. I think the real

challenge is to try to honor their valor, is to get the policy correct.

That is what you are all attempting here, recognizing the history
and the current situation.

General, I must say I was interested in your response about the
progress that is being made immediately, because those who have
talked about some phased redeployment immediately get accused of

having either the words "cut and run" or a "bloodbath" associated
with their names or with their positions on it.

We have seen the United Nations reports that more than 6,500
Iraqis were killed in July and August, an increase of 1,000 over the
number killed in the previous 2 months. As Senator Clinton point-

ed out, General Maples this afternoon is going to talk about the
overall attacks increase. The bottom on page 3 of his opening state-

ment he talks about sectarian violence, a weak central government,
problems in basic services are causing more Iraqis to turn to sec-

tarian groups, militias, and insurgents for basic needs, imperiling
Iraqi unity.

The total number of Americans that are being killed or the cas-

ualties: August, 65; September, 71; and October, 106.

The CENTCOM report on civil conflict on October 18 shows the
colors here, right on the border of chaos in Iraq. These are all your
figures or the Pentagon's figures or U.N. figures, the Pentagon's
own report.

[The information referred to follows:]
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Senator KENNEDY. So when we hear talk about some kind of a

phased redeployment that we are going to have a bloodbath, many
think there is a bloodbath going on today.

Let me ask you specifically: There were the series of benchmarks

which the administration had supported and the Maliki Govern-

ment had indicated that they support. As a matter of fact, the

Maliki Government indicated in their joint press release the Iraqi

Government—this is the joint statement of Maliki and the U.S.

Ambassador—the Iraqi Government has made clear the issues that

must be resolved, with timelines, to take the positive steps for the

Iraqi people. That is, sharing the wealth, disbanding the militias,

continuing on, which you have outlined here.

Why is it all right for the administration to say, we will take a

timeline with regards to what you have to do here, we will take a
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timeline on that, and then be so critical of others who say we also

need to have a timeline in terms of the phased redeployment of

American troops? Can you tell me that?

Then maybe you could make a comment about what happened
yesterday in a major city, where a series of automobiles go on down
and into the education department, take out hundreds of different

students, teachers, and then bring them back through the check-

points. Now, how, when we are talking about the progress that is

being made, let alone the difficulty of the American Forces of trying

to stop violence against Sunnis and men being labeled sympathetic
to the Shiites, or if they do not stop it to being labeled sympathetic
to the Shiites, the Sunnis on the one hand or the Shiites on the

other. What is really the basis of, in terms of all of these reports

and the actions that have been taken, evidently timelines for the

Maliki Government to take—why is it all right for them to take
timelines for progress in this if you are not to say that these

timelines are going to be enforced, or are they going to be enforced,

and when they meet these timelines we are going to be able to

have the kind of phased redeployment of American troops?

General Abizaid. Do you want to take the timeline?

Ambassador Satterfield. Senator, our comments here do not re-

flect a necessary advocacy for or rejection of increases, decreases,

timelines, or transition times. That is part of an overall strategy

towards Iraq. It is a strategy that we are reviewing now. What we
are saying is to review military force levels, force dispositions in

isolation from other aspects that affect that strategic goal of sta-

bility, self-sufficiency in Iraq, is mistaken.
There needs to be a very careful look at how one addresses the

military component, the political component inside and outside

Iraq, to get more progress, because progress right now is not satis-

factory, not at all, towards success. We do not want military levels

or dispositions viewed in isolation, and to take a step in isolation

would not I think have a positive impact on any of our goals or any
of our interests in Iraq.

General Abizaid. As far as the incident yesterday, we have cer-

tainly tried to understand what happened there. People arrived in

the education ministry area dressed in ISF uniforms, police uni-

forms, I believe. They said that they were there for an official pur-

pose. They started to arrest people. I believe they took 70 out. Of
course, that is of great concern, that people would impersonate na-

tional security personnel and kidnap people. This has been a prob-

lem that we have had now for several months.
On the other hand, I would tell you that the reaction of the ISFs

under the direction of the prime minister, the interior minister,

and the defense minister was decisive, that people were released,

that other people that participated in the crime were arrested, and
that some of the key police commanders were dismissed. So again,

what happened is not a good thing. The fact that the government
responded in an appropriate manner I think is encouraging.
Senator Kennedy. Just before my time expires. General, is this

the area that American troops had been withdrawn from as a re-

sult of the request of Sadr? Are these checkpoints that were in the

general area of where the school was?
General Abizaid. No, no, Senator.
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Ambassador Satterfield. Not at all.

Senator Kennedy. Were there any American troops in that re-

gion, in that immediate area?
General Abizaid. There are American troops in the Karada area,

but it is a big city. I cannot say that American troops were in the

vicinity when that happened. If they were in the vicinity and peo-

ple came in and they appeared to be legitimate ISFs, we may have
asked the question, but it is hard to say what we would have been
able to do.

Chairman WARNER. Thank you very much. Senator.

Senator Talent, and to be followed by Senator Akaka and then
Senator Bayh and then the hearing will be concluded.

Senator Talent. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I will be brief.

I wanted to go into the question of embeds with General Abizaid
and I know it has come up in the hearings. Are we embedding at

platoon and company levels? If not, do you have plans along those
lines? It seems to me that this is where they may be the most effec-

tive. How soon can we get them into the Iraqi army at those levels?

General Abizaid. The embedding teams that we have in the bat-

talion level I think is about 10 to 15 personnel each, and the idea
is to increase the size of those forces. Again, I cannot tell you ex-

actly how it would be done because the staffs are working on that.

But the idea is to get down as far as we can.

I would not want to say what the size of units that might be that
would go, or embeds might be, that go into the company and the
platoon level. But clearly we need to have more ability to help with
much more robust teams, and I think making the teams at the bat-

talion level bigger will certainly be able to get down into the com-
pany level at least.

Senator Talent. So there are plans definitely as you increase the
size or the number of embeds at battalion level to reach down into

the company levels?

General Abizaid. In some areas, especially in the Marine Corps
areas, they are working at the company level, through the battalion
level, as I understand it.

Senator Talent. I just think this is a battle of, in a sense, non-
commissioned officers, and the lower we can get them into the Iraqi

force structure the more effective they are quite likely to be. Do you
agree with that in general?
General Abizaid. I agree with that absolutely, as do our com-

manders in the field.

Senator Talent. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Warner. Thank you, Senator Talent.
Senator Akaka.
Senator Akaka. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
General and Ambassador, thank you for being here. General, I

want to express my pride in our Armed Forces and what they are
doing in Iraq and other places in the world as well. We have just
completed last weekend ceremonies and memorials for our veterans
as well as for those who are in active service in our country, and
I am very proud of our leadership and what they are doing.
There are some things that have been mentioned here by you,

that we put the pressure on the Iraqi people to govern themselves.
Let me ask, Mr. Ambassador, General Abizaid testified that we
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need to get Iraqi troops to do more and instead of putting in more
of our U.S. troops, and by doing that we would encourage the Iraqi

troops as well as their government to stand up to what they are

facing there.

We have been talking about the military. Ambassador, I am look-

ing at the civilian side of this. Should we be cutting back on our
aid and assistance programs there? As was mentioned, there are
several tracks there. Besides security and political, there is also

economic. My question also includes what are we doing there now
in these other than military areas? Rather than U.S. officials, U.S.

contractors, and U.S. money doing the work of the Iraqi Govern-
ment, should we not stand down and have them stand up to it?

How do we get the Iraqi Government to do their job? That is my
question. Let me just say, for example. Senator Sessions described
a catch-and-release justice system that has become a swinging door
for death squads. So my question to you is how do we get the Iraqi

Government to do their job?
Ambassador Satterfield. Senator, your questions on the eco-

nomic side are very well-taken, and the whole thrust of our policy

in terms of how our money is spent, what we are doing with our
projects over the past 17 months, has been precisely to put Iraqis

in the lead and to shift away from U.S. contractors to Iraqi contrac-

tors, something we have done at a very dramatic pace.

It is to build capacity, not buildings, in Iraq. It is to give the
Iraqis the tools that they will need to lead themselves in terms of

economic development and delivery of essential services. This is ex-

actly the line on which we will continue.
As we look at capacity development, we do assess what you raise

and what the General has raised on the military side: Are you fos-

tering a culture of dependency or are you building self-sufficiency?

We try to tailor our programs and constantly readjust what we are
doing to avoid dependency and to build the capacity and self-suffi-

ciency on the part of the Iraqis, because they must assume the lead
in terms of caring for their own people and addressing their own
national lead.

On your general question, how do we get the government to lead,

it is a combination of putting them in the lead, if you will, taking
off the wheels, letting them make decisions. When Prime Minister
Maliki asserts a desire to have greater lead, when he takes deci-

sions, as he did with respect to the checkpoints around Sadr City,

that is positive because he is taking decisions and the responsi-
bility for those decisions. Will all of them be decisions we would
have taken? No, that is not the case. We will disagree with some
of them.
But as long as they move broadly in the direction of national

unity, of confronting violence, of prosecuting the war on terror,

those are decisions which Iraqis should take and we should encour-
age them to continue to make. That is a positive development.

It is how we work with Iraqi leaders to allow them to take the
lead in a constructive sense that we are both about here and our
own strategy has to be focused on in the time ahead.
Senator Akaka. General Abizaid, I have been concerned about

the people, about the Shiites and the Sunnis who believe that we
are not providing adequate security. My question to you is what
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steps are we taking to ensure the Iraqi people feel that they are

receiving fair and impartial treatment? How are we going to curb
sectarian violence if the Sunnis and Shiites do not believe we are

working adequately to address this matter?
General Abizaid. Senator, I believe the key to success in Iraq is

to make a nonsectarian armed forces that is loyal to the central

government, that is effective on the battlefield, and that supplants
the militias. That is the key to moving Iraq forward. A government
of national unity plus an armed forces that respects the rights of

its people and represents all of its people will stabilize Iraq.

Chairman Warner. Thank you very much.
General Abizaid. I believe they can do that with our help.

Chairman Warner. Thank you very much, Senator.

Senator Bayh.
Senator Bayh. Gentlemen, thank you for your presence today

and thank you for your service to our country. There are strong dif-

ferences of opinion about what to do with Iraq, but no one ques-
tions your sincerity or your service to the country. I just want to

say that up front.

General, my first question is for you. You mentioned that you
agree with something that the President has said from time to

time, that Iraq is the central front in the war on terror. You ref-

erenced something that he also says from time to time, that our ad-

versaries say that it is the central front in the war on terror, there-

fore it must be so.

Is it not possible that our adversaries define it as the central

front in the war on terror because that serves their interests, not
ours? Is it not possible that al Qaeda defines it as the central front

because they know our expenditure of resources there detracts from
our ability to stabilize Afghanistan and that the Iranians know we
cannot serve as a robust enough deterrent to them as long as we
are in presence the way we are in Iraq?

So my question. General, and I must say I am a little troubled

by the fact that we let our adversaries define what is in the na-
tional security interest of the United States, is that not a dan-
gerous place to be?
General Abizaid. Senator, when you look at the broader fight,

the fight against al Qaeda, which is not just a fight in the
CENTCOM AORs, it is a fight that is global, but where you see
where the most military activity takes place, where the most sui-

cide bombers are fielded, where the most al Qaeda troops are fight-

ing, it is clearly inside Iraq where the most foreign fighters flow

to. It is inside Iraq. So in the fight against al Qaeda, our number
one battlefield is inside Iraq.

Senator Bayh. But my question is why are we letting them de-

fine the battlefield for us? Might it not be in their interest to have
us there, but not in ours?
General ABIZAID. The enemy, al Qaeda will fight us wherever we

are. If we are in Iraq they will fight us in Iraq. If we are in Afghan-
istan they will fight us in Afghanistan. If we are in the United
States they will fight us in the United States. That is what they
intend to do, and our intention is to keep them from fighting us
in the United States.
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Senator Bayh. My second question, gentlemen, and it is for both
of you, but General, I will start with you again. I think. General,
you indicated you are optimistic about our ability to stabilize Iraq,

and I think you had, Ambassador, some faith that we could accom-
plish that objective. Let me ask you both, and it was following

some of your answers: What would it take—what would shake your
faith and optimism? What would make you pessimistic about our
chances?
General Abizaid. Certainly what would make me very pessi-

mistic is if the Government of Iraq fails to disarm the illegal mili-

tias. That would be my number one concern.

Senator Bayh. Let me follow up on that. General. The last time
you were before the committee you indicated, and I think you indi-

cated again today, that what is driving the insurgency are unre-
solved political disputes among Iraqis in large part. We have some
outsiders to be sure, but that really it is for Iraqis to get a hold
of this situation.

We just had an election in our country in which the American
people expressed less than total confidence in the effectiveness of

our own Government. We look at the functioning of the Govern-
ment in Iraq and I have to tell you that too often they appear to

be operating as members of their tribe or their sect or their ethnic
group first, rather than as Iraqis first.

They say the right things, but when the going gets tough and
they have to make the hard decisions, they retreat into their corner
and they are just not able to find that common ground. I find that
troubling. Why should we have confidence in their ability to rec-

oncile those differences in the face of their behavior?
Ambassador Satterfield. Senator, you pose a very good ques-

tion, and there are key indicators on the negative. The abandon-
ment of any efforts to construct a national dialogue, the pursuit of

exclusively sectarian agenda by Shiite and by Sunnis, the rejection

of our assistance and our presence as no longer relevant to those
sectarian agendas or contradictory to those sectarian agendas, all

of which would be marked by a continued rise in militia presence,
a continued rise in sectarian violence and force displacement, that
would indicate that indeed hope for success had largely vanished.
But we do not see ourselves at that point. More importantly, we

do not see Iraqi leaders at that point today. But the critical chal-

lenge we all face, the Iraqis who are committed to a moderate out-

come and us, is that the space that still exists, the political space
for convergence, for reconciliation, be acted upon before it vanishes.

Senator Bayh. My final question, gentlemen, would be simply
this. We all want them to succeed. We all want them to be able
to stabilize their country, with the assistance that we have pro-

vided them. Too often they seem unable or unwilling to do that. So
my question to both of you, and my time has expired, is: Is there
anything else we can do to move them in the direction of making
the hard decisions that only they can make?
Ambassador SATTERFIELD. Senator, the President has asked for

a review by all national security agencies of exactly what the chal-

lenges are, how best using our resources and assets, current or po-

tential, in Iraq, outside Iraq, how the region factors in, how we can
best move forward toward success. It is exactly the question you
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pose, how best can we get the kind of progress in the areas where
progress is needed now in Iraq, and on a timeline that is relevant

and meaningful to what is happening in that country.

Senator Bayh. My final observation, it is a question that is just

hanging in the air. With all of our assistance, all of our blood and
treasure and sacrifice there, at some point we have to ask our-

selves the question: do they have it in them to forge one country
in a common destiny or is that beyond their capabilities?

General Abizaid. Let me answer that. I have been dealing with
the Iraqis for a long time. Yes, they have it in them. They can forge

one country. They are fighting and dying for their country. They
can overcome these problems. But it is not an easy thing to do, just

like it was not an easy thing for us to forge our own destiny after

the revolution. We had a lot of fighting and a lot of difficult times
ahead of us after that period.

Iraq is a young country. It is a country that is different from any
other country in the Middle East and it is a country that can make
a difference in the Middle East. I believe that we must stick with
them until such time that they show us that they cannot do it.

As far as those of us that have been fighting—and I do not in-

clude myself; I include the commanders and troops in the field

—

those among us who fight bet on the Iraqis, and as long as they
are confident, I am confident.

Chairman WARNER. Thank you very much, Senator.
Senator Bayh. Thank you for service, gentlemen.
Chairman Warner. Thank you, General Abizaid, for that con-

cluding comment. I think that summarizes very well your own pro-

fessional and personal feelings, and you have devoted much of your
life to hoping that this conflict can be resolved along the lines that
you so stated.

Thank you again for excellent testimony. Ambassador Satterfield,

this was your first appearance before this committee. I believe your
reputation as a man who will testify straight and to the point and
precise will be known by many committees and you will be inun-
dated with invitations. You have done a wonderful job. Thank you
very much.
Ambassador Satterfield. Thank you.
Senator Bayh. To his great misfortune, Mr. Chairman. [Laugh-

ter.]

Chairman Warner. Yes.
General Abizaid. Mr. Chairman, may I just say one word?
Chairman Warner. Yes.
General Abizaid. Thank you, sir. I know you are stepping down

as the chairman. Those of us that have served with you, God bless

you for your service to the Nation. Thank you, sir.

Chairman Warner. I thank you very much, General. We are ad-
journed.

[Questions for the record with answers supplied follow:]

Questions Submitted by Senator John McCain

TROOP levels in IRAQ

1. Senator McCain. General Abizaid and Ambassador Satterfield, in a November
15, 2006, New York Times article, General Anthony C. Zinni, USMC (Ret.), former
head of U.S. Central Command, argued that any substantial reduction of American
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forces in Iraq over the next several months would be more likely to accelerate the
slide to civil war than stop it. Speaking of Iraqi Prime Minister Maliki, General
Zinni said, "You can't put pressure on a wounded guy. There is a premise that the
Iraqis are not doing enough now, that there is a capability that they have not em-
ployed or used. I am not so sure they are capable of stopping sectarian violence."

Instead of taking troops out, General Zinni said it would make more sense to con-
sider deploying additional American forces over the next 6 months to "regain mo-
mentum" as part of a broader effort to stabilize Iraq that would create more jobs,

foster political reconciliation, and develop more effective Iraqi security forces (ISFs).

Do you agree that a substantial reduction of American forces over the next several
months would be ineffective in pressuring the Iraqi Government to "do more" and
may even be counterproductive? Please explain.
General Abizaid. I agree that a substantial reduction of American forces would

be ineffective in pressuring the Iraqi Government to do more and would be counter-
productive. The current troop levels are needed for controlling the sectarian violence
and applying the resources required to accelerate ISF capacity and capability for

taking the lead in security operations. ISFs are continuing to make significant im-
provement, but more training, equipping, and reforming parts of those forces are
still required. Iraqi leaders are actively seeking more control, and as conditions are
met, we are transferring more security responsibilities to them. In time, the Iraqis
loyal to the national government will demonstrate the ability to conduct inde-
pendent operations. However, more security responsibility for ISFs will only work
if there is commitment to use of these forces as instruments for national unity.
Ambassador Satterfield. The Department of State (DOS) defers to the Depart-

ment of Defense (DOD) on troop levels. At the same time, the President laid out
a revised military approach when he addressed the Nation on January 10 and an-
nounced his new strategy, 'The New War Forward,' in Iraq. U.S. force strength ad-
justments continue to be made in support of ISFs with the aim of assisting the Iraqi
people in gaining control of the security situation. However, a change in military
force strength will not reduce violence by itself. Stabilization of Iraq also requires
political and economic solution that includes action by Iraq's political, religious,

business, and civic leaders. We will continue to work closely with and support Prime
Minister Maliki and the Iraqi Government particularly to foster political reconcili-

ation.

2. Senator McCain. General Abizaid and Ambassador Satterfield, do you agree
that we should deploy additional forces as one component of a broader effort to sta-

bilize Iraq? Please explain.
General Abizaid. I have stated that all options are on the table subject to condi-

tions and requirements that may develop. We will do whatever is required to sta-

bilize the situation in Iraq, but temporarily surging American forces to decrease sec-

tarian violence will not provide a sustainable effect by itself, and may have a longer
range negative impact if conducted unilaterally rather than as part of an overall,

integrated effort that includes economic and governance enhancements. Based on
discussions with my commanders in Iraq, additional American forces, by them-
selves, would increase Iraqi dependence, shift the focus away from transitioning se-

curity responsibility, and fail to solve the broader issues of extremism which actu-
ally fuels the violence. A sustained increase in force levels is required for stabiliza-

tion in Iraq; but these increases must ultimately come in the form of ISFs that can
defeat the insurgency and deal with sectarian violence, and must also be matched
with efforts from nonkinetic means of support as well. Additional troops, if sent,
should reinforce success of the Iraqi army by providing operational training and
mentorship through the employment of transition teams. A strong, nonsectarian
Iraqi army will provide the foundation for success by ultimately defeating the insur-
gency and extremists, stabilizing the country, and allowing the Iraqi Government
to embrace meaningful national reconciliation.

Ambassador Satterfield. Military efforts, while a critical part of the solution,
will not by themselves reduce violence. Stabilization of Iraq also requires a political

and economic solutions that include Iraqi political, religious, business, and civic

leaders. U.S. force strength adjustments and emplojrment decisions continue to be
made in support of ISFs to ultimately assist the Iraqi people in gaining control of
the security situation. The President laid out a revised military approach when he
addressed the Nation on January 10 and announced his new strategy, 'The New
War Forward,' in Iraq. The DOS defers to the DOD on troop levels.

3. Senator McCain. General Abizaid and Ambassador Satterfield, there are many
who believe that we face a number of tasks in Iraq: to clear insurgent sanctuaries
and hold the territory with a combination of coalition and Iraqi forces; to provide
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sufficient security in Iraq so that economic reconstruction and political activity can
take place; to arrest the momentum of sectarian death squads; to disarm militias;

to train the Iraqi army and keep an American presence in Iraqi units; and to place

U.S. personnel in Iraqi police units. Do you agree that we need to do these things?

Please explain. Do you believe that we have, today, sufficient force levels in order

to accomplish all these tasks? Please explain.

General Abizaid. These tasks certainly need to be accomplished in Iraq, but not

necessarily completed exclusively by the United States or our coalition partners. For
example, a key task for the Iraqi leadership and their security forces is taking on
the militias and death squads. In the last 3 or 4 months the Prime Minister, and
his ministers, in particular the Minister of Defense and the new Minister of Interior,

have shown a desire to move against the militias, death squads, and extremists that

foment sectarian violence. They know dealing with illegal armed groups is largely

their task, and that sectarian violence can be fatal to Iraq if it's not checked. Stabi-

lizing Iraq will continue to require Iraqi sacrifice, courage, and responsibility, along
with the support of the United States and our allies. As I have stated, this very
well may require more troops, but they must ultimately be ISFs to have a lasting

impact.
We now have trained and equipped over 325,000 Iraqi soldiers and police; and at

the Prime Minister's request we are adding an additional 37,000 personnel so as to

ultimately exceed 362,000 members in the ISFs. The increasing number of per-

sonnel is critical to the Government of Iraq's plan for self security. In addition, the
quality of their forces is also constantly improving. Over recent weeks, we have wit-

nessed substantial improvement in ISF responsiveness, command and control, and
ability to address unlawful activity. Still, the government must get behind its army
and give it confidence that it can operate independently of a sectarian agenda.
Again, all options remain on the table. Sending more American troops into Iraq to

help stabilize the situation and to embed transition teams in Iraqi units to help
build organizational capacity is a possibility. In doing so, we would accept the risk

of delaying full transition to Iraqi security control at a point in the campaign where
Iraqis increasingly in the lead is both desired and necessary.
Ambassador Satterfield. The DOS defers to the DOD on troop levels. However,

all of the actions mentioned above constitute elements of U.S. strategy and tactics

in Iraq. An oft overlooked issue with regards to troops in Iraq is how to calibrate

all elements of national power and resources over time to enact the various political,

economic, and security related tasks.

Each track is inextricably linked to the other. While all move forward together,

a failure or setback in any one area could hinder progress in the others. This is why
the President announced an increase of not only troops, but also civilian Provincial
Reconstruction Teams (PRTs) in his "new way forward."

TROOP WITHDRAWAL IN IRAQ

4. Senator McCain. General Abizaid and Ambassador Satterfield, some members
of the Senate have proposed what they refer to not as a withdrawal of American
forces from Iraq, but rather what they call a "redeployment" or an "over-the-horizon
force" that would, in their minds, continue to exert military influence on Iraq after

withdrawal from much of the country. The idea seems to be that U.S. forces would
remain on bases in Iraqi Kurdistan, Kuwait, or elsewhere in the region and support
the Iraqis with "rapid reaction forces." I'd like to ask several questions about the
wisdom of such a proposal.

How could we supply a huge forward operating base in the Kurdish region if we
abandon all of Iraq to the south? Would the Turks be likely to allow us to supply
it from their territory or would we be forced to fly in all required supplies?

General Abizaid. [Deleted.]

Ambassador SATTERFIELD. DOS defers to the DOD.

5. Senator McCain. General Abizaid and Ambassador Satterfield, if a quick reac-

tion force is based in Kuwait, how would the forces get to Iraq when needed—after

all, it is a several days drive by military convoy from Kuwait to Baghdad. Would
progress not be arrested by improvised explosive devices (lED) and a lack of any
ground-level intelligence from U.S. forces? Please explain.

General Abizaid. [Deleted.]

Ambassador Satterfield. DOS defers to the DOD.

6. Senator McCain. General Abizaid and Ambassador Satterfield, if a force based
in Kuwait or Kurdistan instead flies to engage in combat in Iraq, would it not need
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to secure an airstrip, establish an interim base, transport fuel and supplies, and so
on? If that is the case, how quickly would such a force in fact be able to deploy?
Would it ever be relevant for tactical emergencies? Even for higher level emer-
gencies, would it be at all feasible to move in large quantities of heavy equipment
by air?

General Abizaid. Iraq does not play a role in the U.S. Integrated Global Defense
Posture and there is no requirement for enduring bases in Iraq, to include the
Kurdistan region, after the Operation Iraqi Freedom (OIF) mission is completed.
Any post-OIF presence in Iraq would be the subject of bilateral/multilateral agree-
ments between the U.S. Government, or any other nation's government, and the
Government of Iraq.

Reliance upon forces based in Kuwait or only a few locations in Iraq such as
Kurdistan would occur when coalition forces have transitioned to strategic
overwatch. At that point the Government of Iraq would be responsible for sustaining
its defense forces, maintaining domestic order, and reacting to tactical emergencies.
Coalition forces would be postured to support Iraq in response to threats of a stra-

tegic nature, where strategic warning would be provided. Prior to shifting to a pos-
ture of strategic overwatch, coalition forces would establish agreements with the
Government of Iraq regarding the use of specific facilities in Iraq in order to facili-

tate rapid response to support operations. Should there be a requirement to deploy
by air coalition forces would conceivably utilize secure facilities maintained by ISFs.
Ambassador Satterfield. DOS defers to the DOD.

Question Submitted by Senator Jeff Sessions

military supplies

7. Senator Sessions. General Abizaid, I have recently been informed that soldiers
serving in the 272 MP Company, currently stationed at Forward Operations Base
Whasi Quwa, Afghanistan, are operating on minimal rations with some receiving
only one meal per day. What is the current ration cycle for these troops? Is there
a supply problem in Afghanistan or Iraq? Are we limiting rations, water, or other
supplies to our soldiers in theater?
General Abizaid. [Deleted.]

Question Submitted by Senator John Ensign

counterdrug

8. Senator Ensign. General Abizaid and Ambassador Satterfield, given the many
problems in Afghanistan associated with the cultivation of poppies there, would it

be worth instituting a program similar to what the United States did in Turkey in

the 1980s whereby we purchased the poppies to keep them off the open market?
Please elaborate on the pros and cons of undertaking such a program for Afghani-
stan.

General Abizaid. The DOD role in counternarcotics is to support the DOS and
lead Federal drug law enforcement agencies in the execution of the U.S. Govern-
ment's international counterdrug program. The Office of the National Drug Control
Policy determines U.S. policy on drug control programs based on the President's
guidance. If U.S. policy for the counterdrugs/countemarcotics effort in Afghanistan
changes to include licit uses for the Afghan poppy crop, the DOS and DOD will co-

ordinate on the appropriate role of the DOD based on current legal authorities.
Afghanistan today in no way resembles Turkey in the 1980s. For example, there

are concerns with the Government of Afghanistan being able to extend its influence
very far from Kabul. A strong central government is an absolute necessity to provide
the type of security required to license and monitor licit opiate suppliers. Absent
this level of security, opium will end up in the hands of traffickers. Additionally,
legalizing some cultivation would undermine the use of moral and religious persua-
sion to deter growing. Legalizing any amount of the opium market in Afghanistan
would send the message that there is something legitimate to growing poppy. This
is absolutely contrary to the message that President Karzai is sending to the Afghan
people. Finally, the world demand for licit opiates represents approximately 5 per-
cent of the poppy growth in Afghanistan. Distinguishing between the licit and the
illicit crop would be very difficult, if not impossible. By example, both Peru and Bo-
livia have unsuccessfully dealt with the problem of licit versus illicit coca cultivation
for years.
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Ambassador Satterfield. Proposals to legalize and license the cultivation and
production of opium poppy in Afghanistan or to buyout the crop do not present any
advantages. Such suggestions are infeasible and counterproductive.

In 1981, the U.S. Government issued a final rule specifying the source of narcotic

raw materials (it is commonly referred to as the "80/20 rule"). The rule states that
Turkey and India must be the source of at least 80 percent of our narcotic raw ma-
terials (used for medical and scientific purposes), and that 20 percent could come
from other suppliers. This rule was established based on traditional import amounts
and on a U.N. resolution which called on member states to support traditional

sources that have been reliable suppliers and have taken effective measures to cur-

tail diversion. To participate in the licit opiate market, countries must meet strict

requirements to ensure that their licit opium industries are tightly controlled and
regulated to prevent slippage onto the black market (the International Narcotics
Control Board (INCB) monitors these programs).
Proponents of similar programs in Afghanistan argue that different schemes to le-

galize and license the cultivation and production of opium poppy would reduce the
amount of opiates entering the illicit market and create a legal economy for impov-
erished Afghan farmers. A European nongovernmental organization (NGO), the
Senlis Council, has also touted the legalization and licensing as a means to meet
increased demand for opium-based pain medications in the third world. Similarly,

some have suggested that the Government of Afghanistan and the international
community should simply buyout the Afghan opium poppy crop. These suggestions
are not viable and although they have been discussed by the U.S. Government, the
Government of Afghanistan, and the international community, they have been re-

jected and would prove detrimental to our efforts to control poppy cultivation.

Proposed programs to license the cultivation and production of opium poppy in Af-

ghanistan for medicinal purposes are infeasible. As mentioned earlier, proponents
argue that legalizing opium in Afghanistan could help meet increased demand for

pain medications in the third world (which are needed to address the increased need
of people suffering from HIV/AIDS and cancer). However, the INCB—whose job it

is to maintain the balance between the supply and demand for narcotic raw mate-
rials—believes that world demand is currently satiated.

If Afghanistan's huge supply of opium were to be introduced into the licit market,
prices would crash making the already more profitable black market even more at-

tractive to Afghan farmers. The only practical effect would be that opium ultimately
destined for the black market would have the veneer of legality, making our efforts

to control cultivation and production that much more difficult.

Shortages in the third world and developing countries are unfortunate, but the
issue is not supply. It is a lack of proper economies and systems of distribution. In-

creasing the supply of one drug without addressing the overarching distribution, li-

censing, and financial impediments to availability will not solve the larger problem,
which is not created by a shortage of opiate raw materials. Furthermore, we believe

current world stockpiles of raw materials could meet the increased need if it weren't
for the aforementioned impediments.

In addition, Afghanistan does not have the means to ensure that production under
a licensing system would not be diverted onto the black market. Afghanistan would
have to have the necessary structures in place to license opium farmers, plan crop
size, monitor growth, prevent diversion, and control harvesting. They do not have
the ability to do so because of financial, security, and other impediments such as
a lack of infrastructure. Given that Afghanistan's inability to extend the rule of law
in poppy growing regions has resulted in an explosion of the current crop, it is un-
likely that a licit opiate industry which relies on legal controls could work. Even
in India (the only major licit opium producer to manually harvest opium gum ft^om

poppy—the method Afghan farmers use), where the level of development is higher
and opium cultivation is tightly controlled and monitored, it is estimated that be-

tween 20 to 30 percent of the crop is diverted to the illegal production of dangerous
drugs.
The latter suggestion to simply buyout the opium poppy crop is flawed for several

reasons. First, if we ensure a market for opium poppy, more Afghans will grow in

order to take advantage of a guaranteed source of income, creating a surge in plant-

ing. Only 12 percent of Afghanistan's population is currently engaged in poppy cul-

tivation and this suggestion would increase the number of Afghans growing poppy
and participating in the drug trade. Second, such a program would prove prohibi-

tively expensive. The crop is currently worth $755 million to Afghan farmers per
year (more than $2.8 billion total). By way of comparison, Afghan trust fund com-
mitments are only $80 million after 2 years. We do not see a commitment by the
international community to expend the funds, or permit the more robust eradication
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measures needed to make a buyout program a realistic or sustainable option to limit
opium production.
There are no shortcuts to fighting opium production in Afghanistan. Both econom-

ics and the practicality of such systems in Afghanistan argue against proposals to
license or buyout Afghanistan's opium poppy crop. Based on many years of experi-
ence in other nations and an appreciation for Afghanistan's historical and cultural
context, the U.S. Government supports a mix of deterrence, prevention, and alter-

natives in order to bring this problem under control and allow rule of law to flour-
ish. The Government of Afghanistan itself strongly opposes the legalization of opium
poppy as does the INCB and U.S. Government.

Question Submitted by Senator Lindsey Graham

TROOP levels

9. Senator Graham. General Abizaid, in your testimony before the Senate Armed
Services Committee you indicated that we could not increase troop levels in a mean-
ingful way in Iraq and be able to sustain that force for any length of time given
the size of our own forces. Please quantify with specifics the increase we would we
need in the Army and Marine Corps in order to increase U.S. military forces in the
Iraq theater and be able to sustain that force (assuming rotations continue on the
current timetable).

General Abizaid. If the commanders in the field believe that they need more
troops, then they will recommend both the size and type of force necessary. If such
an increase exceeds the existing force structure, then it is the Services' responsi-
bility in their role as force providers to determine what, if any, force structure in-

creases are required.

Questions Submitted by Senator Edward M. Kennedy

nongovernmental organizations

10. Senator Kennedy. Ambassador Satterfield, American NGOs are on the front
lines in Iraq promoting and supporting democracy, and they deserve full support of
this country. Despite their significant contribution and the enormous risks their em-
ployees take by working in Iraq, the administration has made no long-term commit-
ment to provide funding for their work in Iraq. Is there a plan to fund these organi-
zations in the long-term? Don't they deserve a commitment from our Government
that is matched by adequate resources?
Ambassador Satterfield. Building democracy in Iraq, the Middle East, and the

world at large has been one of the main goals of this administration. The Depart-
ment has funded a wide range of democracy programs, and we recognize the signifi-
cant contributions and enormous risks these groups and their employees take by
working in Iraq. In particular, however, program costs in Iraq, including program
costs for democracy building, have changed overtime, especially as the need for secu-
rity has changed. This has caused a number of companies and organizations, both
for-profit and not-for-profit, to reallocate funds for security expenses, reducing the
amount they have been able to spend on other parts of their programs. The Depart-
ment will continue to work with the organizations involved in promoting democracy,
and our other contractors and gi-antees, to ensure that essential U.S. Government
policy objectives are met.

IRAQI REFUGEES

11. Senator Kennedy. Ambassador Satterfield, the war in Iraq has created hun-
dreds of thousands of refugees who, virtually unknown to the rest of the world, are
seeking sanctuary in Syria, Iran, Lebanon, Jordan, and other neighboring countries.
More than 3 million Iraqis are refugees in neighboring countries or are internally
displaced. One thousand are being forcibly displaced each day and an estimated
40,000 are leaving Iraq each month and hundreds of thousands of others are tee-
tering on the edge of displacement. It is likely that neighboring governments such
as Jordan and Syria will increasingly restrict Iraqi refugees' ability to enter, stay,
and gain access to social services.

Iraqis are being forced to leave their communities because of threats, assassina-
tions, kidnappings, armed conflict, forced displacement, and generalized violence
driven by sectarian agendas. Countless other Iraqis fear persecution because of their
political views, ethnic affiliation, or affihation with the United States.
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The President's report to Congress on proposed refugee admissions for fiscal year
2007 indicates that the U.S. program is once again open to receiving new referrals

of vulnerable Iraqi cases from the United Nations Higher Commissioner for Refu-
gees. The President's proposed regional ceiling for refugees from the Near East and
South Asia (primarily vulnerable Iraqis, Afghans, and Iranian religious and ethnic
minorities) is 5,500. In fiscal year 2006, the United States admitted only 202 Iraqi

refugees for resettlement.
I believe the United States has a duty to assist Iraqi refugees who can't return

home, particularly the ones who are facing persecution because of their affiliation

with the United States. What efforts has the administration made to convince Jor-

dan, Syria, and other countries to keep their borders open to Iraqi refugees?
Ambassador Satterfield. The United States is very concerned about the situa-

tion facing Iraqi refugees and we are working to ensure that their assistance and
protection needs are addressed appropriately. We recognize how very important it

is for neighboring countries to keep their borders open to Iraqi refugees, and we be-

lieve the best way to ensure this is by providing humanitarian assistance through
our international partners to Iraqis both inside and outside Iraq. The United States
is assisting Iraqis who, at present, are unable to voluntarily return to Iraq. We fund
United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) and NGO programs for

the most vulnerable Iraqis in Jordan, Syria, and Lebanon and because needs are
increasing, we hope to expand these programs in 2007 if we receive additional fund-
ing. We have accepted 466 vulnerable Iraqi refugees into the U.S. resettlement pro-

gram since fiscal year 2004 and are expanding our capability. These protection and
assistance programs are designed to serve all Iraqis facing a well-founded fear of
persecution. Refugees who have worked with the United States will have equal ac-

cess to protection and assistance in the region. We are working to obtain signifi-

cantly greater access for those who face persecution because of their work for us to

the U.S. resettlement program and to immigration into the United States.

Both Jordan and Sjoia have been generous hosts of Iraqis. We are working with
these governments and UNHCR to relieve some of the humanitarian burden and
help these countries keep their borders open to asylum seekers.

12. Senator Kennedy. Ambassador Satterfield, does the DOS plan to increase as-

sistance to neighboring countries burdened with the high number of Iraqi refugees?

Ambassador Satterfield. The United States is very concerned about the situa-

tion facing Iraq refugees and we are working with our international partners such
as UNHCR and several NGOs, as well as host governments, to ensure that their

assistance and protection needs are addressed appropriately.

The DOS indeed hopes to increase assistance to host countries neighboring Iraq.

We recognize the increasing demands vulnerable Iraqis are placing on host coun-

tries. We want to ensure that Iraqis do not overburden the public services of neigh-

boring countries by increasing humanitarian assistance so that these countries can
continue to offer refuge to Iraqi asylum seekers. We hope to generously respond to

UNHCR's 2007 appeal to significantly expand their protection and assistance activi-

ties for Iraqi refugees in Jordan, Syria, Lebanon, Egypt, and Turkey. We also plan

to expand existing NGO programs that identify and assist the most vulnerable refu-

gees in Jordan and Syria as well as IDPs in Iraq if we receive additional funding.

13. Senator Kennedy. Ambassador Satterfield, how can the United States better

assist Iraqis displaced internally to obtain adequate food and shelter and other hu-
manitarian needs?
Ambassador Satterfield. We are assisting many internally displaced persons

through U.S. Government funded programs that deliver humanitarian aid to the

most vulnerable families and individuals. Many of the newly displaced inside Iraq

have joined extended families, and we want to ensure that they can successfully in-

tegrate into their host communities until they can return to their homes. For this

reason, we also consider it a priority to look beyond immediate relief commodities
to ensure that water, sanitation, health, and education services in hosting commu-
nities are not overburdened. Our programs are designed in such a way that we can
quickly respond to emerging needs as they arise.

14. Senator Kennedy. Ambassador Satterfield, given the human suffering caused
by this massive Iraqi refugee crisis, isn't it just and proper that the United States

dramatically increase the number of Iraqis it takes in for resettlement drawing on
all priority categories?

Ambassador Satterfield. The United States Refugee Admissions Program
(USRP) is committed to considering for resettlement all Iraqi refugees referred to

us, either as individuals or in groups, by UNHCR. Our embassies may also refer
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an Iraqi case for consideration. In addition, Iraqis with close family members in the
United States may be eligible for the USRP family reunification program. To ad-
dress growing assistance and resettlement needs among Iraqi refugees, we fund
UNHCR's general budget for the near east region, and provide extra targeted funds
specifically to support resettlement activities in the region. These funds will help
address humanitarian assistance needs of this growing population and will boost
UNHCR's capacity to register and refer to us and other countries vulnerable Iraqi

cases in need of third country resettlement.

15. Senator Kennedy. Ambassador Satterfield, can't you draw on the 20,000
unallocated reserve to increase the 5,100 target for the near east and south Asia?
Ambassador Satterfield. Yes. There is no specific limit on how many Iraqis can

be included in the program. The current Presidential Determination on Refugee Ad-
missions in fiscal year 2007 permits the admission of 70,000 refugees allocated by
regions with 5,500 for the near east and south Asia. The 5,500 was developed as
a planning figure for the region. If necessary, and if sufficient funding is available,

we can draw on the unallocated reserve numbers.

Questions Submitted by Senator Daniel K. Akaka

TROOP levels in IRAQ

16. Senator Akaka. General Abizaid and Ambassador Satterfield, Secretary
Rumsfeld has indicated that more U.S. forces will be needed to provide security in

Iraq. At this point in time, how can more troops best be utilized to contain the esca-
lation of attacks by insurgents?
General Abizaid. [Deleted.]

Ambassador Satterfield. The DOS defers to the DOD on troop levels and on the
military aspects of the President's new strategy, "The New Way Forward" in Iraq.

However, together with the additional troops will be increased civilian efforts to

support moderates and improve the performance of government at the national, pro-
vincial, and local levels, thereby weakening the extremists. Iraq. Specific questions
this plan should be addressed to the DOD.

17. Senator Akaka. General Abizaid and Ambassador Satterfield, is or will the
Iraqi Government assist in this effort or are they preventing U.S. military forces

from truly getting the violence under control? For example, the U.S. forces were told

to remove check points in Sadr City by Prime Minister Maliki.
General Abizaid. I believe the Iraqi Government and Prime Minister Maliki are

committed to bringing down the level of violence. I believe Prime Minister Maliki
has moved in a direction with national police reform, which has been a major prob-
lem, with dismissing officers that are showing sectarian values as opposed to na-
tional values, with committing the armed forces to independent operations that are
necessary to quell the sectarian violence, in a way that leads me to believe he is

going to continue to doing more.
In the past 6 weeks we have had increasing success with joint Iraqi-U.S. forces

moving into Sadr City, precisely targeting death cells and death squad leadership
and taking them out. I believe this will also continue.
Ambassador Satterfield. Solutions to the growing violence in Iraq must be the

result of concerted decisions by the Iraqi political leadership and ISFs. Prime Min-
ister Maliki has repeatedly stated his desire for increased control over ISFs. As the
Iraqi Government assumes more security responsibility, operational decisions will

be made by the sovereign leaders that may not be the best course of action from
a U.S. perspective.

Prime Minister Maliki's decision regarding Sadr City check points clearly indi-

cates his desire to take action. The President laid out a revised military approach
when he addressed the Nation on January 10 and announced his new strategy, 'The
New War Forward,' in Iraq. The President has made it clear that America's commit-
ment is not open-ended and will hold the Iraqis to clear security, political, and eco-
nomic benchmarks and milestones.

emergency hotline

18. Senator Akaka. General Abizaid and Ambassador Satterfield, it is my under-
standing that there are some Iraqis that believe we are to blame not only for the
attacks but also for planting lEDs at night while we impose curfews. What efforts

are underway to better our standing within various communities, especially since
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we have spent a pretty penny on a campaign encouraging Iraqis to call the hotline

in cases of emergency?
General Abizaid. First, the National 130 Tips Hotline has never been branded as

an emergency number, but a tips line. The Iraqi public's confidence will not be won
through advertising alone, but through effective and timely responses to their calls.

We have developed two documentaries explaining the process of what happens when
a call comes in. In addition, we have added the tag line at the end of commercials
telling viewers if they can't get through to keep trying. I can assure you, people are
still calling. When Iraqis are in a situation where they feel they are in immediate
danger, they can call other emergency operations centers that have the mission of

effecting coordination with local police stations and emergency response units, as
the Tips Hotline is focused on terrorism related reporting. The types of reports re-

ceived by Tips often require surveillance and operational planning prior to any po-

lice or military action taking place. Any time that you visit the Tips facility, the
phones are always ringing off the hook. Based on our most recent polling data, the
significant majority of Iraqis understand the purpose of the hotline (73 percent), and
are motivated through the advertising campaign to utilize the hotline number (88

percent). A growing confidence in the program is apparent with a majority of the
populace (83 percent) confident in the hotline's operation. At the same time, record
numbers of tips received have been set. During a visit to the Tips Operations Facil-

ity, one New York Times reporter noted, and this was ultimately published in the
newspaper, that he had calculated one telephone call every 2 seconds during his

stay there. The message is getting out to the Iraqi public, which continues to call

in ever increasing numbers.
Ambassador Satterfield. While we do not maintain a public hotline for emer-

gencies as part of our outreach efforts, the DOS, Embassy Baghdad and our PRTs
have devoted a great amount of energy and resources to reaching Iraqis of all ages
and backgrounds through our efforts to both assist Iraqis in the safeguarding and
rebuilding of their country, as well as communicating and interacting directly with
Iraqis through our various public diplomacy programs. PRTs, in particular, build re-

lationships with local government officials and community leaders throughout Iraq
and help them improve their self-governance.
Outreach, to the media and others, is a critical component of our public diplomacy

efforts in Iraq. Whether in the form of the support for an Iraq Web site or Iraq-

focused publications or the DOS and our embassies engagement with Arab and re-

gional press, often in Arabic, we are all purposefully engaged in outreach to promote
our objectives in Iraq. In addition to interviews and press briefings, our outreach
to the media includes digital video conferences, chat rooms, and other important ini-

tiatives.

The DOS has increased outreach to Arab and regional media with appearances
by Secretary Rice and other senior department officials to communicate U.S. policy.

During the fall quarter, NEA/PPD Director Alberto Fernandez conducted 118 inter-

views, 101 in Arabic, discussing Iraq and other regional issues.

Embassy Baghdad has also stepped up media events and greatly facilitated en-

gagement with international, pan-Arab, and Iraqi media. Ambassador Khalilzad
now gives weekly interviews with Arab media outlets and the embassy spokesman
often travels into the Red Zone to meet key media contacts. The embassy also holds
regular roundtables for Iraqi press to provide background on economic and infi"a-

structure topics in which the United States is plajang a substantial role, e.g., trans-

portation, energy, and government capacity development.
Educational and cultural programs in Iraq, from Fulbright to international visi-

tors programs to cultural preservation, have also played a significant role in

strengthening positive perceptions of the U.S. role in Iraq with the Iraqi people.

Iraq's International Visitors Leadership Program, for example, is the third largest

in the world, after China and Russia. The Fulbright Student Scholarship Program
in Iraq is now the largest in the Middle East/North Africa region. There are numer-
ous other exchange opportunities currently administered by our embassy which
cater to Iraqis of various backgrounds, ages, and expertise. These include, but are

not limited to: various scholarship programs; youth exchange programs; educational

institutes; language programs; and professional training opportunities.

Our public diplomacy efforts also include a variety of other programs which en-

gage Iraqis directly on the ground. In view of the problems that American officers

have in moving around Baghdad and most of the rest of Iraq, the programs are lim-

ited in scope and size but we nevertheless continue to expand our outreach efforts

to the maximum capacity security and other restrictions allow. These programs in-

clude, but are not limited to: American corners; DVC outreach in academic and
other professional areas; book publishing; improvement of universities; and media
communications projects.
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19. Senator Akaka. General Abizaid and Ambassador Satterfield, this hotline was
suppose to help provide our forces with information regarding the insurgents—how-
ever, when many Iraqis did call, they were unable to get through. I understand that

the program has gotten better with regards to operators answering the phone but
what have we done to win back their confidence of this program?
General Abizaid. First, the National 130 Tips Hotline has never been branded as

an emergency service number; it has always been a tips hotline. The intent of the

hotline is to provide a 24-hour, 7-day a week phone-in reporting service that empow-
ers Iraqi citizens to provide information to the Government of Iraq and coalition

forces on terrorist and criminal activity. Often hotline tips require surveillance and
operational planning before any police or military action can occur.

We gain confidence in the program when the Iraqi people see good results from
their calls. We have developed two documentaries explaining the process of what
happens when a call comes in. In addition, we have added the tag line at the end
of commercials telling viewers if they can't get through to keep trying. I can assure
you, people are still calling. Any time that you visit the tips facility, the phones are
always ringing off the hook. Based on our most recent polling data, the significant

majority of Iraqis understand the purpose of the hotline (73 percent), and are moti-
vated through the advertising campaign to utilize the hotline number (88 percent).

At the same time, a growing confidence in the program is apparent with a majority
of the populace (83 percent) confident in the hotline's operation. This tells us that
the message is getting out and we are on track.

The Iraqi confidence level is also apparent in the recent and significant increase
in tips/actionable tips received. This increase is based on several factors. First, man-
agement and leadership presence: The Iraqi Ministry of Interior designated a Briga-
dier General as on-site manager. Since his arrival in September 2006, this officer

has reinforced to his subordinates the importance of correctly responding to calls in

a timely manner. The hotline workers/operators now have a better understanding
of the importance of the calls they receive, process, and disseminate, as the lives

of many Iraqis depend on their actions.

Second, life support improvements. Coalition assets have been addressing some
life support requirements such as water provision, communications hardware and
infrastructure repairs, and maintenance, to mention the main ones.

Third, institutionalizations of best practices, creation of standard operating proce-

dures, and a formal training program have resulted in the optimization of Tips Hot-
line Program operations. The growing interest in Tips is a welcomed sign. If the fa-

cility had new state-of-the-art equipment and a professional dedicated staff of IT
technicians, the response and data processing time would be significantly improved.
Any assistance you can provide in this area would be welcomed.

Fourth, appropriate work ethics and a sense of esprit-de-corps have been instilled

within the workforce.
Finally, the presence of coalition advisors reassures the Iraqi operators that theirs

is an important operation. The combined implementation of these five variables has
resulted in an upward trend of actionable reports that are sent to both coalition and
ISF elements. Tips program is undergoing a transition process that will result in

full Government of Iraq control of Tips operations by June 2007.
Ambassador Satterfield. Iraqi citizens are becoming more comfortable making

direct contact with the National "Tips" Hotline because of the anonymity it provides.

National Hotline calls are at an all time high in part as a result of Iraqi citizens

use of the call center for personal emergencies in the absence of a trustworthy 911
type of emergency services alert center. The Multi-National Forces-Iraq command
reports over 2,800 calls received in December, 300 more than the previous month.
The hotline continues to provide tips that lead to significant captures and weapon
seizures. Specific questions regarding this Multi-National Force-Iraq program
should be addressed to the DOD.

IRAQI DEATH SQUADS

20. Senator Akaka. Ambassador Satterfield, it is my understanding that, even
within the Iraqi Government, there are different approaches regarding how to cur-

tail the violent attacks conducted by insurgents and/or death squads. Are we work-
ing with the Iraqi Government to try and alleviate these tensions?
Ambassador Satterfield. Dealing with sectarian violence by death squads, insur-

gents, and illegally armed militias is the greatest challenge Iraq faces. A military
solution alone will not reduce violence. A reduction in sectarian violence will require
a comprehensive political solution that includes Iraqi political, civil, and religious

leaders working together to implement reconciliation initiatives, economic policies.
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security-sector reform, and federalism. By implementing such policies, the govern-
ment would move itself into a position to better influence groups that instigate vio-

lence, and persuade those who try to use violence for political gain that their objec-

tives are better served through the political and national reconciliation processes.
Prime Minister Maliki continues to oversee efforts by the Government of Iraq to

deal with these issues. The United States will continue to closely advise and assist

the Government of Iraq as it continues to establish and implement the political solu-

tions necessary for success. Ultimately, these solutions are—and must continue to

be—Iraqi solutions carried out by Iraqis.

[Whereupon, at 2:08 p.m., the committee adjourned.]
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OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR JOHN WARNER,
CHAIRMAN

Chairman WARNER. Good afternoon. The Senate Armed Services
Committee resumes its sequence of hearings on the current situa-

tion in Iraq and Afghanistan. Part one of the hearing was excellent

this morning. The committee received, as it expected, the very
frank and candid assessments from General Abizaid and Ambas-
sador Satterfield.

In part two of the hearing the committee will receive testimony
from General Michael Hayden, Director of the Central Intelligence

Agency (CIA), and Lieutenant General Michael Maples, Director of

the Defense Intelligence Agency (DIA). Both of them have appeared
before Congress, but this is General Hayden's first appearance in

his capacity as Director of the CIA.
The panel's appearance here today is very important. The rela-

tionship between intelligence and policymakers has been the sub-

ject of discussion over the past few years. In the session this morn-
ing I described five events that will converge in the next few weeks
and months to help formulate the views of Congress, most particu-

larly the Senate, on such changes as we may deem as necessary,

the five being: this series of hearings; followed by, presumably in

the first week of December, the hearing with Bob Gates, nominated
to be the new Secretary of Defense; followed by a hearing with the
Chairman of the Joint Chiefs and his report; then hopefully we will

have the Jim Baker of the Iraq Study Group, with Lee Hamilton,
testify; and lastly, I think very valuable work is now underway to

extend the U.N. resolution under which our forces are operating in

Iraq today that expires on December 31, 2006.
Senator Levin.

STATEMENT OF SENATOR CARL LEVIN

Senator Levin. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for the continuation

of this very important hearing. It is critical that we have the inde-

pendent and objective testimony of our Directors of the CIA and
DIA to help us understand the situation in Iraq and in Afghani-
stan. We look forward to that testimony and in the interest of time
I will not present a full statement.
Chairman Warner. Thank you very much. Senator Levin.

General Hayden.
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STATEMENT OF GEN. MICHAEL V. HAYDEN, USAF, DIRECTOR,
CENTRAL INTELLIGENCE AGENCY

General Hayden. Thank you, Senator. Mr. Chairman, Senator
Levin, members of the committee:
The overthrow of the Tahban regime in Afghanistan and of Sad-

dam Hussein's regime in Iraq, when combined with our determined
pursuit of al Qaeda worldwide, essentially inaugurated a new era
of both risk and opportunity for our country in its engagement with
much of the Muslim world. We are now face-to-face with whole so-

cieties that are in profound and, frankly, volatile transitions and
whose fate will directly affect our fate, whose fate will directly af-

fect the security of the United States.

With American forces in Afghanistan and Iraq, and with the
United States leading the global war on terrorism, we are now ac-

tors to an unprecedented degree in supporting states, including
Iraq and Afghanistan, which are attempting to create and sustain
a stable new order. Arrayed against this endeavor are significant

new forces. They are political and ethnosectarian forces that, frank-
ly, were previously hidden or subordinated, and are now competing
to shape the identity of these states.

Now, some of this competition is taking place within a legitimate
political and democratic process. But in other cases we have radical

groups like al Qaeda and its affiliates sponsoring terrorists, insur-

gents in Iraq, Afghanistan, and elsewhere, that seem to be able to

preempt governments and eclipse the moderate actors in the re-

gion. Then at the regional level you have opponents of the United
States like Iran seeking to capitalize on the instability of this tran-
sitional period to expand their own influence and, frankly, to con-

test the vision we have for this region.

With these trends in mind, let me begin by focusing on Afghani-
stan, where we have made some important progress in the face of

some substantial challenges. Afghanistan's future depends heavily
on the international community's willingness to continue to deliver

concrete resources to the Afghan Government. It depends equally
on international willingness to help protect that government from
the Taliban and other extremists who are waging a bloody insur-

gency, especially in the south and east of that country.
Now, neither of these tasks are simple. Neither of them are going

to be completed soon. But the past few years have been a story of

success for the Afghan Government and people, as well as the
international community. That country has made remarkable polit-

ical progress. The international community and the Afghan Gov-
ernment under the leadership of President Karzai have built some
national level political institutions—a new constitution, an elected
president, a democratically elected parliament. These are remark-
able achievements when you hold them up against the backdrop of

the ruinous decades of war that Afghanistan experienced before
2001.
But the successes of the last few years have not lessened the

need for international involvement in this country. It has only pro-

vided the foundation upon which we can now build. Now we need
to bolster the Afghan Government's ability to provide sound gov-
ernance at all levels of government.
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Ambassador Neumann recently said that this effort will take a
long time, and if you ask my view it will take at least a decade and
it will cost billions of dollars. I will add one more time that the Af-

ghan Government will not be able to do it alone. The capacity of

the government needs to be strengthened to deliver basic services

to the population, and of course that begins with security.

These problems span Afghanistan, but they are especially preva-
lent in rural areas. Quality-of-life for millions of Afghan citizens,

spread across a desolate land in isolated villages, has not advanced
very much, and in many areas the Afghan Government is simply
nowhere to be found.
This situation will get worse if it is not addressed. Right now

more than half of the Afghan population is under the age of 19.

That means millions of young Afghans will enter the labor force

over the next decade, adding to an unemployment rate that is al-

ready hovering around 40 percent. I think we all know that the il-

licit drug trade is a significant hurdle to the expansion of the cen-

tral government's authority and it undercuts the international com-
munity's and the government's efforts to rebuild the economy. It

fuels provincial and local corruption. According to the International
Monetary Fund, the Afghan opiate gross domestic product (GDP) in

2005 was $2.5 billion, roughly a third of what the country's licit

GDP was.
The key to making progress is security. There are simply not

enough properly trained, equipped, well-paid security forces and,
even though the Afghan National Army continues to become larger,

stronger, and more experienced, progress has been slow and there
has been a lot less progress made in constructing an effective Af-

ghan national police.

The Taliban has clearly built momentum over this past year. The
level of violence that they have inflicted has increased significantly.

The group has clearly become more aggressive. The Taliban almost
certainly refocused its attacks in an attempt to stymie the North
Atlantic Treaty Organization's (NATO) efforts in southern Afghani-
stan.

Kabul's ability to provide sound governance to these kinds of

areas will be key to preventing the Taliban and other extremists
from intimidating the population into acquiescing with its activi-

ties. Kabul needs help because it lacks capacity, not because it

lacks will, and not because it lacks popular support. I have spoken
with President Karzai. He understands this and he recognizes his

government's responsibilities.

Now Iraq. It provides another example of how the forces of

change are reshaping the Muslim world. The deep fissures that I

know you have talked about earlier today with General Abizaid
and Ambassador Satterfield, they are among the groups fighting in

Iraq and were not created by the coalition's overthrow of Saddam's
dictatorship. Throughout Iraq's modern history there has been a
Sunni minority ruling with the support of the military, and Sad-
dam made this worse. His cult of personality tragically reinforced
this pattern by using extreme violence to suppress the vast major-
ity of Iraq's inhabitants. He killed tens of thousands of Kurds and
Shiite in a short period from 1988 to 1991, brutally suppressing
Shiite and Kurdish revolts. He ruled during his last years with vio-
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lent repression and by favoring a small elite within the Sunni com-
munity centered on his hometown of Tikrit. He deliberately di-

verted resources to his power base, deprived much of the rest of the
country of economic and educational opportunities, and in the case
of the Shiite majority, basic religious liberty.

Operation Iraqi Freedom (OIF) completely upended the
Saddamist state and his version, its version of Iraqi society in

every respect—political, social, and economic. OIF instituted a sea
of change in the way Iraq is governed. The dissolution of the Iraqi

military, the Baath Party, swept away the tools that a small group
in power had used to terrorize Iraq, and the subsequent vacuum
of authority gave vent to deep-seated hatreds that had simmered
for years beneath the surface in a totally brutalized society.

The Shiites today now focus on assuring that Iraq's new govern-
ment reflects the will of the majority Shiite population, making
sure that the Baathists never regain power. I know many of you
have visited Iraq. I have too recently. This fear of a return to

Baathism is almost palpable among Shiite elites.

Sunnis, on the other hand, view the Shiite as Iranian-controlled

and the current government as predatory, or at least many Sunnis
do. The Kurds for their part want to keep and strengthen the sub-
stantial autonomy they have exercised for more than a decade.
We need to note, though, that the Shiite and the Kurds and some

Sunnis have crafted a democratic constitution that can provide the
structure to allow Iraqis to settle their differences peacefully. For
this to happen, Iraqi leaders of all stripes—Shiite, Sunni, Kurd

—

are going to have to flesh out that document with some of the ac-

tivities that Ambassador Satterfield talked to you about this morn-
ing and do it in a way that all parties accept as legitimate.

We are all acutely aware that Iraq today is far from peaceful. Let
me say that no single narrative is sufficient to explain all the vio-

lence we see in Iraq today. There remains in Iraq today an active

insurgency. There remains in Iraq today a broad and vicious al

Qaeda offensive targeting us and innocent Iraqis. In Iraq today
there is criminality and lawlessness on a broad scale. In Iraq today
there are rival militias competing for power.

Since the bombing of the al-Askari Mosque in Samarra last Feb-
ruary, violence between Arab Shiite and Sunnis has grown and
grown to such an extent that sectarian violence now presents the
greatest immediate threat to Iraq's stability and future. Any Iraqi
leader, no matter how skillful, is going to be hard-pressed to rec-

oncile the divergent perspectives that I have mentioned, divergent
perspectives that Shiites, Sunnis, and Kurds bring to the table and
also, unfortunately, very often bring to the streets, and to deal with
that against a backdrop of an intentional al Qaeda campaign of al-

most Satanic terror. To strengthen the common ground that all

Iraqis can share, the government of Prime Minister Maliki will

have to overcome formidable obstacles. Internal divisions, power
struggles among the Shiite, make it difficult for Shiite leaders to

take the actions that actually might ease Sunni fears. Radical Shi-
ite militias and splinter groups stoke the violence, while brutal
Sunni and al Qaeda attacks make even moderate Shiite question
whether it is possible to reconcile.
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The Iranian hand is stoking violence and supporting even com-
peting Shiite factions. Even if the central government gains broad-
er support from Iraq's various communities, implementing the re-

forms needed to improve life for all Iraqis will be difficult. Current
violence is eating away at the state's ability to govern. The security

forces are plagued by sectarianism. They have maintenance and lo-

gistics problems. Ministerial capacity, limited ministerial capacity,

is limiting progress on key issues. The civilian bureaucracy is buf-

feted by inefficiency and partisan control.

Only if the Iraqi state asserts its authority across the board can
the government in Baghdad begin to turn its goals into concrete re-

alities. As I mentioned earlier, complicating these historic forces,

difficult enough in their own right, is the pernicious effect of al

Qaeda's presence in Iraq. Despite Zarqawi's death, al Qaeda con-

tinues to foment sectarian violence, seeks to expel coalition forces.

An al Qaeda victory in Iraq would mean a fundamentalist state

that shelters jihadists and serves as a launching pad for terror

throughout the region and against our own Homeland.
Let me talk just for a minute, Mr. Chairman, more broadly about

al Qaeda. It sees its war against us as a continuation from their

perspective of decades, perhaps century-old, struggle to defend
Islam from political and cultural domination by a Judaeo-Christian
alliance that they now perceive as being led by the United States

and Israel. Since bin Laden declared war on us in 1998, al Qaeda
has focused primarily on attacks aimed at weakening and pun-
ishing the United States and its immediate allies. They see us as
the main obstacle to realizing their vision of an extreme fundamen-
talist social and political order throughout the Muslim world.

Although the group has suffered significant losses since their at-

tacks on our Homeland, it has shown resilience and it remains
thoroughly dedicated to mounting new attacks on our Homeland
and on our interests abroad. Understanding al Qaeda is essential

to defeating it. With regard to the central organization headed by
Osama bin Laden, in the face of our substantial success against it

the group's cadre of seasoned, committed leaders has allowed it to

remain fairly cohesive, it has allowed it to remain focused on its

strategic objectives, again despite having lost a number of veterans
over the years.

Osama bin Laden and Zawahiri continue to play a crucial role.

They inspire jihadists and their very presence promotes unity.

Their demise would not end the threat, but it probably would con-

tribute to the unraveling of the central organization. The loss of a

series of al Qaeda leaders since September 11 has been substantial,

but it has also been mitigated by what is, frankly, a pretty deep
bench of low-ranking personnel capable of stepping up to assume
leadership positions.

Though a number of these people are new to the senior manage-
ment, they are not new to jihad. My point here. Senator, is this

threat has taken a long time to build; it will take some time to un-
ravel it. These new leaders average over 40 years of age and 2 dec-

ades of involvement in global jihadism.
The second critical factor is their physical safe haven along the

Afghan-Pakistan border. That safe haven gives them the physical

and even psychological space they need to meet, train, plan, and
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prepare new attacks. Many locals in that region have ties to al

Qaeda dating back to the 1980s wars against the Soviets and root-

ing them out from that region is complicated by rugged terrain and
a local culture that is intensely suspicious of and at times hostile

to outsiders, including their own government's forces.

A third important factor is Osama bin Laden's extremist ideology
and strategic vision, which continues to attract recruits, inspire

like-minded groups, help our enemies weather setbacks. In addition
to planning attacks of its own, al Qaeda supports terrorist activi-

ties by other groups and seeks to encourage Muslims worldwide to

take up the cause. It spreads its propaganda through taped state-

ments, some of them with very high sophisticated production val-

ues.

As a western nation, we have limited tools to counteract that
kind of propaganda. We need to make sure our own message is

clear, but we also need to work with our Muslim allies.

Finally, I need to emphasize that the asymmetric nature of al

Qaeda's style of warfare gives it certain advantages. Our open soci-

eties present an almost endless source of targets and the enemy
has demonstrated its ruthlessness through a willingness to attack
the innocent.
Mr. Chairman, in all aspects of today's global struggle, and the

three pieces I have mentioned—Iraq, Afghanistan, and al Qaeda

—

are all intricately and intimately interrelated—we are dealing with
deep historical forces and it will require patience and wisdom as
well as just power to deal with them. This will unfortunately be a
long struggle.

Thank you.
[The prepared statement of General Hayden follows:]

Prepared Statement by Gen. Michael V. Ha\t)en, USAF

Mr. Chairman, members of the committee: The overthrow of the Tahban regime
in Afghanistan and of Saddam Husayn in Iraq as well as our determined pursuit
of al Qaeda worldwide have inaugurated a new era of risk and opportunity for the
United States in its engagement with much of the Muslim world. We are now face-

to-face with whole societies which are in profound and volatile transitions and
whose fate will directly affect the security of the United States. With U.S. forces

deployed in Iraq and Afghanistan and with the United States leading the global re-

sponse to the threat of terrorism, we are now actors to an unprecedented degree in
supporting states—especially Iraq and Afghanistan—which are attempting to create
and sustain a stable new order.

• Against this endeavor significant new forces are arrayed. Political and
ethno-sectarian forces previously subordinated are now competing to shape
the identity of states. Although some of this competition is taking place
within the legitimate democratic process, in other cases radical Islamic
groups—including terrorists and insurgents in Iraq and Afghanistan—are
able to preempt governments and eclipse more moderate actors.
• At the regional level, opponents of the United States—like Iran—are
seeking to capitalize on the instability of this transitional period to expand
their own influence and contest the vision sustained by the United States
and its allies.

AFGHANISTAN

With these trends in mind, let me begin by focusing on Afghanistan where we
have made important progress in the face of substantial challenges.

Afghanistan's future depends heavily on the international community's willing-
ness to continue delivering concrete resources to the Afghan Government. It de-
pends equally on international willingness to help protect the Afghan Government
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against the Taliban and other extremists who are waging a bloody insurgency in

the south and east of the country.
Neither of these tasks will be simple, and neither will be completed soon, but the

past few years have been a story of success for the Afghan Government and people,

as well as the international community. The country made remarkable political

progress through the completion of the 2001 Bonn Accord—the political roadmap for

rebuilding the country. The international community and the Afghan Government,
under the leadership of President Karzai, have built national-level political institu-

tions—including a new constitution, legitimate presidential elections, and a demo-
cratically elected parliament.

• These are all remarkable achievements given the ruinous decades of war
Afghanistan experienced prior to 2001.

The success of the past few years hasn't lessened the need for international in-

volvement in the country—it has only provided a foundation upon which to build.

Now, we need to bolster the Afghan Government's ability to provide sound govern-
ance at all levels of government. Ambassador Neuman recently said the effort would
take a long time—in my view, at least a decade—and cost many billions of dollars.

I would add that the Afghan Government won't be able to do it alone.

The capacity of the government needs to be strengthened to deliver basic services

to the population—especially security. The problems span Afghanistan, but they are
especially prevalent in rural areas. The quality-of-life for millions of Afghans

—

spread across desolate land and isolated villages—has not advanced and in many
areas the Afghan Government is nowhere to be found.

• The social situation will get worse if it is not addressed. Right now, about
55 percent of the Afghan population is under the age of 19; millions of

young Afghans will enter the labor force over the next 5-10 years, adding
to an unemplojrment burden that is already hovering around 40 percent.

The illicit drug trade is a significant hurdle to the expansion of central govern-
ment authority and it undercuts efforts to rebuild the economy. The drug trade also

fuels provincial and local corruption. According to the International Monetary Fund,
the Afghan opiate gross domestic product (GDP) in 2005 was $2.6 billion—roughly
a third of the country's $7.3 billion licit GDP.
Key to making progress is bolstering security. Even in areas of the country where

the insurgency is not active, security is falling short.

• There are not enough properly trained, equipped, or well-paid security

forces. Even though the Afghan National Army continues to become larger,

stronger, and more experienced, progress has been slow and little progress
has been made in constructing an effective Afghan National Police force.

The Taliban has built momentum this year. The level of violence associated with
the insurgency has increased significantly and the group has become more aggres-

sive than in years past. The Taliban almost certainly refocused its attacks in an at-

tempt to stymie the North Atlantic Treaty Organization's (NATO) efforts in south-

ern Afghanistan.

• Kabul's ability to provide sound governance and badly needed aid to

these areas will be key to preventing the Taliban and other extremists from
intimidating the population into acquiescing in its activities.

• Kabul needs help because it lacks capacity—not because it lacks political

will or lacks support. President Karzai understands this and recognizes his

government's responsibility.

IRAQ

Iraq provides another example of how the forces of change are reshaping the Mus-
lim world. The deep fissures among the groups fighting in Iraq were not created by
the coalition's overthrow of Saddam's dictatorship. Throughout Iraq's modem his-

tory, a Sunni minority ruled with the support of the military; Saddam's cult of per-

sonality tragically reinforced this pattern by using extreme violence to suppress the

vast majority of Iraq's inhabitants. Saddam killed tens of thousands of Kurds and
Shiite in the short period from 1988, when he launched the Anfal campaign against
the Kurds, to 1991, when he brutally suppressed Shiite and Kurdish revolts:

• Saddam ruled during his last years through violent repression and by fa-

voring a small elite within the Sunni community from his home region of

Tikrit—to the dismay of other Sunnis.
• Saddam deliberately diverted resources to his powerbase, depriving much
of the rest of the country of economic and educational opportunities, and
in the case of the Shiite majority, basic religious liberty.
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Operation Iraqi Freedom (OIF) completely upended the Saddamist state and Iraqi

society. In every respect—political, social, and economic—OIF instituted a sea
change in the way Iraq is governed. The dissolution of the Iraqi military and the
Baath party swept away the tools that a small group in power had used to terrorize

Iraq, and the subsequent vacuum of authority gave vent to deep seated hatreds that
had simmered for years in a brutalized society:

• The Shiite now focus on assuring that Iraq's new government reflects the
will of the majority Shiite population and making sure the Baathists never
regain power. This fear of a return to Baathism is almost palpable among
Shiite elites. Sunnis view the Shiite as Iranian controlled and the current
government as predatory. The Kurds, for their part, want to keep and
strengthen the substantial autonomy they have exercised since 1991.
• It is also noteworthy, however, that the Shiite and the Kurds, with some
Sunni participation, crafted a democratic constitution that could provide a
structure to allow Iraqis to settle their differences peacefully. For this to

happen, Iraqi leaders—Shiite, Sunnis, and Kurds alike—will need to flesh

out the document through extensive legislation in such a way that all par-
ties, and particularly the Sunni public, accept as legitimate.

We are all acutely aware that Iraq today is very far from peaceful. No single nar-
rative is sufficient to explain all the violence in Iraq today. There remains in Iraq
today an active insurgency; a broad al Qaeda offensive targeting use and Iraqis;

criminality and lawlessness on a broad scale; rival militias competing for power.
Since the bombing of the al-Askari Mosque in Samarra last February, however, vio-

lence between Arab Shiite and Sunnis has grown to such an extent that sectarian
violence now presents the greatest immediate threat to Iraq's stability and future.

• Last year violence was mostly limited to Sunni insurgent attacks on coa-

lition and Iraqi targets, but now Shiite militia attacks against Sunnis and
coalition forces are an integral part of the pattern of violence.
• The Kurds live in a fairly homogeneous region under self-government.
Yet in the seamline where Kurds, Arabs, and others meet, we see wonying
signs—such as a recent surge in violence in the city of Kirkuk—that the
legacy of Iraq's repressive past continues to shape both the Arab/Kurd and
the Sunni/Shiite fault lines in Iraqi society.

Any Iraqi leader, no matter how skillful, would be hard pressed to reconcile the
divergent perspectives that Shiite, Sunnis, and Kurds bring to the table—and also

to the streets. To strengthen the common ground that all Iraqis can share, the gov-
ernment of Prime Minister Maliki will have to overcome several formidable obsta-
cles:

• Internal divisions and power struggles among the Shiite make it difficult

for Shiite leaders to take the actions that might ease Sunni fears of domi-
nation. Radical Shiite militias and splinter groups stoke the violence, while
brutal Sunni attacks make even moderate Shiite question whether it is pos-
sible to reconcile the Sunnis to the new Shiite-dominated power structures.
The Iranian hand is stoking violence and supporting even competing Shiite
factions.

• The Sunnis are even more divided. Many see violent opposition as the
only way to overcome the democratic rules that, due to demographic reali-

ties, place a ceiling on Sunni political influence.

Even if the central government gains broader support from Iraq's communities,
implementing the reforms needed to improve life for all Iraqis will be extremely dif-

ficult. Iraq's endemic violence is eating away at the state's ability to govern. The
security forces are plagued by sectarianism and severe maintenance and logistics

problems; inadequate ministerial capacity is limiting progress on key issues; and the
civilian bureaucracy, buffeted by corruption, inefficiency and partisan control, is not
currently up to the challenge of providing better services to the Iraqi people. Only
if the Iraqi state asserts its authority across the board can the government in Bagh-
dad begin to turn its goals into concrete realities.

Complicating these historic forces is the pernicious effect of al Qaeda's presence
in Iraq. Despite Zarqawi's death, al Qaeda continues to foment sectarian violence
and seeks to expel coalition forces. An al Qaeda victory in Iraq would mean a fun-
damentalist state that shelters jihadists and serves as a launching pad for terrorist

operations throughout the region—and in the United States.
Turning next to al Qaeda . . .

Al Qaeda sees its war against the West as the continuation of a decades, perhaps
centuries-old, struggle to defend Islam from political and cultural domination by a
Judeo-Christian alliance now led by the United States and Israel. Since Osama bin
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Laden declared war on the United States in 1998, al Qaeda has focused primarily
on attacks aimed at weakening and punishing the United States and its immediate
allies.

• The group sees the United States as the main obstacle to realizing its vi-

sion of an extreme fundamentalist social and political order throughout the
Muslim world.
• Although the group has suffered significant losses since September 11, it

is resilient and thoroughly dedicated to mounting new attacks on the U.S.
Homeland and our interests abroad.

Understanding the source of al Qaeda's resilience is key to defeating it. With re-

gard to the central organization headed by bin Laden, that resilience stems from
several factors:

First, the group's cadre of seasoned, committed leaders has allowed it to remain
fairly cohesive and stay focused on its strategic objectives—despite having lost a
number of important veterans over the years.

• Osama bin Laden and Ayman al-Zawahiri continue to play a crucial role

in inspiring jihadists and promoting unity. Their demise would not spell the
end of the threat, but probably would contribute to the unraveling of the
central al Qaeda organization.
• The loss of a series of veteran al Qaeda leaders since September 11 has
been mitigated by the group's "deep bench" of lower-ranking personnel ca-

pable of stepping up to assume leadership responsibilities. Although a num-
ber of individuals are new to senior management in al Qaeda, they are not
new to jihad: they average over 40 years of age and nearly 2 decades of in-

volvement in jihad.

A second critical factor is the group's physical safehaven in the Afghanistan-Paki-
stan border area. This safehaven gives al Qaeda the physical—and psychological

—

space needed to meet, train, expand its networks, and prepare new attacks.

• Many locals have ties to al Qaeda dating back to the 1980s war against
the Soviets in Afghanistan.
• Rooting out al Qaeda elements there is complicated by the rugged terrain

and a local culture that is intensely suspicious of—and, at times, overtly

hostile to—outsiders, including government security forces.

• The safehaven not only gives al Qaeda and the Taliban a venue for ter-

rorist plotting, but also serves as a jump-off point for its guerrilla forays

into Afghanistan.

A third important factor is Osama bin Laden's extremist ideology and strategic

vision, which continue to attract recruits, inspire like-minded groups, and help our
enemies weather setbacks and reconcile themselves to a long struggle.

• In addition to planning attacks of its own, al Qaeda supports terrorist ac-

tivities by other groups and seeks to encourage Muslims worldwide to take
up the cause of violent jihad.
• Al Qaeda spreads its propaganda through taped statements—sometimes
featuring relatively sophisticated production values—as well as books and
websites.
• As a western nation, we have limited tools to counteract this propaganda.
We need to make sure our own message is clear and we need to work with
our Muslim allies.

Finally, it's important to note that the asjrmmetric nature of al Qaeda's style of

warfare gives it certain advantages.

• Our open society presents an almost endless source of targets, and the
enemy has demonstrated its ruthlessness through a willingness to attack

civilians—including other Muslims—a preference for spectacular, high-cas-

ualty operations, and its own adherents' desire for martyrdom.
• As September 11 showed, even a handful of committed attackers, with
relatively modest resources, can inflict terrible damage.

Mr. Chairman, in all aspects of today's global struggle, we are dealing with deep
historical forces and it will require patience and wisdom as well as power for us to

deal with them. This will be a long struggle.

Thank you.

Chairman WARNER. Thank you very much, General.
General Maples.
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STATEMENT OF LTG MICHAEL D. MAPLES, USA, DIRECTOR,
DEFENSE INTELLIGENCE AGENCY

General Maples. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Senator Levin,
members of the committee. I thank you for the opportunity to tes-

tify before you today. I have submitted a statement for the record
and I have shortened that statement for my opening statement, but
would be more than pleased to address the contents of my state-

ment that I have submitted.
Chairman Warner. Both statements will be submitted into the

record.

General MAPLES. Thank you, sir.

The testimony that I am about to present represents what we
know and judge to be the state of the conflicts in Iraq and Afghani-
stan and is the product of the dedicated men and women of the
DIA. Many of them today are executing their missions in remote
and dangerous areas in Iraq and Afghanistan. I thank them for

their service and the exceptional work that they are doing for our
Nation.

I would also like to thank you for your continued support of them
and for your continued support of the DIA.

In Iraq, the conflict is unquestionably complex and difficult. The
fight to define post-Saddam Iraq has been primarily an intra-Arab
struggle to determine how power and authority will be distributed.

Iraqi nationalists, Baathists, former military, angry Sunni,
jihadists, foreign fighters, and al Qaeda provide an overlapping,
complex, and multipolar Sunni insurgent and terrorist environ-
ment. Shiite militias, Shiite militants, and extensive criminal activ-

ity further contribute to violence, instability, and insecurity.

We have seen some recent developments that give us hope for

progress. They include the verdict against Saddam Hussein, efforts

to address problems associated with the deBaathification, increased
cooperation between Sunni Arab tribes and the government in al

Anbar Province, arrest warrants for Ministry of Interior personnel
accused of abuses, and the expulsion of rogue elements from al-

Sadr's movement.
We note the continued development and increased capability of

Iraqi security forces (ISFs) and the police. The ISFs will meet man-
ning, training, and equipment milestones and improved unit capa-
bilities. Nevertheless, the ISFs will remain dependent on coalition

support. It will also be essential that ISF leaders reject militia in-

fluence and instill discipline in their formations to gain legitimacy
with the population.
The conflict has changed in character, in scope, and the dynamics

and is increasingly a sectarian struggle for power and the right to

define Iraq's future identity. The perception of unchecked violence
is creating an atmosphere of fear and hardening sectarianism
which is empowering militias and vigilante groups and reducing
confidence in government and security forces.

Despite ongoing Iraqi government and coalition operations
against terrorists, Sunni Arab insurgent groups, and Shiite mili-

tias, violence in Iraq continues to increase in scope, complexity, and
lethality. The Sunni Arab-based insurgency has gained strength
and capacity despite political progress and security force develop-
ments.
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Attacks by terrorist groups like al Qaeda in Iraq account for only
a fraction of the insurgent violence. Yet the high-profile nature of

these operations have a disproportionate impact on the population
and on perceptions of stability. Al Qaeda in Iraq has capitalized on
the current cycle of sectarian violence. Its strategy has fueled by
appealing to perceptions that its operations are defending Sunni in-

terests. Al Qaeda in Iraq also poses a threat outside Iraq as it is

the only terrorist group in the country with known aspirations for

external attacks.

Baghdad remains the center of the conflict as Shiite and Sunni
Arabs fight for territorial control and political influence. Sectarian
attacks constitute most of the violence in the mixed ethnicity areas
in and around the capital, while the coalition remains the primary
target in the Shiite south and the Sunni west. Recent coalition and
ISF operations in Baghdad have achieved limited success. In Au-
gust levels of violence temporarily decreased, primarily in Sunni
Arab neighborhoods. However, as armed groups adapted to the coa-

lition presence and the ISFs were unable to exert authority once
coalition forces moved on, attacks returned to and even surpassed
pre-operational levels.

The Iraqi government is making progress, but is likely to remain
fragile owing to different challenges, lack of experience and capac-
ity, mistrust, and constitutional constraints. Iraqi government offi-

cials continue attempts to achieve national reconciliation, but at-

tacks against civilians, a key driver of ethnosectarian conflict, con-

tinue to increase.

Sectarian differences limit the effectiveness of government as
groups maintain a hard-line stance on contentious issues. Shiite

militias are a growing impediment to stability. The Ministry of In-

terior and the police are heavily infiltrated and militias often oper-

ate under the protection or approval of Iraqi police to attack sus-

pected Sunni insurgents and Sunni civilians.

DIA judges a coalition presence is the primary counter to a
breakdown in central authority, which would have grave con-

sequences for the people of Iraq, stability in the region, and U.S.
strategic interests. No major political figure in Iraq has endorsed
the notion of civil war or partition and most political and religious

leaders continue to restrain their communities. Moreover, DIA
judges that Iraqi Arabs retain a strong sense of national identity

and most Iraqis recall a past in which sectarian identity did not
have the significance that it has today.
Although leaders across the political spectrum who are partici-

pating in the government continue to talk and search for a positive

way forward, the challenges to bringing stability and security with
a cohesive, unified, and effective government remain significant.

Turning to Afghanistan, in Afghanistan the Taliban-led insur-

gency, aided by al Qaeda, is incapable of directly threatening the
central government and expanding its support networks and areas
of influence beyond strongholds in the Pashtun south and east. De-
spite having absorbed heavy combat losses in 2006, the insurgency
has strengthened its capabilities and influence with its core base
of Pashtun communities. If a sustained international military and
Afghan security presence throughout the volatile Pashtun south
and east is not established alongside credible civilian administra-
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tions, central government control over these areas will be re-

stricted.

In 2007, insurgents are likely to sustain their use of visible, ag-
gressive, and lethal tactics. Al Qaeda remains committed to rees-

tablishing a fundamentalist Islamic government in Afghanistan. In
2006 al Qaeda appears to be attempting to reinvigorate its oper-
ations from safe havens in the Afghan-Pakistan border region.

Since 2001 the Afghan Government has successfully established
national level political institutions by drafting a new constitution,
holding a legitimate presidential election, and creating a democrat-
ically elected national assembly. However, local government insti-

tutions receive limited resources from Kabul and struggle to pro-
vide effective governance. Unrealized expectations at local levels
are likely contributing to an erosion of support for the government.
Nevertheless, President Karzai remains the most powerful political

figure in Afghanistan and retains the widest support.
Mr. Chairman, Senator Levin, members of the committee, thank

you again for this opportunity to discuss with you our assessment
of the current security situations in Iraq and Afghanistan. Our Na-
tion is engaged in a long war against terrorism and violent extre-
mism. Providing support to our soldiers, sailors, airmen, marines
and civilians engaged in fighting insurgencies in Iraq and Afghani-
stan and the global war on terrorism is our first priority. Thank
you for your continuing support.

[The prepared statement of General Maples follows:l

Prepared Statement by LTG Michael D. Maples, USA

INTRODUCTION

Good afternoon Mr. Chairman, Senator Levin, and members of the committee.
Thank you for the opportunity to testify before you today. The testimony I am about
to present represents what we know and judge to be the state of the conflicts in
Iraq and Afghanistan and is the product of the dedicated men and women of the
Defense IntelUgence Agency (DIA). These outstanding mihtary and civihan intel-

hgence professionals provide our warfighters, defense planners, and national secu-
rity policymakers with information and knowledge essential to our efforts around
the world, but especially to operations in Iraq and Afghanistan. Many of them are
executing their missions in remote and dangerous areas of Iraq and Afghanistan.
I thank them for their service and the exceptional work they are doing for our Na-
tion. I would also like to thank you for your continued support of the DIA.

IRAQ

We have seen some recent developments that give hope for progress. These in-

clude the verdict against Saddam Hussein, efforts to address problems associated
with de-Baathification, increased cooperation between Sunni Arab tribes and the
government in al Anbar Province, arrest warrants for Ministry of Interior personnel
accused of abuses, and the expulsion of radicals from Muqtada al-Sadr's movement.
We note the continued development and increased capability of the Iraqi security

forces (ISF) and police. The ISF will meet manning, training, and equipment mile-
stones, improving unit capabilities. Nevertheless, the ISF will remain dependent on
coalition support. It will also be essential that ISF leaders reject militia influence
and instill discipline in their formations to gain legitimacy with the population.
The economy has seen moderate growth despite the security situation, with con-

tinued improvement in basic services, economic reforms, and institution-building.
The conflict is unquestionably complex and difficult. The fight to define post-Sad-

dam Iraq has been primarily an intra-Arab struggle to determine how power and
authority will be distributed. Iraqi nationalists, ex-Baathists, former military, angry
Sunni, Jihadists, foreign fighters, and al Qaeda provide an overlapping, complex and
multi-polar Sunni insurgent and terrorist environment. Shiite militias and Shiite
militants, some Kurdish Peshmerga, and extensive criminal activity further con-
tribute to violence, instability, and insecurity.
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The U.S. presence obscured the true nature of this fight between and among com-
peting groups for power as observers focused on insurgent attacks and rhetoric di-

rected at the United States. Today, DIA assesses the conditions for the further dete-

rioration of security and instabihty exists within this ongoing, violent struggle for

power. Although a significant breakdown of central authority has not occurred, Iraq
has moved closer to this possibility primarily because of weak governance, increas-

ing security challenges, and no agreement on a national compact.
The conflict has changed in character, scope, and dynamics and is increasingly a

sectarian struggle for power and the right to define Iraq's future identity. Overall
attacks averaged approximately 180 per day in October 2006, up from approxi-
mately 170 the previous month, and 70 in January 2006. Daily average of attacks
against ISF in October more than doubled the number reported in January, approxi-
mately 30 compared to 13. Daily average of attacks on civilians in October was four

times higher than reported in January, approximately 40 compared to 10. The per-

ception of unchecked violence is creating an atmosphere of fear and hardening sec-

tarianism which is empowering militias and vigilante groups, hastening middle-
class exodus, and shaking confidence in government and security forces. Sectarian
violence, a weak central government, problems in basic services, and high unem-
ployment are causing more Iraqis to turn to sectarian groups, militias, and insur-

gents for basic needs, imperiling Iraqi unity.

Despite ongoing Iraqi government and coalition operations against terrorists,

Sunni Arab insurgent groups, and Shiite militias, violence in Iraq continues to in-

crease in scope, complexity, and lethality. The Sunni Arab-based insurgency has
gained strength and capacity despite political progress and security force develop-

ments. Nationwide, insurgents still conduct most attacks against the coalition and
ISF and retain the resources, capabilities, and support to sustain high levels of vio-

lence.

Attacks by terrorist groups account for only a fi-action of insurgent violence

throughout Iraq, yet the high-profile nature of these operations and the tactics they
use have a disproportionate impact on the population and on perceptions of sta-

bility. Al Qaeda in Iraq (AQI), formerly led by Abu Musab al-Zarqawi and currently
headed by Abu Ayyub al-Masri, is the largest and most active of the Iraqi-based ter-

rorist groups. AQI's targeting strategies have not changed significantly in the wake
of al-Zarqawi's death on June 7, and attacks against Iraqi government targets and
coalition forces continue apace. In addition, AQI is one of the most visible perpetra-
tors of anti-Shiite attacks in Iraq—a hallmark of its strategy since 2003—and has
capitalized on the current cycle of sectarian violence by increasing perceptions that
its operations are defending Sunni interests. AQI also poses a threat outside Iraq,

as it is the only terrorist group in the country with known aspirations for external
attacks, including possibly against targets in Europe and the U.S. Homeland. Be-
cause of his involvement with al Qaeda-linked terrorists since the early 1980s, Abu
Ayyub may have increased ties to al Qaeda senior leaders; these could enhance
AQI's external attack capabilities. AQI operates with relative fi"eedom in Iraq's

Sunni-dominated territories, and as long as this remains true, the group will pose
a threat to Iraq's internal stability and to Western interests abroad. Ansar al-

Sunna, the second-most prominent terrorist group in Iraq, also poses a threat to

Iraqi stability and has longstanding ties to AQI and external al Qaeda elements.
Baghdad remains the center of the conflict as Shiite and Sunni Arabs fight for

territorial control and political influence. Sectarian attacks constitute most of the
violence in the mixed-ethnicity areas in and around the capital, while the coalition

remains the primary target in the Shiite south and Sunni west.
Recent coalition and ISF operations in Baghdad have achieved limited success. In

August, levels of violence temporarily decreased, primarily in Sunni Arab neighbor-
hoods. However, as armed groups adapted to the coalition presence, and the ISF
was unable to exert authority once coalition forces moved on, attacks returned to

and even surpassed preoperational levels. Among a range of factors, the govern-
ment's reluctance to conduct operations in Shiite militia strongholds also decreased
the effectiveness and potential for success of the Baghdad efforts.

The Iraqi government of Prime Minister Maliki is making progress but is likely

to remain fragile owing to very difficult challenges, lack of experience and capacity,

mistrust, and constitutional constraints. Iraqi government officials continue at-

tempts to achieve national reconciliation, but attacks against civilians, a key driver

of ethno-sectarian conflict, continue to increase. Political leaders' inability to resolve

key issues such as federalism, de-Baathfication, amnesty for insurgents, and militia

integration also contribute to continued Sunni Arab discontent, fueling support for

terrorist and insurgent groups. Sectarian difference limit the effectiveness of govern-
ment as groups maintain a hardline stance on contentious issues.
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Shiite militias are a growing impediment to stability. The Ministry of Interior and
the police are heavily infiltrated by members of the Supreme Council for Islamic
Revolution in Iraq (SCIRIs), Badr Corps and Muqtada al-Sadr's Jaysh al-Mahdi.
The Jaysh al-Mahdi often operates under the protection or approval of Iraqi police

to detain, torture, and kill suspected Sunni insurgents and innocent Sunni civilians.

Sadr continues to refuse any discussion of disbanding his militia. Some clandestine
Jaysh al-Mahdi cells likely operate outside Sadr's direct guidance and conduct oper-

ations against the coalition.

The Iraqi economy has experienced moderate growth despite the security situa-

tion, which continues to impede and increase overall costs of reconstruction. How-
ever, the inability to realize significant improvements in the oil and fuels sector and
in electricity production and distribution creates drag on the economy while under-
mining the average Iraqi citizens' support for the central government and the coali-

tion.

DIA judges the continued coalition presence as the primary counter to a break-
down in central authority, which would have grave consequences for the people of

Iraq, stability in the region, and U.S. strategic interests. No major political figure

in Iraq has endorsed the notion of civil war or partition, and most political and reli-

gious leaders continue to restrain their communities. Moreover, DIA judges that
Iraqi Arabs retain a strong sense of national identity and that most Iraqis recall

a past in which sectarian identity did not have the significance it does today. Al-

though leaders across the political spectrum who are participating in the govern-
ment continue to talk and search for a positive way forward, the challenges to bring-

ing stability and security with a cohesive, unified, and effective government remain
significant.

AFGHANISTAN

In Afghanistan the Taliban-led insurgency, aided by al Qaeda, is incapable of di-

rectly threatening the central government and expanding its resilient support net-

works and areas of influence beyond strongholds in the Pashtun south and east as
long as international force levels are sustained at current levels. Nonetheless, DIA
judges that, despite having absorbed heavy combat losses in 2006, the insurgency
has strengthened its capabilities and influence with its core base of Pashtun com-
munities. Violence this year is likely to be twice as high as the violence level seen
in 2005. Insurgents have significantly increased their use of suicide operations. If

a sustained international military and Afghan security presence throughout the
volatile Pashtun south and east is not established alongside credible civil adminis-
trations, central government control over these areas will be substantially re-

stricted. In 2007, insurgents are likely to sustain their use of more visible, aggres-
sive, and lethal tactics in their continued effort to undermine the willingness of the
international community to support military and reconstruction operations in Af-
ghanistan and to highlight the weakness of the central government.
Al Qaeda remains committed to reestablishing a fundamentalist Islamic govern-

ment in Afghanistan and has become increasingly successful in defining Afghani-
stan as a critical battleground against the west and its regional allies. In 2006, al-

though the Taliban continues to drive the insurgency, al Qaeda once again appears
to be attempting to reinvigorate its operations in the country ft-om safe-havens in

the Afghan-Pakistan border region. These efforts are characterized by an evolution
in al Qaeda's increasingly cooperative relationship with insurgent networks. With-
out a ftindamental, comprehensive change in the permissiveness of the border re-

gion, al Qaeda will remain a dangerous threat to security in Afghanistan and to

U.S. interests around the globe.

Since 2001, the Afghan Government has successfully established national-level po-
litical institutions by drafting a new constitution, holding a legitimate presidential
election, and creating a democratically elected national assembly. However, local

government institutions receive limited resources from Kabul and struggle to pro-

vide effective governance. The Afghan National Army and Afghan National Police

are also struggling to promote security, particularly in the volatile south and east.

They remain hindered by a shortage of skilled personnel, tribal and ethnic rivalries,

and corruption. Nearly 5 years after the Taliban's fall, many Afghans expected the
situation to be better by now and are beginning to blame President Karzai. These
unrealized expectations are likely contributing to an erosion of support for his ad-
ministration. Nevertheless, President Karzai remains the most powerful political

figure in Afghanistan and retains the widest body of support. He will need concrete
successes in the months ahead to convince Afghans his administration still has mo-
mentum and to provide an effective counter to Taliban advances.
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CONCLUSION

Mr. Chairman, Senator Levin, members of the committee, thank you again for the
opportunity to discuss with you our assessment of the current security situations

in Iraq and Afghanistan. Our Nation is engaged in a long war against terrorism and
violent extremism. Providing support to our soldiers, sailors, airmen, and marines
engaged in insurgencies in Iraq and Afghanistan and the global war on terrorism
is our first priority. Thank you for your continuing support for the men and women
of the DIA.

Chairman Wakner. Thank you very much, gentlemen, for excel-

lent opening statements.
I would start with a question and I will direct it to both of you.

There are discussions today, and I think it is important that dis-

cussions be held and they are being held at all levels of our execu-
tive branch here today, on the very subjects that each of you have
covered. Part of those discussions relates to looking at the possi-

bility of having some form of negotiations with both Syria and Iran.

My question to you is what can you advise us with respect to the
viability of persons or an entity of government in each of those
countries that can, in a responsible way, engage in such discussions
should they be undertaken?
General Hayden?
General Hayden. Senator, that is a difficult question and one on

which a lot of things will hinge. If I can just perhaps characterize
what we view to be the issues in Iraq to the west and to the east

—

Syria and Iran. As I said in my opening statement, an awful lot

of the issues in Iraq are inherent to the structures of Iraqi society

and their history. That said, the problems there are made worse by
activities done by Iraq's neighbors, particularly Iran. I mentioned
specifically in my comment that the Iranian hand appears to be
powerful and I would offer the view it appears to be growing. Ira-

nian ambitions in Iraq seem to be expanding.
With regard to Syria, it is sometimes hard to judge the distinc-

tion between incompetence and malevolence with regard to what
goes on in Syria that may affect the situation in Iraq. Clearly both
governments could do more. That I think is clear. If our dialogue
with them could convince them to do more and convince them that
their interests are not served by a fracturing of Iraq, then I would
say that might be useful.

Again, it is a complex question. It is fraught with other policy

considerations. Talking to Iran about Iraq cannot be isolated, I be-

lieve, from the broader nuclear question. Talking to Syria about
Iraq cannot be isolated from Lebanon, Hezbollah, and the Pales-

tinian territories. So there are a lot of things to balance there.

Right now, the positions of both governments are not useful, par-

ticularly the Iranians. But an awful lot of what is going on in Iraq

is endemic to the circumstances in Iraq, Senator.
Chairman WARNER. Thank you.
General Maples?
General Maples. Sir, I believe that we do have a regional issue

that needs to be addressed, and I believe that there are activities

that are currently undertaken by both of those countries, Iran and
Syria, that have an adverse impact on what we are trying to

achieve in Iraq. The activities range and have been discussed in

the past in terms of support for militias within Iraq and also the
transiting of foreign fighters and members of al Qaeda. So that ter-
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ritory and activities that are conducted in those two nations are
having a significant impact on the conflict.

Your question was the viabiHty of discussions with persons in

those two countries and I beUeve that in both cases the govern-
ments of those two countries are very centralized and that the con-

trol of the central governments in each of those cases would have
an ability to impact the activities going on within their countries
and to influence the outcomes in Iraq as well.

Chairman Warner. A question to both of you. I detect, and I am
just going to speak for myself, there is a strong resolve both in the
executive branch and Congress as we work our way through a ma-
trix of options here with regard to possible change, substantial
change in strategy. There is a resolve to try very hard to continue
to seek the goal of enabling the government in Iraq to fully grow
in strength and size and influence such that it can exercise the full

range of sovereignty, and that includes of course their own per-
sonal security, of their nation.

But should that fail despite the best attempts by ourselves and
other nations, what would you project as being the consequences.
General Hayden, as it relates to the region and indeed that part
of the world?
General Hayden. Yes, Senator. I would judge it catastrophic,

first of all for the people of Iraq, because I think it would plunge
them even deeper into chaos and the road out of it would be longer
and more steep. With regard to the region, it would be almost as
bad as it would be for the people of Iraq, because I think you would
see a fracturing of Iraqi society along some of those seam lines that
I suggested earlier. The temptation of neighbors to intervene may
become irresistible, and, of course that could prompt other sorts of
activity.

With regard to us, failure in Iraq, failure to create a viable Iraqi

state, I think would embolden the worst of our enemies, certainly
al Qaeda. It would provide them with a safe haven rivaling the one
they had in Afghanistan prior to October 2001. I think it would
also embolden other adversaries in the region, particularly Iran,
whom I would suggest to you right now, not totally warranted,
seems to be conducting a foreign policy with a feeling of almost
dangerous triumphalism. I think that would make it even worse.
So I do not see any happy outcomes that would come from our not
being successful.

Chairman Warner. You certainly did not suggest there would be
any happy outcome. I think you very carefully summarized your
own professional opinion.
Now, General Maples?
General Maples. Sir, I would make four points. The first is that

we would embolden the jihadist movement throughout the world.
They would see this as a victory and would move on to other areas
that would threaten our national interest.

The second is, it would establish Iran, I believe, as a regional
power. That would not be in the best interest of the United States.
The third is, I think there would be a great economic con-

sequence potentially to this as well, most specifically from the
threat to the production of oil and the impact that would have on
economies.
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The fourth point I would make is that I think it would also bring
about instability in other countries in the region.

Chairman Warner. My last question, again to both of you. The
most difficult challenge in many respects in the Afghan situation

—

and you indicated a decade, General, if I understood you, to bring
about a stabilized country in terms of internal security such that
their economy can begin to prosper and care for their people. But
therein requires a resolution of this drug situation, which by any
reasonable estimate is better than half of their gross national prod-

uct, which is permeating throughout not only that region, the ill ef-

fects of it, but much of Europe, who apparently receive a lot of the
drugs.

Who is doing what, and what must be done if it is not being done
to begin in a reasonable period of time eliminate that aspect of the
restoration of the nation of Afghanistan?
General Hayden. Sir, I think you characterize the problem quite

correctly. It is a massive portion currently of the real GDP of Af-

ghanistan, and unfortunately that may not be by explicit choice,

but many people in Afghanistan are pushed into that as the only

viable economic opportunity they might have. So I would suggest

to a first order rebuilding the infrastructure and providing the peo-

ple of Afghanistan with alternative means of livelihood, be it farm-
ing, extraction industries, and the like. That will require some in-

vestment on our part.

I have talked to the Afghan leadership in a recent visit. They un-
derstand this. But it is almost the devil's own problem, Senator.

Right now the issue is stability and a powerful anti-drug program
going into, say, Helmand Province, which is probably the worst
province there is right now in terms of opium production. Going in

there and attacking the drug trade actually feeds the instability

that you want to overcome. That is not a reason for not doing it.

It just makes it even more challenging.

Senator, there are a few other notes I would add, but perhaps
in closed session I could add some of the other activities.

Chairman Warner. General Maples?
General Maples. Sir, I would agree with General Hayden. The

real issue is the conflict that you have in terms of the economics
at the local level and what alternative crops, what alternative

means of subsistence you could provide to the local populace. At-

tacking the problem directly in terms of the drug trade at the same
time would undermine the attempt to gain popular support in the

same regions—a real conflict, I think.

In terms of your question, there is a program that is going on
in terms of ground eradication and there are several institutions

that have been put together by the government of Afghanistan in

order to try to begin to address the drug problem. There are related

issues, of course, associated with drugs. It goes into corruption, it

goes into support to the Taliban. So there are a number of issues

that are associated there.

Chairman Warner. Thank you.

Senator Levin.

Senator LEVIN. Thank you.
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Chairman WARNER. Senator Levin, I wonder if we might recog-

nize Senator Reed to recognize a distinguished group of visitors we
have here.

Senator Reed. Mr. Chairman, I notice that we have some West
Point cadets here, who are probably here
Senator McCain. I object. [Laughter.]
Senator Reed.—who are probably here to observe my classmate,

General Maples, who is a much more positive role model. I am
pleased that you are here, and just listen to what General Maples
says and you will learn a great deal.

Chairman Warner. Thank you. Senator Reed.
Senator Levin.
Senator Levin. I wonder if you are willing to give us a hint as

to your age, as to when you were in West Point?
Senator Reed. When I was in West Point?
Senator Levin. Yes, what years?
Senator Reed. 1967 to 1971. I know General Maples looks much

younger, but this job ages you a lot. [Laughter.]
Senator Levin. Congratulations to you. It is great to have you all

here, cadets.

General Maples, you have said in your statement that violence
in Iraq continues to increase in scope, complexity, and lethality,

and that the Sunni Arab-based insurgency has gained strength and
capacity. Has that been true over the last few months?
General ]VIaples. Sir, it has been true over the last few months.

We saw in the summer the violence levels starting to increase sub-
stantially. We certainly saw that, and in my statement for the
record I provided some statistics that showed the levels of violence
that we saw, particularly in the August, September, and October
timeframes. Post-Ramadan we have seen a slight decrease in the
levels of violence, but we are only about halfway through the
month right now. We are seeing a bigger difference this month
than we did see in the last 2 months.

Senator LEVIN. What is your current assessment of the course
that we are on? Are we on a course of success currently in Iraq?
General IVlAPLES. A very difficult question because it is a very

complex issue. There are many variables that will determine our
success or failure in Iraq. I would say that I think we are making
progress in terms of ISFs, which I think are key. But we need to

empower them to a greater degree. We do have to disarm the mili-

tias. I think there are many areas of the country that we still need
to gain control of, and I think that there are a number of problems
that are associated with reconciliation between the parties that
need to be addressed directly.

So it is a very tough course ahead of us.

Senator Levin. Can you give us an assessment as to the current
course, as to whether or not on balance, it is leading upwards, side-

ways, or downwards?
General IMaples. Sir, I think we are making progress, but the

progress is slow right now. I think we still have the opportunity
for success, but it will be a very difficult process to get us to where
we want to be, both from a security standpoint and from a political

standpoint, in Iraq.
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Senator Levin. Is a political settlement by the Iraqis essential in

your judgment, if failure is to be avoided in Iraq?
General Maples. Absolutely. I believe that in fact the parties

have to be brought together and it has to be a political approach
and the government of Iraq has to be in the lead in doing that.

Senator LEVIN. What are the pressure points on that government
to do that? Why have they so far not reached settlement over re-

sources, over power, over the militias? We have now had 3^2 years
of losses there. What can be brought to bear? What pressure can
be brought to bear on the political leaders to make them carry out
compromises that you just described they need to make?
General Maples. Sir, I think continuing with the prime minister

is certainly essential to this process. I think his recent move to re-

align his cabinet to bring in leaders who he has greater faith in,

who can make a difference, is a substantial move forward. I believe

that there are a number of matters related, as I mentioned, to rec-

onciliation, in particular with respect to the Sunni Arab population,
that need to be addressed.

Senator Levin. They need to be, but what is going to press, what
is going to produce the change in the political leadership to accom-
modate each other? They have not done it so far. They came up
with an October 3rd agreement which was supposed to end the sec-

tarian violence. They have not carried out their commitment to

make constitutional changes, or at least consider them, that they
were supposed to have considered long ago. What will change this

dynamic so that their political leaders can make a settlement
which you acknowledge is essential if we are going to have success
in Iraq?
General Maples. Sir, I think that is a policy decision that is

under review right now. But very clearly I think we have to use
probably a combination of approaches towards the leadership in

Iraq. I think that enabling is very important. I think that being
forceful in where we are trying to go and what we are trying to

achieve is also very important. In that line, I believe that we have
to make it known to the leadership in Iraq that there are expecta-
tions that need to be followed through on.

Senator LEVIN. If they are not?

General MAPLES. Sir, that would be a decision that would be
reached elsewhere.

Senator Levin. General Hayden, in your testimony you have in-

dicated that since the bombing of the mosque in Samarra last Feb-
ruary, violence has grown to such an extent that you assess sec-

tarian violence is now the greatest threat to Iraq's stability in the
future.

General Hayden. Yes, sir.

Senator Levin. Is that the current situation?

General Hayden. Yes, sir, it is. To be clear, it is the greatest im-
mediate threat and it is the one that has to be overcome in order

for us to begin to deal with all the others I mentioned. I suggested
one single narrative does not explain it. It is a really tough and
complex problem.

Senator Levin. Do you agree that a political settlement by the
Iraqis is essential if there is going to be a chance of success in

Iraq?
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General Hayden. Absolutely, Senator.
Senator Levin. Do you have any assessment as to the direction,

the current direction, as to whether it does not change, as to

whether it leads to success or not?
General Hayden. Clearly, as General Abizaid suggested this

morning, the Iraqi government has to step up to some responsi-
bility. I believe specifically he mentioned the army is gaining in ca-

pability. It needs the political leadership from the central govern-
ment in order to carry out its tasks.

Senator, if I could just offer one additional thought, I know it is

commonplace to say how complex, and so on, it is. We are asking
these individuals, these new leaders in Iraq, to overcome their own
personal histories. You have Sunnis who have never been in this

circumstance, Shiites who have never been in this circumstance,
and each of them thinking the other presents an existential threat
to them. It is going to require, as General Maples suggested, all the
tools we have to motivate them to make decisions that are clearly
in their best interests for the long-term.

Senator Levin. My time is up. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Warner. Thank you very much.
Senator McCain.
Senator McCain. Thank you very much.
Thank you. Generals, for being here, and thanks for your out-

standing service. Let me give you a couple of proposals, General
Hayden and General Maples. One is that we announce that in 4
to 6 months we are going to start removing troops from Iraq. What
do you think of that idea, General?
General Hayden. Senator, it is difficult for me to predict what

that means with the situation being so volatile. I would attach it

to a strategy. As I said this morning, things are changing. There
may be places when we should be pushing where we have been
pulling, running when we should be walking. But I would not want
to just say, if we change this then what else would happen. I would
rather work it from the other way around: what is the effect we
are trying to create?
Senator McCain. General Maples?
General Maples. Sir, I believe that the coalition forces right now

are the element that is keeping Iraq together and that their pres-
ence is important for that factor alone. Four to 6 months from now,
I do not know. There are so many things that need to happen, so
many things that will happen, in the next 4 to 6 months. But the
impact of removal of the forces I think will lead us to a greater
level of violence perhaps in Iraq than what we are seeing now.
General Maples. How about we partition Iraq into three dif-

ferent nation states? What do you think of that idea?
General Maples. Sir, I think that is particularly problematic. In

particular, I would see a problem in the western part of Iraq. As
you partition that, the lead in the western part of Iraq would fall

to jihadist groups. That would give them the base to conduct the
kinds of external operations that they have said that they want to

conduct.
General Hayden. Senator, I do not even know how you would do

it, given that a third of the population is in mixed urban areas. I

just do not know how a partition could work.
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Senator McCain. You mentioned, General Hayden, as did Gen-
eral Abizaid this morning, it is time for the government to step up.
What do we think when an American soldier is kidnapped, our
military sets up checkpoints and barricades Sadr City, and then
the prime minister orders us to stop that? Is that not a bit

dispiriting?

General Hayden. Senator, I am looking at it from a distance, so
I do not know the tactical situation. On the face of it, I understand
the question and I understand the response. We are dealing with
a sovereign Iraqi government. We want them to step up. We want
them to be independent, but independent in a way that expresses
an Iraqi government rather than a government that is anchored in

one of the factions.

Senator McCain. The suspicion is that this is the case, and that
is obviously very disturbing.

General Maples, is Anbar Province under control?

General MAPLES. No, sir, I do not believe it is.

Senator McCain. What about Ramadi and Fallujah specifically?

General Maples. I think we have greater control in those two cit-

ies.

Senator McCain. But in the province in general?
General Maples. In the province in general, I would say not.

Senator McCain. How would we fix that problem, since it has
been in and out of control four or five times in the last 3V2 years
that I know of?

General Maples. Sir, I think it is going to take a combination
of additional security forces. I think it is going to take leadership
out of the tribal sheiks who are in that province. I think we need
to interdict those elements that are influencing activities in Anbar
Province from external sources to Iraq.

General Hayden. Senator, I would reinforce one point
Senator McCain. I am sorry, go ahead.
General Hayden.—that General Maples brought up, and that is

convincing the local sheiks, the local tribes, that their interests are
not coincident with the interests of al Qaeda.

Senator McCain. We are not doing that now, right. General
Maples? We are not doing that now?
General Maples. Sir, there are some efforts that are underway

with the tribal sheiks. In fact, there have been some recent suc-

cesses along that line.

Senator McCain. So do you expect us to gain control of Anbar
Province any time soon?
General Maples. No, not over just the two successes. It is going

to take a combination of things for us to gain the control.

General Hayden. Senator, if you look at that tactic, which I

agree with, it shows the complexity of the problem. To the degree
you empower the tribal sheiks to do that in al Anbar, what have
you done to the authority and the sovereignty of the government
in Baghdad?

Senator McCain. This of course brings me full circle, a sufficient

number of troops. I will not belabor you with that any more.
How would you describe. General Hayden and General Maples,

today, in light of this really striking event of the kidnapping of 150
people in broad daylight in Baghdad today? When something like
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that happens it really is an attention-getter, obviously. Go ahead,
General.
General Hayden. Sir, I think one of the words I thought you

were going to come up with was "inexplicable." Our station in

Baghdad has a strong view on this. Their view of the battlefield is

that it is descending into smaller and smaller groups fighting over
smaller and smaller issues, over smaller and smaller pieces of ter-

ritory. That event could probably best be explained by cir-

cumstances that are well beyond our view at the national level.

That is the product of the lack of governance and somewhat of the
chaos that we are seeing there now.
Senator McCain. Of course, the thing that is so disturbing is

they were dressed in police uniforms apparently. Did you ever
think about maybe just disbanding the police and using the mili-

tary instead, instead of police? That is the case in some countries,
where the army does all that kind of work.
General Hayden. Sir, I do know if you just look at the tactical

situation, we are using the Iraqi army for functions that are police

functions in other areas.

Senator McCain. Is it most disturbing that—I understand the al

Qaeda effect and I appreciate both of your comments. But is it not
most disturbing that what seems to be a rising level of violence, of
sectarian violence?
General Hayden. Absolutely frightening. There are historical

forces that have been unleashed by what I referred to earlier. Sen-
ator, as the Satanic level of violence al Qaeda has inflicted on par-
ticularly the Shiite population.

Senator McCain. Another probably uninformed comment. In Tur-
key many years ago we bought up the opium crop, the poppies.
Have we thought of that?
General Hayden. I have not been privy to any of those discus-

sions.

General Maples. I am not aware.
Senator McCain. Because it certainly is pervasive today and it

could turn it into a narco-state. But a lot of us are in it together,
that is the good news, right?
Thank you.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Warner. Senator Kennedy.
Senator Kennedy. Thank you very much.
Thank you, gentlemen, for coming. Could I ask, of those that are

being killed out here in this violence, what percent of those are for-

eigners? General Maples or General Hayden?
General Maples. In terms of foreign fighters?
Senator Kennedy. Yes, the fraction.

General Hayden. It is a small fraction. Senator.
Senator Kennedy. I had heard figures of 2 or 3 percent. Is that

about the figure?

General Hayden. That is probably about—maybe slightly higher,
but not much.

Senator Kennedy. So the foreign fighters represent 2 or 3 per-
cent and the rest of those that are involved in the fighting are the
sectarian fighters? I am just trying to get some sense about who
is involved in these.



182

General Hayden. I would agree that the rest of the fighters are
from Iraq. Sectarian as opposed to al Qaeda may be a distinction

that would be important to make.
Senator E^ENNEDY. What do you say are the 2 to 3 percent? Are

they the leaders of the 97 percent of the rest, or are they foot sol-

diers?

General Hayden. Two categories, Senator. A significant portion
of the leadership of al Qaeda in Iraq is foreign and an over-

whelming percentage of the suicide bombers are foreign, so they
have an impact well beyond their numbers.

Senator KENNEDY. So the ones, the 2 to 3 percent, that includes
the suicide bombers?
General Hayden. Yes, sir.

Senator Kennedy. So we have the suicide bombers that are part
of it. But the rest of it therefore is the sectarian killings or conflict?

General Hayden. Again, it is fighters

Senator Kennedy. Indigenous effectively to Iran?
General Hayden. The fighters are from Iraq.

Senator Kennedy. Iraq, rather, indigenous effectively to Iraq.

General Hayden. Yes, sir.

Senator Kennedy. Iraqis against Iraqis?

General Hayden. Yes, sir.

Senator Kennedy. Sunnis against the Shiite and the other
groups.
Now I am going to direct your attention to the National Intel-

ligence Estimates (NIE). The last one was done on Iraq and was
completed in July 2004, 2 years ago. August 3, the Senate approved
an amendment that I offered with Senator Reed to the Department
of Defense (DOD) appropriations mandating an updating of the
NIE. This is to include the overall intelligence assessment. This in-

cludes the prospects for controlling sectarian violence, the civil war
prospects, the ethnic, religious, and tribal divisions, the prospects
to disarm and demobilize the militias, likelihood of the government
success in response to the Sunnis, a wide range of different kinds
of requirements that you are all too familiar with.

On August 4, the Director of National Intelligence (DNI) agreed
to task the Intelligence Community (IC) to prepare it. They had
said there had been numerous developments in Iraq since the last

NIE in mid-2004, to include three political transitions. DNI be-

lieves it is timely to prepare an updated estimate giving the op-

tions and questions concerning Iraq.

Two days ago we received a letter from the DNI informing us the
National Intelligence Council, working with the IC, has been final-

izing the terms of reference for the NIE and is beginning, it uses
the word "beginning," to work on the report, beginning to work on
it.

Is there any way that you can explain why the IC is dragging
its feet on a new assessment of Iraq? We have the President now
announcing that he is going to have his own assessment. You have
the Hamilton-Baker Commission doing its assessment. We have a
new Secretary of Defense coming in that will want the best in

terms of intelligence. Why is there such dragging of the feet effec-

tively in developing the NIE, which was so important really in
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terms of the community and the pohcymakers' decisions about Iraq
poHcy?
General Hayden. Senator, I am going to go first and then I am

sure General Maples will have a comment, because we both sit on
the board that approves the NIEs.

I would not, in all fairness, characterize it as dragging our feet.

In fact, in terms of how NIEs are crafted, this one is more or less

on a pretty fast track. I recognize the need for your committee, the
rest of Congress, the Baker-Hamilton Commission, and others to

have the benefit of the IC's thinking. That is happening in parallel.

I can tell you, for example, that much of my remarks have been
crafted on our participation in the working groups that are already
under way to craft the final NIE. So although the final product, I

am not sure when Ambassador Negroponte projected it, but if the
final product is in January it does not mean that the thinking that
has gone into that product will not be available, portions of it, a
lot of it, prior to that date.

Senator Kennedy. General Maples, anything?
General Maples. Sir, no.

Senator KENNEDY. Just to add, these are the critical times, as we
have been pointed out—major discussions in the Nation, the elec-

tions, new Secretary of Defense, the Baker-Hamilton Commission
making recommendations, the President doing his own kind of as-

sessment on this. It is against the background, as has been talked
about in the hearing, of these seizing of the Department of Edu-
cation.

I returned after our hearing just at about 2 o'clock and turned
on CNN. CNN said 50 more bodies were found, bullet-ridden bod-
ies, today. The Minister of Education has just resigned because of

this, what is happening. There is a sense of urgency that is out
there. This does provide the best in terms of the IC for the policy-

makers. To the extent that you can give a greater sense of urgency
in the preparation of it, I think the country would be well-served.
General Maples. Understand, Senator, and we certainly will.

Our analysts are already engaged in helping to prepare that. I

have reviewed the terms of reference as well and made suggested
changes to that, to the terms of reference. We certainly understand
how significant this is to the Nation.

Senator KENNEDY. Thank you very much for your service.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Senator Inhofe [presiding]. Thank you. Senator.
This morning I did not attend. I could not attend because I was

chairing a hearing at the same time, and so I have more of my
thoughts really that would be more appropriate for the first panel.
Let me just try this on you. I think when it is suggested, as we
have heard it suggested many times, that we change our strategy
in Iraq and bring a lot of our troops down to Kuwait, have them
deployed then to go back up there to put out fires. General Abizaid
felt this would not work.
You both agree with him on this, his answers?
General Hayden. Yes, Senator.
Senator Inhofe. The other thing that came up this morning

—

and I was not here, but they told me about it—was the idea of in-

creasing our embedding. Now, a minute ago we were talking about
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Fallujah. I had occasion to be there three or four times, during all

the elections, I might add. When General Madhi was in charge
there, a guy, a general who really did not like Americans to start

with, until we started, they started their embedded training with
the Marines—and you can remember the story, that he said when
they rotated them out they all got together and cried. They became
very close.

They thought that was a very successful program. Now, that is

kind of a model in my mind of embedded training. When you say
you might want to increase embedded training, are you talking
about increasing the ratio of our troops or coalition troops or in-

creasing the whole numbers to get more embedded training?

General Maples. Sir, I believe the proposal is to increase the size

and the capability of our military transition teams that are embed-
ded with ISFs. I do believe that that is important to build greater
capability for the ISFs in the near-term.
Senator INHOFE. I agree with that. I just returned from my 12th

trip to that region and I was in, mostly in Afghanistan during this

time, with a rather larger group. As you will recall, General Jones
had a group of the private sector over there, and we went to the
Provincial Reconstruction Teams to see what the successes are.

General Jones has a way of showing what has happened in Af-

ghanistan. I think that is very good. He uses this chart that hope-
fully some of our members up here have seen and of course you are
very familiar with.

[The information referred to follows:]

Afghanistan Redevelopment
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United
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Senator Inhofe. His observation is, and I agree, when you look

at the tasks—he had counternarcotics—the U.K. was supposed to

be doing that—judicial reform, that was Italy with the lead; disar-

mament, demobilization, reintegration, that was Japan; training
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police forces was Germany. But our function was to train the Af-
ghan National Army (ANA).

I would have to only give us a good grade on that. I do not think
any of the other four pillars are being done and being done right.

I was over there when we first turned over the training of the ANA
to the Afghans and I saw a great deal of pride and I thought they
were really doing the right thing.

Do you agree on those five functions that we have done a pretty
good job, that we are the only ones by comparison who have done
a good job, compared to what the other nations have or have not
done?
General Hayden. I know our formal assessment is that the ANA

is the best national institution in the Afghan Government.
Senator Inhofe. I certainly think that General Jones agrees with

that. He even made comments that really the military function is

more over than some of the other functions.

General Hayden, I wrote down that you said you understand that
understanding al Qaeda is the key to defeating it. What do we least

understand right now about al Qaeda?
General Hayden. Actually, Senator, I think we know a lot, and

obviously this is a work in progress and every day we understand
it better. I think we understand the hierarchical structure that at-

tacked us in 2001, and because of that we have attacked it and
been very successful. We are building our understanding of what
the President last October called those groups affiliated with al

Qaeda and how they are connected. We now have underway—and
this may be the long-term project and the one that is ultimately
the war-winner—how do you understand the "inspired by al

Qaeda." Those are the groups that do not have a formal connection.
You do not see the movement of people or money or supplies. You
see the movement of ideas. How do you identify that and how do
you counteract it?

Senator Inhofe. Yes.
General Maples, you said that Prime Minister Maliki must dis-

member the militia. I look at someone like al-Sadr and I would as-
sume that is one of the major militias that he would be talking
about. You said in your statement that they are confused between
them and the police. How are you going to correct that? Maybe
what was suggested by Senator McCain might not be a bad idea,

just get rid of the police and then at least everybody knows. Is that
something you
General Maples. Sir, I think there are major reforms that are

needed in the Ministry of Interior and with the Iraqi police, and
I think many of those actions are underway right now. But I think
we have a significant problem with the Iraqi police, and as a result
of that we have a problem with security, and local residents then
turn to local groups, whether they be a watch or a militia, to pro-
vide that security and basic services for them. That is what we
have to overcome.

If the ISFs, and I think they probably are, are our best means
to achieve that, by continuing to build their capability and their ca-
pacity to establish security, it will enable us to start having less
of a reliance on watches and militias.



186

Senator Inhofe. I agree with that, and that reminds me that on
several trips over there in talking to our military as well as their

military and some of their leaders they have stated that if we get

to the point where we have what would be comparable to 10 divi-

sions of trained and equipped ISFs, which would be about 325,000,
that we would then be in a position to start looking at the possi-

bility that they would be able to take care of their own security.

I know you cannot—it is a trap to walk into something to say so

many, it has to be a specific number and that would equate to 10
divisions. But we are getting close, and every time I go over there
and I see the quality of the training is so much better than you
hear it is on the media—do you think we are getting closer now
to the point where in terms of shear numbers, if we had them
trained properly that that might be getting close to the numbers
that we need for providing their own security?

General Hayden. Senator, I will defer to General Abizaid and
General Casey for the fine print, but yes. All the metrics in terms
of training are all headed in the right direction.

Senator Inhofe. If we had even thought that we would be this

close—I understand right now the number is some 312,000.
General Hayden. Beyond the raw military capacity, these armed

men have to think of themselves as Iraqi rather than some other
identity, and they have to be responsive to a government that iden-

tifies itself as being a unity government for Iraq.

Senator Inhofe. A couple weeks ago when I was in Afghani-
stan—Mr. Chairman, this will be my last question—there is this

perception, this reality I guess, that al Qaeda is, getting back to

Afghanistan, having a much larger presence there and they do that

in terms of using their three favorite techniques: the improvised
explosive device (lED), the rocket-propelled grenades, and suicide

bombs. They have escalated just rather abruptly, which leads me
to believe that there is a greater presence.
Some believe that a lot of those are coming actually from Iraq.

Any military group is finally going to wear down over a period of

time and there are several who are speculating that might be hap-
pening and that is why many of them are coming home and you
are seeing a larger presence of al Qaeda in Afghanistan than we
used to. Do you have any thoughts on that?
General Maples. Sir, I have not seen any direct linkage to Iraq.

We have seen from an al Qaeda standpoint increased al Qaeda ac-

tivity, particularly in the eastern provinces, in Afghanistan.
Senator Inhofe. Yes, yes, I know that is true.

Thank you very much.
General Hayden. Sir, I would just add that the connective tissue

between the fight in Iraq and the fight in Afghanistan is al Qaeda.
Although we may not see arms or individuals transitting from west
to east, certainly the tactics and the lessons learned in Iraq are

being applied in Afghanistan.
Chairman Warner. Thank you.
Senator Reed.
Senator Reed. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, gentlemen, for your testimony. When I was last in

Iraq in October, I got the impression from some of our American
commanders that the ISFs were not sharing all the intelligence

i
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they had with respect to the situation on the ground, the mihtias,
insurgents. Is that an accurate assessment, General Hayden, Gen-
eral Maples?
General Maples. I think we are receiving intelligence from the

ISFs. I do not know that their intelligence systems are mature
enough at this point that we are receiving all the intelligence that
they could provide to us. I know that at the national level with my
counterpart that we need to develop some capacity and procedures
with him. In fact, I have invited him to come back and to work
those issues with us, to see if we cannot develop increased intel-

ligence-sharing.

I think that they have a lot of information that would be very
valuable to us. We need to establish the means of our forces receiv-
ing that intelligence.

General Hayden. Senator, my relationship with my counterpart
could serve as a model for what we want to do inside the Iraqi
Ministry of Defense with our DOD forces. The sharing is direct, in-

timate, and immediate.
Senator Reed. Do you have evidence of systematic ethnic cleans-

ing in parts of Iraq? General Maples, General Hayden?
General Maples. I have not seen necessarily systematic ethnic

cleansing in that term. But I do think there have been directed at-

tacks in multi-ethnic neighborhoods with an intent to probably
drive families out of those neighborhoods. So whether I would cat-

egorize it as ethnic cleansing, I am not sure. But clearly there are
attempts to gain advantage from a territorial standpoint as a result
of the sectarian violence that is going on.

Senator Reed. General Hayden, is that your impression?
General Hayden. Yes, sir. I would not characterize it in such

broad terms as ethnic cleansing. Clearly, at the local level there
are attempts to move populations out of neighborhoods. We see
that. To say that is a part of a broader plan of orchestrated and
synchronized activity, I think that would be too far.

Senator Reed. Recently in October the assembly passed legisla-

tion that Ambassador Satterfield pointed out would take 18 months
to go in effect, that would allow essentially super-regionalization of
the country. Do you think that is a positive development?
General Hayden. All the devils are in the details with regard to

that. Senator. I know the Shiites, many Shiites, have that as an
idea, but even they argue among themselves. Is it three provinces?
Is it nine provinces? And so on. We have a wondrous federal exper-
iment and we still have a centralized government with a national
identity. We cannot rule out that possibility in Iraq. But that is not
the same as partition.

Senator Reed. Does it not complicate things a bit when you see
that the most successful part of Iraq is the Kurdish area, which is

virtually autonomous, which has its own militia, the Peshmerga,
which has been operating to provide security, which is economically
thriving? Is it not difficult then to argue that you really have to
have a national non-militia force, that you cannot rely upon this re-

gionalization?
General Hayden. I understand the argument quite well. Again,

I know you are not arguing for partition, which is something quite
different.
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Senator Reed. No, I am not.

General Hayden. But there can be formulas that create different

sharings of power between the national government and regional
governments.

Senator, I add one other thing that the Kurds had, though. They
had more than a decade of running up to this in relative peace to

get themselves organized for what is going on. That is not the Shi-

ite or Sunni experience.
Senator Reed. I agree with you. General. I think, though, that

one of the conclusions that everyone reaches here, that ultimately
this is about politics—it has been described as a sectarian struggle
for power by General Maples. You have described it as an existen-

tial struggle, where Sunnis feel that they are going to be displaced,

Shiite have been displaced. Now they are first, I would suggest
that in these existential struggles it is hard to compromise, particu-

larly within a generation.
What are the objectives of the Shiites? You must make estimates

if you want to break it down to Maliki and his government and
Hakim and Sadr. Is it to retain power at all cost and suppress the
Sunni? Is it to work out a better modus vivendi with the Sunni?
What is your estimate?
General Hayden. Senator, I am going to answer your question,

but I want to preface it. I have asked this question. I have asked
our station officers, and they have come back with a statement first

of all that I will share with you: Do not assume a detailed rational

planning process here on the part of any of these groups.
Senator Reed. Been there, done that. I agree with you.

General Hayden. The first rule, and it appears to motivate all

Shiites no matter what the torque inside the Shiite movement, is

to preserve Shiite unity. With Shiite unity, they are an absolute
majority in the country. So that is one.

The second, maybe less rational, more intuitive, is what I sug-

gested to you earlier, this almost palpable fear that the Baathists
will return. Right now it colors almost all of their political deci-

sions.

Senator Reed. General?
General Maples. I would agree with what General Hayden said.

It is a struggle for power, even within groups, within the Shiite

community right now, and the struggle that we see going on be-

tween Sadr and the Supreme Council for Islamic Revolution in Iraq
and who is really going to prevail on the Shiite side.

I think it is on the Sunni side a lack of acceptance of their posi-

tion in the new Iraq and a desire to return to power and to share
in both influence and resources of Iraq.

Senator Reed. I think both of you gentlemen have provided very
good insights. Listening to your final points, which I tend to agree
with, it is no wonder to me that our requests, our blandishments,
our suggestions, that Maliki accommodate the Sunnis and the
Sunnis who cooperate more tend to be falling on deaf ears, and
that discussions of new arrangements for oil distribution and shar-

ing fully in power, et cetera, all the things, and going after the mi-
litias, which seem to be their last sort of sense of protection in a

very terrible place, those reports and those aspirations seem to be
a bit somewhat—well, not based on anything that you have sug-
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gested to me in terms of the djmamic at work in Iraq today as

being realistic.

General Hayden. Senator, I will speak for myself personally and
let Mike add. I have met with the leadership. Like all of us, they
are products of their personal histories. But like most of us, these
are pretty noble individuals trying to do the right thing. So that

is where we are.

Chairman WARNER. Thank you very much, Senator.

Senator Sessions.

Senator SESSIONS. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, and
thank both of you for your service to your country and the count-
less hours you have given to this important issue for United States
policy, world policy, and world peace.

I will go straight to a concern I have, and I think we have to con-

front it. I think we can make real progress in this area, but I do
not believe for some reason we are making sufficient progress. That
deals with the arrest and release of people who we have evidence
are connected to terrorist activities. We heard it in our last trip

Senators Warner, Levin, Pryor, and I attended and we got a real

passionate concern about it.

I guess you would both agree that one of the things our soldiers

are doing is identifying and apprehending dangerous people. Noth-
ing could be more discouraging than to be successful in capturing
someone of significance and then have them released prematurely.
If someone in the United States were involved, for the bombing of

that building here, that individual would be executed. This is a se-

rious thing, for somebody to be involved in an activity in a nation
that kills innocent men, women, and children. There is no more
horrible crime, if the nation has a system of law.

So when I ask about this lawfulness and the ability to apprehend
and deal with this in this state of extremity that Iraq is in. Fre-
quently people tell me we are trying to establish a rule of law.
First, I would suggest that it is an unlawful society when people
can be captured and bomb and kill and then be released pre-

maturely. That is unlawful in itself.

First, do you think that is a problem? If so, how can we improve
it? What do we need to do now to get this thing moving? Because
I have been talking about it for over 3 years. General Maples?
General Maples. Sir, I will start. I believe it is a problem, and

it is a problem that we hear from our soldiers who go to great ef-

forts to apprehend individuals who are involved in activities, only
to see them back on the streets again. We hear that.

Senator Sessions. Now, is this a result of American procedures
or Iraqi failures?

General Maples. Largely due to, as you mentioned, the rule of

law and having a functioning judiciary within Iraq.

Senator Sessions. Well now, how critical is this to the overall

success? Because I believe it was General Abizaid in his opening
statement, or maybe the Ambassador, that indicated that one of
the reasons for the rise in the militia is the fact that people do not
feel safe, that somebody blows up their family, their neighborhood,
their sect, and nobody gets apprehended, so now some militia are
coming along and just killing a bunch of people in retaliation.
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Is that not kind of what we mean by sectarian violence, General
Hayden?
General Hayden. Yes, sir, that is it. It begets the circumstances

you describe. For that individual, that is an incredibly logical deci-

sion to protect his family. Unfortunately, it leads to very horrible
things for the society when most of the nation does that.

Senator SESSIONS. I do not think it is that difficult to fix this

thing. I think they need to have in Iraq some clear laws, if you are
caught with possession of lED paraphernalia, that ought to be a
minimum of 20 or 30 years without parole or death penalty if you
can tie them to the event, and some clear laws like that. We need
to treat those cases somewhat differently than we do an Internal
Revenue Service case in the Southern District of New York. This
is a life and death situation in Iraq. Making a mistake can have
deadly consequences.
For example, the Marine Times publication said that one indi-

vidual known as "The Beheader" had been released, a known
beheader. Another one was a bomber who had been captured, been
active in bombing, and as a result of some period of time he was
released. They had already found his signature back in another city

where he was undertaking bombing again.

How can we get this—if this is a problem, as you suggest it is,

how can we raise this up and do something about it?

General Hayden. Senator, I will just add to what General
Maples said earlier. This is fundamentally an issue of capacity-

building inside the Iraqi government—a functioning court system,
a functioning national police and orderly processes.

Senator SESSIONS. Let me ask you, do you think the people that
are trying to help the Iraqis set up a functioning court system are
focused on a model of a court system in the United States and are
not focused on the kind of model that is necessary to protect inno-
cent men, women, and children in Iraq? Because it is quite a dif-

ferent thing.

General Maples. Sir, I am not sure the answer to that one. We
would have to take that question and get back to you.

[The information referred to follows:]

The Defense Intelligence Agency has not assessed the model of a court system
being developed in Iraq nor what model might be most appropriate for the Iraqi ju-

dicial system and the Iraqi people. The Department of Justice may be better able

to address this question.

Senator Sessions. I hope you will because it is discouraging to

me and I think we are at a point where some action needs to be
taken, and we need to recognize that the same degree of judicial

protections that we provide in a non-violent case in the United
States may not be what is necessary. Some sort of military commis-
sion or something in which the central government can come in

and try these people promptly, give them a fair trial, and if they
are guilty take substantial severe action against them.
General Maples. Senator, I think you are right. You also men-

tioned a very strong set of counterterrorism laws to take into con-

sideration where we are in Iraq today, and that is very important
to the Iraqi government.

Senator SESSIONS. We have in the United States, if you are
caught with an explosive device or an illegal firearm, you are guilty
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of a serious offense whether you ever used it or not. They could

craft some laws that would make some of these seizures and ar-

rests of people very easy to prosecute, I would think.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for your time.

Chairman Warner. Thank you. Senator Sessions.

Senator Dayton.
Senator DAYTON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I thank both of you gentlemen for what appears to be very can-

did testimony today. Both of you, as did our previous panel, re-

jected some of the alternatives in strategy that have been posited.

But it also seems that the conditions you described reflect a cur-

rent strategy that needs to be rejected just as emphatically for the

results it has produced.
General Maples, you talk about overall attacks averaging 180 a

day in October of this year, up from 170 the previous month, up
from 70 in January; average daily attacks on civilians, October four

times higher than were reported in January; a perception—I think
it is also a reality—of unchecked violence, creating an atmosphere
of fear and hardening sectarianism; the Ministry of Interior and
the police heavily infiltrated by members of al-Sadr's organization,

the inability to realize significant improvements in the oil and fuel

sector and electricity production, undermining the average Iraqi

citizen's support for the central government and the coalition,

which I concur after being in southern Iraq 2 weeks ago visiting

with Minnesota National Guard troops. The mayor of al-Batha
came and, while he was appreciative of what the Minnesota
guardsmen and women had been doing to help rebuild his city, he
said that the electricity there was less than it had been under Sad-
dam Hussein's rule.

So given the rejection of the other alternative strategies and
given I think not only the failure but the continued deterioration

of conditions under the existing strategy, is it fair to say we have
no good option presently available to us or in the foreseeable future

in Iraq? Would each of you comment on that, please?
General Hayden. Senator, clearly that is what all the discussions

are about in the multiple fora that the chairman mentioned. I

would say, and I think it was mentioned earlier today and I will

repeat, there are some things that have been going on that have
been very positive. We do have a democratically elected govern-
ment in Iraq. We have a functioning constitution. We have func-

tioning organs of government at the national level—the prime min-
istership, the presidency, and a council of representatives. We have
armed forces that are building both in numbers and capacity. Some
of the things we have been doing to create the circumstances, the
conditions for success, are correct.

I do not think any of us are pleased with where we are now. I

think all of us are concerned by many of the metrics by which we
would measure ultimate success and hence the time now for this

serious look, this serious reassessment, what is working, what is

not, how we must adjust. The burden on General Maples' organiza-
tion and my organization is to bring to each of these discussions
the clearest possible view of the situation. I tried to emphasize in

my comments today: not just the current situation. This reality has



192

a history and we need to understand that as well if we are going
to be successful.

I think someone suggested earlier we have to find the right lever-

age points.

Senator Dayton. Thank you.
General?
General Maples. Sir, I do believe that we still have opportunities

to stabilize the situation in Iraq and to move forward. As General
Hayden says, our responsibility is to try to present as clear a pic-

ture as we can of what our assessment is of the conditions in Iraq,

the dynamics that are in Iraq, and also most importantly to iden-
tify opportunities. I think that that is particularly important for us
to do as we go through strategy reviews that we are going through
right now.

Senator Dayton. General Hayden, a week ago in the Washington
Post, David Ignatius wrote what was actually a very complimen-
tary article overall about your leadership, and I thank you for that.

He does say, however, that, referring to Baghdad, the CIA station

there, he says: "Younger CIA officers are said to be frustrated with
the cautious approach as they watch U.S. soldiers fighting and
d3ring and see Iraq slipping away."

Is that an accurate statement about the perceptions of younger
CIA officers in Iraq, whether you agree with it or not? Do they see
Iraq slipping away?
General Hayden. I can give you a more detailed answer in closed

session.

Senator Dayton. All right, I will take that.

General Hayden. I have visited with our folks. I have talked to

our analysts. I have reflected their views in my comments here.

But I can go into greater detail, Senator, in closed session.

Senator Dayton. All right, let us leave it at that. That is fine.

Thank you.
On to Afghanistan. There again, both of you have described a

mixed situation, but one where the insurgency. General Maples,
you say has strengthened its capabilities and influence, the vio-

lence is likely to be twice as high this year as in 2005. You reflect

the strength of the illicit economy there and the lack of sufficient

options in the licit economy. I remember meeting with President
Karzai shortly after he took office in January 2002 and he pleaded
with us, a group, a bipartisan group of Senators, for sufficient

international financial support to enable him to make the progress
necessary. He described the lack of funding for local government
leaders to be able to show progress.

In your assessment, has the international community, while it

has been forthcoming, provided sufficient resources? Are more
international financial resources necessary to enable him to be suc-

cessful? Either of you?
General Hayden. Clearly the NATO troop contribution, particu-

larly the major troop contributing nations, have taken on some-
thing, frankly, out of the historical norm for NATO. If you have
talked to General Jones you understand all the work that went into

getting national capitals to agree to that. There are NATO soldiers

now dying and being wounded in areas of Afghanistan that we
have not been for a long time, and that is one of the causes for the
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increased fighting and the increased casualties. They are estab-

Hshing a presence in districts where neither the government nor
the coahtion have been for years. So that clearly deserves credit

where credit is due.

You are right about what President Karzai says. I think he has
the right objectives. I think he has the right concept and he des-

perately needs assistance in order to build that capacity outside of

Kabul, outside of the national government, at the province and dis-

trict level, so that his government has a presence everywhere it

needs to have a presence.

He has the will. He has the support. He needs assistance to do
it, though.
Senator Dayton. Mr. Chairman, my time has expired. Thank

you.
Chairman Warner. Senator Graham.
Senator Graham. Thank you.

I would like to pick up on what Senator Sessions was talking

about. I could not agree more. Until there is some downside to get-

ting involved in killing Americans and disrupting this emerging de-

mocracy, people are going to continue to do so, and we have to cre-

ate downsides that are well known and severe.

But let us start with Afghanistan. General Hayden, have you
talked to the attorney general in Afghanistan personally?
General Hayden. With the attorney general of Afghanistan?
Senator Graham. Yes.
General Hayden. No, Senator, I have not.

Senator GRAHAM. Would you do me a favor and try to have your-
self or some senior member of your organization visit him, because
once you visit him, you are overwhelmed with the level of alleged
corruption, that the institutions of government over there are cor-

rupt to the core because of the drug money and this man is swim-
ming upstream. The average prosecutor in Afghanistan makes $90
a month.
General Hayden. I have not met the attorney general. I have

met with President Karzai and other senior members on the secu-

rity side. The president is quite clear he recognizes that problem
as well. We have a senior leader of the agency who will be there
next week and we will make sure he talks to him.
Senator Graham. The attorney general will tell you that part of

the problem is President Karzai. So I do appreciate your talking
with him. But he suggested that $250 a month could really trans-
form things. I do appreciate your visiting and getting back with
me.
About Iraq, what is the total number, give or take 5,000, of the

insurgency foreign fighters?

General Maples. Sir, the number I have is about 1,300 foreign
fighters in Iraq right now.
Senator Graham. Okay. How many people in Iraq?
General Hayden. More or less, 25 million or so.

Senator Graham. So you have 25 million people, you have 1,300
foreign fighters, give or take a few hundred. How many native in-

surgents are there that take up arms and kill people?
General Hayden. Insurgents, that is a term of art for us. That

would largely mean
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Senator Graham. People who are trying to defeat democracy, yes.

General Hayden. Now you are widening the circle. If you use in-

surgents, those who are opposed to the coalition presence—what do
you think, Mike?

General Maples. It depends on how we count the militias as a
part of all this.

Senator Graham. People who are using violence to disrupt
progress in Iraq.

General Hayden. If that is your definition. Senator, it is tens of

thousands.
Senator Graham. How many?
General Hayden. Tens of thousands.
Senator Graham. Tens of thousands? 100,000?
General Hayden. Again, Senator, I am sorry. I do not mean to

dodge the question. But what portion of Jaysh al-Mahdi, the militia

under Sadr, is under his control and therefore on a particular given
day not attacking us; what are not and are out of control and are
in essence lawless—that is why I think General Maples and I are
a little reluctant to give a firm number.

If you are talking about the insurgents in Anbar, those who are
opposed to the allied presence, largely the Sunni, low five figures

is the number I would give you. I am not trying to dodge you. I

just do not
Senator Graham. What number did you pick?
General Hayden. 10,000 or so.

Senator Graham. 10,000.
General Hayden. That is a pretty wide circle, people who are

mad at us. That is not full-time fighters.

Senator GRAHAM. So less than 20,000 between them and the for-

eign fighters. Now, on the Shiite side, how many people are the
problem in terms of using violence? We do not know, have no idea?
General Maples. It is difficult to say. I would say that in terms

of active within the militias you have probably a range of 20,000
to 30,000 if you combine all of that. But you have many more who
are involved in the support mechanisms and providing support to

both militia and to the insurgents as well, on the Sunni side as
well.

Senator Graham. Okay. What percentage of the Iraqi people buy
into our view of Iraq being a democratic functioning government?
General HAYDEN. That is hard to estimate. Senator. I am sorry.

Senator Graham. Is it a majority?
General Hayden. I think a majority of the people of Iraq, an

overwhelming majority of the people of Iraq, want to live in a plu-

ralistic society, want to live in a unified Iraq, want to live in a
peaceful Iraq.

Senator Graham. So a majority, overwhelming majority of peo-

ple, share the goal of a unified Iraq, not a partitioned Iraq.

General Hayden. Unified, pluralistic, and peaceful.

Senator Graham. Why are they not doing better?

General Hayden. That is a wonderful question, Senator. Tom
Friedman asked that question in an article in the New York Times
2 or 3 weeks back. He talked about the absence of the center. The
longer this goes on, the less controlled the violence is. The more the
violence devolves down to the neighborhood level, the center dis-
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appears and normal people acting not irrationally end up acting
like extremists.
Senator Graham. Finally, would you agree that there are three

groups in Iraq. There is a small minority who have taken up arms
for religious or ethnic purposes to destabilize the government.
Some of them are foreign in nature. The second group are very
brave people who are volunteering to be the judges and the lawyers
and they are getting assassinated. The third group is the over-
whelming majority who are keeping their powder dry because they
are afraid to come forward. Is that fair?

General Maples. Sir, I think that is probably a pretty fair state-

ment. I think there are a relatively small number who are actively

engaged in the conflict. I think you are exactly right, there is a
small number that is trying to provide the leadership and bring the
country together.

Senator Graham. Why do we not as a nation throw everjrthing

in the world that we have at this small group so that the majority
will come forward? Why are we treating this in such a police action
fashion if it is indeed the central battlefront on the war on terror
that will dictate the region for years to come and humanity as we
know it? Why are we having this stupid debate about number of
troops if we do believe that it is the central battlefront in the war
on terror and bring aid to the people who are trying to fight and
change Iraq? Why are we stuck on a troop level that is not work-
ing?
General Hayden. Sir, obviously—and I think General Maples has

said the same thing—that is a policy question, not exactly in either
of our job descriptions.

Senator Graham. What is your advice?
General Hayden. I would offer the view that, again as I tried to

state in my opening comments, a lot of the issues here are driven
by deep historical forces that have been unleashed by the toppling
of the Saddam regime. At the end of the day. Senator, this has to

be won by the Iraqis.

Senator Graham. Is it your advice as CIA Director that this is

the central battlefront in the war on terror?
General Hayden. Our enemy believes it to be so and has said so.

Senator Graham. Do you believe it to be so?
General Hayden. It is an absolutely critical battlefront in the

war on terror.

Senator Graham. Would it be your advice to this committee to

throw everything this Nation has into winning this battle?
General Hayden. I would advise the committee to do everything

within our power to use our power wisely to win this battle. Again,
Senator, what I was trying to articulate before: At the end of the
day, an American face will not be present on victory here. It must
be an Iraqi face.

Senator Graham. Thank you.
Chairman Warner. Senator Lieberman, would you indulge me?
Senator LlEBERMAN. Of course.
Chairman Warner. I think we should also explore—that is a

very important line of questions. Time and time again we are told
by well-informed witnesses that the presence of U.S. troops engen-
ders a lot of the fighting, and if we are to increase the numbers
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the perception is we are there to stay, we are there to be perma-
nent conquerors or however they want to do it, and this could begin
to increase the numbers of the persons antagonistic against us.

Is that not part of the equation of thinking that has to be looked
at in the context of raising our troop level?

General Hayden. Senator, earlier I said not one narrative ex-

plains the war, and it depends on which narrative you want to lay

out as to how much our troop presence generates opposition. For
that one narrative about opposition to foreign occupation, which
has been a powerful narrative, an American face on security carries

with it its own costs and its own countervailing pressures.

I would also say that the American presence there gives life to

al Qaeda propaganda that they misuse and misrepresent to the
larger Arab world. The more they can put an American face on the

activity in Iraq, the more they are served by it.

General Maples. Sir, I think it is a valid point in some factions

that the U.S. presence is the issue that they are trying to deal

with, and removing the coalition is exactly what they would like to

achieve, but not for the same purposes that we want to achieve it.

Their purpose in removing the coalition is to enable their own ob-

jectives, and here I largely refer to al Qaeda in Iraq. I think in

some cases the Shiite, that is the case also, so they can further

their own goals.

General Hayden. What has happened. Senator, in the last 6 to

10 months—and I heard this alluded to this morning—is that you
had that violence there that was generated by al Qaeda. You had
that violence there that was generated by just opposition to our
presence. That has remained. That has not gone away. What has
been added to it is the Iraqi on Iraqi violence that the sectarian

divisions have created, and hence my comment earlier, not one plot

line describes this.

Chairman Warner. Thank you, Senator.

Senator LlEBERMAN. Thanks.
Senator Levin. Would my good friend yield for one additional

question? You have been very generous.
Senator LlEBERMAN. In the spirit of bipartisanship that I

espouse, how could I say no? [Laughter. 1

Senator Levin. Just a comment also on Senator Graham. You
have both testified, have you not, that a political settlement is the

only way to achieve success, a political settlement between the

Iraqi factions is the only way to achieve success in Iraq? Have you
not testified to that?

General Hayden. Senator, that is absolutely correct. I will add
one caveat. Without sanding off the edges

Senator Levin. Add all the caveats you want.
General Hayden.—you put on there, there is a certain level of

security required to create the conditions for a political settlement.

Senator Levin. I understand that.

General Hayden. Yes, sir.

Senator Levin. With that one condition, that a political settle-

ment is essential, it is the key to a success in Iraq?

General Maples. I agree.

General Hayden. I agree.
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Senator Levin. I thank our friend, who always espouses what we
all aspire to, which is bipartisanship.

Chairman Warner. The chair will very generously give you an
added minute.
Senator Lieberman.
Senator LlEBERMAN. Thank you, sir. You have a big heart.

Thank you. This series of discussions, Senator Graham, Senator
Warner, Senator Levin, has been most interesting. I appreciate

your answer because obviously this will not be solved without an
Iraqi political settlement, but if there is no security there will

never be a political settlement, nor will the economy have an op-

portunity to rebound. So it has to be all of that together.

These are tough questions—I was thinking about it—because in

one sense we do hear, as you said, that the presence of American
forces makes some Iraqis angry. But on the other hand. General
Hayden, how are we going to get that center to come together and
stand up against the extremists if there is no security? Right now
I think we are critical to that security, because the Iraqis cannot
handle it on their own.

I did want to ask in that regard—incidentally, I thought you
were both very compelling in response to Chairman Warner's ini-

tial questioning, I believe, about the consequences of a failure in

Iraq for us. We have a lot on the line here. So we tried to talk a
little bit about how do we succeed. I believe you both indicated that

you felt that the military transition teams, that is the Americans
embedded with the ISFs, were one of the most successful things
happening there now in terms of our involvement. Am I right about
that?

General Hayden. Yes, sir.

Senator LlEBERMAN. General Abizaid said that today, too. There-
fore would it be fair to assume that—and we talked about this

today, too—that the more that we can do, the more likely we are

sooner to get the Iraqis to a point where they can take over from
us on the security front and we can begin to lessen the number of

American troops we have there?
From an intelligence point of view—I am not trying to get you

into policy here—I do not see how we can increase the number of

American troops embedded with the ISFs, which seems to be work-
ing now, without increasing the total number of American forces in

Iraq, because if we are taking them from elsewhere is that not
going to leave that elsewhere, like Anbar Province, subject to catas-

trophe or at least chaos?
In other words, based on intelligence, on that question, the nar-

row question of increasing the number of American troops embed-
ded, would you say we need more American troops there?
General Maples. Sir, it really depends on the analysis by the

command of the troop-to-task ratio that they have to have. They
have to lay out the tasks they have to accomplish and how many
troops will be required to successfully accomplish those tasks.

Senator Lieberman. I understand, you are not prepared to an-
swer.
General MAPLES. Senator, I am reluctant, but I will give you per-

haps a factor that will be used, that is very important. As you do
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that, you actually increase the combat power of the Iraqi unit that
you have stiffened, so to speak, with the U.S. presence.

Senator Lieberman. Exactly.

General Maples. So you may actually be able to buy a great deal
more of combat power and buy down the political cost of our pres-

ence.

Senator LlEBERMAN. Exactly, because our troops are in those
cases within the Iraqi forces and they become a force multiplier for

the Iraqis. We will come back to that.

I want to ask you about Iran, because you both talked about Ira-

nian activities in Iraq being significant and growing. Can you talk

a little bit more about that? What are they doing? How many Ira-

nians would you say are in Iraq now and what are they up to?

General Hayden. Sir, I can give you more details in closed ses-

sion. There is a significant Iranian presence in Iraq. I do not want
in any way to say that all of that is in any way illegitimate. Much
of that would be the presence that any neighboring state with in-

terests in Iraq would have. But as time has gone on, the amount
of Iranian involvement with the Shiite militias of all stripes, which
has been quite a new development, the provision to them—let me
just say this in a general way—the provision to them of capabilities

that have been used against the coalition has been quite striking.

I will admit personally. Senator, that I have come late to this

conclusion, but I now have all the zeal of a convert as to the ill ef-

fect that the Iranians are having on the situation in Iraq.

Senator LlEBERMAN. Yes, absolutely. I appreciate your saying
that. I would like to go into it further in closed session.

Let me give you a statement and then ask you both to respond
to it, which is that in Iraq, Iran has absolutely the opposite goals

that we have. Our goal is to help the Iraqis form a free, unified,

stable, multi-ethnic government. The Iranians want just the oppo-
site. They benefit from the chaos now and in fact if the whole thing
fell apart they would probably come in, either directly or through
the Shiite militias, and control a big part of Iraq.

True or false?

General Hayden. Tough, tough question for an Iranian policy-

maker. The chaos there aids and abets them in their broader "rela-

tionship," that word in quotes, with the United States. Their per-

ception is it punishes us, it ties us down, it makes us less capable
of doing other things. That is their perception, I believe.

On the other hand, I can see this happening in the Iranian
equivalent of our National Security Council, Senator. On the other
hand, I do not think they want Iraq to fracture. I think they want
it to be unified. A democratic Iraq will be an Iraq in which the Shi-

ite have a reasonably strong voice.

Senator Lieberman. This is a really interesting question, be-

cause I guess the question is, because we know that Iraqi Shiites

are different from the Iranian Shiites. Obviously the Iranians are

Persians, the Iraqis are Arabs, but they have a theological dif-

ference, too. So would they really want a unified democratic, pre-

sumably pro-American, Iraq? I ask all these questions and I am
going to ask you to respond. General Maples, because I am con-

cerned as we begin to raise the possibility of talking directly with

II
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Iran about Iraq, because I think I worry that we have very dif-

ferent ambitions there, very different goals.

It is one thing to talk to the other Sunni Arab countries to play
a larger role—the Saudis, the Egyptians, the Jordanians, the Gulf
countries—because they have similar and in fact anti-Iranian
views, General, but I never would hesitate to talk to anybody be-

cause, thank God, we are a strong enough country to talk. But I

would be real skeptical about anything good coming out of the talks
with the Iranians, particularly now after the Europeans have spent
3 years negotiating with them on their nuclear program and they
have not done an3d;hing.

You had a great phrase. It was a "triumphal"—what did you call

it?

General Hayden. "Dangerous triumphalism."
Senator LlEBERMAN. The Iranians are beginning to show a dan-

gerous triumphalism about their role in the Middle East. They are
beginning to think of themselves as dislodging us, and that is bad
news for the region and for the world, and of course for us.

General Maples, did you want to respond, and then my time is

up.

General Maples. Sir, our assessment is that Iran would like to

have a stable government in Iraq, but they clearly want it to be
Shiite-led.

Senator LlEBERMAN. Thank you.
Thanks, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Warner. Do you have a question, Senator Levin? I

thought I would ask just one.

I was particularly struck with your observation that the de-
Baathification, or exactly how you phrased it, is still a very formi-
dable deep concern among the Iraqi people, which contributes to

their insecurity and their fear to step forward as individual citizens

and try and take more responsibility in their neighborhood and
other foras. Am I correct in that?
General Hayden. Sir, I think what you are saying is that I would

say the course of de-Baathification is a current, vibrant issue for

the present government.
Chairman Warner. Do you concur in that? General?
General Maples. I do, sir. I think the fear is a return of the

Baathists to power. On the other side, the fact that the former
Baathists are disenfranchised and have no ability to contribute is

an issue on the Sunni side.

Chairman Warner. Let me ask this question. Assuming that

—

and in no way do I infer by the question that any measure of due
process should be denied Saddam Hussein. But we have followed
this rather extraordinary exercise of their concept of due process.
A sentence of death has been pronounced. Presumably the appel-
late process and other things will take place.

If after the flow of due process in an orderly way he is hung or
otherwise put to death, would that help alleviate this serious prob-
lem of fear that the Baathists might return?

General Hayden. I cannot rule out that it could. Senator. I will
say that the capture of Saddam—at that time, if you recall, the
issue there was Sunni violence. It was far less of Shiite violence.
It was all the provocations from al Qaeda and so on. The capture
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of Saddam did not in and of itself reduce Sunni violence at that
time. So I would say perhaps it is a possibility, but not a sure thing
certainly.

Chairman Wakner. Do you have any views, General?
General Maples. Sir, I would expect that, particularly from a

Shiite viewpoint, right now that carrying out a sentence would
probably not eliminate the fear of a return of Baathists to control

of Iraq.

Chairman WARNER. Thank you very much.
Gentlemen, we have had an excellent hearing. We will now go

into closed session in SH-219. We are adjourned.
[Questions for the record with answers supplied follow:]

Question Submitted by Senator John Ensign

counterdrug

1. Senator Ensign. Lieutenant General Maples and General Hayden, given the
many problems in Afghanistan associated with the cultivation of poppies there,

would it be worth instituting a program similar to what the U.S. did in Turkey in

the 1980s whereby we purchased the poppies to keep them off the open market?
Please elaborate on the pros and cons of undertaking such a program for Afghani-
stan.

General Maples. Widespread poppy cultivation in Afghanistan remains a difficult

problem for the Afghan Government and the international community. DIA judges
a program of purchasing opium to keep it off the open market ultimately would like-

ly increase rather than reduce the amount of illicit opium available for the drug
trade.

Supporters of a program to buy opium from farmers at farm-gate prices (the price

paid to farmers at the time of harvest) argue all of the opium could be purchased
for the amount spent to eradicate less than a tenth of the 2006 poppy crop. These
supporters also believe Afghanistan would be competitive with other countries in

producing licit opium for the pharmaceutical industry. In addition, supporters argue
the poppy crop could be more easily reduced if it were regulated; noting those farm-
ers with cultivation permits would not defend illicit producers.

DIA assesses a farmer compensation program would be very costly for donors and
the licit opium market. The program would be difficult to enforce owing to geog-
raphy, instability, and corruption and it would encourage farmers to expand cultiva-

tion.

• Buying all of Afghanistan's illicit opium would require a major financial

investment. The United Nations estimates the farm-gate value of Afghani-
stan's 2006 opium production to be $760 million. Unless international do-

nors are willing to subsidize an expensive annual program to purchase and
destroy the entire crop, a compensation program of this magnitude could be
financed only through licit sales of pharmaceutical opiates. The influx of ad-

ditional opium most likely would flood the medical market, which probably
is not flexible enough to accommodate Afghanistan's production while com-
peting with prices drug traffickers offer.

• Afghanistan's geographically dispersed poppy cultivation and labor-inten-

sive harvesting process would complicate efforts to prevent diversion of licit

opium to higher paying drug markets. A lack of government security forces

and insurgent influence in areas of elevated opium production would im-

pede access to farmers. Widespread official corruption would also hinder ef-

forts to regulate the industry.
• Creation of a compensation program would provide a strong incentive for

many new farmers to begin planting poppies and for many existing poppy
farmers to increase their cultivation because poppies still would be much
more profitable than other licit crops. Afghan farmers could substantially

expand poppy cultivation beyond the 3 percent of arable land currently

used, thereby increasing the cost of compensation.

General Hayden. [Deleted.]
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Questions Submitted by Senator Daniel K. Akaka

afghanistan

2. Senator Akaka. Lieutenant General Maples, I understand that we are losing
ground in Afghanistan. Moreover, the Taliban is gaining more influence and author-
ity while Karzai's government is losing the hearts and minds of the people. What
efforts are being done to address this matter?
General Maples. The Afghan Government and the international community have

made efforts to address the threat posed by declining popular support for President
Karzai's administration. DIA judges root causes of decreasing support for the central
government include fear of a resurgent Taliban, doubts that the Afghan Govern-
ment can defend against this threat, concerns about endemic government corrup-
tion, the slow pace of reconstruction, and the lack of economic opportunities. The
international community and the Afghan Government are addressing each of these
factors.

• Efforts to Improve Security. With the support of other members of the
international community, the United States is training and equipping the
Afghan National Army as well as other elements of the Afghan national se-

curity forces. However, these forces remain challenged by resource short-
ages, high attrition rates, corruption, and tense relations among security
forces. NATO's International Security Assistance Force also conducted a se-

ries of counterinsurgency operations this year aimed at denying insurgents
safe-haven and freedom of movement in southern and eastern Afghanistan.
Gains made this summer and fall, however, have largely been offset by ro-

bust insurgent recruitment and propaganda efforts.

• Efforts to Improve Governance. "The Attorney General of Afghanistan is

in the process of conducting a campaign aimed at addressing corruption
within the government. DIA believes this campaign will help restore some
confidence in the legitimacy of the administration. In addition, President
Karzai has taken steps to replace corrupt or ineffective governors, including
reassigning the former Governor of Herat, Ismail Khan, whom many saw
as a divisive figure. However, this effort remains limited by the lack of edu-
cated, capable, and trustworthy political leaders.
• Development and Reconstruction Efforts. The United States, with support
from the international community and nongovernmental organizations, has
worked to extend reconstruction and development assistance to garner pop-
ular support. This includes establishing provincial reconstruction teams
that engage with the local people to provide development projects: paving
of the Ring Road around Afghanistan and numerous community aid
projects. Unfortunately, the unstable security situation, particularly in the
south and southeast, has slowed some of these efforts. Finally, the U.S.
Agency for International Development's Alternative Livelihoods Program,
designed to accelerate economic growth in Afghanistan's principal poppy-
producing provinces and at-risk areas, has shown progress in irrigation de-
velopment, road construction, cash-for-work, and agricultural assistance.
Despite these efforts, the continued dearth of alternative economic opportu-
nities may have contributed to record poppy cultivation in 2006.

IRAQI DEATH SQUADS

3. Senator Akaka. Lieutenant General Maples, did our efforts to train Iraqi per-
sonnel as law enforcement and military create recruits for the death squads that
have been tormenting many Iraqi communities?
General Maples. [Deleted.]

[Whereupon, at 4:35 p.m., the committee adjourned.]
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